# DAVIS-STIRLING COMMON INTEREST DEVELOPMENT ACT

# **AND**

# RELATED CALIFORNIA LAWS

# 2016 EDITION

# Compliments of Angius & Terry LLP

1990 North California Boulevard, Suite 950 Walnut Creek, CA 94596 Phone: 925.939.9933

Fax: 925.939.9934

4695 MacArthur Court, 11<sup>th</sup> Floor Newport Beach, CA 92660 Phone: 949.673.2600

Fax: 949.673.2601

3001 Lava Ridge Court, Suite 130 Roseville, CA 95661 Phone: 916.567.1400

Fax: 916.567.1401

1169 South Main Street, Suite 328 Manteca, CA 95337 Phone: 209.665.4181

For all locations 800.680.4001

info@angius-terry.com

www.angius-terry.com

#### WHAT IS IN THIS BOOK?

The Davis-Stirling Common Interest Development Act ("the Davis-Stirling Act") is the body of California law which has governed California common interest developments for more than twenty-five years. The Davis-Stirling Act is comprised of approximately 200 statutes and provides statutory guidance for the management and operation of residential common interest developments in California. In combination with the governing documents of a common interest development, relevant case law and other statutes (see Parts II through IV of this booklet), the Davis-Stirling Act provides the legal framework within which all affairs of residential common interest developments must be conducted.

Part I of this booklet contains the text of the Davis-Stirling Act in its entirety. One of the more significant changes that has been incorporated into the Davis-Stirling Act for this year are changes in the law related to the drought currently affecting California. Specifically, Civil Code Section 4735 has been updated to reflect changes in the law related to installation of artificial turf and the use of recycled water. In addition, Civil Code Section 4750.10 has been added and addresses personal energy conservation and the use of clotheslines. Other changes in the statutes have been bolded.

Parts II through IV include certain other California statutes that are either incorporated by reference in the Davis-Stirling Act or which we, at Angius & Terry LLP, have found to be relevant to the management and operation of common interest developments. This booklet also provides a table of contents and index to help quickly locate statutes and information.

We hope this booklet will prove helpful to managers and their boards when trying to understand and apply this complex body of law. As always we are available to advise on particular legal issues or to assist managers and boards in preparing CC&Rs, Bylaws and other documents which accurately reflect the requirements of the law.

Please visit our website at <a href="www.angius-terry.com">www.angius-terry.com</a> for articles, forms, and worksheets which may prove useful to boards and association managers.

# WHO IS Angius & Terry LLP?

**Angius & Terry LLP** has over thirty years of experience helping Community Associations and property owners protect their rights.

Angius & Terry LLP prides itself on the service and commitment that it offers to its clients.

**Angius & Terry LLP** possesses extensive experience handling the corporate and business affairs of its Community Association clients. This experience includes:

- Drafting and amending CC&Rs, Bylaws, Articles of Incorporation and other governing documents;
- Interpretation and enforcement of governing documents;
- Interpretation of statutes and ordinances as they relate to the management and operation of the Association;
- Assessment collection and lien procedures;
- Architectural control committees and compliance;
- Contract drafting and review;
- Claims by and against Association vendors, contractors and suppliers.

**Angius & Terry LLP** has recovered hundreds of millions of dollars in Community Association construction defect lawsuits. These lawsuits include two of the largest condominium association construction defect settlements in the history of Northern California and the only Community Association construction defect lawsuit that resulted in the demolition and rebuilding of an entire Community Association development.

Angius & Terry LLP's objective is to use the knowledge gained during the litigation process to work with our Community Association clients and their management companies after the lawsuit has concluded. This will ensure that the reconstruction process satisfactorily addresses the Community Association's construction problems. Conclusion of a Community Association's lawsuit does not end our commitment to that Community Association.

**Angius & Terry LLP** offers free initial consultations to Community Association Boards of Directors faced with potential construction defects. In many instances, there are alternatives which, when properly used, can resolve construction defect problems short of litigation.

Angius & Terry LLP has been awarded an "A-V" rating by Martindale-Hubbell, the highest rating given to any law firm in the United States. We are active participants and sponsors of California Association of Community Managers (CACM), Community Associations Institute (CAI), Executive Council of Homeowners (ECHO) and other trade organizations. In addition, we are regularly called upon to advise legislative committees and testify before the California Legislature in connection with bills that impact Community Associations throughout the State. We have also been called upon to provide consulting services to the State Bar of California.

# PAUL P. TERRY, JR.



Mr. Terry specializes in construction, community association and insurance law. In addition to his extensive handling of construction defect cases, he works closely with association management companies and boards of directors in providing both legal and practical advice regarding the day-to-day affairs of their associations, enforcement and revision of governing documents, and delinquent assessment collection. His unique combination of knowledge and experience enabled him to secure the largest condominium construction defect settlement in Northern California history for a firm client.

He is an active member of the Executive Council of Homeowners (ECHO), where he served on the Legislative Committee; the California Association of Community Managers (CACM), where he served on the Legal Advisory Committee; and the Consumer Attorneys of California, where he served on the Construction Defect Litigation Committee. In addition, he is an active member of the Community Associations Institute (CAI) and the Sacramento Area Condominium Associations (SACA).

Mr. Terry served on the California Senate Housing and Land Use Committee's task force studying changes to the Davis-Stirling Common Interest Development Act. Mr. Terry frequently lectures on topics relevant to common interest developments, including new and pending legislation, mediation, effective assessment collection and construction defect litigation.

#### **BRADLEY J. EPSTEIN**



Brad Epstein has been specializing as an attorney in community association law, including construction defect and all general corporate matters for the last twenty years, since 1995. Mr. Epstein has spent his entire career in this specialization with the law firm of Angius & Terry LLP. He became a partner with Angius & Terry fourteen years ago, in 2000.

Mr. Epstein provides services to hundreds of associations ranging in size from four residents to over fourteen thousand residents. Brad has recovered more than \$80,000,000 in construction defect claims for his association clients. He represents associations in court trials, jury trials, bankruptcy hearings, fair housing mediations, administrative agency hearings, and even board

hearings for violating owners.

Mr. Epstein regularly participates in continuing education seminars and lectures on the subject of construction defect litigation and community association law. He has published articles in various community association trade organizations, including California Association of Community Managers and chapter newsletters for the Community Association Institute. He has been a president, director, and member of the Community Associations Institute - California North Chapter, and a legislative co-chair of California Legislative Action Committee.

#### JULIE M. MOUSER



Ms. Mouser joined Angius & Terry in 1999 and was elevated to partner in 2005. She represents community associations and homeowners in complex construction defect litigation and whether through trial, arbitration or settlement, she has successfully recovered in excess of \$60 million dollars in construction defect damages on behalf of deserving clients.

Ms. Mouser also counsels community associations on general corporate and governance matters, including governing document analysis and interpretation, member discipline, delinquent assessment collection, vendor contract negotiation and administration, insurance coverage issues, and contractual disputes.

Ms. Mouser frequently participates in and lectures at Board Member education seminars and new homeowner orientation seminars. She is affiliated with the Executive Counsel of Homeowners (ECHO), Community Associations Institute (CAI), and California Association of Community Managers (CACM).

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	DAVIS-STIRLIN	NG COMMON INTEREST DEVELOPMENT ACT	1
	CHAPTER 1 GEN	ERAL PROVISIONS	1
		minary Provisions	
	§4000.	Short Title	
	§4005.	Effect of Headings	
	§4010.	Application of Act	1
	§4020.	Construction of Zoning Ordinance	
	§4035.	Delivered to an Association	
	§4040.	Individual Notice	
	§4045.	General Notice	
	§4050.	Time and Proof of Delivery	
	§4055.	Electronic Delivery; Requirements	
	§4065.	Approved by Majority of All Members	
	§4070.	Approved by Majority of Quorum of Members	
		nitions	
	§4075.	Application of Definitions	
	§4076.	"Annual Budget Report."	
	§4078.	"Annual Policy Statement."	
	§4080.	"Association."	
	§4085.	"Board."	
	§4090.	"Board Meeting."	
	§4095.	"Common Area."	
	§4100.	"Common Interest Development."	
	§4105.	"Community Apartment Project."	
	§4110.	"Community Service Organization or Similar Entity."	4
	§4120.	"Condominium Plan."	
	§4125.	"Condominium Project."	
	§4130.	"Declarant."	
	§4135.	"Declaration."	
	§4140.	"Director."	
	§4145.	"Exclusive Use Common Area."	
	§4148.	"General Notice."	
	§4150.	"Governing Documents."	
	§4153.	"Individual Notice."	
	§4155.	"Item of Business."	
	§4158.	"Managing Agent."	
	§4160.	"Member."	
	§4170.	"Person."	
	§4175.	"Planned Development."	
	§4177.	"Reserve Accounts."	
	§4178.	"Reserve Account Requirements."	6
	§4185.	"Separate Interest."	
	§4190.	"Stock Cooperative."	
		LICATION OF ACT	
	§4200.	Application of Act	
	§4201.	Exemption of Development without Common Area	
	§4202.	Commercial and Industrial Developments	7
		ERNING DOCUMENTS	
		eral Provisions	
	§4205.	Document Authority	
	§4210.	Record Notice of Agent to Receive Payments	
	§4215.	Liberal Construction of Instruments	
	3		

	§4220.	Boundaries of Units	8
	§4225.	Deletion of Unlawful Restrictive Covenants	8
	§4230.	Deletion of Declarant Provisions in Governing Documents	9
	§4235.	Correction of Statutory Cross-Reference	9
	Article 2. Dec	laration	9
	§4250.	Contents of Declaration	9
	§4255.	Special Disclosures	9
	§4260.	Amendment Authorized	10
	§4265.	Amendment to Extend Term of Declaration Authorized	
	§4270.	Amendment Procedure	
	§4275.	Judicial Authorization of Amendment	
	Article 3. Arti	cles of Incorporation	
	§4280.	Content of Articles.	
	Article 4. Con	dominium Plan	13
	§4285.	"Condominium Plan."	13
	§4290.	Recordation of Condominium Plan	13
	§4295.	Amendment or Revocation of Condominium Plan	
	Article 5. Ope	rating Rules	
	§4340.	"Operating rule"; "Rule change."	
	§4350.	Requirements for Validity and Enforceability	
	§4355.	Application of Rulemaking Procedures	14
	§4360.	Approval of Rule Change by Board	
	§4365.	Reversal of Rule Change by Members	
	§4370.	Applicability of Article to Changes Commenced Before and After January 1, 2004.	15
CH	APTER 4. OW	NERSHIP AND TRANSFER OF INTERESTS	16
	Article 1. Own	nership Rights and Interests	16
	§4500.	Ownership of Common Area	16
	§4505.	Appurtenant Rights and Easements	16
	§4510.	Access to Separate Interest Property	16
	Article 2. Tran	nsfer Disclosure	16
	§4525.	Disclosure to Prospective Purchaser	
	§4528.	Document Disclosure Summary Form	
	§4530.	Documents to be Provided by Association; Fee for Providing Requested Documents	
	§4535.	Related Requirements	
	§4540.	Enforcement of Article	
	§4545.	Validity of Title Unaffected	
		nsfer Fee	
	§4575.	Transfer Fee	
	§4580.	Exemption from Transfer Fee Limitations	
		trictions on Transfer	
	§4600.	Grant of Exclusive Use	
	§4605.	Civil Action to Enforce Section 4600	
	§4610.	Partition of Condominium Project	
	§4615.	Lien for Work Performed in Condominium Project	
		nsfer of Separate Interest	
	§4625.	Community Apartment Project	
	§4630.	Condominium Project	
	§4635.	Planned Development	
	§4640.	Stock Cooperative	
	§4645.	Transfer of Exclusive Use Common Area	
CII	§4650.	Severability of Interests	
CH		PERTY USE AND MAINTENANCE	
		ected Uses	
	§4700. §4705.	Display of United States Flag	
	§4703. §4710.	Noncommercial Sign	
	§4710. §4715.	Pets	
	y-7/13.	1 VW	4

§4720.	Roofing Materials	23
§4725.	Television Antenna or Satellite Dish	23
§4730.	Marketing Restriction	24
§4735.	Low Water-Using Plants; Landscaping Rules; Fine or Assessment	25
§4736.	Pressure Washing of Separate Interest and Appurtenant Common Area During	
v	Declared Drought Emergency	25
§4740.	Rental Restriction	
§4745.	Electric Vehicle Charging Station	26
§4750.	Personal Agriculture; Homeowner may not be Unreasonably Prohibited or Restricted	
Ü	from Engaging in; Applicability	
§4750.10.	Personal Energy Conservation; Clotheslines	
Article 2. Modif	ication of Separate Interest	29
§4760.	Improvements to Separate Interest	29
§4765.	Architectural Review and Decision Making	29
Article 3. Mainte	enance	30
§4775.	Maintenance Responsibility Generally	30
§4780.	Wood-Destroying Pests or Organisms	30
§4785.	Temporary Removal of Occupant to Perform Treatment of Wood-Destroying Pests	30
§4790.	Exclusive Use Communication Wiring	31
CHAPTER 6. ASSOC	CIATION GOVERNANCE	31
Article 1. Associ	iation Existence and Powers	31
§4800.	Association	31
§4805.	Association Powers	31
§4820.	Joint Neighborhood Association	31
Article 2. Board	Meeting	31
§4900.	Common Interest Development Open Meeting Act	31
§4910.	Board Action Outside of Meeting Prohibited	31
§4920.	Notice of Board Meeting	32
§4923.	Emergency Board Meeting	32
§4925.	Board Meeting Open	32
§4930.	Limitation on Meeting Content.	
§4935.	Executive Session	33
§4950.	Minutes	33
§4955.	Civil Action to Enforce Article	34
Article 3. Memb	er Meeting	34
§5000.	Member Meeting	34
	er Election	34
§5100.	Application of Article	34
§5105.	Election Rules	34
§5110.	Inspector of Elections	35
§5115.	Voting Procedure	36
§5120.	Counting Ballots	36
§5125.	Ballot Retention	37
§5130.	Proxies	37
§5135.	Campaign-Related Information	37
§5145.	Judicial Enforcement	38
Article 5. Record	d Inspection	38
§5200.	Definitions	38
§5205.	Document	39
§5210.	Time Periods	40
§5215.	Withholding and Redaction	40
§5220.	Membership List Opt Out	41
§5225.	Membership List Request	
§5230.	Restriction on Use of Records	
§5235.	Enforcement	42
§5240.	Application of Article	42
Article 6. Record	dkeeping	42

§526	60. Mailing-Related Requests	42
Article 7	7. Annual Reports	
§530	00. Annual Budget Report	43
§530		
§531		45
§532	20. Notice of Availability	46
	3. Conflict of Interest	46
§535	50. Interested Director	46
Article 9	9. Managing Agent	46
§537		
§538	80. Trust Fund Account	47
§538	85. Managing Agent	48
	10. Government Assistance	
§540	00. Director Training Course	48
§540		
CHAPTER 7.	FINANCES	
Article 1	1. Accounting	50
§55(	00. Board Review	50
Article 2	2. Use of Reserve Funds	50
§551	10. Use of Reserve Funds	50
§551	15. Temporary Transfer of Reserve Funds	50
§552	20. Use of Reserve Funds for Litigation	51
Article 3	3. Reserve Planning	51
§555	50. Visual Inspection of Major Components and Reserve Study	51
§556	60. Reserve Funding Plan	51
§556	65. Summary of Association Reserves	52
§557	70. Assessment and Reserve Funding Disclosure Summary	52
§558	80. Community Service Organization Report	53
CHAPTER 8.	. ASSESSMENTS AND ASSESSMENT COLLECTION	53
Article 1	Establishment and Imposition of Assessments	53
§560	00. Levy of Assessment	53
§560	05. Assessment Approval Requirements	53
§561		
§561	15. Notice of Assessment Increase	54
§562	20. Exemption from Execution	54
§562	25. Property Tax Value as Basis for Assessments	54
Article 2	2. Assessment Payment and Delinquency	54
§565	50. Assessment Debt and Delinquency	54
§565	55. Payments	55
§565	58. Payment Under Protest	55
§566	60. Notice Prior to Recording a Lien	55
§566	65. Payment Plan	56
§567	70. Dispute Resolution	56
§567	73. Decision to Record a Lien	56
§567	75. Notice of Delinquent Assessment	56
§568	80. Lien Priority	57
§568	85. Lien Release	57
§569	90. Procedural Noncompliance	57
Article 3	3. Assessment Collection	57
§570		
§570		
§571	10. Foreclosure	58
§571	15. Right of Redemption after Trustee Sale	58
§572		
§572	25. Limitations on Authority to Foreclose Liens for Monetary Penalties and D	amage to the
	Common Area	59
§573	30. Statement of Collection Procedure	60

	§5735.	Assignment or Pledge	.61
	§5740.	Application of Article	.61
		RANCE AND LIABILITY	
	§5800.	Limitation of Director and Officer Liability	.61
	§5805.	Limitation of Member Liability.	
	§5810.	Notice of Change in Coverage	
		UTE RESOLUTION AND ENFORCEMENT	
		oline and Cost Reimbursement	
	§5850.	Schedule of Monetary Penalties.	
	§5855.	Hearing	
	§5865.	No Effect on Authority of Board	
	· ·	al Dispute Resolution	
	§5900.	Application of Article	
	§5905.	Fair, Reasonable, and Expeditious Dispute Resolution Procedure Required	
	§5910.	Minimum Requirements of Association Procedure	
	§5915.	Default Meet and Confer Procedure	.65
	§5920.	Notice in Policy Statement	
		ative Dispute Resolution Prerequisite to Civil Action	
	§5925.	Definitions	
	§5930.	ADR Prerequisite to Enforcement Action	
	§5935.	Request for Resolution	
	§5940.	ADR Process.	
	§5945.	Tolling of Statute of Limitations	
	§5950.	Certification of Efforts to Resolve Dispute	
	§5955.	Stay of Litigation for Dispute Resolution	
	§5960.	Attorney's Fees	
	§5965.	Notice in Annual Policy Statement	
		Action	
	§5975.	Enforcement of Government Documents	
	§5980.	Standing	
	§5985.	Comparative Fault	
		STRUCTION DEFECT LITIGATION	
	§6000.	Actions for Damages	
	§6100.	Notice of Resolution	
	§6150.	Notice of Civil Action	
	Ü		
II.	RELATED CIVIL	CODE PROVISIONS	.77
	SOLAR ENERGY SYSTI	EMS	.77
	§714.	Unenforceability of Restrictions on Use of Solar Energy System; Standards for Solar	
	3,,	Energy Systems; Approval Process; Penalty for Willful Violation; Attorneys' Fees;	
		Compliance by Public Entity Seeking Grant or Loan Funds	.77
	§714.1.	Permitted Restrictions by Common Interest Development Associations	
		CONSTRUCTION DEFECT ACTIONS	
	§895.	Definitions	
	§896.	Standards for Residential Construction	.79
	§897.	Intent of Standards	
	§900.	Warranty Covering Fit and Finish Items	
	§901.	Enhanced Protection Agreement	
	§902.	Effect of Enhanced Protection Agreement.	
	§903.	Written Copy of Enhanced Protection Agreement.	
	§904.	Enforcement of Construction Standards in Lieu of Particular Enhanced Protection	
	o	Agreement Provision	.83
	§905.	Responsive Pleading in Action to Enforce Construction Standards of this Chapter in	
	0	of Enhanced Protection Agreement	
	§906.	Effect of Election of Enhanced Protection Agreement on Provisions of Prelitigation	
	0,,00.	Procedures	.84
	§907.	Obligation of Homeowner to Follow Reasonable Maintenance Obligations	
	0		

8912. Builder' Defined. 8912. Builder's Duties 8913. Acknowledgement of Receipt of Notice. 8914. Nonadversarial Procedure Established. 8915. Actions Resulting in Nonapplication of Chapter. 8916. Inspection of Claimed Unnet Standards by Builder. 8917. Offer to Repair. 8918. Authorization to Proceed with Repair. 8919. Offer to Mediate Dispute. 8920. Actions Resulting in Filing of an Action by Homeowner, Applicable Standards. 8921. Procedure when Resolution Involves Repair by Builder. 8922. Observation and Electronic Recording, Video Recording, or Photographing of Repair Allowed. 8923. Availability to Homeowner of Correspondence, Photographs and Other Material Pertaining to Repairs. 8924. Offer to Repair Some, but not all, of Claimed Unmet Standards. 8925. Failure to Timely Complete Repairs. 8926. Release or Waiver in Exchange for Repair Work Prohibited. 8927. Statute of Limitations. 8928. Mediation Procedure. 8929. Cash Offer in Lieu of Repair 8930. Strict Construction of Requirements; Failure of Claimant to Conform. 8931. Claim Combined with Other Causes of Action 8932. Subsequently Discovered Claims of Unmet Standards. 8934. Evidence of Parties' Conduct. 8935. Similar Requirements of Civil Code Section 6000 8936. Applicability of Title to Other Entities Involved in Construction Process 8937. Claims and Damages not Covered by this Title. 8938. Date of Sale for Applicability of Title 8941. Time Limit for Bringing Action 8942. Showing Required for Claims 8943. Other Causes of Action; Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home. 8944. Damages 8945. Affirmative Defenses 8946. Affirmative Defenses 8947. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liabilifor good faith error, Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communication Rebuttable presumption 8943. Self-Dealing Transactions by Interested Director; Remedies 8945. Affirmative Defenses 8946. Applicability of Title to Other Entities Involving Detached Single-Family Home. 8947. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or		§910.	Procedures Required Prior to Filing Action for Violation of Construction Standards	
\$914. Nonadversarial Procedure Established \$915. Actions Resulting in Nonapplication of Chapter \$916. Inspection of Claimed Unmet Standards by Builder \$917. Offer to Repair \$918. Authorization to Proceed with Repair. \$919. Offer to Mediate Dispute \$920. Actions Resulting in Filing of an Action by Homeowner; Applicable Standards \$921. Procedure when Resolution Involves Repair by Builder \$922. Observation and Electronic Recording, Video Recording, or Photographing of Repair Allowed \$923. Availability to Homeowner of Correspondence, Photographs and Other Material Pertaining to Repairs. \$924. Offer to Repair Some, but not all, of Claimed Unmet Standards \$925. Failure to Timely Complete Repairs. \$926. Release or Waiver in Exchange for Repair Work Prohibited \$927. Statute of Limitations \$928. Mediation Procedure. \$929. Cash Offer in Lie uof Repair \$930. Strict Construction of Requirements; Failure of Claimant to Conform \$931. Claim Combined with Other Causes of Action \$932. Subsequently Discovered Claims of Unmet Standards \$933. Evidence of Repair Work \$934. Evidence of Parties' Conduct \$935. Similar Requirements of Civil Code Section 6000. \$936. Applicability of Title to Other Entities Involved in Construction Process \$937. Claims and Damages not Covered by this Title \$941. Time Limit for Bringing Action \$942. Showing Required for Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home. \$943. Other Causes of Action; Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home. \$944. Damages \$945. Affirmative Defenses  FORECLOSURE \$952. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liabili for good faith error; Recital of acts as prima facie evidence, Privileged communication Recording Procedures \$945. Affirmative Defenses  FORECLOSURE \$952. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liabili for good faith error; Recital of acts as prima facie evidence, Privileged communication Recording Procedures \$952. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale;		§911.	"Builder" Defined	84
\$914. Nonadversarial Procedure Established \$915. Actions Resulting in Nonapplication of Chapter \$916. Inspection of Claimed Unmet Standards by Builder. \$917. Offer to Repair. \$918. Authorization to Proceed with Repair. \$919. Offer to Mediate Dispute. \$920. Actions Resulting in Filing of an Action by Homeowner; Applicable Standards. \$921. Procedure when Resolution Involves Repair by Builder. \$922. Observation and Electronic Recording, Video Recording, or Photographing of Repair Allowed. \$923. Availability to Homeowner of Correspondence, Photographing of Repair Allowed. \$924. Offer to Repair Some, but not all, of Claimed Unmet Standards. \$925. Failure to Timely Complete Repairs. \$926. Release or Waiver in Exchange for Repair Work Prohibited. \$927. Statute of Limitations. \$928. Mediation Procedure. \$929. Cash Offer in Lieu of Repair \$930. Strict Construction of Requirements; Failure of Claimant to Conform. \$931. Claim Combined with Other Causes of Action. \$932. Subsequently Discovered Claims of Unmet Standards. \$933. Evidence of Parities Conduct \$934. Evidence of Parities Conduct \$935. Similar Requirements of Civil Code Section 6000. \$936. Applicability of Title to Other Entities Involved in Construction Process \$937. Claims and Damages not Covered by this Title. \$941. Time Limit for Bringing Action \$942. Showing Required for Claim \$943. Other Causes of Action; Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home. \$944. Damages. \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest \$946. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest \$947. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liability for good faith error; Recital of acts as prima facic evidence; Privileged communication Rebuttable presumption \$945. Similar Procedures of Processes. \$946. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest. \$947. Recordation of Limitations on Corporate Activities or Powers as between Corporation and Third Person, Binding Effect of Contracts. \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest. \$946. Ori				
\$916. Inspection of Claimed Unmet Standards by Builder. \$917. Offer to Repair. \$918. Authorization to Proceed with Repair. \$919. Offer to Mediate Dispute. \$920. Actions Resulting in Filing of an Action by Homeowner; Applicable Standards. \$921. Procedure when Resolution Involves Repair by Builder. \$922. Observation and Electronic Recording, Video Recording, or Photographing of Repair Allowed. \$923. Availability to Homeowner of Correspondence, Photographs and Other Material Pertaining to Repairs. \$924. Offer to Repair Some, but not all, of Claimed Unmet Standards. \$925. Failure to Timely Complete Repairs. \$926. Release or Waiver in Exchange for Repair Work Prohibited. \$927. Statute of Limitations. \$928. Mediation Procedure. \$929. Cash Offer in Lie uof Repair. \$930. Strict Construction of Requirements; Failure of Claimant to Conform. \$931. Claim Combined with Other Causes of Action. \$932. Subsequently Discovered Claims of Unmet Standards. \$933. Evidence of Repair Work. \$934. Evidence of Parties' Conduct. \$935. Similar Requirements of Civil Code Section 6000. \$936. Applicability of Title to Other Entities Involved in Construction Process. \$937. Claims and Damages not Covered by this Title. \$938. Date of Sale for Applicability of Title. \$939. Showing Required for Claims \$941. Time Limit for Bringing Action. \$942. Showing Required for Claims \$943. Other Causes of Action. \$944. Time Limit for Bringing Action. \$945. Affirmative Defenses. FORECLOSURE  \$946. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liability for good faith error, Recital of acts as prima facie evidence, Privileged communication Rebutlable presumption. \$2924.1. Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development.  ### HIL RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS.  \$233. Self-Dealing Transactions by Interested Director; Remedies. \$7140. Powers of Corporation of Process of the Board, Action Taken by Board without a Meeting; \$7200. Corporate Activities shall be under Direction of Board; Delegation of Management				
\$916. Inspection of Claimed Unmet Standards by Builder.  \$917. Offer to Repair.  \$918. Authorization to Proceed with Repair.  \$920. Offer to Mediate Dispute.  \$920. Actions Resulting in Filing of an Action by Homeowner, Applicable Standards.  \$921. Procedure when Resolution Involves Repair by Builder.  \$922. Observation and Electronic Recording, Video Recording, or Photographing of Repair Allowed.  \$923. Availability to Homeowner of Correspondence, Photographs and Other Material Pertaining to Repairs.  \$924. Offer to Repair Some, but not all, of Claimed Unmet Standards.  \$925. Failure to Timely Complete Repairs.  \$926. Release or Waiver in Exchange for Repair Work Prohibited.  \$927. Statute of Limitations.  \$928. Mediation Procedure.  \$929. Cash Offer in Lieu of Repair.  \$930. Strict Construction of Requirements; Failure of Claimant to Conform.  \$931. Claim Combined with Other Causes of Action.  \$932. Subsequently Discovered Claims of Unmet Standards.  \$933. Evidence of Repair Work.  \$934. Evidence of Parties' Conduct.  \$935. Similar Requirements of Civil Code Section 6000.  \$936. Applicability of Title to Other Entities Involved in Construction Process.  \$937. Claims and Damages not Covered by this Title.  \$938. Date of Sale for Applicability of Title  \$941. Time Limit for Bringing Action  \$944. Damages.  \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest.  \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest.  \$946. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest.  \$947. Claims of Damages not Covered by this Title.  \$948. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest.  \$949. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest.  \$940. Procedures.  \$941. Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development.  ### HIN RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS.  \$9224. In Recordation of Intansfer of property in common interest development.  ### HIN RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS.  \$9210. Corporate Activities shall be under Direction of Board; Delegation of Management Activities.  \$9210. Corporate Activ				
\$918. Authorization to Proceed with Repair		§915.		
\$918. Authorization to Proceed with Repair.  \$919. Offer to Mediate Dispute.  \$920. Actions Resulting in Filing of an Action by Homeowner, Applicable Standards.  \$921. Procedure when Resolution Involves Repair by Builder.  \$922. Observation and Electronic Recording, Video Recording, or Photographing of Repair Allowed.  \$923. Availability to Homeowner of Correspondence, Photographs and Other Material Pertaining to Repairs.  \$924. Offer to Repair Some, but not all, of Claimed Unnet Standards.  \$925. Failure to Timely Complete Repairs.  \$926. Release or Waiver in Exchange for Repair Work Prohibited.  \$927. Statute of Limitations.  \$928. Mediation Procedure.  \$929. Cash Offer in Lieu of Repair  \$930. Strict Construction of Requirements; Failure of Claimant to Conform.  \$931. Claim Combined with Other Causes of Action.  \$932. Subsequently Discovered Claims of Unmet Standards.  \$933. Evidence of Repair Work.  \$934. Evidence of Parties' Conduct.  \$935. Similar Requirements of Civil Code Section 6000.  \$936. Applicability of Title to Other Entities Involved in Construction Process.  \$937. Claims and Damages not Covered by this Title.  \$941. Time Limit for Bringing Action.  \$942. Showing Required for Claims  \$943. Other Causes of Action, Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home.  \$944. Damages.  \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest.  \$945. Affirmative Defenses.  FORECLOSURE  \$2924. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liabili for good faith error; Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communication Rebuttable presumption.  \$2924. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liabili for good faith error; Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communication Rebuttable presumption.  \$2924. Transfer of Corporation of Property in common interest development.  ### III. RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS  **Corporate Activities of Powers as between Corporation and Third Person; Binding Effect of Contracts.		§916.	Inspection of Claimed Unmet Standards by Builder	86
\$910. Offer to Mediate Dispute. \$921. Procedure when Resolution Involves Repair by Builder. \$922. Observation and Electronic Recording, Video Recording, or Photographing of Repair Allowed. \$923. Availability to Homeowner of Correspondence, Photographs and Other Material Pertaining to Repairs. \$924. Offer to Repair Some, but not all, of Claimed Unmet Standards. \$925. Failure to Timely Complete Repairs. \$926. Release or Waiver in Exchange for Repair Work Prohibited. \$927. Statute of Limitations. \$928. Mediation Procedure. \$929. Cash Offer in Lieu of Repair \$930. Strict Construction of Requirements; Failure of Claimant to Conform. \$931. Claim Combined with Other Causes of Action. \$932. Subsequently Discovered Claims of Unmet Standards. \$933. Evidence of Repair Work. \$934. Evidence of Parties' Conduct. \$935. Similar Requirements of Civil Code Section 6000. \$936. Applicability of Title to Other Entities Involved in Construction Process. \$937. Claims and Damages not Covered by this Title. \$938. Date of Sale for Applicability of Title \$941. Time Limit for Bringing Action. \$942. Showing Required for Claims. \$943. Other Causes of Action; Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home. \$944. Damages. \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest. \$945. Affirmative Defenses.  FORECLOSURE. \$2924. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liabilify or good faith error, Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communication Rebuttable pressumption. \$2924.1. Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development.  HI. RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS. \$5233. Self-Dealing Transactions by Interested Director; Remedies. \$7151. Contents; Directors; Meetings; Committees; Members; Emergency Operating Procedures. \$7160. Availability; Place and Time. \$7211. Meetings of the Board; Notice; Adjournment; Participation via Electronic Means; Quorum; Acts or Decisions of the Board; Action Taken by Board without a Meeting;		§917.	Offer to Repair	87
\$920. Actions Resulting in Filing of an Action by Homeowner; Applicable Standards \$921. Procedure when Resolution Involves Repair by Builder Allowed Availability to Homeowner of Correspondence, Photographing of Repair Allowed Pertaining to Repairs Some, but not all, of Claimed Unmer Standards Pertaining to Repairs Some, but not all, of Claimed Unmer Standards Pertaining to Repair Some, but not all, of Claimed Unmer Standards Pertaining to Repair Some, but not all, of Claimed Unmer Standards Pertaining to Repair Some, but not all, of Claimed Unmer Standards Pertaining to Repair Some, but not all, of Claimed Unmer Standards Pertaining to Repair Some, but not all, of Claimed Unmer Standards Pertaining to Repair Some, but not all, of Claimed Unmer Standards Pertaining to Repair Some Pertaining to Repair Some Pertaining to Repair Work Prohibited Statute of Limitations Procedure Some Pertaining to Repair Some Pertaining Pertaining to Repair Some Pertaining Pertai		§918.	Authorization to Proceed with Repair	87
\$921. Procedure when Resolution Involves Repair by Builder. \$922. Observation and Electronic Recording, Video Recording, or Photographing of Repair Allowed  \$923. Availability to Homeowner of Correspondence, Photographs and Other Material Pertaining to Repairs.  \$924. Offer to Repair Some, but not all, of Claimed Unmet Standards.  \$925. Failure to Timely Complete Repairs.  \$926. Release of Waiver in Exchange for Repair Work Prohibited.  \$927. Statute of Limitations  \$928. Mediation Procedure.  \$929. Cash Offer in Lieu of Repair  \$930. Strict Construction of Requirements; Failure of Claimant to Conform.  \$931. Claim Combined with Other Causes of Action.  \$932. Subsequently Discovered Claims of Unmet Standards.  \$933. Evidence of Repair Work.  \$934. Evidence of Repair Work.  \$935. Similar Requirements of Civil Code Section 6000.  \$936. Applicability of Title to Other Entities Involved in Construction Process.  \$937. Claims and Damages not Covered by this Title.  \$938. Date of Sale for Applicability of Title  \$939. Showing Required for Claim.  \$941. Time Limit for Bringing Action.  \$942. Showing Required for Claim.  \$943. Other Causes of Action; Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home.  \$944. Damages.  \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest.  \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest.  \$945. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liabili for good faith error, Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communication Rebutable presumption.  \$2924.1. Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development.  ### IHI RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS  \$7151. Contents; Directors; Meetings; Committees; Members; Emergency Operating Procedures.  \$7160. Availability; Place and Time  \$7210. Corporate Activities shall be under Direction of Board; Delegation of Management Activities.  \$7211. Meetings of the Board; Notice; Adjournment; Participation via Electronic Means; Oucrum; Acts or Decisions of the Board; Action Taken by Board witho		§919.	Offer to Mediate Dispute	88
\$921. Procedure when Resolution Involves Repair by Builder. \$922. Observation and Electronic Recording, Video Recording, or Photographing of Repair Allowed  \$923. Availability to Homeowner of Correspondence, Photographs and Other Material Pertaining to Repairs.  \$924. Offer to Repair Some, but not all, of Claimed Unmet Standards.  \$925. Failure to Timely Complete Repairs.  \$926. Release of Waiver in Exchange for Repair Work Prohibited.  \$927. Statute of Limitations  \$928. Mediation Procedure.  \$929. Cash Offer in Lieu of Repair  \$930. Strict Construction of Requirements; Failure of Claimant to Conform.  \$931. Claim Combined with Other Causes of Action.  \$932. Subsequently Discovered Claims of Unmet Standards.  \$933. Evidence of Repair Work.  \$934. Evidence of Repair Work.  \$935. Similar Requirements of Civil Code Section 6000.  \$936. Applicability of Title to Other Entities Involved in Construction Process.  \$937. Claims and Damages not Covered by this Title.  \$938. Date of Sale for Applicability of Title  \$939. Showing Required for Claim.  \$941. Time Limit for Bringing Action.  \$942. Showing Required for Claim.  \$943. Other Causes of Action; Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home.  \$944. Damages.  \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest.  \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest.  \$945. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liabili for good faith error, Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communication Rebutable presumption.  \$2924.1. Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development.  ### IHI RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS  \$7151. Contents; Directors; Meetings; Committees; Members; Emergency Operating Procedures.  \$7160. Availability; Place and Time  \$7210. Corporate Activities shall be under Direction of Board; Delegation of Management Activities.  \$7211. Meetings of the Board; Notice; Adjournment; Participation via Electronic Means; Oucrum; Acts or Decisions of the Board; Action Taken by Board witho		§920.	Actions Resulting in Filing of an Action by Homeowner; Applicable Standards	88
\$922. Observation and Electronic Recording, Video Recording, or Photographing of Repair Allowed  \$923. Availability to Homeowner of Correspondence, Photographs and Other Material Pertaining to Repairs.  \$924. Offer to Repair Some, but not all, of Claimed Unmet Standards.  \$925. Failure to Timely Complete Repairs.  \$926. Release or Waiver in Exchange for Repair Work Prohibited.  \$927. Statute of Limitations.  \$928. Mediation Procedure.  \$929. Cash Offer in Lieu of Repair  \$930. Strict Construction of Requirements; Failure of Claimant to Conform.  \$931. Claim Combined with Other Causes of Action.  \$932. Subsequently Discovered Claims of Unmet Standards.  \$933. Evidence of Repair Work.  \$934. Evidence of Parties' Conduct.  \$935. Similar Requirements of Civil Code Section 6000.  \$936. Applicability of Title to Other Entities Involved in Construction Process.  \$937. Claims and Damages not Covered by this Title.  \$938. Date of Sale for Applicability of Title  \$941. Time Limit for Bringing Action.  \$942. Showing Required for Claim.  \$943. Other Causes of Action; Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home.  \$944. Damages.  \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest.  \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest.  \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest.  \$945. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liability for good faith error; Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communication Rebuttable presumption.  \$2924.1. Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development.  ### HEALATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS  \$7141. Assertion of Limitations on Corporate Activities or Powers as between Corporation at Third Person; Binding Effect of Contracts  \$7160. Availability; Place and Time  \$7210. Corporate Activities shall be under Direction of Board; Delegation of Management Activities.  \$7211. Meetings of the Board; Notice; Adjournment; Participation via Electronic Means;  Quorum; Acts or Decisions of the Board; Action Taken by B		§921.		
\$923. Availability to Homeowner of Correspondence, Photographs and Other Material Pertaining to Repairs.  \$924. Offer to Repair Some, but not all, of Claimed Unmet Standards.  \$925. Failure to Timely Complete Repairs.  \$926. Release or Waiver in Exchange for Repair Work Prohibited.  \$927. Statute of Limitations.  \$928. Mediation Procedure.  \$929. Cash Offer in Lieu of Repair.  \$930. Striet Construction of Requirements; Failure of Claimant to Conform.  \$931. Claim Combined with Other Causes of Action.  \$932. Subsequently Discovered Claims of Unmet Standards.  \$933. Evidence of Repair Work.  \$934. Evidence of Parties' Conduct.  \$935. Similar Requirements of Civil Code Section 6000.  \$936. Applicability of Title to Other Entitites Involved in Construction Process.  \$937. Claims and Damages not Covered by this Title.  \$938. Date of Sale for Applicability of Title  \$941. Time Limit for Bringing Action.  \$942. Showing Required for Claim.  \$943. Other Causes of Action; Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home.  \$944. Damages.  \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest.  \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest.  \$946. Affirmative Defenses.  FORECLOSURE  \$2924. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liabilifor good faith error; Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communication Rebuttable presumption.  \$2924.1. Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development.  ### III. RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS  \$7141. Assertion of Limitations on Corporate Activities or Powers as between Corporation and Third Person; Binding Effect of Contracts.  \$7151. Cortents; Directors; Meetings; Committees; Members; Emergency Operating Procedures.  \$7160. Availability; Place and Time  \$7211. Meetings of the Board; Notice; Adjournment; Participation via Electronic Means; Quorum; Acts or Decisions of the Board; Action Taken by Board without a Meeting;		§922.		
Pertaining to Repairs.  §924. Offer to Repair Some, but not all, of Claimed Unmet Standards.  §925. Failure to Timely Complete Repairs.  §926. Release or Waiver in Exchange for Repair Work Prohibited.  §927. Statute of Limitations.  §928. Mediation Procedure.  §929. Cash Offer in Lieu of Repair  §930. Strict Construction of Requirements; Failure of Claimant to Conform.  §931. Claim Combined with Other Causes of Action  §932. Subsequently Discovered Claims of Unmet Standards.  §933. Evidence of Repair Work.  §934. Evidence of Parties' Conduct.  §935. Similar Requirements of Civil Code Section 6000.  §936. Applicability of Title to Other Entities Involved in Construction Process.  §937. Claims and Damages not Covered by this Title.  §938. Date of Sale for Applicability of Title.  §941. Time Limit for Bringing Action.  §942. Showing Required for Claim.  §943. Other Causes of Action; Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home.  §944. Damages  9945. Affirmative Defenses.  FORECLOSURE  §2924. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liability for good faith error; Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communication Rebuttable presumption.  §2924. Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development  HI. RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS  §5233. Self-Dealing Transactions by Interested Director; Remedies.  §7140. Powers of Corporation.  §7141. Assertion of Limitations on Corporate Activities or Powers as between Corporation and Third Person; Binding Effect of Contracts.  §7151. Contents; Directors; Meetings; Committees; Members; Emergency Operating Procedures.  §7160. Availability; Place and Time.  §7211. Meetings of the Board; Notice; Adjournment; Participation via Electronic Means; Quorum; Acts or Decisions of the Board; Action Taken by Board without a Meeting;		§923.	Availability to Homeowner of Correspondence, Photographs and Other Material	
\$924. Offer to Repair Some, but not all, of Claimed Unmet Standards. \$925. Failure to Timely Complete Repairs. \$926. Release or Waiver in Exchange for Repair Work Prohibited. \$927. Statute of Limitations. \$928. Mediation Procedure. \$929. Cash Offer in Lieu of Repair \$930. Strict Construction of Requirements; Failure of Claimant to Conform. \$931. Claim Combined with Other Causes of Action. \$932. Subsequently Discovered Claims of Unmet Standards. \$933. Evidence of Repair Work. \$934. Evidence of Parties' Conduct. \$935. Similar Requirements of Civil Code Section 6000. \$936. Applicability of Title to Other Entities Involved in Construction Process. \$937. Claims and Damages not Covered by this Title. \$938. Date of Sale for Applicability of Title. \$941. Time Limit for Bringing Action. \$942. Showing Required for Claim. \$943. Other Causes of Action; Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home. \$944. Damages \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest. \$945. Affirmative Defenses.  FORECLOSURE. \$2924. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liabili for good faith error; Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communication Rebuttable presumption. \$2924.1. Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development  HI. RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS  \$7140. Assertion of Limitations on Corporate Activities or Powers as between Corporation an Third Person; Binding Effect of Contracts. \$7151. Contents; Directors; Meetings; Committees; Members; Emergency Operating Procedures. \$7160. Availability; Place and Time \$7211. Meetings of the Board; Notice; Adjournment; Participation via Electronic Means; Quorum; Acts or Decisions of the Board; Action Taken by Board without a Meeting;		Ü		88
\$925. Failure to Timely Complete Repairs. \$926. Release or Waiver in Exchange for Repair Work Prohibited. \$927. Statute of Limitations. \$928. Mediation Procedure. \$929. Cash Offer in Lieu of Repair \$930. Strict Construction of Requirements; Failure of Claimant to Conform. \$931. Claim Combined with Other Causes of Action. \$932. Subsequently Discovered Claims of Unmet Standards. \$933. Evidence of Repair Work. \$934. Evidence of Parties' Conduct. \$935. Similar Requirements of Civil Code Section 6000. \$936. Applicability of Title to Other Entities Involved in Construction Process. \$937. Claims and Damages not Covered by this Title. \$938. Date of Sale for Applicability of Title \$941. Time Limit for Bringing Action. \$942. Showing Required for Claim. \$943. Other Causes of Action; Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home. \$944. Damages. \$944. Damages. \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest. \$945. Affirmative Defenses.  FORECLOSURE  \$2924. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liabili for good faith error; Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communication Rebuttable presumption.  \$2924. Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development  HII. RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS  \$7140. Powers of Corporation. \$7141. Assertion of Limitations on Corporate Activities or Powers as between Corporation and Third Person; Binding Effect of Contracts \$7151. Contents; Directors; Meetings; Committees; Members; Emergency Operating Procedures. \$7160. Availability; Place and Time \$7211. Meetings of the Board; Notice; Adjournment; Participation via Electronic Means; Quorum; Acts or Decisions of the Board; Action Taken by Board without a Meeting;		§924.		
\$926. Release or Waiver in Exchange for Repair Work Prohibited \$927. Statute of Limitations \$928. Mediation Procedure \$929. Cash Offer in Lieu of Repair \$930. Strict Construction of Requirements; Failure of Claimant to Conform \$931. Claim Combined with Other Causes of Action \$932. Subsequently Discovered Claims of Unmet Standards \$933. Evidence of Repair Work \$934. Evidence of Parties' Conduct \$935. Similar Requirements of Civil Code Section 6000 \$936. Applicability of Title to Other Entities Involved in Construction Process \$937. Claims and Damages not Covered by this Title. \$938. Date of Sale for Applicability of Title \$941. Time Limit for Bringing Action \$942. Showing Required for Claim \$943. Other Causes of Action; Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home. \$944. Damages \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest. \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest. \$945. Affirmative Defenses.  FORECLOSURE  **PORECLOSURE**  **Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liabili for good faith error; Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communication Rebuttable presumption.  \$ 2924.1. Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development  **III. RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS**  \$ 5233. Self-Dealing Transactions by Interested Director; Remedies.  \$ 7140. Powers of Corporation.  \$ 7141. Assertion of Limitations on Corporate Activities or Powers as between Corporation at Third Person; Binding Effect of Contracts.  \$ 7151. Contents; Directors; Meetings; Committees; Members; Emergency Operating Procedures.  \$ 7160. Availability; Place and Time \$ 7210. Corporate Activities shall be under Direction of Board; Delegation of Management Activities.  \$ 7211. Meetings of the Board; Notice; Adjournment; Participation via Electronic Means; Quorum; Acts or Decisions of the Board; Action Taken by Board without a Meeting;				
\$927. Statute of Limitations \$928. Mediation Procedure. \$929. Cash Offer in Lieu of Repair \$930. Strict Construction of Requirements; Failure of Claimant to Conform. \$931. Claim Combined with Other Causes of Action \$932. Subsequently Discovered Claims of Unmet Standards. \$933. Evidence of Repair Work. \$934. Evidence of Parties' Conduct. \$935. Similar Requirements of Civil Code Section 6000 \$936. Applicability of Title to Other Entities Involved in Construction Process. \$937. Claims and Damages not Covered by this Title. \$938. Date of Sale for Applicability of Title \$941. Time Limit for Bringing Action \$942. Showing Required for Claim \$943. Other Causes of Action; Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home. \$944. Damages. \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest. \$945. Affirmative Defenses.  FORECLOSURE \$2924. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liabili for good faith error; Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communication Rebuttable presumption. \$2924.1. Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development  HIL RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS \$5233. Self-Dealing Transactions by Interested Director; Remedies. \$7140. Powers of Corporation. \$7141. Assertion of Limitations on Corporate Activities or Powers as between Corporation an Third Person; Binding Effect of Contracts. \$7151. Contents; Directors; Meetings; Committees; Members; Emergency Operating Procedures. \$7160. Availability; Place and Time \$7210. Corporate Activities shall be under Direction of Board; Delegation of Management Activities.				
\$928. Mediation Procedure \$929. Cash Offer in Lieu of Repair \$930. Strict Construction of Requirements; Failure of Claimant to Conform \$931. Claim Combined with Other Causes of Action \$932. Subsequently Discovered Claims of Unmet Standards \$933. Evidence of Repair Work \$934. Evidence of Parties' Conduct \$935. Similar Requirements of Civil Code Section 6000 \$936. Applicability of Title to Other Entities Involved in Construction Process \$937. Claims and Damages not Covered by this Title \$938. Date of Sale for Applicability of Title \$941. Time Limit for Bringing Action \$942. Showing Required for Claim \$943. Other Causes of Action; Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home \$944. Damages \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest \$945. Affirmative Defenses  FORECLOSURE  FORECLOSURE  Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liabili for good faith error; Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communication Rebuttable presumption \$2924.1. Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development  HI. RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS  \$5233. Self-Dealing Transactions by Interested Director; Remedies \$7140. Powers of Corporation \$7141. Assertion of Limitations on Corporate Activities or Powers as between Corporation at Third Person; Binding Effect of Contracts  \$7151. Contents; Directors; Meetings; Committees; Members; Emergency Operating Procedures \$7160. Availability; Place and Time \$7210. Corporate Activities shall be under Direction of Board; Delegation of Management Activities.  \$7211. Meetings of the Board; Notice; Adjournment; Participation via Electronic Means; Quorum; Acts or Decisions of the Board; Action Taken by Board without a Meeting;				
\$929. Cash Offer in Lieu of Repair \$930. Strict Construction of Requirements; Failure of Claimant to Conform \$931. Claim Combined with Other Causes of Action \$932. Subsequently Discovered Claims of Unmet Standards \$933. Evidence of Repair Work \$934. Evidence of Parties' Conduct \$935. Similar Requirements of Civil Code Section 6000 \$936. Applicability of Title to Other Entities Involved in Construction Process \$937. Claims and Damages not Covered by this Title \$938. Date of Sale for Applicability of Title \$941. Time Limit for Bringing Action \$942. Showing Required for Claim \$943. Other Causes of Action; Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home \$944. Damages \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest \$945. Affirmative Defenses  FORECLOSURE \$2924. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liabili for good faith error; Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communication Rebuttable presumption \$2924.1. Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development  III. RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS \$5233. Self-Dealing Transactions by Interested Director; Remedies \$7140. Powers of Corporation \$7141. Assertion of Limitations on Corporate Activities or Powers as between Corporation and Third Person; Binding Effect of Contracts \$7151. Contents; Directors; Meetings; Committees; Members; Emergency Operating Procedures \$7160. Availability; Place and Time \$7210. Corporate Activities shall be under Direction of Board; Delegation of Management Activities \$7211. Meetings of the Board; Notice; Adjournment; Participation via Electronic Means; Quorum; Acts or Decisions of the Board; Action Taken by Board without a Meeting;				
\$930. Strict Construction of Requirements; Failure of Claimant to Conform. \$931. Claim Combined with Other Causes of Action \$932. Subsequently Discovered Claims of Unmet Standards. \$933. Evidence of Repair Work. \$934. Evidence of Parties' Conduct. \$935. Similar Requirements of Civil Code Section 6000. \$936. Applicability of Title to Other Entities Involved in Construction Process. \$937. Claims and Damages not Covered by this Title. \$938. Date of Sale for Applicability of Title. \$941. Time Limit for Bringing Action. \$942. Showing Required for Claim. \$943. Other Causes of Action; Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home. \$944. Damages \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest. \$945. Affirmative Defenses.  FORECLOSURE \$2924. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liabili for good faith error; Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communication Rebuttable presumption. \$2924.1 Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development.  ### RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS.  ### S233. Self-Dealing Transactions by Interested Director; Remedies. ### \$7140. Powers of Corporation. ### \$7141. Assertion of Limitations on Corporate Activities or Powers as between Corporation and Third Person; Binding Effect of Contracts.  ### \$7151. Contents; Directors; Meetings; Committees; Members; Emergency Operating Procedures. ### \$7160. Availability; Place and Time. ### \$7210. Corporate Activities shall be under Direction of Board; Delegation of Management Activities. ### Weetings of the Board; Notice; Adjournment; Participation via Electronic Means; Quorum; Acts or Decisions of the Board; Action Taken by Board without a Meeting;				
\$931. Claim Combined with Other Causes of Action \$932. Subsequently Discovered Claims of Unmet Standards. \$933. Evidence of Repair Work \$934. Evidence of Parties' Conduct \$935. Similar Requirements of Civil Code Section 6000. \$936. Applicability of Title to Other Entities Involved in Construction Process. \$937. Claims and Damages not Covered by this Title. \$938. Date of Sale for Applicability of Title. \$941. Time Limit for Bringing Action. \$942. Showing Required for Claim. \$943. Other Causes of Action; Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home. \$944. Damages. \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest. \$945. Affirmative Defenses.  FORECLOSURE \$2924. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liabili for good faith error; Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communication Rebuttable presumption. \$2924.1 Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development.  ### RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS.  \$5233. Self-Dealing Transactions by Interested Director; Remedies. \$7140. Powers of Corporation. \$7141. Assertion of Limitations on Corporate Activities or Powers as between Corporation and Third Person; Binding Effect of Contracts.  \$7151. Contents; Directors; Meetings; Committees; Members; Emergency Operating Procedures.  \$7160. Availability; Place and Time. \$7210. Corporate Activities shall be under Direction of Board; Delegation of Management Activities.  \$7211. Meetings of the Board; Notice; Adjournment; Participation via Electronic Means; Quorum; Acts or Decisions of the Board; Action Taken by Board without a Meeting;		•		
\$932. Subsequently Discovered Claims of Unmet Standards. \$933. Evidence of Repair Work. \$934. Evidence of Parties' Conduct. \$935. Similar Requirements of Civil Code Section 6000. \$936. Applicability of Title to Other Entities Involved in Construction Process. \$937. Claims and Damages not Covered by this Title. \$938. Date of Sale for Applicability of Title. \$941. Time Limit for Bringing Action. \$942. Showing Required for Claim. \$943. Other Causes of Action; Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home. \$944. Damages. \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest. \$945. Affirmative Defenses.  FORECLOSURE. \$2924. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liabilit for good faith error; Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communication Rebuttable presumption. \$2924.1. Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development.  ### RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS.  \$5233. Self-Dealing Transactions by Interested Director; Remedies. \$7140. Powers of Corporation. \$7141. Assertion of Limitations on Corporate Activities or Powers as between Corporation an Third Person; Binding Effect of Contracts.  \$7151. Contents; Directors; Meetings; Committees; Members; Emergency Operating Procedures.  \$7160. Availability; Place and Time. \$7210. Corporate Activities shall be under Direction of Board; Delegation of Management Activities.  \$7211. Meetings of the Board; Notice; Adjournment; Participation via Electronic Means; Quorum; Acts or Decisions of the Board; Action Taken by Board without a Meeting;				
\$933. Evidence of Repair Work \$934. Evidence of Parties' Conduct \$935. Similar Requirements of Civil Code Section 6000 \$936. Applicability of Title to Other Entities Involved in Construction Process \$937. Claims and Damages not Covered by this Title \$938. Date of Sale for Applicability of Title \$941. Time Limit for Bringing Action \$942. Showing Required for Claim \$943. Other Causes of Action; Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home. \$944. Damages \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest \$945. Affirmative Defenses  FORECLOSURE  \$2924. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liabili for good faith error; Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communication Rebuttable presumption \$2924.1. Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development  III. RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS  \$5233. Self-Dealing Transactions by Interested Director; Remedies \$7140. Powers of Corporation \$7141. Assertion of Limitations on Corporate Activities or Powers as between Corporation an Third Person; Binding Effect of Contracts \$7151. Contents; Directors; Meetings; Committees; Members; Emergency Operating Procedures  \$7160. Availability; Place and Time \$7210. Corporate Activities shall be under Direction of Board; Delegation of Management Activities.  \$7211. Meetings of the Board; Notice; Adjournment; Participation via Electronic Means; Quorum; Acts or Decisions of the Board; Action Taken by Board without a Meeting;		v		
\$934. Evidence of Parties' Conduct \$935. Similar Requirements of Civil Code Section 6000 \$936. Applicability of Title to Other Entities Involved in Construction Process \$937. Claims and Damages not Covered by this Title. \$938. Date of Sale for Applicability of Title \$941. Time Limit for Bringing Action \$942. Showing Required for Claim \$943. Other Causes of Action; Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home. \$944. Damages \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest \$945. Affirmative Defenses FORECLOSURE \$2924. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liabili for good faith error; Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communication Rebuttable presumption \$2924.1. Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development  HIL RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS \$5233. Self-Dealing Transactions by Interested Director; Remedies \$7140. Powers of Corporation \$7141. Assertion of Limitations on Corporate Activities or Powers as between Corporation an Third Person; Binding Effect of Contracts \$7151. Contents; Directors; Meetings; Committees; Members; Emergency Operating Procedures \$7160. Availability; Place and Time \$7210. Corporate Activities shall be under Direction of Board; Delegation of Management Activities. \$7211. Meetings of the Board; Notice; Adjournment; Participation via Electronic Means; Quorum; Acts or Decisions of the Board; Action Taken by Board without a Meeting;				
\$935. Similar Requirements of Civil Code Section 6000. \$936. Applicability of Title to Other Entities Involved in Construction Process. \$937. Claims and Damages not Covered by this Title. \$938. Date of Sale for Applicability of Title \$941. Time Limit for Bringing Action. \$942. Showing Required for Claim. \$943. Other Causes of Action; Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home. \$944. Damages. \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest. \$945. Affirmative Defenses. FORECLOSURE. \$2924. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liability for good faith error; Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communication Rebuttable presumption. \$2924.1. Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development.  ### HIL RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS.  \$5233. Self-Dealing Transactions by Interested Director; Remedies. \$7140. Powers of Corporation. \$7141. Assertion of Limitations on Corporate Activities or Powers as between Corporation an Third Person; Binding Effect of Contracts.  \$7151. Contents; Directors; Meetings; Committees; Members; Emergency Operating Procedures.  \$7160. Availability; Place and Time. \$7210. Corporate Activities shall be under Direction of Board; Delegation of Management Activities.  \$7211. Meetings of the Board; Notice; Adjournment; Participation via Electronic Means; Quorum; Acts or Decisions of the Board; Action Taken by Board without a Meeting;				
\$936. Applicability of Title to Other Entities Involved in Construction Process \$937. Claims and Damages not Covered by this Title \$938. Date of Sale for Applicability of Title \$941. Time Limit for Bringing Action \$942. Showing Required for Claim \$943. Other Causes of Action; Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home \$944. Damages \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest \$945.5. Affirmative Defenses  FORECLOSURE \$2924. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liabili for good faith error; Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communication Rebuttable presumption \$2924.1. Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development  ### RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS  \$5233. Self-Dealing Transactions by Interested Director; Remedies \$7140. Powers of Corporation \$7141. Assertion of Limitations on Corporate Activities or Powers as between Corporation an Third Person; Binding Effect of Contracts.  \$7151. Contents; Directors; Meetings; Committees; Members; Emergency Operating Procedures  \$7160. Availability; Place and Time \$7210. Corporate Activities shall be under Direction of Board; Delegation of Management Activities  \$7211. Meetings of the Board; Notice; Adjournment; Participation via Electronic Means; Quorum; Acts or Decisions of the Board; Action Taken by Board without a Meeting;				
\$937. Claims and Damages not Covered by this Title		v		
\$938. Date of Sale for Applicability of Title \$941. Time Limit for Bringing Action \$942. Showing Required for Claim \$943. Other Causes of Action; Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home. \$944. Damages. \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest \$945.5. Affirmative Defenses.  FORECLOSURE  \$2924. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liability for good faith error; Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communication Rebuttable presumption \$2924.1. Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development  III. RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS  \$5233. Self-Dealing Transactions by Interested Director; Remedies \$7140. Powers of Corporation \$7141. Assertion of Limitations on Corporate Activities or Powers as between Corporation and Third Person; Binding Effect of Contracts  \$7151. Contents; Directors; Meetings; Committees; Members; Emergency Operating Procedures \$7160. Availability; Place and Time \$7210. Corporate Activities shall be under Direction of Board; Delegation of Management Activities.  \$7211. Meetings of the Board; Notice; Adjournment; Participation via Electronic Means; Quorum; Acts or Decisions of the Board; Action Taken by Board without a Meeting;				
\$941. Time Limit for Bringing Action \$942. Showing Required for Claim \$943. Other Causes of Action; Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home. \$944. Damages				
\$942. Showing Required for Claim. \$943. Other Causes of Action; Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home. \$944. Damages \$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest. \$945.5 Affirmative Defenses.  FORECLOSURE. \$2924. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liabili for good faith error; Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communication Rebuttable presumption. \$2924.1 Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development.  ### III. RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS.  \$5233. Self-Dealing Transactions by Interested Director; Remedies. \$7140. Powers of Corporation. \$7141. Assertion of Limitations on Corporate Activities or Powers as between Corporation and Third Person; Binding Effect of Contracts.  \$7151. Contents; Directors; Meetings; Committees; Members; Emergency Operating Procedures.  \$7160. Availability; Place and Time. \$7210. Corporate Activities shall be under Direction of Board; Delegation of Management Activities.  \$7211. Meetings of the Board; Notice; Adjournment; Participation via Electronic Means; Quorum, Acts or Decisions of the Board; Action Taken by Board without a Meeting;				
\$943. Other Causes of Action; Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home		v		
\$944. Damages		v		
\$945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest		•		
\$945.5. Affirmative Defenses  \$2924. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liabili for good faith error; Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communication Rebuttable presumption  \$2924.1. Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development  III. RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS  \$5233. Self-Dealing Transactions by Interested Director; Remedies  \$7140. Powers of Corporation  \$7141. Assertion of Limitations on Corporate Activities or Powers as between Corporation at Third Person; Binding Effect of Contracts  \$7151. Contents; Directors; Meetings; Committees; Members; Emergency Operating Procedures  \$7160. Availability; Place and Time  \$7210. Corporate Activities shall be under Direction of Board; Delegation of Management Activities.  \$7211. Meetings of the Board; Notice; Adjournment; Participation via Electronic Means; Quorum; Acts or Decisions of the Board; Action Taken by Board without a Meeting;		•		
\$2924. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liabili for good faith error; Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communication Rebuttable presumption		v		
\$2924.1 Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liabili for good faith error; Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communication Rebuttable presumption	<b>D</b>			
for good faith error; Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communication Rebuttable presumption  § 2924.1. Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development  III. RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS  § 5233. Self-Dealing Transactions by Interested Director; Remedies  § 7140. Powers of Corporation  § 7141. Assertion of Limitations on Corporate Activities or Powers as between Corporation at Third Person; Binding Effect of Contracts  § 7151. Contents; Directors; Meetings; Committees; Members; Emergency Operating Procedures  § 7160. Availability; Place and Time  § 7210. Corporate Activities shall be under Direction of Board; Delegation of Management Activities  § 7211. Meetings of the Board; Notice; Adjournment; Participation via Electronic Means; Quorum; Acts or Decisions of the Board; Action Taken by Board without a Meeting;	FORECL			
Rebuttable presumption  § 2924.1. Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development  III. RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS  §5233. Self-Dealing Transactions by Interested Director; Remedies  §7140. Powers of Corporation  §7141. Assertion of Limitations on Corporate Activities or Powers as between Corporation an Third Person; Binding Effect of Contracts  §7151. Contents; Directors; Meetings; Committees; Members; Emergency Operating Procedures  §7160. Availability; Place and Time  §7210. Corporate Activities shall be under Direction of Board; Delegation of Management Activities.  §7211. Meetings of the Board; Notice; Adjournment; Participation via Electronic Means; Quorum; Acts or Decisions of the Board; Action Taken by Board without a Meeting;		§2924.		
\$ 2924.1. Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development.  III. RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS				
\$5233. Self-Dealing Transactions by Interested Director; Remedies		0.0004.1		
\$5233. Self-Dealing Transactions by Interested Director; Remedies		§ 2924.1.	Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development	94
\$7140. Powers of Corporation  \$7141. Assertion of Limitations on Corporate Activities or Powers as between Corporation at Third Person; Binding Effect of Contracts  \$7151. Contents; Directors; Meetings; Committees; Members; Emergency Operating Procedures  \$7160. Availability; Place and Time  \$7210. Corporate Activities shall be under Direction of Board; Delegation of Management Activities  \$7211. Meetings of the Board; Notice; Adjournment; Participation via Electronic Means; Quorum; Acts or Decisions of the Board; Action Taken by Board without a Meeting;	III. RELA	TED COR	PORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS	95
\$7141. Assertion of Limitations on Corporate Activities or Powers as between Corporation and Third Person; Binding Effect of Contracts		§5233.	Self-Dealing Transactions by Interested Director; Remedies	95
Third Person; Binding Effect of Contracts  Solution (Section 2015)  Sol		§7140.	Powers of Corporation	96
\$7151. Contents; Directors; Meetings; Committees; Members; Emergency Operating Procedures		§7141.		
87160. Availability; Place and Time				98
\$7210. Corporate Activities shall be under Direction of Board; Delegation of Management Activities		§7151.		98
Activities		v		
§7211. Meetings of the Board; Notice; Adjournment; Participation via Electronic Means; Quorum; Acts or Decisions of the Board; Action Taken by Board without a Meeting;		§7210.		
Quorum; Acts or Decisions of the Board; Action Taken by Board without a Meeting;				100
Applicability of Section		§7211.	Quorum; Acts or Decisions of the Board; Action Taken by Board without a Meeting	
			Applicability of Section	100

§7212.	Creation of Committees; Appointment of Members; Authority	
§7213.	Corporate Officers; Chair of the Board; President; Secretary; Treasurer or Chief Fin	
	Officer; Applicability of Government Code Section 12586; Selection of Officers	102
§7215.	Bylaws, Minutes, and Resolutions as Prima Facie Evidence; Original or Copy; Forn	ns
	Allowed	103
§7220.	Election and Selection of Directors; Term of Office; "Designator"; Entitlement to	
· ·	Designate Directors	103
§7221.	Grounds for Vacating Office of Director	
§7222.	Removal of Directors Without Cause	
§7223.	Removal of Director by Court Order; Grounds	
§7224.	Means of Filling Vacancies on Board of Directors; Resignation of Director; Notice	
3 / 22	Requirements	105
§7225.	Appointment of Provisional Director when Directors cannot Agree as to Manageme	
8 / 223.	Deadlock; Equitable Relief; Rights and Powers of Provisional Director	
§7231.	Director to Perform Duties in Good Faith; Good Faith Reliance on Official Corpora	
8/231.	Information, Opinions, and Records; Liability of Directors	
§7233.	Conflicts of Interest; Contracts not Void or Voidable if Approved at Meeting in Pre	
§1233.		
§7234.	of Interested Director; Conditions; Applicability	
v	Counting of Interested or Common Directors in Determining Quorum	107
§7237.	"Agent;" "Proceeding;" "Expenses;" Power of Corporation to Indemnify Person	
	Threatened to be Made Party to Proceeding; Indemnification of Agent for Expenses	
	Incurred; Authorization to Purchase Liability Insurance on Behalf of Corporate Ag	
.=-10	Applicability of Section	
§7510.	Meetings of Members; Orders of Superior Court after Failure to Hold Regular Mee	
	Written Ballot; Who may Call Special Meetings; Conducting Meetings by Electron	
	Transmission Allowed; Requirements	109
§7511.	Notice of Meeting Where Shareholders are Required or Permitted to Take Action;	
	Requirements for Validity of Notice by Electronic Transmission; Special Meetings	
	Notice of Adjourned Meeting; Validity	
§7512.	Determination of Quorum	
§7513.	Actions which May be Taken without Meeting; Approval by Written Ballot; Solicit	
	and Revocation of Ballots; Election of Directors by Written Ballot	112
§7514.	Form of Proxy or Written Ballot; Opportunity to Specify Choice between Approval	and
	Disapproval Required; Ballots Marked "Withhold"; Effect of Failure to Comply wi	th
	Section	113
§7515.	Direction by Court Order that Meeting be Called; Powers of Court; Validity of	
· ·	Meeting	113
§7516.	Action without Meeting by Written Consent	
§7517.	Name Signed.	
§7520.	Nomination and Election Procedures	
§7521.	Nomination Procedures; Corporations with 500 or More Members	
§7523.	Equal Access to Corporate Publications; Vote Solicitations in Corporate	
87323.	Publications	115
§7524.	Election Material; Mailings; Requests by Nominees; Payment of Costs	
§7525.	Refusal by Corporation to Publish or Mail Material; Prohibitions; Liability of	115
g1323.	Corporation or Officers for Material Supplied by Nominee; Actions to Relieve	
		115
97536	Corporation from Publication and Mailing Obligations	
§7526.	Use of Corporate Funds to Support Nominees; Prohibitions	
§7527.	Statute of Limitations; Action to Challenge Validity of Election	
§7610.	One Vote Entitlement	
§7611.	Determination of Record Date	
§7612.	Voting; Where Membership Stands on Record in Names of Two or More Persons	
§7613.	Proxies Authorized	
§7615.	Cumulative Voting; Notice of Intention to Cumulate Votes; Ballots not Required	
§7616.	Actions to Determine Validity of Election or Appointment; Notice to Attorney Gen	
	Intervention; Hearing; Findings	118

IV. RELA	TED VEHI	CLE CODE PROVISIONS	120
	§21107.	Private Roads	120
	§21107.5.	Private Roads Open for Public Use	120
	§21107.7.	Private Roads Not Open to Public Use	120
	§22658.	Removal of Vehicle from Private Property by Property Owner; Requirements; Notic Recovery for Damages; Liability; Towing Charge; Excessive Charges; Liability; Payment by Cash or Credit Allowed; Written Authorization from Property Owner or Lessee as Prerequisite to Removal; Storage Facility Requirements; Legislative	ce;
		Intent	121
	§22853.	Procedure when Owner Cannot be Ascertained	126
INDEX	•••••		128

#### I. DAVIS-STIRLING COMMON INTEREST DEVELOPMENT ACT

#### **CHAPTER 1. GENERAL PROVISIONS**

#### ARTICLE 1. PRELIMINARY PROVISIONS

#### §4000. Short Title.

This part shall be known and may be cited as the Davis-Stirling Common Interest Development Act. In a provision of this part, the part may be referred to as the act.

#### §4005. Effect of Headings.

Division, part, title, chapter, article and section headings do not in any manner affect the scope, meaning, or intent of this act.

# §4010. Application of Act.

Nothing in the act that added this part shall be construed to invalidate a document prepared or action taken before January 1, 2014, if the document or action was proper under the law governing common interest developments at the time that the document was prepared or the action was taken. For the purposes of this section, "document" does not include a governing document.

#### §4020. Construction of Zoning Ordinance.

Unless a contrary intent is clearly expressed, a local zoning ordinance is construed to treat like structures, lots, parcels, areas, or spaces in like manner regardless of the form of the common interest development.

## §4035. Delivered to an Association.

- (a) If a provision of this act requires that a document be delivered to an association, the document shall be delivered to the person designated in the annual policy statement, prepared pursuant to Section 5310, to receive documents on behalf of the association. If no person has been designated to receive documents, the document shall be delivered to the president or secretary of the association.
  - (b) A document delivered pursuant to this section may be delivered by any of the following methods:
- (1) By email, facsimile, or other electronic means, if the association has assented to that method of delivery.
- (2) By personal delivery, if the association has assented to that method of delivery. If the association accepts a document by personal delivery it shall provide a written receipt acknowledging delivery of the document.
- (3) By first-class mail, postage prepaid, registered or certified mail, express mail, or overnight delivery by an express service center.

# §4040. Individual Notice.

- (a) If a provision of this act requires that an association deliver a document by "individual delivery" or "individual notice," the document shall be delivered by one of the following methods:
- (1) First-class mail, postage prepaid, registered or certified mail, express mail, or overnight delivery by an express service carrier. The document shall be addressed to the recipient at the address last shown on the books of the association.
- (2) E-mail, facsimile, or other electronic means, if the recipient has consented, in writing, to that method of delivery. The consent may be revoked, in writing, by the recipient.

- (b) Upon receipt of a request by a member, pursuant to Section 5260, identifying a secondary address for delivery of notices of the following types, the association shall deliver an additional copy of those notices to the secondary address identified in the request:
- (1) The documents to be delivered to the member pursuant to Article 7 (commencing with Section 5300) of Chapter 6.
- (2) The documents to be delivered to the member pursuant to Article 2 (commencing with Section 5650) of Chapter 8, and Section 5710.
- (c) For the purposes of this section, an unrecorded provision of the governing documents providing for a particular method of delivery does not constitute agreement by a member to that method of delivery.

## §4045. General Notice.

- (a) If a provision of this act requires "general delivery" or "general notice," the document shall be provided by one or more of the following methods:
  - (1) Any method provided for delivery of an individual notice pursuant to Section 4040.
- (2) Inclusion in a billing statement, newsletter, or other document that is delivered by one of the methods provided in this section.
- (3) Posting the printed document in a prominent location that is accessible to all members, if the location has been designated for the posting of general notices by the association in the annual policy statement, prepared pursuant to Section 5310.
- (4) If the association broadcasts television programming for the purpose of distributing information on association business to its members, by inclusion in the programming.
- (b) Notwithstanding subdivision (a), if a member requests to receive general notices by individual delivery, all general notices to that member, given under this section, shall be delivered pursuant to Section 4040. The option provided in this subdivision shall be described in the annual policy statement, prepared pursuant to Section 5310.

## §4050. Time and Proof of Delivery.

- (a) This section governs the delivery of a document pursuant to this act.
- (b) If a document is delivered by mail, delivery is deemed to be complete on deposit into the United States mail.
  - (c) If a document is delivered by electronic means, delivery is complete at the time of transmission.

#### §4055. Electronic Delivery; Requirements.

If the association or a member has consented to receive information by electronic delivery, and a provision of this act requires that the information be in writing, that requirement is satisfied if the information is provided in an electronic record capable of retention by the recipient at the time of receipt. An electronic record is not capable of retention by the recipient if the sender or its information processing system inhibits the ability of the recipient to print or store the electronic record.

## §4065. Approved by Majority of All Members.

If a provision of this act requires that an action be approved by a majority of all members, the action shall be approved or ratified by an affirmative vote of a majority of the votes entitled to be cast.

# §4070. Approved by Majority of Quorum of Members.

If a provision of this act requires that an action be approved by a majority of a quorum of the members, the action shall be approved or ratified by an affirmative vote of a majority of the votes represented and voting in a duly held election in which a quorum is represented, which affirmative votes also constitute a majority of the required quorum.

#### **ARTICLE 2. DEFINITIONS**

# §4075. Application of Definitions.

The definitions in this article govern the construction of this act.

# §4076. "Annual Budget Report."

"Annual budget report" means the report described in Section 5300.

# §4078. "Annual Policy Statement."

"Annual policy statement" means the statement described in Section 5310.

# §4080. "Association."

"Association" means a nonprofit corporation or unincorporated association created for the purpose of managing a common interest development.

#### §4085. "Board."

"Board" means the board of directors of the association.

# §4090. "Board Meeting."

"Board meeting" means either of the following:

- (a) A congregation, at the same time and place, of a sufficient number of directors to establish a quorum of the board, to hear, discuss, or deliberate upon any item of business that is within the authority of the board.
- (b) A teleconference, where a sufficient number of directors to establish a quorum of the board, in different locations, are connected by electronic means, through audio or video, or both. A teleconference meeting shall be conducted in a manner that protects the rights of members of the association and otherwise complies with the requirements of this act. Except for a meeting that will be held solely in executive session, the notice of the teleconference meeting shall identify at least one physical location so that members of the association may attend, and at least one director or a person designated by the board shall be present at that location. Participation by directors in a teleconference meeting constitutes presence at that meeting as long as all directors participating are able to hear one another, as well as members of the association speaking on matters before the board.

## §4095. "Common Area."

- (a) "Common area" means the entire common interest development except the separate interests therein. The estate in the common area may be a fee, a life estate, an estate for years, or any combination of the foregoing.
- (b) Notwithstanding subdivision (a), in a planned development described in subdivision (b) of Section 4175, the common area may consist of mutual or reciprocal easement rights appurtenant to the separate interests.

# §4100. "Common Interest Development."

"Common interest development" means any of the following:

(a) A community apartment project.

- (b) A condominium project.
- (c) A planned development.
- (d) A stock cooperative.

# §4105. "Community Apartment Project."

"Community apartment project" means a development in which an undivided interest in land is coupled with the right of exclusive occupancy of any apartment located thereon.

# §4110. "Community Service Organization or Similar Entity."

- (a) "Community service organization or similar entity" means a nonprofit entity, other than an association, that is organized to provide services to residents of the common interest development or to the public in addition to the residents, to the extent community common area or facilities are available to the public.
- (b) "Community service organization or similar entity" does not include an entity that has been organized solely to raise moneys and contribute to other nonprofit organizations that are qualified as tax exempt under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and that provide housing or housing assistance.

## §4120. "Condominium Plan."

"Condominium plan" means a plan described in Section 4285.

# §4125. "Condominium Project."

- (a) A "condominium project" means a real property development consisting of condominiums.
- (b) A condominium consists of an undivided interest in common in a portion of real property coupled with a separate interest in space called a unit, the boundaries of which are described on a recorded final map, parcel map, or condominium plan in sufficient detail to locate all boundaries thereof. The area within these boundaries may be filled with air, earth, water, or fixtures, or any combination thereof, and need not be physically attached to land except by easements for access and, if necessary, support. The description of the unit may refer to (1) boundaries described in the recorded final map, parcel map, or condominium plan, (2) physical boundaries, either in existence, or to be constructed, such as walls, floors, and ceilings of a structure or any portion thereof, (3) an entire structure containing one or more units, or (4) any combination thereof.
- (c) The portion or portions of the real property held in undivided interest may be all of the real property, except for the separate interests, or may include a particular three-dimensional portion thereof, the boundaries of which are described on a recorded final map, parcel map, or condominium plan. The area within these boundaries may be filled with air, earth, water, or fixtures, or any combination thereof, and need not be physically attached to land except by easements for access and, if necessary, support.
- (d) An individual condominium within a condominium project may include, in addition, a separate interest in other portions of the real property.

#### **§4130.** "Declarant."

"Declarant" means the person or group of persons designated in the declaration as declarant, or if no declarant is designated, the person or group of persons who sign the original declaration or who succeed to special rights, preferences, or privileges designated in the declaration as belonging to the signator of the original declaration.

# §4135. "Declaration."

"Declaration" means the document, however denominated, that contains the information required by Sections 4250 and 4255.

#### §4140. "Director."

"Director" means a natural person who serves on the board.

#### §4145. "Exclusive Use Common Area."

- (a) "Exclusive use common area" means a portion of the common area designated by the declaration for the exclusive use of one or more, but fewer than all, of the owners of the separate interests and which is or will be appurtenant to the separate interest or interests.
- (b) Unless the declaration otherwise provides, any shutters, awnings, window boxes, doorsteps, stoops, porches, balconies, patios, exterior doors, doorframes, and hardware incident thereto, screens and windows or other fixtures designed to serve a single separate interest, but located outside the boundaries of the separate interest, are exclusive use common area allocated exclusively to that separate interest.
- (c) Notwithstanding the provisions of the declaration, internal and external telephone wiring designed to serve a single separate interest, but located outside the boundaries of the separate interest, is exclusive use common area allocated exclusively to that separate interest.

## §4148. "General Notice."

"General notice" means the delivery of a document pursuant to Section 4045.

# §4150. "Governing Documents."

"Governing documents" means the declaration and any other documents, such as bylaws, operating rules, articles of incorporation, or articles of association, which govern the operation of the common interest development or association.

# §4153. "Individual Notice."

"Individual notice" means the delivery of a document pursuant to Section 4040.

# §4155. "Item of Business."

"Item of business" means any action within the authority of the board, except those actions that the board has validly delegated to any other person or persons, managing agent, officer of the association, or committee of the board comprising less than a quorum of the board.

# §4158. "Managing Agent."

- (a) A "managing agent" is a person who, for compensation or in expectation of compensation, exercises control over the assets of a common interest development.
  - (b) A "managing agent" does not include any of the following:
- (1) A regulated financial institution operating within the normal course of its regulated business practice.
  - (2) An attorney at law acting within the scope of the attorney's license.

#### §4160. "Member."

"Member" means an owner of a separate interest.

# §4170. "Person."

"Person" means a natural person, corporation, government or governmental subdivision or agency, business trust, estate, trust, partnership, limited liability company, association, or other entity.

#### §4175. "Planned Development."

"Planned development" means a real property development other than a community apartment project, a condominium project, or a stock cooperative, having either or both of the following features:

- (a) Common area that is owned either by an association or in common by the owners of the separate interests who possess appurtenant rights to the beneficial use and enjoyment of the common area.
- (b) Common area and an association that maintains the common area with the power to levy assessments that may become a lien upon the separate interests in accordance with Article 2 (commencing with Section 5650) of Chapter 8.

## §4177. "Reserve Accounts."

"Reserve accounts" means both of the following:

- (a) Moneys that the board has identified for use to defray the future repair or replacement of, or additions to, those major components that the association is obligated to maintain.
- (b) The funds received, and not yet expended or disposed of, from either a compensatory damage award or settlement to an association from any person for injuries to property, real or personal, arising from any construction or design defects. These funds shall be separately itemized from funds described in subdivision (a).

## §4178. "Reserve Account Requirements."

"Reserve account requirements" means the estimated funds that the board has determined are required to be available at a specified point in time to repair, replace, or restore those major components that the association is obligated to maintain.

# §4185. "Separate Interest."

- (a) "Separate interest" has the following meanings:
- (1) In a community apartment project, "separate interest" means the exclusive right to occupy an apartment, as specified in Section 4105.
- (2) In a condominium project, "separate interest" means a separately owned unit, as specified in Section 4125.
- (3) In a planned development, "separate interest" means a separately owned lot, parcel, area, or space.
- (4) In a stock cooperative, "separate interest" means the exclusive right to occupy a portion of the real property, as specified in Section 4190.
- (b) Unless the declaration or condominium plan, if any exists, otherwise provides, if walls, floors, or ceilings are designated as boundaries of a separate interest, the interior surfaces of the perimeter walls, floors, ceilings, windows, doors, and outlets located within the separate interest are part of the separate interest and any other portions of the walls, floors, or ceilings are part of the common area.
- (c) The estate in a separate interest may be a fee, a life estate, an estate for years, or any combination of the foregoing.

# §4190. "Stock Cooperative."

- (a) "Stock cooperative" means a development in which a corporation is formed or availed of, primarily for the purpose of holding title to, either in fee simple or for a term of years, improved real property, and all or substantially all of the shareholders of the corporation receive a right of exclusive occupancy in a portion of the real property, title to which is held by the corporation. The owners' interest in the corporation, whether evidenced by a share of stock, a certificate of membership, or otherwise, shall be deemed to be an interest in a common interest development and a real estate development for purposes of subdivision (f) of Section 25100 of the Corporations Code.
- (b) A "stock cooperative" includes a limited equity housing cooperative which is a stock cooperative that meets the criteria of Section 817.

#### **CHAPTER 2. APPLICATION OF ACT**

## §4200. Application of Act.

This act applies and a common interest development is created whenever a separate interest coupled with an interest in the common area or membership in the association is, or has been, conveyed, provided all of the following are recorded:

- (a) A declaration.
- (b) A condominium plan, if any exists.
- (c) A final map or parcel map, if Division 2 (commencing with Section 66410) of Title 7 of the Government Code requires the recording of either a final map or parcel map for the common interest development.

## §4201. Exemption of Development without Common Area.

Nothing in this act may be construed to apply to a real property development that does not contain common area. This section is declaratory of existing law.

# §4202. Commercial and Industrial Developments.

This part does not apply to a commercial or industrial common interest development, as defined in Section 6531.

#### **CHAPTER 3. GOVERNING DOCUMENTS**

#### **ARTICLE 1. GENERAL PROVISIONS**

# §4205. Document Authority.

- (a) To the extent of any conflict between the governing documents and the law, the law shall prevail.
- (b) To the extent of any conflict between the articles of incorporation and the declaration, the declaration shall prevail.
- (c) To the extent of any conflict between the bylaws and the articles of incorporation or declaration, the articles of incorporation or declaration shall prevail.
- (d) To the extent of any conflict between the operating rules and the bylaws, articles of incorporation, or declaration, the bylaws, articles of incorporation, or declaration shall prevail.

# §4210. Record Notice of Agent to Receive Payments.

In order to facilitate the collection of regular assessments, special assessments, transfer fees as authorized by Sections 4530, 4575, and 4580, and similar charges, the board is authorized to record a statement or amended statement

identifying relevant information for the association. This statement may include any or all of the following information:

- (a) The name of the association as shown in the declaration or the current name of the association, if different.
- (b) The name and address of a managing agent or treasurer of the association or other individual or entity authorized to receive assessments and fees imposed by the association.
- (c) A daytime telephone number of the authorized party identified in subdivision (b) if a telephone number is available.
- (d) A list of separate interests subject to assessment by the association, showing the assessor's parcel number or legal description, or both, of the separate interests.
  - (e) The recording information identifying the declaration governing the association.
- (f) If an amended statement is being recorded, the recording information identifying the prior statement or statements which the amendment is superseding.

#### §4215. Liberal Construction of Instruments.

Any deed, declaration, or condominium plan for a common interest development shall be liberally construed to facilitate the operation of the common interest development, and its provisions shall be presumed to be independent and severable. Nothing in Article 3 (commencing with Section 715) of Chapter 2 of Title 2 of Part 1 of Division 2 shall operate to invalidate any provisions of the governing documents.

#### §4220. Boundaries of Units.

In interpreting deeds and condominium plans, the existing physical boundaries of a unit in a condominium project, when the boundaries of the unit are contained within a building, or of a unit reconstructed in substantial accordance with the original plans thereof, shall be conclusively presumed to be its boundaries rather than the metes and bounds expressed in the deed or condominium plan, if any exists, regardless of settling or lateral movement of the building and regardless of minor variance between boundaries shown on the plan or in the deed and those of the building.

# §4225. Deletion of Unlawful Restrictive Covenants.

- (a) No declaration or other governing document shall include a restrictive covenant in violation of Section 12955 of the Government Code.
- (b) Notwithstanding any other provision of law or provision of the governing documents, the board, without approval of the members, shall amend any declaration or other governing document that includes a restrictive covenant prohibited by this section to delete the restrictive covenant, and shall restate the declaration or other governing document without the restrictive covenant but with no other change to the declaration or governing document.
- (c) If the declaration is amended under this section, the board shall record the restated declaration in each county in which the common interest development is located. If the articles of incorporation are amended under this section, the board shall file a certificate of amendment with the Secretary of State pursuant to Section 7814 of the Corporations Code.
- (d) If after providing written notice to an association, pursuant to Section 4035, requesting that the association delete a restrictive covenant that violates subdivision (a), and the association fails to delete the restrictive covenant within 30 days of receiving the notice, the Department of Fair Employment and Housing, a city or county in which a common interest development is located, or any person may bring an action against the association for injunctive relief to enforce subdivision (a). The court may award attorney's fees to the prevailing party.

# §4230. Deletion of Declarant Provisions in Governing Documents.

- (a) Notwithstanding any provision of the governing documents to the contrary, the board may, after the developer has completed construction of the development, has terminated construction activities, and has terminated marketing activities for the sale, lease, or other disposition of separate interests within the development, adopt an amendment deleting from any of the governing documents any provision which is unequivocally designed and intended, or which by its nature can only have been designed or intended, to facilitate the developer in completing the construction or marketing of the development. However, provisions of the governing documents relative to a particular construction or marketing phase of the development may not be deleted under the authorization of this subdivision until that construction or marketing phase has been completed.
- (b) The provisions which may be deleted by action of the board shall be limited to those which provide for access by the developer over or across the common area for the purposes of (1) completion of construction of the development, and (2) the erection, construction, or maintenance of structures or other facilities designed to facilitate the completion of construction or marketing of separate interests.
- (c) At least 30 days prior to taking action pursuant to subdivision (a), the board shall deliver to all members, by individual delivery, pursuant to Section 4040, (1) a copy of all amendments to the governing documents proposed to be adopted under subdivision (a), and (2) a notice of the time, date, and place the board will consider adoption of the amendments. The board may consider adoption of amendments to the governing documents pursuant to subdivision (a) only at a meeting that is open to all members, who shall be given opportunity to make comments thereon. All deliberations of the board on any action proposed under subdivision (a) shall only be conducted in an open meeting.
- (d) The board may not amend the governing documents pursuant to this section without the approval of a majority of a quorum of the members, pursuant to Section 4070. For the purposes of this section, "quorum" means more than 50 percent of the members who own no more than two separate interests in the development.

# §4235. Correction of Statutory Cross-Reference.

- (a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law or provision of the governing documents, if the governing documents include a reference to a provision of the Davis Stirling Common Interest Development Act that was repealed and continued in a new provision by the act that added this section, the board may amend the governing documents, solely to correct the cross-reference, by adopting a board resolution that shows the correction. Member approval is not required in order to adopt a resolution pursuant to this section.
- (b) A declaration that is corrected under this section may be restated in corrected form and recorded, provided that a copy of the board resolution authorizing the corrections is recorded along with the restated declaration.

#### **ARTICLE 2. DECLARATION**

#### §4250. Contents of Declaration.

- (a) A declaration, recorded on or after January 1, 1986, shall contain a legal description of the common interest development, and a statement that the common interest development is a community apartment project, condominium project, planned development, stock cooperative, or combination thereof. The declaration shall additionally set forth the name of the association and the restrictions on the use or enjoyment of any portion of the common interest development that are intended to be enforceable equitable servitudes.
  - (b) The declaration may contain any other matters the declarant or the members consider appropriate.

# §4255. Special Disclosures.

(a) If a common interest development is located within an airport influence area, a declaration, recorded after January 1, 2004, shall contain the following statement:

"NOTICE OF AIRPORT IN VICINITY"

This property is presently located in the vicinity of an airport, within what is known as an airport influence area. For that reason, the property may be subject to some of the annoyances or inconveniences associated with proximity to airport operations (for example: noise, vibration, or odors). Individual sensitivities to those annoyances can vary from person to person. You may wish to consider what airport annoyances, if any, are associated with the property before you complete your purchase and determine whether they are acceptable to you."

- (b) For purposes of this section, an "airport influence area," also known as an "airport referral area," is the area in which current or future airport-related noise, overflight, safety, or airspace protection factors may significantly affect land uses or necessitate restrictions on those uses as determined by an airport land use commission.
- (c) If a common interest development is within the San Francisco Bay Conservation and Development Commission jurisdiction, as described in Section 66610 of the Government Code, a declaration recorded on or after January 1, 2006, shall contain the following notice:

# "NOTICE OF SAN FRANCISCO BAY CONSERVATION AND DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION JURISDICTION"

This property is located within the jurisdiction of the San Francisco Bay Conservation and Development Commission. Use and development of property within the commission's jurisdiction may be subject to special regulations, restrictions, and permit requirements. You may wish to investigate and determine whether they are acceptable to you and your intended use of the property before you complete your transaction."

(d) The statement in a declaration acknowledging that a property is located in an airport influence area or within the jurisdiction of the San Francisco Bay Conservation and Development Commission does not constitute a title defect, lien, or encumbrance.

#### §4260. Amendment Authorized.

Except to the extent that a declaration provides by its express terms that it is not amendable, in whole or in part, a declaration that fails to include provisions permitting its amendment at all times during its existence may be amended at any time.

# §4265. Amendment to Extend Term of Declaration Authorized.

- (a) The Legislature finds that there are common interest developments that have been created with deed restrictions that do not provide a means for the members to extend the term of the declaration. The Legislature further finds that covenants and restrictions contained in the declaration, are an appropriate method for protecting the common plan of developments and to provide for a mechanism for financial support for the upkeep of common area including, but not limited to, roofs, roads, heating systems, and recreational facilities. If declarations terminate prematurely, common interest developments may deteriorate and the housing supply of affordable units could be impacted adversely. The Legislature further finds and declares that it is in the public interest to provide a vehicle for extending the term of the declaration if the extension is approved by a majority of all members, pursuant to Section 4065.
- (b) A declaration that specifies a termination date, but that contains no provision for extension of the termination date, may be extended, before its termination date, by the approval of members pursuant to Section 4270.
- (c) No single extension of the terms of the declaration made pursuant to this section shall exceed the initial term of the declaration or 20 years, whichever is less. However, more than one extension may occur pursuant to this section.

## §4270. Amendment Procedure.

- (a) A declaration may be amended pursuant to the declaration or this act. Except as provided in Section 4275, an amendment is effective after all of the following requirements have been met:
- (1) The amendment has been approved by the percentage of members required by the declaration and any other person whose approval is required by the declaration.

- (2) That fact has been certified in a writing executed and acknowledged by the officer designated in the declaration or by the association for that purpose, or if no one is designated, by the president of the association.
- (3) The amendment has been recorded in each county in which a portion of the common interest development is located.
- (b) If the declaration does not specify the percentage of members who must approve an amendment of the declaration, an amendment may be approved by a majority of all members, pursuant to Section 4065.

#### §4275. Judicial Authorization of Amendment.

- (a) If in order to amend a declaration, the declaration requires members having more than 50 percent of the votes in the association, in a single class voting structure, or members having more than 50 percent of the votes in more than one class in a voting structure with more than one class, to vote in favor of the amendment, the association, or any member, may petition the superior court of the county in which the common interest development is located for an order reducing the percentage of the affirmative votes necessary for such an amendment. The petition shall describe the effort that has been made to solicit approval of the association members in the manner provided in the declaration, the number of affirmative and negative votes actually received, the number or percentage of affirmative votes required to effect the amendment in accordance with the existing declaration, and other matters the petitioner considers relevant to the court's determination. The petition shall also contain, as exhibits thereto, copies of all of the following:
  - (1) The governing documents.
  - (2) A complete text of the amendment.
- (3) Copies of any notice and solicitation materials utilized in the solicitation of member approvals.
  - (4) A short explanation of the reason for the amendment.
  - (5) Any other documentation relevant to the court's determination.
- (b) Upon filing the petition, the court shall set the matter for hearing and issue an ex parte order setting forth the manner in which notice shall be given.
  - (c) The court may, but shall not be required to, grant the petition if it finds all of the following:
- (1) The petitioner has given not less than 15 days written notice of the court hearing to all members of the association, to any mortgagee of a mortgage or beneficiary of a deed of trust who is entitled to notice under the terms of the declaration, and to the city, county, or city and county in which the common interest development is located that is entitled to notice under the terms of the declaration.
- (2) Balloting on the proposed amendment was conducted in accordance with the governing documents, this act, and any other applicable law.
- (3) A reasonably diligent effort was made to permit all eligible members to vote on the proposed amendment.
- (4) Members having more than 50 percent of the votes, in a single class voting structure, voted in favor of the amendment. In a voting structure with more than one class, where the declaration requires a majority of more than one class to vote in favor of the amendment, members having more than 50 percent of the votes of each class required by the declaration to vote in favor of the amendment voted in favor of the amendment.

- (5) The amendment is reasonable.
- (6) Granting the petition is not improper for any reason stated in subdivision (e).
- (d) If the court makes the findings required by subdivision (c), any order issued pursuant to this section may confirm the amendment as being validly approved on the basis of the affirmative votes actually received during the balloting period or the order may dispense with any requirement relating to quorums or to the number or percentage of votes needed for approval of the amendment that would otherwise exist under the governing documents.
- (e) Subdivisions (a) to (d), inclusive, notwithstanding, the court shall not be empowered by this section to approve any amendment to the declaration that:
- (1) Would change provisions in the declaration requiring the approval of members having more than 50 percent of the votes in more than one class to vote in favor of an amendment, unless members having more than 50 percent of the votes in each affected class approved the amendment.
- (2) Would eliminate any special rights, preferences, or privileges designated in the declaration as belonging to the declarant, without the consent of the declarant.
- (3) Would impair the security interest of a mortgage of a mortgage or the beneficiary of a deed of trust without the approval of the percentage of the mortgagees and beneficiaries specified in the declaration, if the declaration requires the approval of a specified percentage of the mortgagees and beneficiaries.
- (f) An amendment is not effective pursuant to this section until the court order and amendment have been recorded in every county in which a portion of the common interest development is located. The amendment may be acknowledged by, and the court order and amendment may be recorded by, any person designated in the declaration or by the association for that purpose, or if no one is designated for that purpose, by the president of the association. Upon recordation of the amendment and court order, the declaration, as amended in accordance with this section, shall have the same force and effect as if the amendment were adopted in compliance with every requirement imposed by the governing documents.
- (g) Within a reasonable time after the amendment is recorded the association shall deliver to each member, by individual delivery, pursuant to Section 4040, a copy of the amendment, together with a statement that the amendment has been recorded.

#### ARTICLE 3. ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION

# §4280. Content of Articles.

- (a) The articles of incorporation of an association filed with the Secretary of State shall include a statement, which shall be in addition to the statement of purposes of the corporation, that does all of the following:
- (1) Identifies the corporation as an association formed to manage a common interest development under the Davis-Stirling Common Interest Development Act.
- (2) States the business or corporate office of the association, if any, and, if the office is not on the site of the common interest development, states the front street and nearest cross street for the physical location of the common interest development.
  - (3) States the name and address of the association's managing agent, if any.
- (b) The statement filed by an incorporated association with the Secretary of State pursuant to Section 8210 of the Corporations Code shall also contain a statement identifying the corporation as an association formed to manage a common interest development under the Davis-Stirling Common Interest Development Act.
- (c) Documents filed prior to January 1, 2014, in compliance with former Section 1363.5, as it read on January 1, 2013, are deemed to be in compliance with this section.

#### ARTICLE 4. CONDOMINIUM PLAN

#### §4285. "Condominium Plan."

A condominium plan shall contain all of the following:

- (a) A description or survey map of a condominium project, which shall refer to or show monumentation on the ground.
- (b) A three-dimensional description of a condominium project, one or more dimensions of which may extend for an indefinite distance upwards or downwards, in sufficient detail to identify the common area and each separate interest.
- (c) A certificate consenting to the recordation of the condominium plan pursuant to this act that is signed and acknowledged as provided in Section 4290.

#### §4290. Recordation of Condominium Plan.

- (a) The certificate consenting to the recordation of a condominium plan that is required by subdivision (c) of Section 4285 shall be signed and acknowledged by all of the following persons:
  - (1) The record owner of fee title to that property included in the condominium project.
- (2) In the case of a condominium project that will terminate upon the termination of an estate for years, by all lessors and lessees of the estate for years.
- (3) In the case of a condominium project subject to a life estate, by all life tenants and remainder interests.
- (4) The trustee or the beneficiary of each recorded deed of trust, and the mortgagee of each recorded mortgage encumbering the property.
- (b) Owners of mineral rights, easements, rights-of-way, and other nonpossessory interests do not need to sign the certificate.
- (c) In the event a conversion to condominiums of a community apartment project or stock cooperative has been approved by the required number of owners, trustees, beneficiaries, and mortgagees pursuant to Section 66452.10 of the Government Code, the certificate need only be signed by those owners, trustees, beneficiaries, and mortgagees approving the conversion.

#### §4295. Amendment or Revocation of Condominium Plan.

A condominium plan may be amended or revoked by a recorded instrument that is acknowledged and signed by all the persons who, at the time of amendment or revocation, are persons whose signatures are required under Section 4290.

#### **ARTICLE 5. OPERATING RULES**

# §4340. "Operating rule"; "Rule change."

For the purposes of this article:

- (a) "Operating rule" means a regulation adopted by the board that applies generally to the management and operation of the common interest development or the conduct of the business and affairs of the association.
  - (b) "Rule change" means the adoption, amendment, or repeal of an operating rule by the board.

# §4350. Requirements for Validity and Enforceability.

An operating rule is valid and enforceable only if all of the following requirements are satisfied:

- (a) The rule is in writing.
- (b) The rule is within the authority of the board conferred by law or by the declaration, articles of incorporation or association, or bylaws of the association.
- (c) The rule is not in conflict with governing law and the declaration, articles of incorporation or association, or bylaws of the association.
- (d) The rule is adopted, amended, or repealed in good faith and in substantial compliance with the requirements of this article.
  - (e) The rule is reasonable.

# §4355. Application of Rulemaking Procedures.

- (a) Sections 4360 and 4365 only apply to an operating rule that relates to one or more of the following subjects:
  - (1) Use of the common area or of an exclusive use common area.
- (2) Use of a separate interest, including any aesthetic or architectural standards that govern alteration of a separate interest.
- (3) Member discipline, including any schedule of monetary penalties for violation of the governing documents and any procedure for the imposition of penalties.
  - (4) Any standards for delinquent assessment payment plans.
  - (5) Any procedures adopted by the association for resolution of disputes.
- (6) Any procedures for reviewing and approving or disapproving a proposed physical change to a member's separate interest or to the common area.
  - (7) Procedures for elections.
  - (b) Sections 4360 and 4365 do not apply to the following actions by the board:
    - (1) A decision regarding maintenance of the common area.
    - (2) A decision on a specific matter that is not intended to apply generally.
    - (3) A decision setting the amount of a regular or special assessment.
- (4) A rule change that is required by law, if the board has no discretion as to the substantive effect of the rule change.
  - (5) Issuance of a document that merely repeats existing law or the governing documents.

## §4360. Approval of Rule Change by Board.

(a) The board shall provide general notice pursuant to Section 4045 of a proposed rule change at least 30 days before making the rule change. The notice shall include the text of the proposed rule change and a description of the purpose and effect of the proposed rule change. Notice is not required under this subdivision if the board

determines that an immediate rule change is necessary to address an imminent threat to public health or safety or imminent risk of substantial economic loss to the association.

- (b) A decision on a proposed rule change shall be made at a board meeting, after consideration of any comments made by association members.
- (c) As soon as possible after making a rule change, but not more than 15 days after making the rule change, the board shall deliver general notice pursuant to Section 4045 of the rule change. If the rule change was an emergency rule change made under subdivision (d), the notice shall include the text of the rule change, a description of the purpose and effect of the rule change, and the date that the rule change expires.
- (d) If the board determines that an immediate rule change is required to address an imminent threat to public health or safety, or an imminent risk of substantial economic loss to the association, it may make an emergency rule change, and no notice is required, as specified in subdivision (a). An emergency rule change is effective for 120 days, unless the rule change provides for a shorter effective period. A rule change made under this subdivision may not be readopted under this subdivision.

# §4365. Reversal of Rule Change by Members.

- (a) Members of an association owning 5 percent or more of the separate interests may call a special vote of the members to reverse a rule change.
- (b) A special vote of the members may be called by delivering a written request to the association. Not less than 35 days nor more than 90 days after receipt of a proper request, the association shall hold a vote of the members on whether to reverse the rule change, pursuant to Article 4 (commencing with Section 5100) of Chapter 6. The written request may not be delivered more than 30 days after the association gives general notice of the rule change, pursuant to Section 4045.
- (c) For the purposes of Section 5225 of this code and Section 8330 of the Corporations Code, collection of signatures to call a special vote under this section is a purpose reasonably related to the interests of the members of the association. A member request to copy or inspect the membership list solely for that purpose may not be denied on the grounds that the purpose is not reasonably related to the member's interests as a member.
- (d) The rule change may be reversed by the affirmative vote of a majority of a quorum of the members, pursuant to Section 4070, or if the declaration or bylaws require a greater percentage, by the affirmative vote of the percentage required.
- (e) Unless otherwise provided in the declaration or bylaws, for the purposes of this section, a member may cast one vote per separate interest owned.
- (f) A rule change reversed under this section may not be readopted for one year after the date of the vote reversing the rule change. Nothing in this section precludes the board from adopting a different rule on the same subject as the rule change that has been reversed.
- (g) As soon as possible after the close of voting, but not more than 15 days after the close of voting, the board shall provide general notice pursuant to Section 4045 of the results of the member vote.
- (h) This section does not apply to an emergency rule change made under subdivision (d) of Section 4360.

# §4370. Applicability of Article to Changes Commenced Before and After January 1, 2004.

- (a) This article applies to a rule change commenced on or after January 1, 2004.
- (b) Nothing in this article affects the validity of a rule change commenced before January 1, 2004.

(c) For the purposes of this section, a rule change is commenced when the board takes its first official action leading to adoption of the rule change.

#### CHAPTER 4. OWNERSHIP AND TRANSFER OF INTERESTS

#### ARTICLE 1. OWNERSHIP RIGHTS AND INTERESTS

#### §4500. Ownership of Common Area.

Unless the declaration otherwise provides, in a condominium project, or in a planned development in which the common area is owned by the owners of the separate interests, the common area is owned as tenants in common, in equal shares, one for each separate interest.

# §4505. Appurtenant Rights and Easements.

Unless the declaration otherwise provides:

- (a) In a community apartment project and condominium project, and in those planned developments with common area owned in common by the owners of the separate interests, there are appurtenant to each separate interest nonexclusive rights of ingress, egress, and support, if necessary, through the common area. The common area is subject to these rights.
- (b) In a stock cooperative, and in a planned development with common area owned by the association, there is an easement for ingress, egress, and support, if necessary, appurtenant to each separate interest. The common area is subject to these easements.

## §4510. Access to Separate Interest Property.

Except as otherwise provided in law, an order of the court, or an order pursuant to a final and binding arbitration decision, an association may not deny a member or occupant physical access to the member's or occupant's separate interest, either by restricting access through the common area to the separate interest, or by restricting access solely to the separate interest.

#### ARTICLE 2. TRANSFER DISCLOSURE

# §4525. Disclosure to Prospective Purchaser.

- (a) The owner of a separate interest shall provide the following documents to a prospective purchaser of the separate interest, as soon as practicable before the transfer of title or the execution of a real property sales contract, as defined in Section 2985:
- (1) A copy of all governing documents. If the association is not incorporated, this shall include a statement in writing from an authorized representative of the association that the association is not incorporated.
- (2) If there is a restriction in the governing documents limiting the occupancy, residency, or use of a separate interest on the basis of age in a manner different from that provided in Section 51.3, a statement that the restriction is only enforceable to the extent permitted by Section 51.3 and a statement specifying the applicable provisions of Section 51.3.
- (3) A copy of the most recent documents distributed pursuant to Article 7 (commencing with Section 5300) of Chapter 6.
- (4) A true statement in writing obtained from an authorized representative of the association as to the amount of the association's current regular and special assessments and fees, any assessments levied upon the owner's interest in the common interest development that are unpaid on the date of the statement, and any monetary fines or penalties levied upon the owner's interest and unpaid on the date of the statement. The statement obtained from an authorized representative shall also include true information on late charges, interest, and costs of collection which, as of the date of the statement, are or may be made a lien upon the owner's interest in a common interest development pursuant to Article 2 (commencing with Section 5650) of Chapter 8.

- (5) A copy or a summary of any notice previously sent to the owner pursuant to Section 5855 that sets forth any alleged violation of the governing documents that remains unresolved at the time of the request. The notice shall not be deemed a waiver of the association's right to enforce the governing documents against the owner or the prospective purchaser of the separate interest with respect to any violation. This paragraph shall not be construed to require an association to inspect an owner's separate interest.
- (6) A copy of the initial list of defects provided to each member pursuant to Section 6000, unless the association and the builder subsequently enter into a settlement agreement or otherwise resolve the matter and the association complies with Section 6100. Disclosure of the initial list of defects pursuant to this paragraph does not waive any privilege attached to the document. The initial list of defects shall also include a statement that a final determination as to whether the list of defects is accurate and complete has not been made.
  - (7) A copy of the latest information provided for in Section 6100.
- (8) Any change in the association's current regular and special assessments and fees which have been approved by the board, but have not become due and payable as of the date disclosure is provided pursuant to this subdivision.
- (9) If there is a provision in the governing documents that prohibits the rental or leasing of any of the separate interests in the common interest development to a renter, lessee, or tenant, a statement describing the prohibition.
- (10) If requested by the prospective purchaser, a copy of the minutes of board meetings, excluding meetings held in executive session, conducted over the previous 12 months that were approved by the board.
- (b) This section does not apply to an owner that is subject to Section 11018.6 of the Business and Professions Code.

#### §4528. Document Disclosure Summary Form.

The form for billing disclosures required by Section 4530 shall be in at least 10-point type and substantially the following form:

[Note: Refer to Forms and Disclosures section of our website]

#### §4530. Documents to be Provided by Association; Fee for Providing Requested Documents.

- (a) (1) Upon written request, the association shall, within 10 days of the mailing or delivery of the request, provide the owner of a separate interest, or any other recipient authorized by the owner, with a copy of all of the requested documents specified in Section 4525.
- (2) The documents required to be made available pursuant to this section may be maintained in electronic form, and may be posted on the association's Internet Web site. Requesting parties shall have the option of receiving the documents by electronic transmission if the association maintains the documents in electronic form.
- (3) Delivery of the documents required by this section shall not be withheld for any reason nor subject to any condition except the payment of the fee authorized pursuant to subdivision (b).
- (b) (1) The association may collect a reasonable fee from the seller based upon the association's actual cost for the procurement, preparation, reproduction, and delivery of the documents requested pursuant to this section. An additional fee shall not be charged for the electronic delivery in lieu of a hard copy delivery of the documents requested.
- (2) Upon receipt of a written request, the association shall provide, on the form described in Section 4528, a written or electronic estimate of the fees that will be assessed for providing the requested documents prior to processing the request in paragraph (1) of subdivision (a).

- (3) (A) A cancellation fee for documents specified in subdivision (a) shall not be collected if either of the following applies:
- (i) The request was canceled in writing by the same party that placed the order and work had not yet been performed on the order.
- (ii) The request was canceled in writing and any work that had been performed on the order was compensated.
- (B) The association shall refund all fees collected pursuant to paragraph (1) if the request was cancelled in writing and work had not yet been performed on the order.
- (C) If the request was canceled in writing, the association shall refund the share of fees collected pursuant to paragraph (1) that represents the portion of the work not performed on the order.
- (4) Fees for any documents required by this section shall be distinguished from, separately stated, and separately billed from, all other fees, fines, or assessments billed as part of the transfer or sales transaction.
- (5) Any documents not expressly required by section 4525 to be provided to a prospective purchaser by the seller shall not be included in the document disclosure required by this section. Bundling of documents required to be provided pursuant to this section with other documents relating to the transaction is prohibited.
- (6) A seller shall provide to the prospective purchaser, at no cost, current copies of any documents specified by section 4525 that are in the possession of the seller.
- (7) The fee for each document provided to the seller for the purpose of transmission to the prospective purchaser shall be individually itemized in the statement required to be provided by the seller to the prospective purchaser.
- (8) It is the responsibility of the seller to compensate the association, person, or entity that provides the documents required to be provided by section 4525 to the prospective purchaser.
- (c) An association may contract with any person or entity to facilitate compliance with this section on behalf of the association.
- (d) The association shall also provide a recipient authorized by the owner of a separate interest with a copy of the completed form specified in Section 4528 at the time the required documents are delivered.

#### §4535. Related Requirements.

In addition to the requirements of this article, an owner transferring title to a separate interest shall comply with applicable requirements of Sections 1133 and 1134.

# §4540. Enforcement of Article.

Any person who willfully violates this article is liable to the purchaser of a separate interest that is subject to this section for actual damages occasioned thereby and, in addition, shall pay a civil penalty in an amount not to exceed five hundred dollars (\$500). In an action to enforce this liability, the prevailing party shall be awarded reasonable attorney's fees.

# §4545. Validity of Title Unaffected.

Nothing in this article affects the validity of title to real property transferred in violation of this article.

#### ARTICLE 3. TRANSFER FEE

## §4575. Transfer Fee.

Except as provided in Section 4580, neither an association nor a community service organization or similar entity may impose or collect any assessment, penalty, or fee in connection with a transfer of title or any other interest except for the following:

- (a) An amount not to exceed the association's actual costs to change its records.
- (b) An amount authorized by Section 4530.

## §4580. Exemption from Transfer Fee Limitations.

The prohibition in Section 4575 does not apply to a community service organization or similar entity, or to a nonprofit entity that provides services to a common interest development under a declaration of trust, of either of the following types:

- (a) An organization or entity that satisfies both of the following conditions:
  - (1) It was established before February 20, 2003.
- (2) It exists and operates, in whole or in part, to fund or perform environmental mitigation or to restore or maintain wetlands or native habitat, as required by the state or local government as an express written condition of development.
  - (b) An organization or entity that satisfies all of the following conditions:
    - (1) It is not an organization or entity described by subdivision (a).
    - (2) It was established and received a transfer fee before January 1, 2004.
- (3) On and after January 1, 2006, it offers a purchaser the following payment options for the fee or charge it collects at time of transfer:
  - (A) Paying the fee or charge at the time of transfer.
- (B) Paying the fee or charge pursuant to an installment payment plan for a period of not less than seven years. If the purchaser elects to pay the fee or charge in installment payments, the organization or entity may also collect additional amounts that do not exceed the actual costs for billing and financing on the amount owed. If the purchaser sells the separate interest before the end of the installment payment plan period, the purchaser shall pay the remaining balance before the transfer.

## ARTICLE 4. RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER

#### §4600. Grant of Exclusive Use.

- (a) Unless the governing documents specify a different percentage, the affirmative vote of members owning at least 67 percent of the separate interests in the common interest development shall be required before the board may grant exclusive use of any portion of the common area to a member.
  - (b) Subdivision (a) does not apply to the following actions:
- (1) A reconveyance of all or any portion of that common area to the subdivider to enable the continuation of development that is in substantial conformance with a detailed plan of phased development submitted to the Real Estate Commissioner with the application for a public report.

- (2) Any grant of exclusive use that is in substantial conformance with a detailed plan of phased development submitted to the Real Estate Commissioner with the application for a public report or in accordance with the governing documents approved by the Real Estate Commissioner.
  - (3) Any grant of exclusive use that is for any of the following reasons:
- (A) To eliminate or correct engineering errors in documents recorded with the county recorder or on file with a public agency or utility company.
- (B) To eliminate or correct encroachments due to errors in construction of any improvements.
- (C) To permit changes in the plan of development submitted to the Real Estate Commissioner in circumstances where the changes are the result of topography, obstruction, hardship, aesthetic considerations, or environmental conditions.
  - (D) To fulfill the requirement of a public agency.
- (E) To transfer the burden of management and maintenance of any common area that is generally inaccessible and not of general use to the membership at large of the association.
  - (F) To accommodate a disability.
- (G) To assign a parking space, storage unit, or other amenity, that is designated in the declaration for assignment, but is not assigned by the declaration to a specific separate interest.
- (H) To install and use an electric vehicle charging station in an owner's garage or a designated parking space that meets the requirements of Section 4745, where the installation or use of the charging station requires reasonable access through, or across, the common area for utility lines or meters.
- (I) To install and use an electric vehicle charging station through a license granted by an association under Section 4745.
  - (J) To comply with governing law.
- (c) Any measure placed before the members requesting that the board grant exclusive use of any portion of the common area shall specify whether the association will receive any monetary consideration for the grant and whether the association or the transferee will be responsible for providing any insurance coverage for exclusive use of the common area.

#### §4605. Civil Action to Enforce Section 4600.

- (a) A member of an association may bring a civil action for declaratory or equitable relief for a violation of Section 4600 by the association, including, but not limited to, injunctive relief, restitution, or a combination thereof, within one year of the date the cause of action accrues.
- (b) A member who prevails in a civil action to enforce the member's rights pursuant to Section 4600 shall be entitled to reasonable attorney's fees and court costs, and the court may impose a civil penalty of up to five hundred dollars (\$500) for each violation, except that each identical violation shall be subject to only one penalty if the violation affects each member equally. A prevailing association shall not recover any costs, unless the court finds the action to be frivolous, unreasonable, or without foundation.

## §4610. Partition of Condominium Project.

(a) Except as provided in this section, the common area in a condominium project shall remain undivided, and there shall be no judicial partition thereof. Nothing in this section shall be deemed to prohibit partition of a cotenancy in a condominium.

- (b) The owner of a separate interest in a condominium project may maintain a partition action as to the entire project as if the owners of all of the separate interests in the project were tenants in common in the entire project in the same proportion as their interests in the common area. The court shall order partition under this subdivision only by sale of the entire condominium project and only upon a showing of one of the following:
- (1) More than three years before the filing of the action, the condominium project was damaged or destroyed, so that a material part was rendered unfit for its prior use, and the condominium project has not been rebuilt or repaired substantially to its state prior to the damage or destruction.
- (2) Three-fourths or more of the project is destroyed or substantially damaged and owners of separate interests holding in the aggregate more than a 50-percent interest in the common area oppose repair or restoration of the project.
- (3) The project has been in existence more than 50 years, is obsolete and uneconomic, and owners of separate interests holding in the aggregate more than a 50-percent interest in the common area oppose repair or restoration of the project.
- (4) Any conditions in the declaration for sale under the circumstances described in this subdivision have been met.

# §4615. Lien for Work Performed in Condominium Project.

- (a) In a condominium project, no labor performed or services or materials furnished with the consent of, or at the request of, an owner in the condominium project or the owners' agent or contractor shall be the basis for the filing of a lien against any other property of any other owner in the condominium project unless that other owner has expressly consented to or requested the performance of the labor or furnishing of the materials or services. However, express consent shall be deemed to have been given by the owner of any condominium in the case of emergency repairs thereto.
- (b) Labor performed or services or materials furnished for the common area, if duly authorized by the association, shall be deemed to be performed or furnished with the express consent of each condominium owner.
- (c) The owner of any condominium may remove that owner's condominium from a lien against two or more condominiums or any part thereof by payment to the holder of the lien of the fraction of the total sum secured by the lien that is attributable to the owner's condominium.

#### ARTICLE 5. TRANSFER OF SEPARATE INTEREST

## §4625. Community Apartment Project.

In a community apartment project, any conveyance, judicial sale, or other voluntary or involuntary transfer of the separate interest includes the undivided interest in the community apartment project. Any conveyance, judicial sale, or other voluntary or involuntary transfer of the owner's entire estate also includes the owner's membership interest in the association.

#### §4630. Condominium Project.

In a condominium project the common area is not subject to partition, except as provided in Section 4610. Any conveyance, judicial sale, or other voluntary or involuntary transfer of the separate interest includes the undivided interest in the common area. Any conveyance, judicial sale, or other voluntary or involuntary transfer of the owner's entire estate also includes the owner's membership interest in the association.

# §4635. Planned Development.

In a planned development, any conveyance, judicial sale, or other voluntary or involuntary transfer of the separate interest includes the undivided interest in the common area, if any exists. Any conveyance, judicial sale, or

other voluntary or involuntary transfer of the owner's entire estate also includes the owner's membership interest in the association.

# §4640. Stock Cooperative.

In a stock cooperative, any conveyance, judicial sale, or other voluntary or involuntary transfer of the separate interest includes the ownership interest in the corporation, however evidenced. Any conveyance, judicial sale, or other voluntary or involuntary transfer of the owner's entire estate also includes the owner's membership interest in the association.

#### §4645. Transfer of Exclusive Use Common Area.

Nothing in this article prohibits the transfer of exclusive use areas, independent of any other interest in a common interest subdivision, if authorization to separately transfer exclusive use areas is expressly stated in the declaration and the transfer occurs in accordance with the terms of the declaration.

# §4650. Severability of Interests.

Any restrictions upon the severability of the component interests in real property which are contained in the declaration shall not be deemed conditions repugnant to the interest created within the meaning of Section 711. However, these restrictions shall not extend beyond the period in which the right to partition a project is suspended under Section 4610.

#### CHAPTER 5. PROPERTY USE AND MAINTENANCE

#### ARTICLE 1. PROTECTED USES

#### §4700. Application of Article.

This article includes provisions that limit the authority of an association or the governing documents to regulate the use of a member's separate interest. Nothing in this article is intended to affect the application of any other provision that limits the authority of an association to regulate the use of a member's separate interest, including, but not limited to, the following provisions:

- (a) Sections 712 and 713, relating to the display of signs.
- (b) Sections 714 and 714.1, relating to solar energy systems.
- (c) Section 714.5, relating to structures that are constructed offsite and moved to the property in sections or modules.
- (d) Sections 782, 782.5, and 6150 of this code and Section 12956.1 of the Government Code, relating to racial restrictions.
- (e) Section 12927 of the Government Code, relating to the modification of property to accommodate a disability.
  - (f) Section 1597.40 of the Health and Safety Code, relating to the operation of a family day care home.

# §4705. Display of United States Flag.

- (a) Except as required for the protection of the public health or safety, no governing document shall limit or prohibit, or be construed to limit or prohibit, the display of the flag of the United States by a member on or in the member's separate interest or within the member's exclusive use common area.
- (b) For purposes of this section, "display of the flag of the United States" means a flag of the United States made of fabric, cloth, or paper displayed from a staff or pole or in a window, and does not mean a depiction or

emblem of the flag of the United States made of lights, paint, roofing, siding, paving materials, flora, or balloons, or any other similar building, landscaping, or decorative component.

(c) In any action to enforce this section, the prevailing party shall be awarded reasonable attorney's fees and costs.

#### §4710. Noncommercial Sign.

- (a) The governing documents may not prohibit posting or displaying of noncommercial signs, posters, flags, or banners on or in a member's separate interest, except as required for the protection of public health or safety or if the posting or display would violate a local, state, or federal law.
- (b) For purposes of this section, a noncommercial sign, poster, flag, or banner may be made of paper, cardboard, cloth, plastic, or fabric, and may be posted or displayed from the yard, window, door, balcony, or outside wall of the separate interest, but may not be made of lights, roofing, siding, paving materials, flora, or balloons, or any other similar building, landscaping, or decorative component, or include the painting of architectural surfaces.
- (c) An association may prohibit noncommercial signs and posters that are more than nine square feet in size and noncommercial flags or banners that are more than 15 square feet in size.

# §4715. Pets.

- (a) No governing documents shall prohibit the owner of a separate interest within a common interest development from keeping at least one pet within the common interest development, subject to reasonable rules and regulations of the association. This section may not be construed to affect any other rights provided by law to an owner of a separate interest to keep a pet within the development.
- (b) For purposes of this section, "pet" means any domesticated bird, cat, dog, aquatic animal kept within an aquarium, or other animal as agreed to between the association and the homeowner.
- (c) If the association implements a rule or regulation restricting the number of pets an owner may keep, the new rule or regulation shall not apply to prohibit an owner from continuing to keep any pet that the owner currently keeps in the owner's separate interest if the pet otherwise conforms with the previous rules or regulations relating to pets.
- (d) For the purposes of this section, "governing documents" shall include, but are not limited to, the conditions, covenants, and restrictions of the common interest development, and the bylaws, rules, and regulations of the association.
- (e) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2001, and shall only apply to governing documents entered into, amended, or otherwise modified on or after that date.

# §4720. Roofing Materials.

- (a) No association may require a homeowner to install or repair a roof in a manner that is in violation of Section 13132.7 of the Health and Safety Code.
- (b) Governing documents of a common interest development located within a very high fire severity zone, as designated by the Director of Forestry and Fire Protection pursuant to Article 9 (commencing with Section 4201) of Chapter 1 of Part 2 of Division 4 of the Public Resources Code or by a local agency pursuant to Chapter 6.8 (commencing with Section 51175) of Part 1 of Division 1 of Title 5 of the Government Code, shall allow for at least one type of fire retardant roof covering material that meets the requirements of Section 13132.7 of the Health and Safety Code.

# §4725. Television Antenna or Satellite Dish.

(a) Any covenant, condition, or restriction contained in any deed, contract, security instrument, or other instrument affecting the transfer or sale of, or any interest in, a common interest development that effectively prohibits

or restricts the installation or use of a video or television antenna, including a satellite dish, or that effectively prohibits or restricts the attachment of that antenna to a structure within that development where the antenna is not visible from any street or common area, except as otherwise prohibited or restricted by law, is void and unenforceable as to its application to the installation or use of a video or television antenna that has a diameter or diagonal measurement of 36 inches or less.

- (b) This section shall not apply to any covenant, condition, or restriction, as described in subdivision (a), that imposes reasonable restrictions on the installation or use of a video or television antenna, including a satellite dish that has a diameter or diagonal measurement of 36 inches or less. For purposes of this section, "reasonable restrictions" means those restrictions that do not significantly increase the cost of the video or television antenna system, including all related equipment, or significantly decrease its efficiency or performance and include all of the following:
  - (1) Requirements for application and notice to the association prior to the installation.
- (2) Requirement of a member to obtain the approval of the association for the installation of a video or television antenna that has a diameter or diagonal measurement of 36 inches or less on a separate interest owned by another.
- (3) Provision for the maintenance, repair, or replacement of roofs or other building components.
- (4) Requirements for installers of a video or television antenna to indemnify or reimburse the association or its members for loss or damage caused by the installation, maintenance, or use of a video or television antenna that has a diameter or diagonal measurement of 36 inches or less.
- (c) Whenever approval is required for the installation or use of a video or television antenna, including a satellite dish, the application for approval shall be processed by the appropriate approving entity for the common interest development in the same manner as an application for approval of an architectural modification to the property, and the issuance of a decision on the application shall not be willfully delayed.
- (d) In any action to enforce compliance with this section, the prevailing party shall be awarded reasonable attorney's fees.

# §4730. Marketing Restriction.

- (a) Any provision of a governing document that arbitrarily or unreasonably restricts an owner's ability to market the owner's interest in a common interest development is void.
- (b) No association may adopt, enforce, or otherwise impose any governing document that does either of the following:
- (1) Imposes an assessment or fee in connection with the marketing of an owner's interest in an amount that exceeds the association's actual or direct costs. That assessment or fee shall be deemed to violate the limitation set forth in subdivision (b) of Section 5600.
- (2) Establishes an exclusive relationship with a real estate broker through which the sale or marketing of interests in the development is required to occur. The limitation set forth in this paragraph does not apply to the sale or marketing of separate interests owned by the association or to the sale or marketing of common area by the association.
- (c) For purposes of this section, "market" and "marketing" mean listing, advertising, or obtaining or providing access to show the owner's interest in the development.
- (d) This section does not apply to rules or regulations made pursuant to Section 712 or 713 regarding real estate signs.

# §4735. Low Water-Using Plants; Landscaping Rules; Fine or Assessment.

- (a) Notwithstanding any other law, a provision of the governing documents or architectural or landscaping guidelines or policies shall be void and unenforceable if it does any of the following:
- (1) Prohibits, or includes conditions that have the effect of prohibiting, the use of low water-using plants as a group or as a replacement of existing turf.
- (2) Prohibits, or includes conditions that have the effect of prohibiting, the use of artificial turf or any other synthetic surface that resembles grass.
  - (3) Has the effect of prohibiting or restricting compliance with either of the following:
- (A) A water-efficient landscape ordinance adopted or in effect pursuant to subdivision (c) of Section 65595 of the Government Code.
- (B) Any regulation or restriction on the use of water adopted pursuant to Section 353 or 375 of the Water Code.
- (b) This section shall not prohibit an association from applying landscaping rules established in the governing documents, to the extent the rules fully conform with subdivision (a).
- (c) Notwithstanding any other provision of this part, except **as provided in subdivision (d),** an association shall not impose a fine or assessment against an owner of a separate interest for reducing or eliminating the watering of vegetation or lawns during any period for which either of the following have occurred:
- (1) The Governor has declared a state of emergency due to drought pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 8558 of the Government Code.
- (2) A local government has declared a local emergency due to drought pursuant to subdivision (c) of Section 8558 of the Government Code.
- (d) Subdivision (c) shall not apply to an owner of a separate interest that, prior to the imposition of a fine or assessment described in subdivision (c), receives recycled water, as defined in Section 13050 of the Water Code, from a retail water supplier, as defined in Section 13575 of the Water Code, and fails to use that recycled water for landscaping irrigation.
- (e) An owner of a separate interest upon which water-efficient landscaping measures have been installed in response to a declaration of a state of emergency described in subdivision (c) shall not be required to reverse or remove the water-efficient landscaping measures upon the conclusion of the state of emergency.
- §4736. Pressure Washing of Separate Interest and Appurtenant Common Area During Declared Drought Emergency.
- (a) A provision of the governing documents shall be void and unenforceable if it requires pressure washing the exterior of a separate interest and any exclusive use common area appurtenant to the separate interest during a state or local government declared drought emergency.
- (b) For purposes of this section, "pressure washing" means the use of a high-pressure sprayer or hose and potable water to remove loose paint, mold, grime, dust, mud, and dirt from surfaces and objects, including buildings, vehicles, and concrete surfaces.

## §4740. Rental Restriction.

(a) An owner of a separate interest in a common interest development shall not be subject to a provision in a governing document or an amendment to a governing document that prohibits the rental or leasing of any of the

separate interests in that common interest development to a renter, lessee, or tenant unless that governing document, or amendment thereto, was effective prior to the date the owner acquired title to his or her separate interest.

- (b) Notwithstanding the provisions of this section, an owner of a separate interest in a common interest development may expressly consent to be subject to a governing document or an amendment to a governing document that prohibits the rental or leasing of any of the separate interests in the common interest development to a renter, lessee, or tenant.
- (c) For purposes of this section, the right to rent or lease the separate interest of an owner shall not be deemed to have terminated if the transfer by the owner of all or part of the separate interest meets at least one of the following conditions:
- (1) Pursuant to Section 62 or 480.3 of the Revenue and Taxation Code, the transfer is exempt, for purposes of reassessment by the county tax assessor.
- (2) Pursuant to subdivision (b) of, solely with respect to probate transfers, or subdivision (e), (f), or (g) of, Section 1102.2, the transfer is exempt from the requirements to prepare and deliver a Real Estate Transfer Disclosure Statement, as set forth in Section 1102.6.
- (d) Prior to renting or leasing his or her separate interest as provided by this section, an owner shall provide the association verification of the date the owner acquired title to the separate interest and the name and contact information of the prospective tenant or lessee or the prospective tenant's or lessee's representative.
- (e) Nothing in this section shall be deemed to revise, alter, or otherwise affect the voting process by which a common interest development adopts or amends its governing documents.
- (f) This section shall apply only to a provision in a governing document or a provision in an amendment to a governing document that becomes effective on or after January 1, 2012.

## §4745. Electric Vehicle Charging Station.

- (a) Any covenant, restriction, or condition contained in any deed, contract, security instrument, or other instrument affecting the transfer or sale of any interest in a common interest development, and any provision of a governing document, as defined in Section 4150, that either effectively prohibits or unreasonably restricts the installation or use of an electric vehicle charging station in an owner's designated parking space, including, but not limited to, a deeded parking space, a parking space in an owner's exclusive use common area, or a parking space that is specifically designated for use by a particular owner, or is in conflict with the provisions of this section is void and unenforceable.
- (b) (1) This section does not apply to provisions that impose reasonable restrictions on electric vehicle charging stations. However, it is the policy of the state to promote, encourage, and remove obstacles to the use of electric vehicle charging stations.
- (2) For purposes of this section, "reasonable restrictions" are restrictions that do not significantly increase the cost of the station or significantly decrease its efficiency or specified performance.
- (c) An electric vehicle charging station shall meet applicable health and safety standards and requirements imposed by state and local authorities, and all other applicable zoning, land use, or other ordinances, or land use permits.
- (d) For purposes of this section, "electric vehicle charging station" means a station that is designed in compliance with the California Building Standards Code and delivers electricity from a source outside an electric vehicle into one or more electric vehicles. An electric vehicle charging station may include several charge points simultaneously connecting several electric vehicles to the station and any related equipment needed to facilitate charging plug-in electric vehicles.

- (e) If approval is required for the installation or use of an electric vehicle charging station, the application for approval shall be processed and approved by the association in the same manner as an application for approval of an architectural modification to the property, and shall not be willfully avoided or delayed. The approval or denial of an application shall be in writing. If an application is not denied in writing within 60 days from the date of receipt of the application, the application shall be deemed approved, unless that delay is the result of a reasonable request for additional information.
- (f) If the electric vehicle charging station is to be placed in a common area or an exclusive use common area, as designated in the common interest development's declaration, the following provisions apply:
- (1) The owner first shall obtain approval from the association to install the electric vehicle charging station and the association shall approve the installation if the owner agrees in writing to do all of the following:
- (A) Comply with the association's architectural standards for the installation of the charging station.
  - (B) Engage a licensed contractor to install the charging station.
- (C) Within 14 days of approval, provide a certificate of insurance that names the association as an additional insured under the owner's insurance policy in the amount set forth in paragraph (3).
  - (D) Pay for the electricity usage associated with the charging station.
- (2) The owner and each successive owner of the charging station shall be responsible for all of the following:
- (A) Costs for damage to the charging station, common area, exclusive use common area, or separate interests resulting from the installation, maintenance, repair, removal, or replacement of the charging station.
- (B) Costs for the maintenance, repair, and replacement of the charging station until it has been removed and for the restoration of the common area after removal.
  - (C) The cost of electricity associated with the charging station.
- (D) Disclosing to prospective buyers the existence of any charging station of the owner and the related responsibilities of the owner under this section.
- (3) The owner and each successive owner of the charging station, at all times, shall maintain a homeowner liability coverage policy in the amount of one million dollars (\$1,000,000) and shall name the association as a named additional insured under the policy with a right to notice of cancellation.
- (4) A homeowner shall not be required to maintain a homeowner liability coverage policy for an existing National Electrical Manufacturers Association standard alternating current power plug.
- (g) Except as provided in subdivision (h), installation of an electric vehicle charging station for the exclusive use of an owner in a common area that is not an exclusive use common area, shall be authorized by the association only if installation in the owner's designated parking space is impossible or unreasonably expensive. In such cases, the association shall enter into a license agreement with the owner for the use of the space in a common area, and the owner shall comply with all of the requirements in subdivision (f).
- (h) The association or owners may install an electric vehicle charging station in the common area for the use of all members of the association and, in that case, the association shall develop appropriate terms of use for the charging station.

- (i) An association may create a new parking space where one did not previously exist to facilitate the installation of an electric vehicle charging station.
- (j) An association that willfully violates this section shall be liable to the applicant or other party for actual damages, and shall pay a civil penalty to the applicant or other party in an amount not to exceed one thousand dollars (\$1,000).
- (k) In any action to enforce compliance with this section, the prevailing plaintiff shall be awarded reasonable attorney's fees.

# §4750. Personal Agriculture; Homeowner may not be Unreasonably Prohibited or Restricted from Engaging in; Applicability.

- (a) For the purposes of this section, "personal agriculture" has the same definition as in Section 1940.10.
- (b) Any provision of a governing document, as defined in Section 4150, shall be void and unenforceable if it effectively prohibits or unreasonably restricts the use of a homeowner's backyard for personal agriculture.
- (c) (1) This section does not apply to provisions that impose reasonable restrictions on the use of a homeowner's yard for personal agriculture.
- (2) For purposes of this section, "reasonable restrictions" are restrictions that do not significantly increase the cost of engaging in personal agriculture or significantly decrease its efficiency.
  - (d) This section applies only to yards that are designated for the exclusive use of the homeowner.
- (e) This section shall not prohibit a homeowners' association from applying rules and regulations requiring that dead plant material and weeds, with the exception of straw, mulch, compost, and other organic materials intended to encourage vegetation and retention of moisture in the soil, are regularly cleared from the backyard.

## §4750.10. Personal Energy Conservation; Clotheslines.

- (a) For purposes of this section, "clothesline" includes a cord, rope, or wire from which laundered items may be hung to dry or air. A balcony, railing, awning, or other part of a structure or building shall not qualify as a clothesline.
- (b) For purposes of this section, "drying rack" means an apparatus from which laundered items may be hung to dry or air. A balcony, railing, awning, or other part of a structure or building shall not qualify as a drying rack.
- (c) Any provision of a governing document, as defined in Section 4150, shall be void and unenforceable if it effectively prohibits or unreasonably restricts an owner's ability to use a clothesline or drying rack in the owner's backyard.
- (d) (1) This section does not apply to provisions that impose reasonable restrictions on an owner's backyard for the use of a clothesline or drying rack.
- (2) For purposes of this section, "reasonable restrictions" are restrictions that do not significantly increase the cost of using a clothesline or drying rack.
- (3) This section applies only to backyards that are designated for the exclusive use of the owner.
- (e) Nothing in this section shall prohibit an association from establishing and enforcing reasonable rules governing clotheslines or drying racks.

## ARTICLE 2. MODIFICATION OF SEPARATE INTEREST

## §4760. Improvements to Separate Interest.

- (a) Subject to the governing documents and applicable law, a member may do the following:
- (1) Make any improvement or alteration within the boundaries of the member's separate interest that does not impair the structural integrity or mechanical systems or lessen the support of any portions of the common interest development.
- (2) Modify the member's separate interest, at the member's expense, to facilitate access for persons who are blind, visually handicapped, deaf, or physically disabled, or to alter conditions which could be hazardous to these persons. These modifications may also include modifications of the route from the public way to the door of the separate interest for the purposes of this paragraph if the separate interest is on the ground floor or already accessible by an existing ramp or elevator. The right granted by this paragraph is subject to the following conditions:
  - (A) The modifications shall be consistent with applicable building code requirements.
- (B) The modifications shall be consistent with the intent of otherwise applicable provisions of the governing documents pertaining to safety or aesthetics.
- (C) Modifications external to the dwelling shall not prevent reasonable passage by other residents, and shall be removed by the member when the separate interest is no longer occupied by persons requiring those modifications who are blind, visually handicapped, deaf, or physically disabled.
- (D) Any member who intends to modify a separate interest pursuant to this paragraph shall submit plans and specifications to the association for review to determine whether the modifications will comply with the provisions of this paragraph. The association shall not deny approval of the proposed modifications under this paragraph without good cause.
- (b) Any change in the exterior appearance of a separate interest shall be in accordance with the governing documents and applicable provisions of law.

## §4765. Architectural Review and Decision Making.

- (a) This section applies if the governing documents require association approval before a member may make a physical change to the member's separate interest or to the common area. In reviewing and approving or disapproving a proposed change, the association shall satisfy the following requirements:
- (1) The association shall provide a fair, reasonable, and expeditious procedure for making its decision. The procedure shall be included in the association's governing documents. The procedure shall provide for prompt deadlines. The procedure shall state the maximum time for response to an application or a request for reconsideration by the board.
- (2) A decision on a proposed change shall be made in good faith and may not be unreasonable, arbitrary, or capricious.
- (3) Notwithstanding a contrary provision of the governing documents, a decision on a proposed change may not violate any governing provision of law, including, but not limited to, the Fair Employment and Housing Act (Part 2.8 (commencing with Section 12900) of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code), or a building code or other applicable law governing land use or public safety.
- (4) A decision on a proposed change shall be in writing. If a proposed change is disapproved, the written decision shall include both an explanation of why the proposed change is disapproved and a description of the procedure for reconsideration of the decision by the board.

- (5) If a proposed change is disapproved, the applicant is entitled to reconsideration by the board, at an open meeting of the board. This paragraph does not require reconsideration of a decision that is made by the board or a body that has the same membership as the board, at a meeting that satisfies the requirements of Article 2 (commencing with Section 4900) of Chapter 6. Reconsideration by the board does not constitute dispute resolution within the meaning of Section 5905.
- (b) Nothing in this section authorizes a physical change to the common area in a manner that is inconsistent with an association's governing documents, unless the change is required by law.
- (c) An association shall annually provide its members with notice of any requirements for association approval of physical changes to property. The notice shall describe the types of changes that require association approval and shall include a copy of the procedure used to review and approve or disapprove a proposed change.

#### **ARTICLE 3. MAINTENANCE**

# §4775. Maintenance Responsibility Generally.

- (a) Unless otherwise provided in the declaration of a common interest development, the association is responsible for repairing, replacing, or maintaining the common area, other than exclusive use common area, and the owner of each separate interest is responsible for maintaining that separate interest and any exclusive use common area appurtenant to the separate interest.
- (b) The costs of temporary relocation during the repair and maintenance of the areas within the responsibility of the association shall be borne by the owner of the separate interest affected.
  - (c) This section shall be repealed on January 1, 2017.

# §4780. Wood-Destroying Pests or Organisms.

- (a) In a community apartment project, condominium project, or stock cooperative, unless otherwise provided in the declaration, the association is responsible for the repair and maintenance of the common area occasioned by the presence of wood-destroying pests or organisms.
- (b) In a planned development, unless a different maintenance scheme is provided in the declaration, each owner of a separate interest is responsible for the repair and maintenance of that separate interest as may be occasioned by the presence of wood-destroying pests or organisms. Upon approval of the majority of all members of the association, pursuant to Section 4065, that responsibility may be delegated to the association, which shall be entitled to recover the cost thereof as a special assessment.

## §4785. Temporary Removal of Occupant to Perform Treatment of Wood-Destroying Pests.

- (a) The association may cause the temporary, summary removal of any occupant of a common interest development for such periods and at such times as may be necessary for prompt, effective treatment of wood-destroying pests or organisms.
- (b) The association shall give notice of the need to temporarily vacate a separate interest to the occupants and to the owners, not less than 15 days nor more than 30 days prior to the date of the temporary relocation. The notice shall state the reason for the temporary relocation, the date and time of the beginning of treatment, the anticipated date and time of termination of treatment, and that the occupants will be responsible for their own accommodations during the temporary relocation.
  - (c) Notice by the association shall be deemed complete upon either:
- (1) Personal delivery of a copy of the notice to the occupants, and if an occupant is not the owner, individual delivery pursuant to Section 4040, of a copy of the notice to the owner.

- (2) Individual delivery pursuant to Section 4040 to the occupant at the address of the separate interest, and if the occupant is not the owner, individual delivery pursuant to Section 4040, of a copy of the notice to the owner.
- (d) For purposes of this section, "occupant" means an owner, resident, guest, invitee, tenant, lessee, sublessee, or other person in possession on the separate interest.

# §4790. Exclusive Use Communication Wiring.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the declaration, a member is entitled to reasonable access to the common area for the purpose of maintaining the internal and external telephone wiring made part of the exclusive use common area of the member's separate interest pursuant to subdivision (c) of Section 4145. The access shall be subject to the consent of the association, whose approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, and which may include the association's approval of telephone wiring upon the exterior of the common area, and other conditions as the association determines reasonable.

#### CHAPTER 6. ASSOCIATION GOVERNANCE

#### ARTICLE 1. ASSOCIATION EXISTENCE AND POWERS

# §4800. Association.

A common interest development shall be managed by an association that may be incorporated or unincorporated. The association may be referred to as an owners' association or a community association.

#### §4805. Association Powers.

- (a) Unless the governing documents provide otherwise, and regardless of whether the association is incorporated or unincorporated, the association may exercise the powers granted to a nonprofit mutual benefit corporation, as enumerated in Section 7140 of the Corporations Code, except that an unincorporated association may not adopt or use a corporate seal or issue membership certificates in accordance with Section 7313 of the Corporations Code.
- (b) The association, whether incorporated or unincorporated, may exercise the powers granted to an association in this act.

#### §4820. Joint Neighborhood Association.

Whenever two or more associations have consolidated any of their functions under a joint neighborhood association or similar organization, members of each participating association shall be (a) entitled to attend all meetings of the joint association other than executive sessions, (b) given reasonable opportunity for participation in those meetings, and (c) entitled to the same access to the joint association's records as they are to the participating association's records.

#### **ARTICLE 2. BOARD MEETING**

# §4900. Common Interest Development Open Meeting Act.

This article shall be known and may be cited as the Common Interest Development Open Meeting Act.

# §4910. Board Action Outside of Meeting Prohibited.

- (a) The board shall not take action on any item of business outside of a board meeting.
- (b) (1) Notwithstanding Section 7211 of the Corporations Code, the board shall not conduct a meeting via a series of electronic transmissions, including, but not limited to, electronic mail, except as specified in paragraph (2).

(2) Electronic transmissions may be used as a method of conducting an emergency board meeting if all directors, individually or collectively, consent in writing to that action, and if the written consent or consents are filed with the minutes of the board meeting. These written consents may be transmitted electronically.

# §4920. Notice of Board Meeting.

- (a) Except as provided in subdivision (b), the association shall give notice of the time and place of a board meeting at least four days before the meeting.
- (b) (1) If a board meeting is an emergency meeting held pursuant to Section 4923, the association is not required to give notice of the time and place of the meeting.
- (2) If a nonemergency board meeting is held solely in executive session, the association shall give notice of the time and place of the meeting at least two days prior to the meeting.
- (3) If the association's governing documents require a longer period of notice than is required by this section, the association shall comply with the period stated in its governing documents. For the purposes of this paragraph, a governing document provision does not apply to a notice of an emergency meeting or a meeting held solely in executive session unless it specifically states that it applies to those types of meetings.
  - (c) Notice of a board meeting shall be given by general delivery pursuant to Section 4045.
  - (d) Notice of a board meeting shall contain the agenda for the meeting.

## §4923. Emergency Board Meeting.

An emergency board meeting may be called by the president of the association, or by any two directors other than the president, if there are circumstances that could not have been reasonably foreseen which require immediate attention and possible action by the board, and which of necessity make it impracticable to provide notice as required by Section 4920.

# §4925. Board Meeting Open.

- (a) Any member may attend board meetings, except when the board adjourns to, or meets solely in, executive session. As specified in subdivision (b) of Section 4090, a member of the association shall be entitled to attend a teleconference meeting or the portion of a teleconference meeting that is open to members, and that meeting or portion of the meeting shall be audible to the members in a location specified in the notice of the meeting.
- (b) The board shall permit any member to speak at any meeting of the association or the board, except for meetings of the board held in executive session. A reasonable time limit for all members of the association to speak to the board or before a meeting of the association shall be established by the board.

## §4930. Limitation on Meeting Content.

- (a) Except as described in subdivisions (b) to (e), inclusive, the board may not discuss or take action on any item at a nonemergency meeting unless the item was placed on the agenda included in the notice that was distributed pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 4920. This subdivision does not prohibit a member or resident who is not a director from speaking on issues not on the agenda.
- (b) Notwithstanding subdivision (a), a director, a managing agent or other agent of the board, or a member of the staff of the board, may do any of the following:
- (1) Briefly respond to statements made or questions posed by a person speaking at a meeting as described in subdivision (b) of Section 4925.
- (2) Ask a question for clarification, make a brief announcement, or make a brief report on the person's own activities, whether in response to questions posed by a member or based upon the person's own initiative.

- (c) Notwithstanding subdivision (a), the board or a director, subject to rules or procedures of the board, may do any of the following:
- (1) Provide a reference to, or provide other resources for factual information to, its managing agent or other agents or staff.
- (2) Request its managing agent or other agents or staff to report back to the board at a subsequent meeting concerning any matter, or take action to direct its managing agent or other agents or staff to place a matter of business on a future agenda.
- (3) Direct its managing agent or other agents or staff to perform administrative tasks that are necessary to carry out this section.
- (d) Notwithstanding subdivision (a), the board may take action on any item of business not appearing on the agenda distributed pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 4920 under any of the following conditions:
- (1) Upon a determination made by a majority of the board present at the meeting that an emergency situation exists. An emergency situation exists if there are circumstances that could not have been reasonably foreseen by the board, that require immediate attention and possible action by the board, and that, of necessity, make it impracticable to provide notice.
- (2) Upon a determination made by the board by a vote of two-thirds of the directors present at the meeting, or, if less than two-thirds of total membership of the board is present at the meeting, by a unanimous vote of the directors present, that there is a need to take immediate action and that the need for action came to the attention of the board after the agenda was distributed pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 4920.
- (3) The item appeared on an agenda that was distributed pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 4920 for a prior meeting of the board that occurred not more than 30 calendar days before the date that action is taken on the item and, at the prior meeting, action on the item was continued to the meeting at which the action is taken.
- (e) Before discussing any item pursuant to subdivision (d), the board shall openly identify the item to the members in attendance at the meeting.

# §4935. Executive Session.

- (a) The board may adjourn to, or meet solely in, executive session to consider litigation, matters relating to the formation of contracts with third parties, member discipline, personnel matters, or to meet with a member, upon the member's request, regarding the member's payment of assessments, as specified in Section 5665.
- (b) The board shall adjourn to, or meet solely in, executive session to discuss member discipline, if requested by the member who is the subject of the discussion. That member shall be entitled to attend the executive session.
- (c) The board shall adjourn to, or meet solely in, executive session to discuss a payment plan pursuant to Section 5665.
- (d) The board shall adjourn to, or meet solely in, executive session to decide whether to foreclose on a lien pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 5705.
- (e) Any matter discussed in executive session shall be generally noted in the minutes of the immediately following meeting that is open to the entire membership.

# **§4950.** Minutes.

(a) The minutes, minutes proposed for adoption that are marked to indicate draft status, or a summary of the minutes, of any board meeting, other than an executive session, shall be available to members within 30 days

of the meeting. The minutes, proposed minutes, or summary minutes shall be distributed to any member upon request and upon reimbursement of the association's costs for making that distribution.

(b) The annual policy statement, prepared pursuant to Section 5310, shall inform the members of their right to obtain copies of board meeting minutes and of how and where to do so.

## §4955. Civil Action to Enforce Article.

- (a) A member of an association may bring a civil action for declaratory or equitable relief for a violation of this article by the association, including, but not limited to, injunctive relief, restitution, or a combination thereof, within one year of the date the cause of action accrues.
- (b) A member who prevails in a civil action to enforce the member's rights pursuant to this article shall be entitled to reasonable attorney's fees and court costs, and the court may impose a civil penalty of up to five hundred dollars (\$500) for each violation, except that each identical violation shall be subject to only one penalty if the violation affects each member equally. A prevailing association shall not recover any costs, unless the court finds the action to be frivolous, unreasonable, or without foundation.

#### **ARTICLE 3. MEMBER MEETING**

# §5000. Member Meeting.

- (a) Meetings of the membership of the association shall be conducted in accordance with a recognized system of parliamentary procedure or any parliamentary procedures the association may adopt.
- (b) The board shall permit any member to speak at any meeting of the membership of the association. A reasonable time limit for all members to speak at a meeting of the association shall be established by the board.

#### **ARTICLE 4. MEMBER ELECTION**

# §5100. Application of Article.

- (a) Notwithstanding any other law or provision of the governing documents, elections regarding assessments legally requiring a vote, election and removal of directors, amendments to the governing documents, or the grant of exclusive use of common area pursuant to Section 4600 shall be held by secret ballot in accordance with the procedures set forth in this article.
- (b) This article also governs an election on any topic that is expressly identified in the operating rules as being governed by this article.
- (c) The provisions of this article apply to both incorporated and unincorporated associations, notwithstanding any contrary provision of the governing documents.
- (d) The procedures set forth in this article shall apply to votes cast directly by the membership, but do not apply to votes cast by delegates or other elected representatives.
- (e) In the event of a conflict between this article and the provisions of the Nonprofit Mutual Benefit Corporation Law (Part 3 (commencing with Section 7110) of Division 2 of Title 1 of the Corporations Code) relating to elections, the provisions of this article shall prevail.
- (f) Directors shall not be required to be elected pursuant to this article if the governing documents provide that one member from each separate interest is a director.

#### §5105. Election Rules.

(a) An association shall adopt rules, in accordance with the procedures prescribed by Article 5 (commencing with Section 4340) of Chapter 3, that do all of the following:

- (1) Ensure that if any candidate or member advocating a point of view is provided access to association media, newsletters, or Internet Web sites during a campaign, for purposes that are reasonably related to that election, equal access shall be provided to all candidates and members advocating a point of view, including those not endorsed by the board, for purposes that are reasonably related to the election. The association shall not edit or redact any content from these communications, but may include a statement specifying that the candidate or member, and not the association, is responsible for that content.
- (2) Ensure access to the common area meeting space, if any exists, during a campaign, at no cost, to all candidates, including those who are not incumbents, and to all members advocating a point of view, including those not endorsed by the board, for purposes reasonably related to the election.
- (3) Specify the qualifications for candidates for the board and any other elected position, and procedures for the nomination of candidates, consistent with the governing documents. A nomination or election procedure shall not be deemed reasonable if it disallows any member from nominating himself or herself for election to the board.
- (4) Specify the qualifications for voting, the voting power of each membership, the authenticity, validity, and effect of proxies, and the voting period for elections, including the times at which polls will open and close, consistent with the governing documents.
- (5) Specify a method of selecting one or three independent third parties as inspector or inspectors of elections utilizing one of the following methods:
  - (A) Appointment of the inspector or inspectors by the board.
  - (B) Election of the inspector or inspectors by the members of the association.
  - (C) Any other method for selecting the inspector or inspectors.
- (6) Allow the inspector or inspectors to appoint and oversee additional persons to verify signatures and to count and tabulate votes as the inspector or inspectors deem appropriate, provided that the persons are independent third parties.
- (b) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the rules adopted pursuant to this section may provide for the nomination of candidates from the floor of membership meetings or nomination by any other manner. Those rules may permit write-in candidates for ballots.

#### §5110. Inspector of Elections.

- (a) The association shall select an independent third party or parties as an inspector of elections. The number of inspectors of elections shall be one or three.
- (b) For the purposes of this section, an independent third party includes, but is not limited to, a volunteer poll worker with the county registrar of voters, a licensee of the California Board of Accountancy, or a notary public. An independent third party may be a member, but may not be a director or a candidate for director or be related to a director or to a candidate for director. An independent third party may not be a person, business entity, or subdivision of a business entity who is currently employed or under contract to the association for any compensable services unless expressly authorized by rules of the association adopted pursuant to paragraph (5) of subdivision (a) of Section 5105.
  - (c) The inspector or inspectors of elections shall do all of the following:
    - (1) Determine the number of memberships entitled to vote and the voting power of each.
    - (2) Determine the authenticity, validity, and effect of proxies, if any.
    - (3) Receive ballots.

- (4) Hear and determine all challenges and questions in any way arising out of or in connection with the right to vote.
  - (5) Count and tabulate all votes.
  - (6) Determine when the polls shall close, consistent with the governing documents.
  - (7) Determine the tabulated results of the election.
- (8) Perform any acts as may be proper to conduct the election with fairness to all members in accordance with this article, the Corporations Code, and all applicable rules of the association regarding the conduct of the election that are not in conflict with this article.
- (d) An inspector of elections shall perform all duties impartially, in good faith, to the best of the inspector of election's ability, and as expeditiously as is practical. If there are three inspectors of elections, the decision or act of a majority shall be effective in all respects as the decision or act of all. Any report made by the inspector or inspectors of elections is prima facie evidence of the facts stated in the report.

# §5115. Voting Procedure.

- (a) Ballots and two preaddressed envelopes with instructions on how to return ballots shall be mailed by first-class mail or delivered by the association to every member not less than 30 days prior to the deadline for voting. In order to preserve confidentiality, a voter may not be identified by name, address, or lot, parcel, or unit number on the ballot. The association shall use as a model those procedures used by California counties for ensuring confidentiality of vote by mail ballots, including all of the following:
- (1) The ballot itself is not signed by the voter, but is inserted into an envelope that is sealed. This envelope is inserted into a second envelope that is sealed. In the upper left hand corner of the second envelope, the voter shall sign the voter's name, indicate the voter's name, and indicate the address or separate interest identifier that entitles the voter to vote.
- (2) The second envelope is addressed to the inspector or inspectors of elections, who will be tallying the votes. The envelope may be mailed or delivered by hand to a location specified by the inspector or inspectors of elections. The member may request a receipt for delivery.
- (b) A quorum shall be required only if so stated in the governing documents or other provisions of law. If a quorum is required by the governing documents, each ballot received by the inspector of elections shall be treated as a member present at a meeting for purposes of establishing a quorum.
- (c) An association shall allow for cumulative voting using the secret ballot procedures provided in this section, if cumulative voting is provided for in the governing documents.
- (d) Except for the meeting to count the votes required in subdivision (a) of Section 5120, an election may be conducted entirely by mail unless otherwise specified in the governing documents.
- (e) In an election to approve an amendment of the governing documents, the text of the proposed amendment shall be delivered to the members with the ballot.

## §5120. Counting Ballots.

(a) All votes shall be counted and tabulated by the inspector or inspectors of elections, or the designee of the inspector of elections, in public at a properly noticed open meeting of the board or members. Any candidate or other member of the association may witness the counting and tabulation of the votes. No person, including a member of the association or an employee of the management company, shall open or otherwise review any ballot prior to the time and place at which the ballots are counted and tabulated. The inspector of elections, or the designee of the

inspector of elections, may verify the member's information and signature on the outer envelope prior to the meeting at which ballots are tabulated. Once a secret ballot is received by the inspector of elections, it shall be irrevocable.

(b) The tabulated results of the election shall be promptly reported to the board and shall be recorded in the minutes of the next meeting of the board and shall be available for review by members of the association. Within 15 days of the election, the board shall give general notice pursuant to Section 4045 of the tabulated results of the election.

# §5125. Ballot Retention.

The sealed ballots at all times shall be in the custody of the inspector or inspectors of elections or at a location designated by the inspector or inspectors until after the tabulation of the vote, and until the time allowed by Section 5145 for challenging the election has expired, at which time custody shall be transferred to the association. If there is a recount or other challenge to the election process, the inspector or inspectors of elections shall, upon written request, make the ballots available for inspection and review by an association member or the member's authorized representative. Any recount shall be conducted in a manner that preserves the confidentiality of the vote.

#### **§5130.** Proxies.

- (a) For purposes of this article, the following definitions shall apply:
- (1) "Proxy" means a written authorization signed by a member or the authorized representative of the member that gives another member or members the power to vote on behalf of that member.
- (2) "Signed" means the placing of the member's name on the proxy (whether by manual signature, typewriting, telegraphic transmission, or otherwise) by the member or authorized representative of the member.
- (b) Proxies shall not be construed or used in lieu of a ballot. An association may use proxies if permitted or required by the bylaws of the association and if those proxies meet the requirements of this article, other laws, and the governing documents, but the association shall not be required to prepare or distribute proxies pursuant to this article.
- (c) Any instruction given in a proxy issued for an election that directs the manner in which the proxyholder is to cast the vote shall be set forth on a separate page of the proxy that can be detached and given to the proxyholder to retain. The proxyholder shall cast the member's vote by secret ballot. The proxy may be revoked by the member prior to the receipt of the ballot by the inspector of elections as described in Section 7613 of the Corporations Code.

## §5135. Campaign-Related Information.

- (a) Association funds shall not be used for campaign purposes in connection with any association board election. Funds of the association shall not be used for campaign purposes in connection with any other association election except to the extent necessary to comply with duties of the association imposed by law.
  - (b) For the purposes of this section, "campaign purposes" includes, but is not limited to, the following:
- (1) Expressly advocating the election or defeat of any candidate that is on the association election ballot.
- (2) Including the photograph or prominently featuring the name of any candidate on a communication from the association or its board, excepting the ballot, ballot materials, or a communication that is legally required, within 30 days of an election. This is not a campaign purpose if the communication is one for which subdivision (a) of Section 5105 requires that equal access be provided to another candidate or advocate.

# §5145. Judicial Enforcement.

- (a) A member of an association may bring a civil action for declaratory or equitable relief for a violation of this article by the association, including, but not limited to, injunctive relief, restitution, or a combination thereof, within one year of the date the cause of action accrues. Upon a finding that the election procedures of this article, or the adoption of and adherence to rules provided by Article 5 (commencing with Section 4340) of Chapter 3, were not followed, a court may void any results of the election.
- (b) A member who prevails in a civil action to enforce the member's rights pursuant to this article shall be entitled to reasonable attorney's fees and court costs, and the court may impose a civil penalty of up to five hundred dollars (\$500) for each violation, except that each identical violation shall be subject to only one penalty if the violation affects each member of the association equally. A prevailing association shall not recover any costs, unless the court finds the action to be frivolous, unreasonable, or without foundation.
- (c) A cause of action under Sections 5100 to 5130, inclusive, with respect to access to association resources by a candidate or member advocating a point of view, the receipt of a ballot by a member, or the counting, tabulation, or reporting of, or access to, ballots for inspection and review after tabulation may be brought in small claims court if the amount of the demand does not exceed the jurisdiction of that court.

## **ARTICLE 5. RECORD INSPECTION**

#### §5200. Definitions.

For the purposes of this article, the following definitions shall apply:

- (a) "Association records" means all of the following:
- (1) Any financial document required to be provided to a member in Article 7 (commencing with Section 5300) or in Sections 5565 and 5810.
- (2) Any financial document or statement required to be provided in Article 2 (commencing with Section 4525) of Chapter 4.
  - (3) Interim financial statements, periodic or as compiled, containing any of the following:
    - (A) Balance sheet.
    - (B) Income and expense statement.
    - (C) Budget comparison.
- (D) General ledger. A "general ledger" is a report that shows all transactions that occurred in an association account over a specified period of time.

The records described in this paragraph shall be prepared in accordance with an accrual or modified accrual basis of accounting.

- (4) Executed contracts not otherwise privileged under law.
- (5) Written board approval of vendor or contractor proposals or invoices.
- (6) State and federal tax returns.
- (7) Reserve account balances and records of payments made from reserve accounts.

- (8) Agendas and minutes of meetings of the members, the board, and any committees appointed by the board pursuant to Section 7212 of the Corporations Code; excluding, however, minutes and other information from executive sessions of the board as described in Article 2 (commencing with Section 4900).
- (9) Membership lists, including name, property address, and mailing address, but not including information for members who have opted out pursuant to Section 5220.
  - (10) Check registers.
  - (11) The governing documents.
  - (12) An accounting prepared pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 5520.
  - (13) An "enhanced association record" as defined in subdivision (b).
- (b) "Enhanced association records" means invoices, receipts and canceled checks for payments made by the association, purchase orders approved by the association, credit card statements for credit cards issued in the name of the association, statements for services rendered, and reimbursement requests submitted to the association.

## §5205. Document.

- (a) The association shall make available association records for the time periods and within the timeframes provided in Section 5210 for inspection and copying by a member of the association, or the member's designated representative.
- (b) A member of the association may designate another person to inspect and copy the specified association records on the member's behalf. The member shall make this designation in writing.
- (c) The association shall make the specified association records available for inspection and copying in the association's business office within the common interest development.
- (d) If the association does not have a business office within the development, the association shall make the specified association records available for inspection and copying at a place agreed to by the requesting member and the association.
- (e) If the association and the requesting member cannot agree upon a place for inspection and copying pursuant to subdivision (d) or if the requesting member submits a written request directly to the association for copies of specifically identified records, the association may satisfy the requirement to make the association records available for inspection and copying by delivering copies of the specifically identified records to the member by individual delivery pursuant to Section 4040 within the timeframes set forth in subdivision (b) of Section 5210.
- (f) The association may bill the requesting member for the direct and actual cost of copying and mailing requested documents. The association shall inform the member of the amount of the copying and mailing costs, and the member shall agree to pay those costs, before copying and sending the requested documents.
- (g) In addition to the direct and actual costs of copying and mailing, the association may bill the requesting member an amount not in excess of ten dollars (\$10) per hour, and not to exceed two hundred dollars (\$200) total per written request, for the time actually and reasonably involved in redacting an enhanced association record. If the enhanced association record includes a reimbursement request, the person submitting the reimbursement request shall be solely responsible for removing all personal identification information from the request. The association shall inform the member of the estimated costs, and the member shall agree to pay those costs, before retrieving the requested documents.
- (h) Requesting parties shall have the option of receiving specifically identified records by electronic transmission or machine-readable storage media as long as those records can be transmitted in a redacted format that does not allow the records to be altered. The cost of duplication shall be limited to the direct cost of producing the

copy of a record in that electronic format. The association may deliver specifically identified records by electronic transmission or machine-readable storage media as long as those records can be transmitted in a redacted format that prevents the records from being altered.

## §5210. Time Periods.

- (a) Association records are subject to member inspection for the following time periods:
  - (1) For the current fiscal year and for each of the previous two fiscal years.
- (2) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), minutes of member and board meetings are subject to inspection permanently. If a committee has decision making authority, minutes of the meetings of that committee shall be made available commencing January 1, 2007, and shall thereafter be permanently subject to inspection.
- (b) When a member properly requests access to association records, access to the requested records shall be granted within the following time periods:
- (1) Association records prepared during the current fiscal year, within 10 business days following the association's receipt of the request.
- (2) Association records prepared during the previous two fiscal years, within 30 calendar days following the association's receipt of the request.
- (3) Any record or statement available pursuant to Article 2 (commencing with Section 4525) of Chapter 4, Article 7 (commencing with Section 5300), Section 5565, or Section 5810, within the timeframe specified therein.
- (4) Minutes of member and board meetings, within the timeframe specified in subdivision (a) of Section 4950.
- (5) Minutes of meetings of committees with decision making authority for meetings commencing on or after January 1, 2007, within 15 calendar days following approval.
  - (6) Membership list, within the timeframe specified in Section 8330 of the Corporations Code.
- (c) There shall be no liability pursuant to this article for an association that fails to retain records for the periods specified in subdivision (a) that were created prior to January 1, 2006.

## §5215. Withholding and Redaction.

- (a) Except as provided in subdivision (b), the association may withhold or redact information from the association records if any of the following are true:
- (1) The release of the information is reasonably likely to lead to identity theft. For the purposes of this section, "identity theft" means the unauthorized use of another person's personal identifying information to obtain credit, goods, services, money, or property. Examples of information that may be withheld or redacted pursuant to this paragraph include bank account numbers of members or vendors, social security or tax identification numbers, and check, stock, and credit card numbers.
- (2) The release of the information is reasonably likely to lead to fraud in connection with the association.
- (3) The information is privileged under law. Examples include documents subject to attorneyclient privilege or relating to litigation in which the association is or may become involved and confidential settlement agreements.

- (4) The release of the information is reasonably likely to compromise the privacy of an individual member of the association.
  - (5) The information contains any of the following:
- (A) Records of goods or services provided a la carte to individual members of the association for which the association received monetary consideration other than assessments.
- (B) Records of disciplinary actions, collection activities, or payment plans of members other than the member requesting the records.
- (C) Any person's personal identification information, including, without limitation, social security number, tax identification number, driver's license number, credit card account numbers, bank account number, and bank routing number.
- (D) Minutes and other information from executive sessions of the board as described in Article 2 (commencing with Section 4900), except for executed contracts not otherwise privileged. Privileged contracts shall not include contracts for maintenance, management, or legal services.
- (E) Personnel records other than the payroll records required to be provided under subdivision (b).
  - (F) Interior architectural plans, including security features, for individual homes.
- (b) Except as provided by the attorney-client privilege, the association may not withhold or redact information concerning the compensation paid to employees, vendors, or contractors. Compensation information for individual employees shall be set forth by job classification or title, not by the employee's name, social security number, or other personal information.
- (c) No association, officer, director, employee, agent, or volunteer of an association shall be liable for damages to a member of the association or any third party as the result of identity theft or other breach of privacy because of the failure to withhold or redact that member's information under this section unless the failure to withhold or redact the information was intentional, willful, or negligent.
- (d) If requested by the requesting member, an association that denies or redacts records shall provide a written explanation specifying the legal basis for withholding or redacting the requested records.

## §5220. Membership List Opt Out.

A member of the association may opt out of the sharing of that member's name, property address, and mailing address by notifying the association in writing that the member prefers to be contacted via the alternative process described in subdivision (c) of Section 8330 of the Corporations Code. This opt out shall remain in effect until changed by the member.

## §5225. Membership List Request.

A member requesting the membership list shall state the purpose for which the list is requested which purpose shall be reasonably related to the requester's interest as a member. If the association reasonably believes that the information in the list will be used for another purpose, it may deny the member access to the list. If the request is denied, in any subsequent action brought by the member under Section 5235, the association shall have the burden to prove that the member would have allowed use of the information for purposes unrelated to the member's interest as a member.

## §5230. Restriction on Use of Records.

(a) The association records, and any information from them, may not be sold, used for a commercial purpose, or used for any other purpose not reasonably related to a member's interest as a member. An association may

bring an action against any person who violates this article for injunctive relief and for actual damages to the association caused by the violation.

- (b) This article may not be construed to limit the right of an association to damages for misuse of information obtained from the association records pursuant to this article or to limit the right of an association to injunctive relief to stop the misuse of this information.
- (c) An association shall be entitled to recover reasonable costs and expenses, including reasonable attorney's fees, in a successful action to enforce its rights under this article.

#### §5235. Enforcement.

- (a) A member may bring an action to enforce that member's right to inspect and copy the association records. If a court finds that the association unreasonably withheld access to the association records, the court shall award the member reasonable costs and expenses, including reasonable attorney's fees, and may assess a civil penalty of up to five hundred dollars (\$500) for the denial of each separate written request.
- (b) A cause of action under this section may be brought in small claims court if the amount of the demand does not exceed the jurisdiction of that court.
- (c) A prevailing association may recover any costs if the court finds the action to be frivolous, unreasonable, or without foundation.

# §5240. Application of Article.

- (a) As applied to an association and its members, the provisions of this article are intended to supersede the provisions of Sections 8330 and 8333 of the Corporations Code to the extent those sections are inconsistent.
- (b) Except as provided in subdivision (a), members of the association shall have access to association records, including accounting books and records and membership lists, in accordance with Article 3 (commencing with Section 8330) of Chapter 13 of Part 3 of Division 2 of Title 1 of the Corporations Code.
- (c) This article applies to any community service organization or similar entity that is related to the association, and to any nonprofit entity that provides services to a common interest development under a declaration of trust. This article shall operate to give a member of the organization or entity a right to inspect and copy the records of that organization or entity equivalent to that granted to association members by this article.
- (d) This article shall not apply to any common interest development in which separate interests are being offered for sale by a subdivider under the authority of a public report issued by the Bureau of Real Estate so long as the subdivider or all subdividers offering those separate interests for sale, or any employees of those subdividers or any other person who receives direct or indirect compensation from any of those subdividers, comprise a majority of the directors. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this article shall apply to that common interest development no later than 10 years after the close of escrow for the first sale of a separate interest to a member of the general public pursuant to the public report issued for the first phase of the development.

#### ARTICLE 6. RECORDKEEPING

## §5260. Mailing-Related Requests.

To be effective, any of the following requests shall be delivered in writing to the association, pursuant to Section 4035:

- (a) A request to change the member's information in the association membership list.
- (b) A request to add or remove a second address for delivery of individual notices to the member, pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 4040.

- (c) A request for individual delivery of general notices to the member, pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 4045, or a request to cancel a prior request for individual delivery of general notices.
- (d) A request to opt out of the membership list pursuant to Section 5220, or a request to cancel a prior request to opt out of the membership list.
- (e) A request to receive a full copy of a specified annual budget report or annual policy statement pursuant to Section 5320.
- (f) A request to receive all reports in full, pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 5320, or a request to cancel a prior request to receive all reports in full.

## **ARTICLE 7. ANNUAL REPORTS**

# §5300. Annual Budget Report.

- (a) Notwithstanding a contrary provision in the governing documents, an association shall distribute an annual budget report 30 to 90 days before the end of its fiscal year.
- (b) Unless the governing documents impose more stringent standards, the annual budget report shall include all of the following information:
- (1) A pro forma operating budget, showing the estimated revenue and expenses on an accrual basis.
  - (2) A summary of the association's reserves, prepared pursuant to Section 5565.
- (3) A summary of the reserve funding plan adopted by the board, as specified in paragraph (5) of subdivision (b) of Section 5550. The summary shall include notice to members that the full reserve study plan is available upon request, and the association shall provide the full reserve plan to any member upon request.
- (4) A statement as to whether the board has determined to defer or not undertake repairs or replacement of any major component with a remaining life of 30 years or less, including a justification for the deferral or decision not to undertake the repairs or replacement.
- (5) A statement as to whether the board, consistent with the reserve funding plan adopted pursuant to Section 5560, has determined or anticipates that the levy of one or more special assessments will be required to repair, replace, or restore any major component or to provide adequate reserves therefore. If so, the statement shall also set out the estimated amount, commencement date, and duration of the assessment.
- (6) A statement as to the mechanism or mechanisms by which the board will fund reserves to repair or replace major components, including assessments, borrowing, use of other assets, deferral of selected replacements or repairs, or alternative mechanisms.
- (7) A general statement addressing the procedures used for the calculation and establishment of those reserves to defray the future repair, replacement, or additions to those major components that the association is obligated to maintain. The statement shall include, but need not be limited to, reserve calculations made using the formula described in paragraph (4) of subdivision (b) of Section 5570, and may not assume a rate of return on cash reserves in excess of 2 percent above the discount rate published by the Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco at the time the calculation was made.
- (8) A statement as to whether the association has any outstanding loans with an original term of more than one year, including the payee, interest rate, amount outstanding, annual payment, and when the loan is scheduled to be retired.
- (9) A summary of the association's property, general liability, earthquake, flood, and fidelity insurance policies. For each policy, the summary shall include the name of the insurer, the type of insurance, the policy

limit, and the amount of the deductible, if any. To the extent that any of the required information is specified in the insurance policy declaration page, the association may meet its obligation to disclose that information by making copies of that page and distributing it with the annual budget report. The summary distributed pursuant to this paragraph shall contain, in at least 10-point boldface type, the following statement:

"This summary of the association's policies of insurance provides only certain information, as required by Section 5300 of the Civil Code, and should not be considered a substitute for the complete policy terms and conditions contained in the actual policies of insurance. Any association member may, upon request and provision of reasonable notice, review the association's insurance policies and, upon request and payment of reasonable duplication charges, obtain copies of those policies. Although the association maintains the policies of insurance specified in this summary, the association's policies of insurance may not cover your property, including personal property or real property improvements to or around your dwelling, or personal injuries or other losses that occur within or around your dwelling. Even if a loss is covered, you may nevertheless be responsible for paying all or a portion of any deductible that applies. Association members should consult with their individual insurance broker or agent for appropriate additional coverage."

(10) When the common interest development is a condominium project, a statement describing the status of the common interest development as a Federal Housing Administration (FHA)-approved condominium project pursuant to FHA guidelines, including whether the common interest development is an FHA-approved condominium project. The statement shall be in at least 10-point font on a separate piece of paper and in the following form:

"Certification by the Federal Housing Administration may provide benefits to members of an association, including an improvement in an owner's ability to refinance a mortgage or obtain secondary financing and an increase in the pool of potential buyers of the separate interest.

This common interest development [is/is not (circle one)] a condominium project. The association of this common interest development [is/is not (circle one)] certified by the Federal Housing Administration."

(11) When the common interest development is a condominium project, a statement describing the status of the common interest development as a federal Department of Veterans Affairs (VA)-approved condominium project pursuant to VA guidelines, including whether the common interest development is a VA-approved condominium project. The statement shall be in at least 10-point font on a separate piece of paper and in the following form:

"Certification by the federal Department of Veterans Affairs may provide benefits to members of an association, including an improvement in an owner's ability to refinance a mortgage or obtain secondary financing and an increase in the pool of potential buyers of the separate interest.

This common interest development [is/is not (circle one)] a condominium project. The association of this common interest development [is/is not (circle one)] certified by the federal Department of Veterans Affairs."

- (c) The annual budget report shall be made available to the members pursuant to Section 5320.
- (d) The summary of the association's reserves disclosed pursuant to paragraph (2) of subdivision (b) shall not be admissible in evidence to show improper financial management of an association, provided that other relevant and competent evidence of the financial condition of the association is not made inadmissible by this provision.

- (e) The Assessment and Reserve Funding Disclosure Summary form, prepared pursuant to Section 5570, shall accompany each annual budget report or summary of the annual budget report that is delivered pursuant to this article.
  - (f) This section shall become operative on July 1, 2016.

## §5305. Review of Financial Statement.

Unless the governing documents impose more stringent standards, a review of the financial statement of the association shall be prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles by a licensee of the California Board of Accountancy for any fiscal year in which the gross income to the association exceeds seventy-five thousand dollars (\$75,000). A copy of the review of the financial statement shall be distributed to the members within 120 days after the close of each fiscal year, by individual delivery pursuant to Section 4040.

# §5310. Annual Policy Statement.

- (a) Within 30 to 90 days before the end of its fiscal year, the board shall distribute an annual policy statement that provides the members with information about association policies. The annual policy statement shall include all of the following information:
- (1) The name and address of the person designated to receive official communications to the association, pursuant to Section 4035.
- (2) A statement explaining that a member may submit a request to have notices sent to up to two different specified addresses, pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 4040.
- (3) The location, if any, designated for posting of a general notice, pursuant to paragraph (3) of subdivision (a) of Section 4045.
- (4) Notice of a member's option to receive general notices by individual delivery, pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 4045.
- (5) Notice of a member's right to receive copies of meeting minutes, pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 4950.
  - (6) The statement of assessment collection policies required by Section 5730.
- (7) A statement describing the association's policies and practices in enforcing lien rights or other legal remedies for default in the payment of assessments.
- (8) A statement describing the association's discipline policy, if any, including any schedule of penalties for violations of the governing documents pursuant to Section 5850.
  - (9) A summary of dispute resolution procedures, pursuant to Sections 5920 and 5965.
- (10) A summary of any requirements for association approval of a physical change to property, pursuant to Section 4765.
  - (11) The mailing address for overnight payment of assessments, pursuant to Section 5655.
- (12) Any other information that is required by law or the governing documents or that the board determines to be appropriate for inclusion.
  - (b) The annual policy statement shall be made available to the members pursuant to Section 5320.

# §5320. Notice of Availability.

- (a) When a report is prepared pursuant to Section 5300 or 5310, the association shall deliver one of the following documents to all members, by individual delivery pursuant to Section 4040:
  - (1) The full report.
- (2) A summary of the report. The summary shall include a general description of the content of the report. Instructions on how to request a complete copy of the report at no cost to the member shall be printed in at least 10-point boldface type on the first page of the summary.
- (b) Notwithstanding subdivision (a), if a member has requested to receive all reports in full, the association shall deliver the full report to that member, rather than a summary of the report.

#### ARTICLE 8. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

#### §5350. Interested Director.

- (a) Notwithstanding any other law, and regardless of whether an association is incorporated or unincorporated, the provisions of Sections 7233 and 7234 of the Corporations Code shall apply to any contract or other transaction authorized, approved, or ratified by the board or a committee of the board.
  - (b) A director or member of a committee shall not vote on any of the following matters:
    - (1) Discipline of the director or committee member.
- (2) An assessment against the director or committee member for damage to the common area or facilities.
- (3) A request, by the director or committee member, for a payment plan for overdue assessments.
- (4) A decision whether to foreclose on a lien on the separate interest of the director or committee member.
- (5) Review of a proposed physical change to the separate interest of the director or committee member.
  - (6) A grant of exclusive use common area to the director or committee member.
- (c) Nothing in this section limits any other provision of law or the governing documents that govern a decision in which a director may have an interest.

## ARTICLE 9. MANAGING AGENT

## §5375. Prospective Managing Agent Disclosure.

A prospective managing agent of a common interest development shall provide a written statement to the board as soon as practicable, but in no event more than 90 days, before entering into a management agreement which shall contain all of the following information concerning the managing agent:

- (a) The names and business addresses of the owners or general partners of the managing agent. If the managing agent is a corporation, the written statement shall include the names and business addresses of the directors and officers and shareholders holding greater than 10 percent of the shares of the corporation.
- (b) Whether or not any relevant licenses such as architectural design, construction, engineering, real estate, or accounting have been issued by this state and are currently held by the persons specified in subdivision (a). If a license is currently held by any of those persons, the statement shall contain the following information:

- (1) What license is held.
- (2) The dates the license is valid.
- (3) The name of the licensee appearing on that license.
- (c) Whether or not any relevant professional certifications or designations such as architectural design, construction, engineering, real property management, or accounting are currently held by any of the persons specified in subdivision (a), including, but not limited to, a professional common interest development manager. If any certification or designation is held, the statement shall include the following information:
  - (1) What the certification or designation is and what entity issued it.
  - (2) The dates the certification or designation is valid.
  - (3) The names in which the certification or designation is held.

# §5380. Trust Fund Account.

- (a) A managing agent of a common interest development who accepts or receives funds belonging to the association shall deposit those funds that are not placed into an escrow account with a bank, savings association, or credit union or into an account under the control of the association, into a trust fund account maintained by the managing agent in a bank, savings association, or credit union in this state. All funds deposited by the managing agent in the trust fund account shall be kept in this state in a financial institution, as defined in Section 31041 of the Financial Code, which is insured by the federal government, and shall be maintained there until disbursed in accordance with written instructions from the association entitled to the funds.
- (b) At the written request of the board, the funds the managing agent accepts or receives on behalf of the association shall be deposited into an interest-bearing account in a bank, savings association, or credit union in this state, provided all of the following requirements are met:
- (1) The account is in the name of the managing agent as trustee for the association or in the name of the association.
- (2) All of the funds in the account are covered by insurance provided by an agency of the federal government.
- (3) The funds in the account are kept separate, distinct, and apart from the funds belonging to the managing agent or to any other person for whom the managing agent holds funds in trust except that the funds of various associations may be commingled as permitted pursuant to subdivision (d).
- (4) The managing agent discloses to the board the nature of the account, how interest will be calculated and paid, whether service charges will be paid to the depository and by whom, and any notice requirements or penalties for withdrawal of funds from the account.
- (5) No interest earned on funds in the account shall inure directly or indirectly to the benefit of the managing agent or the managing agent's employees.
- (c) The managing agent shall maintain a separate record of the receipt and disposition of all funds described in this section, including any interest earned on the funds.
- (d) The managing agent shall not commingle the funds of the association with the managing agent's own money or with the money of others that the managing agent receives or accepts, unless all of the following requirements are met:

- (1) The managing agent commingled the funds of various associations on or before February 26, 1990, and has obtained a written agreement with the board of each association that the managing agent will maintain a fidelity and surety bond in an amount that provides adequate protection to the associations as agreed upon by the managing agent and the board of each association.
- (2) The managing agent discloses in the written agreement whether the managing agent is deriving benefits from the commingled account or the bank, credit union, or savings institution where the moneys will be on deposit.
- (3) The written agreement provided pursuant to this subdivision includes, but is not limited to, the name and address of the bonding companies, the amount of the bonds, and the expiration dates of the bonds.
- (4) If there are any changes in the bond coverage or the companies providing the coverage, the managing agent discloses that fact to the board of each affected association as soon as practical, but in no event more than 10 days after the change.
- (5) The bonds assure the protection of the association and provide the association at least 10 days' notice prior to cancellation.
- (6) Completed payments on the behalf of the association are deposited within 24 hours or the next business day and do not remain commingled for more than 10 calendar days.
- (e) The prevailing party in an action to enforce this section shall be entitled to recover reasonable legal fees and court costs.
- (f) As used in this section, "completed payment" means funds received that clearly identify the account to which the funds are to be credited.

## §5385. Managing Agent.

For the purposes of this article, "managing agent" does not include a full-time employee of the association.

## ARTICLE 10. GOVERNMENT ASSISTANCE

## §5400. Director Training Course.

To the extent existing funds are available, the Department of Consumer Affairs and the Bureau of Real Estate shall develop an online education course for the board regarding the role, duties, laws, and responsibilities of directors and prospective directors, and the nonjudicial foreclosure process.

# §5405. State Registry.

- (a) To assist with the identification of common interest developments, each association, whether incorporated or unincorporated, shall submit to the Secretary of State, on a form and for a fee not to exceed thirty dollars (\$30) that the Secretary of State shall prescribe, the following information concerning the association and the development that it manages:
- (1) A statement that the association is formed to manage a common interest development under the Davis-Stirling Common Interest Development Act.
  - (2) The name of the association.
  - (3) The street address of the business or corporate office of the association, if any.
- (4) The street address of the association's onsite office, if different from the street address of the business or corporate office, or if there is no onsite office, the street address of the responsible officer or managing agent of the association.

- (5) The name, address, and either the daytime telephone number or email address of the president of the association, other than the address, telephone number, or email address of the association's onsite office or managing agent.
- (6) The name, street address, and daytime telephone number of the association's managing agent, if any.
- (7) The county, and if in an incorporated area, the city in which the development is physically located. If the boundaries of the development are physically located in more than one county, each of the counties in which it is located.
- (8) If the development is in an unincorporated area, the city closest in proximity to the development.
  - (9) The front street and nearest cross street of the physical location of the development.
  - (10) The type of common interest development managed by the association.
  - (11) The number of separate interests in the development.
  - (b) The association shall submit the information required by this section as follows:
- (1) By incorporated associations, within 90 days after the filing of its original articles of incorporation, and thereafter at the time the association files its biennial statement of principal business activity with the Secretary of State pursuant to Section 8210 of the Corporations Code.
- (2) By unincorporated associations, in July of 2003, and in that same month biennially thereafter. Upon changing its status to that of a corporation, the association shall comply with the filing deadlines in paragraph (1).
- (c) The association shall notify the Secretary of State of any change in the street address of the association's onsite office or of the responsible officer or managing agent of the association in the form and for a fee prescribed by the Secretary of State, within 60 days of the change.
- (d) The penalty for an incorporated association's noncompliance with the initial or biennial filing requirements of this section shall be suspension of the association's rights, privileges, and powers as a corporation and monetary penalties, to the same extent and in the same manner as suspension and monetary penalties imposed pursuant to Section 8810 of the Corporations Code.
- (e) The statement required by this section may be filed, notwithstanding suspension of the corporate powers, rights, and privileges under this section or under provisions of the Revenue and Taxation Code. Upon the filing of a statement under this section by a corporation that has suffered suspension under this section, the Secretary of State shall certify that fact to the Franchise Tax Board and the corporation may thereupon be relieved from suspension, unless the corporation is held in suspension by the Franchise Tax Board by reason of Section 23301, 23301.5, or 23775 of the Revenue and Taxation Code.
- (f) The Secretary of State shall make the information submitted pursuant to paragraph (5) of subdivision (a) available only for governmental purposes and only to Members of the Legislature and the Business, Consumer Services, and Housing Agency, upon written request. All other information submitted pursuant to this section shall be subject to public inspection pursuant to the California Public Records Act (Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 6250) of Division 7 of Title 1 of the Government Code). The information submitted pursuant to this section shall be made available for governmental or public inspection.
  - (g) Whenever any form is filed pursuant to this section, it supersedes any previously filed form.

(h) The Secretary of State may destroy or otherwise dispose of any form filed pursuant to this section after it has been superseded by the filing of a new form.

#### **CHAPTER 7. FINANCES**

#### ARTICLE 1. ACCOUNTING

## §5500. Board Review.

Unless the governing documents impose more stringent standards, the board shall do all of the following:

- (a) Review a current reconciliation of the association's operating accounts on at least a quarterly basis.
- (b) Review a current reconciliation of the association's reserve accounts on at least a quarterly basis.
- (c) Review, on at least a quarterly basis, the current year's actual reserve revenues and expenses compared to the current year's budget.
- (d) Review the latest account statements prepared by the financial institutions where the association has its operating and reserve accounts.
- (e) Review an income and expense statement for the association's operating and reserve accounts on at least a quarterly basis.

#### ARTICLE 2. USE OF RESERVE FUNDS

## §5510. Use of Reserve Funds.

- (a) The signatures of at least two persons, who shall be directors, or one officer who is not a director and one who is a director, shall be required for the withdrawal of moneys from the association's reserve accounts.
- (b) The board shall not expend funds designated as reserve funds for any purpose other than the repair, restoration, replacement, or maintenance of, or litigation involving the repair, restoration, replacement, or maintenance of, major components that the association is obligated to repair, restore, replace, or maintain and for which the reserve fund was established.

#### §5515. Temporary Transfer of Reserve Funds.

- (a) Notwithstanding Section 5510, the board may authorize the temporary transfer of moneys from a reserve fund to the association's general operating fund to meet short-term cash flow requirements or other expenses, if the board has provided notice of the intent to consider the transfer in a board meeting notice provided pursuant to Section 4920.
- (b) The notice shall include the reasons the transfer is needed, some of the options for repayment, and whether a special assessment may be considered.
- (c) If the board authorizes the transfer, the board shall issue a written finding, recorded in the board's minutes, explaining the reasons that the transfer is needed, and describing when and how the moneys will be repaid to the reserve fund.
- (d) The transferred funds shall be restored to the reserve fund within one year of the date of the initial transfer, except that the board may, after giving the same notice required for considering a transfer, and, upon making a finding supported by documentation that a temporary delay would be in the best interests of the common interest development, temporarily delay the restoration.
- (e) The board shall exercise prudent fiscal management in maintaining the integrity of the reserve account, and shall, if necessary, levy a special assessment to recover the full amount of the expended funds within the time limits required by this section. This special assessment is subject to the limitation imposed by Section 5605. The

board may, at its discretion, extend the date the payment on the special assessment is due. Any extension shall not prevent the board from pursuing any legal remedy to enforce the collection of an unpaid special assessment.

# §5520. Use of Reserve Funds for Litigation.

- (a) When the decision is made to use reserve funds or to temporarily transfer moneys from the reserve fund to pay for litigation pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 5510, the association shall provide general notice pursuant to Section 4045 of that decision, and of the availability of an accounting of those expenses.
- (b) Unless the governing documents impose more stringent standards, the association shall make an accounting of expenses related to the litigation on at least a quarterly basis. The accounting shall be made available for inspection by members of the association at the association's office.

#### ARTICLE 3. RESERVE PLANNING

# §5550. Visual Inspection of Major Components and Reserve Study.

- (a) At least once every three years, the board shall cause to be conducted a reasonably competent and diligent visual inspection of the accessible areas of the major components that the association is obligated to repair, replace, restore, or maintain as part of a study of the reserve account requirements of the common interest development, if the current replacement value of the major components is equal to or greater than one-half of the gross budget of the association, excluding the association's reserve account for that period. The board shall review this study, or cause it to be reviewed, annually and shall consider and implement necessary adjustments to the board's analysis of the reserve account requirements as a result of that review.
  - (b) The study required by this section shall at a minimum include:
- (1) Identification of the major components that the association is obligated to repair, replace, restore, or maintain that, as of the date of the study, have a remaining useful life of less than 30 years.
- (2) Identification of the probable remaining useful life of the components identified in paragraph (1) as of the date of the study.
- (3) An estimate of the cost of repair, replacement, restoration, or maintenance of the components identified in paragraph (1).
- (4) An estimate of the total annual contribution necessary to defray the cost to repair, replace, restore, or maintain the components identified in paragraph (1) during and at the end of their useful life, after subtracting total reserve funds as of the date of the study.
- (5) A reserve funding plan that indicates how the association plans to fund the contribution identified in paragraph (4) to meet the association's obligation for the repair and replacement of all major components with an expected remaining life of 30 years or less, not including those components that the board has determined will not be replaced or repaired.

# §5560. Reserve Funding Plan.

- (a) The reserve funding plan required by Section 5550 shall include a schedule of the date and amount of any change in regular or special assessments that would be needed to sufficiently fund the reserve funding plan.
- (b) The plan shall be adopted by the board at an open meeting before the membership of the association as described in Article 2 (commencing with Section 4900) of Chapter 6.
- (c) If the board determines that an assessment increase is necessary to fund the reserve funding plan, any increase shall be approved in a separate action of the board that is consistent with the procedure described in Section 5605.

# §5565. Summary of Association Reserves.

The summary of the association's reserves required by paragraph (2) of subdivision (b) of Section 5300 shall be based on the most recent review or study conducted pursuant to Section 5550, shall be based only on assets held in cash or cash equivalents, shall be printed in boldface type, and shall include all of the following:

- (a) The current estimated replacement cost, estimated remaining life, and estimated useful life of each major component.
  - (b) As of the end of the fiscal year for which the study is prepared:
- (1) The current estimate of the amount of cash reserves necessary to repair, replace, restore, or maintain the major components.
- (2) The current amount of accumulated cash reserves actually set aside to repair, replace, restore, or maintain major components.
- (3) If applicable, the amount of funds received from either a compensatory damage award or settlement to an association from any person for injuries to property, real or personal, arising out of any construction or design defects, and the expenditure or disposition of funds, including the amounts expended for the direct and indirect costs of repair of construction or design defects. These amounts shall be reported at the end of the fiscal year for which the study is prepared as separate line items under cash reserves pursuant to paragraph (2). Instead of complying with the requirements set forth in this paragraph, an association that is obligated to issue a review of its financial statement pursuant to Section 5305 may include in the review a statement containing all of the information required by this paragraph.
- (c) The percentage that the amount determined for purposes of paragraph (2) of subdivision (b) equals the amount determined for purposes of paragraph (1) of subdivision (b).
- (d) The current deficiency in reserve funding expressed on a per unit basis. The figure shall be calculated by subtracting the amount determined for purposes of paragraph (2) of subdivision (b) from the amount determined for purposes of paragraph (1) of subdivision (b) and then dividing the result by the number of separate interests within the association, except that if assessments vary by the size or type of ownership interest, then the association shall calculate the current deficiency in a manner that reflects the variation.

#### §5570. Assessment and Reserve Funding Disclosure Summary.

(a) The disclosures required by this article with regard to an association or a property shall be summarized on the following form:

## [Note: Refer to Forms and Disclosures section of our website.]

- (b) For the purposes of preparing a summary pursuant to this section:
- (1) "Estimated remaining useful life" means the time reasonably calculated to remain before a major component will require replacement.
- (2) "Major component" has the meaning used in Section 55530. Components with an estimated remaining useful life of more than 30 years may be included in a study as a capital asset or disregarded from the reserve calculation, so long as the decision is revealed in the reserve study report and reported in the Assessment and Reserve Funding Disclosure Summary.
- (3) The form set out in subdivision (a) shall accompany each annual budget report or summary thereof that is delivered pursuant to Section 5300. The form may be supplemented or modified to clarify the information delivered, so long as the minimum information set out in subdivision (a) is provided.

(4) For the purpose of the report and summary, the amount of reserves needed to be accumulated for a component at a given time shall be computed as the current cost of replacement or repair multiplied by the number of years the component has been in service divided by the useful life of the component. This shall not be construed to require the board to fund reserves in accordance with this calculation.

## §5580. Community Service Organization Report.

- (a) Unless the governing documents impose more stringent standards, any community service organization whose funding from the association or its members exceeds 10 percent of the organization's annual budget shall prepare and distribute to the association a report that meets the requirements of Section 5012 of the Corporations Code, and that describes in detail administrative costs and identifies the payees of those costs in a manner consistent with the provisions of Article 5 (commencing with Section 5200) of Chapter 6.
- (b) If the community service organization does not comply with the standards, the report shall disclose the noncompliance in detail. If a community service organization is responsible for the maintenance of major components for which an association would otherwise be responsible, the community service organization shall supply to the association the information regarding those components that the association would use to complete disclosures and reserve reports required under this article and Section 5300. An association may rely upon information received from a community service organization, and shall provide access to the information pursuant to the provisions of Article 5 (commencing with Section 5200) of Chapter 6.

## CHAPTER 8. ASSESSMENTS AND ASSESSMENT COLLECTION

#### ARTICLE 1. ESTABLISHMENT AND IMPOSITION OF ASSESSMENTS

#### §5600. Levy of Assessment.

- (a) Except as provided in Section 5605, the association shall levy regular and special assessments sufficient to perform its obligations under the governing documents and this act.
- (b) An association shall not impose or collect an assessment or fee that exceeds the amount necessary to defray the costs for which it is levied.

# §5605. Assessment Approval Requirements.

- (a) Annual increases in regular assessments for any fiscal year shall not be imposed unless the board has complied with paragraphs (1), (2), (4), (5), (6), (7), and (8) of subdivision (b) of Section 5300 with respect to that fiscal year, or has obtained the approval of a majority of a quorum of members, pursuant to Section 4070, at a member meeting or election.
- (b) Notwithstanding more restrictive limitations placed on the board by the governing documents, the board may not impose a regular assessment that is more than 20 percent greater than the regular assessment for the association's preceding fiscal year or impose special assessments which in the aggregate exceed 5 percent of the budgeted gross expenses of the association for that fiscal year without the approval of a majority of a quorum of members, pursuant to Section 4070, at a member meeting or election.
  - (c) For the purposes of this section, "quorum" means more than 50 percent of the members.

# §5610. Emergency Exception to Assessment Approval Requirements.

Section 5605 does not limit assessment increases necessary for emergency situations. For purposes of this section, an emergency situation is any one of the following:

- (a) An extraordinary expense required by an order of a court.
- (b) An extraordinary expense necessary to repair or maintain the common interest development or any part of it for which the association is responsible where a threat to personal safety on the property is discovered.

(c) An extraordinary expense necessary to repair or maintain the common interest development or any part of it for which the association is responsible that could not have been reasonably foreseen by the board in preparing and distributing the annual budget report under Section 5300. However, prior to the imposition or collection of an assessment under this subdivision, the board shall pass a resolution containing written findings as to the necessity of the extraordinary expense involved and why the expense was not or could not have been reasonably foreseen in the budgeting process, and the resolution shall be distributed to the members with the notice of assessment.

#### §5615. Notice of Assessment Increase.

The association shall provide individual notice pursuant to Section 4040 to the members of any increase in the regular or special assessments of the association, not less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior to the increased assessment becoming due.

## §5620. Exemption from Execution.

- (a) Regular assessments imposed or collected to perform the obligations of an association under the governing documents or this act shall be exempt from execution by a judgment creditor of the association only to the extent necessary for the association to perform essential services, such as paying for utilities and insurance. In determining the appropriateness of an exemption, a court shall ensure that only essential services are protected under this subdivision.
- (b) This exemption shall not apply to any consensual pledges, liens, or encumbrances that have been approved by a majority of a quorum of members, pursuant to Section 4070, at a member meeting or election, or to any state tax lien, or to any lien for labor or materials supplied to the common area.

## §5625. Property Tax Value as Basis for Assessments.

- (a) Except as provided in subdivision (b), notwithstanding any provision of this act or the governing documents to the contrary, an association shall not levy assessments on separate interests within the common interest development based on the taxable value of the separate interests unless the association, on or before December 31, 2009, in accordance with its governing documents, levied assessments on those separate interests based on their taxable value, as determined by the tax assessor of the county in which the separate interests are located.
- (b) An association that is responsible for paying taxes on the separate interests within the common interest development may levy that portion of assessments on separate interests that is related to the payment of taxes based on the taxable value of the separate interest, as determined by the tax assessor.

## ARTICLE 2. ASSESSMENT PAYMENT AND DELINQUENCY

## §5650. Assessment Debt and Delinquency.

- (a) A regular or special assessment and any late charges, reasonable fees and costs of collection, reasonable attorney's fees, if any, and interest, if any, as determined in accordance with subdivision (b), shall be a debt of the owner of the separate interest at the time the assessment or other sums are levied.
- (b) Regular and special assessments levied pursuant to the governing documents are delinquent 15 days after they become due, unless the declaration provides a longer time period, in which case the longer time period shall apply. If an assessment is delinquent the association may recover all of the following:
- (1) Reasonable costs incurred in collecting the delinquent assessment, including reasonable attorney's fees.
- (2) A late charge not exceeding 10 percent of the delinquent assessment or ten dollars (\$10), whichever is greater, unless the declaration specifies a late charge in a smaller amount, in which case any late charge imposed shall not exceed the amount specified in the declaration.
- (3) Interest on all sums imposed in accordance with this section, including the delinquent assessments, reasonable fees and costs of collection, and reasonable attorney's fees, at an annual interest rate not to

exceed 12 percent, commencing 30 days after the assessment becomes due, unless the declaration specifies the recovery of interest at a rate of a lesser amount, in which case the lesser rate of interest shall apply.

(c) Associations are hereby exempted from interest-rate limitations imposed by Article XV of the California Constitution, subject to the limitations of this section.

#### §5655. Payments.

- (a) Any payments made by the owner of a separate interest toward a debt described in subdivision (a) of Section 5650 shall first be applied to the assessments owed, and, only after the assessments owed are paid in full shall the payments be applied to the fees and costs of collection, attorney's fees, late charges, or interest.
- (b) When an owner makes a payment, the owner may request a receipt and the association shall provide it. The receipt shall indicate the date of payment and the person who received it.
- (c) The association shall provide a mailing address for overnight payment of assessments. The address shall be provided in the annual policy statement.

## §5658. Payment Under Protest.

- (a) If a dispute exists between the owner of a separate interest and the association regarding any disputed charge or sum levied by the association, including, but not limited to, an assessment, fine, penalty, late fee, collection cost, or monetary penalty imposed as a disciplinary measure, and the amount in dispute does not exceed the jurisdictional limits of the small claims court stated in Sections 116.220 and 116.221 of the Code of Civil Procedure, the owner of the separate interest may, in addition to pursuing dispute resolution pursuant to Article 3 (commencing with Section 5925) of Chapter 10, pay under protest the disputed amount and all other amounts levied, including any fees and reasonable costs of collection, reasonable attorney's fees, late charges, and interest, if any, pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 5650, and commence an action in small claims court pursuant to Chapter 5.5 (commencing with Section 116.110) of Title 1 of the Code of Civil Procedure.
- (b) Nothing in this section shall impede an association's ability to collect delinquent assessments as provided in this article or Article 3 (commencing with Section 5700).

# §5660. Notice Prior to Recording a Lien.

At least 30 days prior to recording a lien upon the separate interest of the owner of record to collect a debt that is past due under Section 5650, the association shall notify the owner of record in writing by certified mail of the following:

(a) A general description of the collection and lien enforcement procedures of the association and the method of calculation of the amount, a statement that the owner of the separate interest has the right to inspect the association records pursuant to Section 5205, and the following statement in 14-point boldface type, if printed, or in capital letters, if typed:

"IMPORTANT NOTICE: IF YOUR SEPARATE INTEREST IS PLACED IN FORECLOSURE BECAUSE YOU ARE BEHIND IN YOUR ASSESSMENTS, IT MAY BE SOLD WITHOUT COURT ACTION."

- (b) An itemized statement of the charges owed by the owner, including items on the statement which indicate the amount of any delinquent assessments, the fees and reasonable costs of collection, reasonable attorney's fees, any late charges, and interest, if any.
- (c) A statement that the owner shall not be liable to pay the charges, interest, and costs of collection, if it is determined the assessment was paid on time to the association.
  - (d) The right to request a meeting with the board as provided by Section 5665.

- (e) The right to dispute the assessment debt by submitting a written request for dispute resolution to the association pursuant to the association's "meet and confer" program required in Article 2 (commencing with Section 5900) of Chapter 10.
- (f) The right to request alternative dispute resolution with a neutral third party pursuant to Article 3 (commencing with Section 5925) of Chapter 10 before the association may initiate foreclosure against the owner's separate interest, except that binding arbitration shall not be available if the association intends to initiate a judicial foreclosure.

# §5665. Payment Plan.

- (a) An owner, other than an owner of any interest that is described in Section 11212 of the Business and Professions Code that is not otherwise exempt from this section pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 11211.7 of the Business and Professions Code, may submit a written request to meet with the board to discuss a payment plan for the debt noticed pursuant to Section 5660. The association shall provide the owners the standards for payment plans, if any exist.
- (b) The board shall meet with the owner in executive session within 45 days of the postmark of the request, if the request is mailed within 15 days of the date of the postmark of the notice, unless there is no regularly scheduled board meeting within that period, in which case the board may designate a committee of one or more directors to meet with the owner.
- (c) Payment plans may incorporate any assessments that accrue during the payment plan period. Additional late fees shall not accrue during the payment plan period if the owner is in compliance with the terms of the payment plan.
- (d) Payment plans shall not impede an association's ability to record a lien on the owner's separate interest to secure payment of delinquent assessments.
- (e) In the event of a default on any payment plan, the association may resume its efforts to collect the delinquent assessments from the time prior to entering into the payment plan.

# §5670. Dispute Resolution.

Prior to recording a lien for delinquent assessments, an association shall offer the owner and, if so requested by the owner, participate in dispute resolution pursuant to the association's "meet and confer" program required in Article 2 (commencing with Section 5900) of Chapter 10.

#### §5673. Decision to Record a Lien.

For liens recorded on or after January 1, 2006, the decision to record a lien for delinquent assessments shall be made only by the board and may not be delegated to an agent of the association. The board shall approve the decision by a majority vote of the directors in an open meeting. The board shall record the vote in the minutes of that meeting.

## §5675. Notice of Delinquent Assessment.

- (a) The amount of the assessment, plus any costs of collection, late charges, and interest assessed in accordance with subdivision (b) of Section 5650, shall be a lien on the owner's separate interest in the common interest development from and after the time the association causes to be recorded with the county recorder of the county in which the separate interest is located, a notice of delinquent assessment, which shall state the amount of the assessment and other sums imposed in accordance with subdivision (b) of Section 5650, a legal description of the owner's separate interest in the common interest development against which the assessment and other sums are levied, and the name of the record owner of the separate interest in the common interest development against which the lien is imposed.
- (b) The itemized statement of the charges owed by the owner described in subdivision (b) of Section 5660 shall be recorded together with the notice of delinquent assessment.

- (c) In order for the lien to be enforced by nonjudicial foreclosure as provided in Sections 5700 to 5710, inclusive, the notice of delinquent assessment shall state the name and address of the trustee authorized by the association to enforce the lien by sale.
- (d) The notice of delinquent assessment shall be signed by the person designated in the declaration or by the association for that purpose, or if no one is designated, by the president of the association.
- (e) A copy of the recorded notice of delinquent assessment shall be mailed by certified mail to every person whose name is shown as an owner of the separate interest in the association's records, and the notice shall be mailed no later than 10 calendar days after recordation.

## §5680. Lien Priority.

A lien created pursuant to Section 5675 shall be prior to all other liens recorded subsequent to the notice of delinquent assessment, except that the declaration may provide for the subordination thereof to any other liens and encumbrances.

## §5685. Lien Release.

- (a) Within 21 days of the payment of the sums specified in the notice of delinquent assessment, the association shall record or cause to be recorded in the office of the county recorder in which the notice of delinquent assessment is recorded a lien release or notice of rescission and provide the owner of the separate interest a copy of the lien release or notice that the delinquent assessment has been satisfied.
- (b) If it is determined that a lien previously recorded against the separate interest was recorded in error, the party who recorded the lien shall, within 21 calendar days, record or cause to be recorded in the office of the county recorder in which the notice of delinquent assessment is recorded a lien release or notice of rescission and provide the owner of the separate interest with a declaration that the lien filing or recording was in error and a copy of the lien release or notice of rescission.
- (c) If it is determined that an association has recorded a lien for a delinquent assessment in error, the association shall promptly reverse all late charges, fees, interest, attorney's fees, costs of collection, costs imposed for the notice prescribed in Section 5660, and costs of recordation and release of the lien authorized under subdivision (b) of Section 5720, and pay all costs related to any related dispute resolution or alternative dispute resolution.

## §5690. Procedural Noncompliance.

An association that fails to comply with the procedures set forth in this article shall, prior to recording a lien, recommence the required notice process. Any costs associated with recommencing the notice process shall be borne by the association and not by the owner of a separate interest.

# **ARTICLE 3. ASSESSMENT COLLECTION**

# §5700. Collection Generally.

- (a) Except as otherwise provided in this article, after the expiration of 30 days following the recording of a lien created pursuant to Section 5675, the lien may be enforced in any manner permitted by law, including sale by the court, sale by the trustee designated in the notice of delinquent assessment, or sale by a trustee substituted pursuant to Section 2934a.
- (b) Nothing in Article 2 (commencing with Section 5650) or in subdivision (a) of Section 726 of the Code of Civil Procedure prohibits actions against the owner of a separate interest to recover sums for which a lien is created pursuant to Article 2 (commencing with Section 5650) or prohibits an association from taking a deed in lieu of foreclosure.

# §5705. Decision to Foreclose.

(a) Notwithstanding any law or any provisions of the governing documents to the contrary, this section shall apply to debts for assessments that arise on and after January 1, 2006.

- (b) Prior to initiating a foreclosure on an owner's separate interest, the association shall offer the owner and, if so requested by the owner, participate in dispute resolution pursuant to the association's "meet and confer" program required in Article 2 (commencing with Section 5900) of Chapter 10 or alternative dispute resolution as set forth in Article 3 (commencing with Section 5925) of Chapter 10. The decision to pursue dispute resolution or a particular type of alternative dispute resolution shall be the choice of the owner, except that binding arbitration shall not be available if the association intends to initiate a judicial foreclosure.
- (c) The decision to initiate foreclosure of a lien for delinquent assessments that has been validly recorded shall be made only by the board and may not be delegated to an agent of the association. The board shall approve the decision by a majority vote of the directors in an executive session. The board shall record the vote in the minutes of the next meeting of the board open to all members. The board shall maintain the confidentiality of the owner or owners of the separate interest by identifying the matter in the minutes by the parcel number of the property, rather than the name of the owner or owners. A board vote to approve foreclosure of a lien shall take place at least 30 days prior to any public sale.
- (d) The board shall provide notice by personal service in accordance with the manner of service of summons in Article 3 (commencing with Section 415.10) of Chapter 4 of Title 5 of Part 2 of the Code of Civil Procedure to an owner of a separate interest who occupies the separate interest or to the owner's legal representative, if the board votes to foreclose upon the separate interest. The board shall provide written notice to an owner of a separate interest who does not occupy the separate interest by first-class mail, postage prepaid, at the most current address shown on the books of the association. In the absence of written notification by the owner to the association, the address of the owner's separate interest may be treated as the owner's mailing address.

#### §5710. Foreclosure.

- (a) Any sale by the trustee shall be conducted in accordance with Sections 2924, 2924b, and 2924c applicable to the exercise of powers of sale in mortgages and deeds of trust.
- (b) In addition to the requirements of Section 2924, the association shall serve a notice of default on the person named as the owner of the separate interest in the association's records or, if that person has designated a legal representative pursuant to this subdivision, on that legal representative. Service shall be in accordance with the manner of service of summons in Article 3 (commencing with Section 415.10) of Chapter 4 of Title 5 of Part 2 of the Code of Civil Procedure. An owner may designate a legal representative in a writing that is mailed to the association in a manner that indicates that the association has received it.
- (c) The fees of a trustee may not exceed the amounts prescribed in Sections 2924c and 2924d, plus the cost of service for either of the following:
  - (1) The notice of default pursuant to subdivision (b).
- (2) The decision of the board to foreclose upon the separate interest of an owner as described in subdivision (d) of Section 5705.

## §5715. Right of Redemption after Trustee Sale.

- (a) Notwithstanding any law or any provisions of the governing documents to the contrary, this section shall apply to debts for assessments that arise on and after January 1, 2006.
- (b) A nonjudicial foreclosure by an association to collect upon a debt for delinquent assessments shall be subject to a right of redemption. The redemption period within which the separate interest may be redeemed from a foreclosure sale under this paragraph ends 90 days after the sale. In addition to the requirements of Section 2924f, a notice of sale in connection with an association's foreclosure of a separate interest in a common interest development shall include a statement that the property is being sold subject to the right of redemption created in this section.

# §5720. Limitation on Foreclosure.

- (a) Notwithstanding any law or any provisions of the governing documents to the contrary, this section shall apply to debts for assessments that arise on and after January 1, 2006.
- (b) An association that seeks to collect delinquent regular or special assessments of an amount less than one thousand eight hundred dollars (\$1,800), not including any accelerated assessments, late charges, fees and costs of collection, attorney's fees, or interest, may not collect that debt through judicial or nonjudicial foreclosure, but may attempt to collect or secure that debt in any of the following ways:
- (1) By a civil action in small claims court, pursuant to Chapter 5.5 (commencing with Section 116.110) of Title 1 of Part 1 of the Code of Civil Procedure. An association that chooses to proceed by an action in small claims court, and prevails, may enforce the judgment as permitted under Article 8 (commencing with Section 116.810) of Chapter 5.5 of Title 1 of Part 1 of the Code of Civil Procedure. The amount that may be recovered in small claims court to collect upon a debt for delinquent assessments may not exceed the jurisdictional limits of the small claims court and shall be the sum of the following:
- (A) The amount owed as of the date of filing the complaint in the small claims court proceeding.
- (B) In the discretion of the court, an additional amount to that described in subparagraph (A) equal to the amount owed for the period from the date the complaint is filed until satisfaction of the judgment, which total amount may include accruing unpaid assessments and any reasonable late charges, fees and costs of collection, attorney's fees, and interest, up to the jurisdictional limits of the small claims court.
- By recording a lien on the owner's separate interest upon which the association may not foreclose until the amount of the delinquent assessments secured by the lien, exclusive of any accelerated assessments, late charges, fees and costs of collection, attorney's fees, or interest, equals or exceeds one thousand eight hundred dollars (\$1,800) or the assessments secured by the lien are more than 12 months delinquent. An association that chooses to record a lien under these provisions, prior to recording the lien, shall offer the owner and, if so requested by the owner, participate in dispute resolution as set forth in Article 2 (commencing with Section 5900) of Chapter 10.
  - (3) Any other manner provided by law, except for judicial or nonjudicial foreclosure.
- (c) The limitation on foreclosure of assessment liens for amounts under the stated minimum in this section does not apply to any of the following:
  - (1) Assessments secured by a lien that are more than 12 months delinquent.
- (2) Assessments owed by owners of separate interests in timeshare estates, as defined in subdivision (x) of Section 11212 of the Business and Professions Code.
  - (3) Assessments owed by the developer.

# §5725. Limitations on Authority to Foreclose Liens for Monetary Penalties and Damage to the Common Area.

(a) A monetary charge imposed by the association as a means of reimbursing the association for costs incurred by the association in the repair of damage to common area and facilities caused by a member or the member's guest or tenant may become a lien against the member's separate interest enforceable by the sale of the interest under Sections 2924, 2924b, and 2924c, provided the authority to impose a lien is set forth in the governing documents. It is the intent of the Legislature not to contravene Section 2792.26 of Title 10 of the California Code of Regulations, as that section appeared on January 1, 1996, for associations of subdivisions that are being sold under authority of a subdivision public report, pursuant to Part 2 (commencing with Section 11000) of Division 4 of the Business and Professions Code.

(b) A monetary penalty imposed by the association as a disciplinary measure for failure of a member to comply with the governing documents, except for the late payments, may not be characterized nor treated in the governing documents as an assessment that may become a lien against the member's separate interest enforceable by the sale of the interest under Sections 2924, 2924b, and 2924c.

## §5730. Statement of Collection Procedure.

(a) The annual policy statement, prepared pursuant to Section 5310, shall include the following notice, in at least 12-point type:

#### "NOTICE ASSESSMENTS AND FORECLOSURE"

This notice outlines some of the rights and responsibilities of owners of property in common interest developments and the associations that manage them. Please refer to the sections of the Civil Code indicated for further information. A portion of the information in this notice applies only to liens recorded on or after January 1, 2003. You may wish to consult a lawyer if you dispute an assessment.

Assessments become delinquent 15 days after they are due, unless the governing documents provide for a longer time. The failure to pay association assessments may result in the loss of an owner's property through foreclosure. Foreclosure may occur either as a result of a court action, known as judicial foreclosure or without court action, often referred to as nonjudicial foreclosure. For liens recorded on and after January 1, 2006, an association may not use judicial or nonjudicial foreclosure to enforce that lien if the amount of the delinquent assessments or dues, exclusive of any accelerated assessments, late charges, fees, attorney's fees, interest, and costs of collection, is less than one thousand eight hundred dollars (\$1,800). For delinquent assessments or dues in excess of one thousand eight hundred dollars (\$1,800) or more than 12 months delinquent, an association may use judicial or nonjudicial foreclosure subject to the conditions set forth in Article 3 (commencing with Section 5700) of Chapter 8 of Part 5 of Division 4 of the Civil Code. When using judicial or nonjudicial foreclosure, the association records a lien on the owner's property. The owner's property may be sold to satisfy the lien if the amounts secured by the lien are not paid. (Sections 5700 through 5720 of the Civil Code, inclusive)

In a judicial or nonjudicial foreclosure, the association may recover assessments, reasonable costs of collection, reasonable attorney's fees, late charges, and interest. The association may not use nonjudicial foreclosure to collect fines or penalties, except for costs to repair common area damaged by a member or a member's guests, if the governing documents provide for this. (Section 5725 of the Civil Code)

The association must comply with the requirements of Article 2 (commencing with Section 5650) of Chapter 8 of Part 5 of Division 4 of the Civil Code when collecting delinquent assessments. If the association fails to follow these requirements, it may not record a lien on the owner's property until it has satisfied those requirements. Any additional costs that result from satisfying the requirements are the responsibility of the association. (Section 5675 of the Civil Code)

At least 30 days prior to recording a lien on an owner's separate interest, the association must provide the owner of record with certain documents by certified mail, including a description of its collection and lien enforcement procedures and the method of calculating the amount. It must also provide an itemized statement of the charges owed by the owner. An owner has a right to review the association's records to verify the debt. (Section 5660 of the Civil Code)

If a lien is recorded against an owner's property in error, the person who recorded the lien is required to record a lien release within 21 days, and to provide an owner certain documents in this regard. (Section 5685 of the Civil Code)

The collection practices of the association may be governed by state and federal laws regarding fair debt collection. Penalties can be imposed for debt collection practices that violate these laws.

When an owner makes a payment, the owner may request a receipt, and the association is required to provide it. On the receipt, the association must indicate the date of payment and the person who received it. The association must inform owners of a mailing address for overnight payments. (Section 5655 of the Civil Code)

An owner may, but is not obligated to, pay under protest any disputed charge or sum levied by the association, including, but not limited to, an assessment, fine, penalty, late fee, collection cost, or monetary penalty imposed as a disciplinary measure, and by so doing, specifically reserve the right to contest the disputed charge or sum in court or otherwise.

An owner may dispute an assessment debt by submitting a written request for dispute resolution to the association as set forth in Article 2 (commencing with Section 5900) of Chapter 10 of Part 5 of Division 4 of the Civil Code. In addition, an association may not initiate a foreclosure without participating in alternative dispute resolution with a neutral third party as set forth in Article 3 (commencing with Section 5925) of Chapter 10 of Part 5 of Division 4 of the Civil Code, if so requested by the owner. Binding arbitration shall not be available if the association intends to initiate a judicial foreclosure.

An owner is not liable for charges, interest, and costs of collection, if it is established that the assessment was paid properly on time. (Section 5685 of the Civil Code)

An owner of a separate interest that is not a time-share may request the association to consider a payment plan to satisfy a delinquent assessment. The association must inform owners of the standards for payment plans, if any exist. (Section 5665 of the Civil Code)

The board must meet with an owner who makes a proper written request for a meeting to discuss a payment plan when the owner has received a notice of a delinquent assessment. These payment plans must conform with the payment plan standards of the association, if they exist. (Section 5665 of the Civil Code)"

(b) An association distributing the notice required by this section to an owner of an interest that is described in Section 11212 of the Business and Professions Code that is not otherwise exempt from this section pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 11211.7 of the Business and Professions Code may delete from the notice described in subdivision (a) the portion regarding meetings and payment plans.

## §5735. Assignment or Pledge.

- (a) An association may not voluntarily assign or pledge the association's right to collect payments or assessments, or to enforce or foreclose a lien to a third party, except when the assignment or pledge is made to a financial institution or lender chartered or licensed under federal or state law, when acting within the scope of that charter or license, as security for a loan obtained by the association.
- (b) Nothing in subdivision (a) restricts the right or ability of an association to assign any unpaid obligations of a former member to a third party for purposes of collection.

# §5740. Application of Article.

- (a) Except as otherwise provided, this article applies to a lien created on or after January 1, 2003.
- (b) A lien created before January 1, 2003, is governed by the law in existence at the time the lien was created.

## CHAPTER 9. INSURANCE AND LIABILITY

## §5800. Limitation of Director and Officer Liability.

(a) A volunteer officer or volunteer director of an association that manages a common interest development that is exclusively residential, shall not be personally liable in excess of the coverage of insurance specified in paragraph (4) to any person who suffers injury, including, but not limited to, bodily injury, emotional

distress, wrongful death, or property damage or loss as a result of the tortious act or omission of the volunteer officer or volunteer director if all of the following criteria are met:

- (1) The act or omission was performed within the scope of the officer's or director's association duties.
  - (2) The act or omission was performed in good faith.
  - (3) The act or omission was not willful, wanton, or grossly negligent.
- (4) The association maintained and had in effect at the time the act or omission occurred and at the time a claim is made one or more policies of insurance that shall include coverage for (A) general liability of the association and (B) individual liability of officers and directors of the association for negligent acts or omissions in that capacity; provided that both types of coverage are in the following minimum amount:
- (A) At least five hundred thousand dollars (\$500,000) if the common interest development consists of 100 or fewer separate interests.
- (B) At least one million dollars (\$1,000,000) if the common interest development consists of more than 100 separate interests.
- (b) The payment of actual expenses incurred by a director or officer in the execution of the duties of that position does not affect the director's or officer's status as a volunteer within the meaning of this section.
- (c) An officer or director who at the time of the act or omission was a declarant, or who received either direct or indirect compensation as an employee from the declarant, or from a financial institution that purchased a separate interest at a judicial or nonjudicial foreclosure of a mortgage or deed of trust on real property, is not a volunteer for the purposes of this section.
- (d) Nothing in this section shall be construed to limit the liability of the association for its negligent act or omission or for any negligent act or omission of an officer or director of the association.
- (e) This section shall only apply to a volunteer officer or director who is a tenant of a separate interest in the common interest development or is an owner of no more than two separate interests in the common interest development.
- (f) (1) For purposes of paragraph (1) of subdivision (a), the scope of the officer's or director's association duties shall include, but shall not be limited to, both of the following decisions:
- (A) Whether to conduct an investigation of the common interest development for latent deficiencies prior to the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations.
- (B) Whether to commence a civil action against the builder for defects in design or construction.
- (2) It is the intent of the Legislature that this section clarify the scope of association duties to which the protections against personal liability in this section apply. It is not the intent of the Legislature that these clarifications be construed to expand, or limit, the fiduciary duties owed by the directors or officers.

## §5805. Limitation of Member Liability.

(a) It is the intent of the Legislature to offer civil liability protection to owners of the separate interests in a common interest development that have common area owned in tenancy-in-common if the association carries a certain level of prescribed insurance that covers a cause of action in tort.

- (b) Any cause of action in tort against any owner of a separate interest arising solely by reason of an ownership interest as a tenant-in-common in the common area of a common interest development shall be brought only against the association and not against the individual owners of the separate interests, if both of the insurance requirements in paragraphs (1) and (2) are met:
- (1) The association maintained and has in effect for this cause of action, one or more policies of insurance that include coverage for general liability of the association.
  - (2) The coverage described in paragraph (1) is in the following minimum amounts:
- (A) At least two million dollars (\$2,000,000) if the common interest development consists of 100 or fewer separate interests.
- (B) At least three million dollars (\$3,000,000) if the common interest development consists of more than 100 separate interests.

## §5810. Notice of Change in Coverage.

The association shall, as soon as reasonably practicable, provide individual notice pursuant to Section 4040 to all members if any of the policies described in the annual budget report pursuant to Section 5300 have lapsed, been canceled, and are not immediately renewed, restored, or replaced, or if there is a significant change, such as a reduction in coverage or limits or an increase in the deductible, as to any of those policies. If the association receives any notice of nonrenewal of a policy described in the annual budget report pursuant to Section 5300, the association shall immediately notify its members if replacement coverage will not be in effect by the date the existing coverage will lapse.

### CHAPTER 10. DISPUTE RESOLUTION AND ENFORCEMENT

#### ARTICLE 1. DISCIPLINE AND COST REIMBURSEMENT

## §5850. Schedule of Monetary Penalties.

- (a) If an association adopts or has adopted a policy imposing any monetary penalty, including any fee, on any association member for a violation of the governing documents, including any monetary penalty relating to the activities of a guest or tenant of the member, the board shall adopt and distribute to each member, in the annual policy statement prepared pursuant to Section 5310, a schedule of the monetary penalties that may be assessed for those violations, which shall be in accordance with authorization for member discipline contained in the governing documents.
- (b) Any new or revised monetary penalty that is adopted after complying with subdivision (a) may be included in a supplement that is delivered to the members individually, pursuant to Section 4040.
- (c) A monetary penalty for a violation of the governing documents shall not exceed the monetary penalty stated in the schedule of monetary penalties or supplement that is in effect at the time of the violation.
- (d) An association shall provide a copy of the most recently distributed schedule of monetary penalties, along with any applicable supplements to that schedule, to any member on request.

# **§5855.** Hearing.

- (a) When the board is to meet to consider or impose discipline upon a member, or to impose a monetary charge as a means of reimbursing the association for costs incurred by the association in the repair of damage to common area and facilities caused by a member or the member's guest or tenant, the board shall notify the member in writing, by either personal delivery or individual delivery pursuant to Section 4040, at least 10 days prior to the meeting.
- (b) The notification shall contain, at a minimum, the date, time, and place of the meeting, the nature of the alleged violation for which a member may be disciplined or the nature of the damage to the common area and

facilities for which a monetary charge may be imposed, and a statement that the member has a right to attend and may address the board at the meeting. The board shall meet in executive session if requested by the member.

- (c) If the board imposes discipline on a member or imposes a monetary charge on the member for damage to the common area and facilities, the board shall provide the member a written notification of the decision, by either personal delivery or individual delivery pursuant to Section 4040, within 15 days following the action.
- (d) A disciplinary action or the imposition of a monetary charge for damage to the common area shall not be effective against a member unless the board fulfills the requirements of this section.

# §5865. No Effect on Authority of Board.

Nothing in Section 5850 or 5855 shall be construed to create, expand, or reduce the authority of the board to impose monetary penalties on a member for a violation of the governing documents.

### **ARTICLE 2. INTERNAL DISPUTE RESOLUTION**

## §5900. Application of Article.

- (a) This article applies to a dispute between an association and a member involving their rights, duties, or liabilities under this act, under the Nonprofit Mutual Benefit Corporation Law (Part 3 (commencing with Section 7110) of Division 2 of Title 1 of the Corporations Code), or under the governing documents of the common interest development or association.
- (b) This article supplements, and does not replace, Article 3 (commencing with Section 5925), relating to alternative dispute resolution as a prerequisite to an enforcement action.

## §5905. Fair, Reasonable, and Expeditious Dispute Resolution Procedure Required.

- (a) An association shall provide a fair, reasonable, and expeditious procedure for resolving a dispute within the scope of this article.
- (b) In developing a procedure pursuant to this article, an association shall make maximum, reasonable use of available local dispute resolution programs involving a neutral third party, including low-cost mediation programs such as those listed on the Internet Web sites of the Department of Consumer Affairs and the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development.
- (c) If an association does not provide a fair, reasonable, and expeditious procedure for resolving a dispute within the scope of this article, the procedure provided in Section 5915 applies and satisfies the requirement of subdivision (a).

# §5910. Minimum Requirements of Association Procedure.

A fair, reasonable, and expeditious dispute resolution procedure shall, at a minimum, satisfy all of the following requirements:

- (a) The procedure may be invoked by either party to the dispute. A request invoking the procedure shall be in writing.
- (b) The procedure shall provide for prompt deadlines. The procedure shall state the maximum time for the association to act on a request invoking the procedure.
  - (c) If the procedure is invoked by a member, the association shall participate in the procedure.
- (d) If the procedure is invoked by the association, the member may elect not to participate in the procedure. If the member participates but the dispute is resolved other than by agreement of the member, the member shall have a right of appeal to the board.

- (e) A written resolution, signed by both parties, of a dispute pursuant to the procedure that is not in conflict with the law or the governing documents binds the association and is judicially enforceable. A written agreement, signed by both parties, reached pursuant to the procedure that is not in conflict with the law or the governing documents binds the parties and is judicially enforceable.
- (f) The procedure shall provide a means by which the member and the association may explain their positions. The member and association may be assisted by an attorney or another person explaining **in** their positions at their own cost.
  - (g) A member of the association shall not be charged a fee to participate in the process.

### §5915. Default Meet and Confer Procedure.

- (a) This section applies to an association that does not otherwise provide a fair, reasonable, and expeditious dispute resolution procedure. The procedure provided in this section is fair, reasonable, and expeditious within the meaning of this article.
  - (b) Either party to a dispute within the scope of this article may invoke the following procedure:
- (1) The party may request the other party to meet and confer in an effort to resolve the dispute. The request shall be in writing.
- (2) A member of an association may refuse a request to meet and confer. The association **shall** not refuse a request to meet and confer.
  - (3) The board shall designate a director to meet and confer.
- (4) The parties shall meet promptly at a mutually convenient time and place, explain their positions to each other, and confer in good faith in an effort to resolve the dispute. The parties may be assisted by an attorney or another person at their own cost when conferring.
- (5) A resolution of the dispute agreed to by the parties shall be memorialized in writing and signed by the parties, including the board designee on behalf of the association.
- (c) A written agreement reached under this section binds the parties and is judicially enforceable if it is signed by both parties and both of the following conditions are satisfied:
- (1) The agreement is not in conflict with law or the governing documents of the common interest development or association.
- (2) The agreement is either consistent with the authority granted by the board to its designee or the agreement is ratified by the board.
  - (d) A member shall not be charged a fee to participate in the process.

## §5920. Notice in Policy Statement.

The annual policy statement prepared pursuant to Section 5310 shall include a description of the internal dispute resolution process provided pursuant to this article.

## ARTICLE 3. ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION PREREQUISITE TO CIVIL ACTION

## §5925. Definitions.

As used in this article:

- (a) "Alternative dispute resolution" means mediation, arbitration, conciliation, or other nonjudicial procedure that involves a neutral party in the decision making process. The form of alternative dispute resolution chosen pursuant to this article may be binding or nonbinding, with the voluntary consent of the parties.
- (b) "Enforcement action" means a civil action or proceeding, other than a cross-complaint, for any of the following purposes:
  - (1) Enforcement of this act.
- (2) Enforcement of the Nonprofit Mutual Benefit Corporation Law (Part 3 (commencing with Section 7110) of Division 2 of Title 1 of the Corporations Code).
  - (3) Enforcement of the governing documents.

## §5930. ADR Prerequisite to Enforcement Action.

- (a) An association or a member may not file an enforcement action in the superior court unless the parties have endeavored to submit their dispute to alternative dispute resolution pursuant to this article.
- (b) This section applies only to an enforcement action that is solely for declaratory, injunctive, or writ relief, or for that relief in conjunction with a claim for monetary damages not in excess of the jurisdictional limits stated in Sections 116.220 and 116.221 of the Code of Civil Procedure.
  - (c) This section does not apply to a small claims action.
  - (d) Except as otherwise provided by law, this section does not apply to an assessment dispute.

# §5935. Request for Resolution.

- (a) Any party to a dispute may initiate the process required by Section 5930 by serving on all other parties to the dispute a Request for Resolution. The Request for Resolution shall include all of the following:
  - (1) A brief description of the dispute between the parties.
  - (2) A request for alternative dispute resolution.
- (3) A notice that the party receiving the Request for Resolution is required to respond within 30 days of receipt or the request will be deemed rejected.
  - (4) If the party on whom the request is served is the member, a copy of this article.
- (b) Service of the Request for Resolution shall be by personal delivery, first-class mail, express mail, facsimile transmission, or other means reasonably calculated to provide the party on whom the request is served actual notice of the request.
- (c) A party on whom a Request for Resolution is served has 30 days following service to accept or reject the request. If a party does not accept the request within that period, the request is deemed rejected by the party.

### §5940. ADR Process.

- (a) If the party on whom a Request for Resolution is served accepts the request, the parties shall complete the alternative dispute resolution within 90 days after the party initiating the request receives the acceptance, unless this period is extended by written stipulation signed by both parties.
- (b) Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 1115) of Division 9 of the Evidence Code applies to any form of alternative dispute resolution initiated by a Request for Resolution under this article, other than arbitration.

(c) The costs of the alternative dispute resolution shall be borne by the parties.

### §5945. Tolling of Statute of Limitations.

If a Request for Resolution is served before the end of the applicable time limitation for commencing an enforcement action, the time limitation is tolled during the following periods:

- (a) The period provided in Section 5935 for response to a Request for Resolution.
- (b) If the Request for Resolution is accepted, the period provided by Section 5940 for completion of alternative dispute resolution, including any extension of time stipulated to by the parties pursuant to Section 5940.

### §5950. Certification of Efforts to Resolve Dispute.

- (a) At the time of commencement of an enforcement action, the party commencing the action shall file with the initial pleading a certificate stating that one or more of the following conditions are satisfied:
  - (1) Alternative dispute resolution has been completed in compliance with this article.
- (2) One of the other parties to the dispute did not accept the terms offered for alternative dispute resolution.
  - (3) Preliminary or temporary injunctive relief is necessary.
- (b) Failure to file a certificate pursuant to subdivision (a) is grounds for a demurrer or a motion to strike unless the court finds that dismissal of the action for failure to comply with this article would result in substantial prejudice to one of the parties.

### §5955. Stay of Litigation for Dispute Resolution.

- (a) After an enforcement action is commenced, on written stipulation of the parties, the matter may be referred to alternative dispute resolution. The referred action is stayed. During the stay, the action is not subject to the rules implementing subdivision (c) of Section 68603 of the Government Code.
  - (b) The costs of the alternative dispute resolution shall be borne by the parties.

## §5960. Attorney's Fees.

In an enforcement action in which fees and costs may be awarded, the court, in determining the amount of the award, may consider whether a party's refusal to participate in alternative dispute resolution before commencement of the action was reasonable.

## §5965. Notice in Annual Policy Statement.

(a) An association shall annually provide its members a summary of the provisions of this article that specifically references this article. The summary shall include the following language:

"Failure of a member of the association to comply with the alternative dispute resolution requirements of Section 5930 of the Civil Code may result in the loss of the member's right to sue the association or another member of the association regarding enforcement of the governing documents or the applicable law."

(b) The summary shall be included in the annual policy statement prepared pursuant to Section 5310.

### **ARTICLE 4. CIVIL ACTION**

## §5975. Enforcement of Government Documents.

- (a) The covenants and restrictions in the declaration shall be enforceable equitable servitudes, unless unreasonable, and shall inure to the benefit of and bind all owners of separate interests in the development. Unless the declaration states otherwise, these servitudes may be enforced by any owner of a separate interest or by the association, or by both.
- (b) A governing document other than the declaration may be enforced by the association against an owner of a separate interest or by an owner of a separate interest against the association.
- (c) In an action to enforce the governing documents, the prevailing party shall be awarded reasonable attorney's fees and costs.

# **§5980.** Standing.

An association has standing to institute, defend, settle, or intervene in litigation, arbitration, mediation, or administrative proceedings in its own name as the real party in interest and without joining with it the members, in matters pertaining to the following:

- (a) Enforcement of the governing documents.
- (b) Damage to the common area.
- (c) Damage to a separate interest that the association is obligated to maintain or repair.
- (d) Damage to a separate interest that arises out of, or is integrally related to, damage to the common area or a separate interest that the association is obligated to maintain or repair.

# §5985. Comparative Fault.

- (a) In an action maintained by an association pursuant to subdivision (b), (c), or (d) of Section 5980, the amount of damages recovered by the association shall be reduced by the amount of damages allocated to the association or its managing agents in direct proportion to their percentage of fault based upon principles of comparative fault. The comparative fault of the association or its managing agents may be raised by way of defense, but shall not be the basis for a cross-action or separate action against the association or its managing agents for contribution or implied indemnity, where the only damage was sustained by the association or its members. It is the intent of the Legislature in enacting this subdivision to require that comparative fault be pleaded as an affirmative defense, rather than a separate cause of action, where the only damage was sustained by the association or its members.
- (b) In an action involving damages described in subdivision (b), (c), or (d) of Section 5980, the defendant or cross-defendant may allege and prove the comparative fault of the association or its managing agents as a set off to the liability of the defendant or cross-defendant even if the association is not a party to the litigation or is no longer a party whether by reason of settlement, dismissal, or otherwise.
  - (c) Subdivisions (a) and (b) apply to actions commenced on or after January 1, 1993.
- (d) Nothing in this section affects a person's liability under Section 1431, or the liability of the association or its managing agent for an act or omission that causes damages to another.

## **CHAPTER 11. CONSTRUCTION DEFECT LITIGATION**

## §6000. Actions for Damages.

- (a) Before an association files a complaint for damages against a builder, developer, or general contractor (respondent) of a common interest development based upon a claim for defects in the design or construction of the common interest development, all of the requirements of this section shall be satisfied with respect to the builder, developer, or general contractor.
- (b) The association shall serve upon the respondent a "Notice of Commencement of Legal Proceedings." The notice shall be served by certified mail to the registered agent of the respondent, or if there is no registered agent, then to any officer of the respondent. If there are no current officers of the respondent, service shall be upon the person or entity otherwise authorized by law to receive service of process. Service upon the general contractor shall be sufficient to initiate the process set forth in this section with regard to any builder or developer, if the builder or developer is not amenable to service of process by the foregoing methods. This notice shall toll all applicable statutes of limitation and repose, whether contractual or statutory, by and against all potentially responsible parties, regardless of whether they were named in the notice, including claims for indemnity applicable to the claim for the period set forth in subdivision (c). The notice shall include all of the following:
  - (1) The name and location of the project.
- (2) An initial list of defects sufficient to apprise the respondent of the general nature of the defects at issue.
  - (3) A description of the results of the defects, if known.
- (4) A summary of the results of a survey or questionnaire distributed to homeowners to determine the nature and extent of defects, if a survey has been conducted or a questionnaire has been distributed.
- (5) Either a summary of the results of testing conducted to determine the nature and extent of defects or the actual test results, if that testing has been conducted.
- (c) Service of the notice shall commence a period, not to exceed 180 days, during which the association, the respondent, and all other participating parties shall try to resolve the dispute through the processes set forth in this section. This 180 day period may be extended for one additional period, not to exceed 180 days, only upon the mutual agreement of the association, the respondent, and any parties not deemed peripheral pursuant to paragraph (3) of subdivision (e). Any extensions beyond the first extension shall require the agreement of all participating parties. Unless extended, the dispute resolution process prescribed by this section shall be deemed completed. All extensions shall continue the tolling period described in subdivision (b).
- (d) Within 25 days of the date the association serves the Notice of Commencement of Legal Proceedings, the respondent may request in writing to meet and confer with the board. Unless the respondent and the association otherwise agree, there shall be not more than one meeting, which shall take place no later than 10 days from the date of the respondent's written request, at a mutually agreeable time and place. The meeting shall be subject to subdivision (a) of Section 4925 and subdivisions (a) and (b) of Section 4935. The discussions at the meeting are privileged communications and are not admissible in evidence in any civil action, unless the association and the respondent consent in writing to their admission.
  - (e) Upon receipt of the notice, the respondent shall, within 60 days, comply with the following:
- (1) The respondent shall provide the association with access to, for inspection and copying of, all plans and specifications, subcontracts, and other construction files for the project that are reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence regarding the defects claimed. The association shall provide the respondent with access to, for inspection and copying of, all files reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence regarding the defects claimed, including all reserve studies, maintenance records and any survey questionnaires, or results of testing to determine the nature and extent of defects. To the extent any of the above

documents are withheld based on privilege, a privilege log shall be prepared and submitted to all other parties. All other potentially responsible parties shall have the same rights as the respondent regarding the production of documents upon receipt of written notice of the claim, and shall produce all relevant documents within 60 days of receipt of the notice of the claim.

- (2) The respondent shall provide written notice by certified mail to all subcontractors, design professionals, their insurers, and the insurers of any additional insured whose identities are known to the respondent or readily ascertainable by review of the project files or other similar sources and whose potential responsibility appears on the face of the notice. This notice to subcontractors, design professionals, and insurers shall include a copy of the Notice of Commencement of Legal Proceedings, and shall specify the date and manner by which the parties shall meet and confer to select a dispute resolution facilitator pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (f), advise the recipient of its obligation to participate in the meet and confer or serve a written acknowledgment of receipt regarding this notice, advise the recipient that it will waive any challenge to selection of the dispute resolution facilitator if it elects not to participate in the meet and confer, advise the recipient that it may seek the assistance of an attorney, and advise the recipient that it should contact its insurer, if any. Any subcontractor or design professional, or insurer for that subcontractor, design professional, or additional insured, who receives written notice from the respondent regarding the meet and confer shall, prior to the meet and confer, serve on the respondent a written acknowledgment of receipt. That subcontractor or design professional shall, within 10 days of service of the written acknowledgment of receipt, provide to the association and the respondent a Statement of Insurance that includes both of the following:
- (A) The names, addresses, and contact persons, if known, of all insurance carriers, whether primary or excess and regardless of whether a deductible or self-insured retention applies, whose policies were in effect from the commencement of construction of the subject project to the present and which potentially cover the subject claims.
  - (B) The applicable policy numbers for each policy of insurance provided.
- (3) Any subcontractor or design professional, or insurer for that subcontractor, design professional, or additional insured, who so chooses, may, at any time, make a written request to the dispute resolution facilitator for designation as a peripheral party. That request shall be served contemporaneously on the association and the respondent. If no objection to that designation is received within 15 days, or upon rejection of that objection, the dispute resolution facilitator shall designate that subcontractor or design professional as a peripheral party, and shall thereafter seek to limit the attendance of that subcontractor or design professional only to those dispute resolution sessions deemed peripheral party sessions or to those sessions during which the dispute resolution facilitator believes settlement as to peripheral parties may be finalized. Nothing in this subdivision shall preclude a party who has been designated a peripheral party from being reclassified as a nonperipheral party, nor shall this subdivision preclude a party designated as a nonperipheral party from being reclassified as a peripheral party after notice to all parties and an opportunity to object. For purposes of this subdivision, a peripheral party is a party having total claimed exposure of less than twenty-five thousand dollars (\$25,000).
- (f) Within 20 days of sending the notice set forth in paragraph (2) of subdivision (e), the association, respondent, subcontractors, design professionals, and their insurers who have been sent a notice as described in paragraph (2) of subdivision (e) shall meet and confer in an effort to select a dispute resolution facilitator to preside over the mandatory dispute resolution process prescribed by this section. Any subcontractor or design professional who has been given timely notice of this meeting but who does not participate, waives any challenge he or she may have as to the selection of the dispute resolution facilitator. The role of the dispute resolution facilitator is to attempt to resolve the conflict in a fair manner. The dispute resolution facilitator shall be sufficiently knowledgeable in the subject matter and be able to devote sufficient time to the case. The dispute resolution facilitator shall not be required to reside in or have an office in the county in which the project is located. The dispute resolution facilitator and the participating parties shall agree to a date, time, and location to hold a case management meeting of all parties and the dispute resolution facilitator, to discuss the claims being asserted and the scheduling of events under this section. The case management meeting with the dispute resolution facilitator shall be held within 100 days of service of the Notice of Commencement of Legal Proceedings at a location in the county where the project is located. Written notice of the case management meeting with the dispute resolution facilitator shall be sent by the respondent to the association, subcontractors and design professionals, and their insurers who are known to the respondent to be on notice of the claim, no later than 10 days prior to the case management meeting, and shall specify its date, time, and

location. The dispute resolution facilitator in consultation with the respondent shall maintain a contact list of the participating parties.

- (2) No later than 10 days prior to the case management meeting, the dispute resolution facilitator shall disclose to the parties all matters that could cause a person aware of the facts to reasonably entertain a doubt that the proposed dispute resolution facilitator would be able to resolve the conflict in a fair manner. The facilitator's disclosure shall include the existence of any ground specified in Section 170.1 of the Code of Civil Procedure for disqualification of a judge, any attorney-client relationship the facilitator has or had with any party or lawyer for a party to the dispute resolution process, and any professional or significant personal relationship the facilitator or his or her spouse or minor child living in the household has or had with any party to the dispute resolution process. The disclosure shall also be provided to any subsequently noticed subcontractor or design professional within 10 days of the notice.
- (3) A dispute resolution facilitator shall be disqualified by the court if he or she fails to comply with this subdivision and any party to the dispute resolution process serves a notice of disqualification prior to the case management meeting. If the dispute resolution facilitator complies with this subdivision, he or she shall be disqualified by the court on the basis of the disclosure if any party to the dispute resolution process serves a notice of disqualification prior to the case management meeting.
- (4) If the parties cannot mutually agree to a dispute resolution facilitator, then each party shall submit a list of three dispute resolution facilitators. Each party may then strike one nominee from the other parties' list, and petition the court, pursuant to the procedure described in subdivisions (n) and (o), for final selection of the dispute resolution facilitator. The court may issue an order for final selection of the dispute resolution facilitator pursuant to this paragraph.
- (5) Any subcontractor or design professional who receives notice of the association's claim without having previously received timely notice of the meet and confer to select the dispute resolution facilitator shall be notified by the respondent regarding the name, address, and telephone number of the dispute resolution facilitator. Any such subcontractor or design professional may serve upon the parties and the dispute resolution facilitator a written objection to the dispute resolution facilitator within 15 days of receiving notice of the claim. Within seven days after service of this objection, the subcontractor or design professional may petition the superior court to replace the dispute resolution facilitator. The court may replace the dispute resolution facilitator only upon a showing of good cause, liberally construed. Failure to satisfy the deadlines set forth in this subdivision shall constitute a waiver of the right to challenge the dispute resolution facilitator.
- (6) The costs of the dispute resolution facilitator shall be apportioned in the following manner: one-third to be paid by the association; one-third to be paid by the respondent; and one-third to be paid by the subcontractors and design professionals, as allocated among them by the dispute resolution facilitator. The costs of the dispute resolution facilitator shall be recoverable by the prevailing party in any subsequent litigation pursuant to Section 1032 of the Code of Civil Procedure, provided however that any nonsettling party may, prior to the filing of the complaint, petition the facilitator to reallocate the costs of the dispute resolution facilitator as they apply to any nonsettling party. The determination of the dispute resolution facilitator with respect to the allocation of these costs shall be binding in any subsequent litigation. The dispute resolution facilitator shall take into account all relevant factors and equities between all parties in the dispute resolution process when reallocating costs.
- (7) In the event the dispute resolution facilitator is replaced at any time, the case management statement created pursuant to subdivision (h) shall remain in full force and effect.
- (8) The dispute resolution facilitator shall be empowered to enforce all provisions of this section.
- (g) (1) No later than the case management meeting, the parties shall begin to generate a data compilation showing the following information regarding the alleged defects at issue:
  - (A) The scope of the work performed by each potentially responsible subcontractor.

- (B) The tract or phase number in which each subcontractor provided goods or services, or both.
- (C) The units, either by address, unit number, or lot number, at which each subcontractor provided goods or services, or both.
- (2) This data compilation shall be updated as needed to reflect additional information. Each party attending the case management meeting, and any subsequent meeting pursuant to this section, shall provide all information available to that party relevant to this data compilation.
- (h) At the case management meeting, the parties shall, with the assistance of the dispute resolution facilitator, reach agreement on a case management statement, which shall set forth all of the elements set forth in paragraphs (1) to (8), inclusive, except that the parties may dispense with one or more of these elements if they agree that it is appropriate to do so. The case management statement shall provide that the following elements shall take place in the following order:
- (1) Establishment of a document depository, located in the county where the project is located, for deposit of documents, defect lists, demands, and other information provided for under this section. All documents exchanged by the parties and all documents created pursuant to this subdivision shall be deposited in the document depository, which shall be available to all parties throughout the prefiling dispute resolution process and in any subsequent litigation. When any document is deposited in the document depository, the party depositing the document shall provide written notice identifying the document to all other parties. The costs of maintaining the document depository shall be apportioned among the parties in the same manner as the costs of the dispute resolution facilitator.
- (2) Provision of a more detailed list of defects by the association to the respondent after the association completes a visual inspection of the project. This list of defects shall provide sufficient detail for the respondent to ensure that all potentially responsible subcontractors and design professionals are provided with notice of the dispute resolution process. If not already completed prior to the case management meeting, the Notice of Commencement of Legal Proceedings shall be served by the respondent on all additional subcontractors and design professionals whose potential responsibility appears on the face of the more detailed list of defects within seven days of receipt of the more detailed list. The respondent shall serve a copy of the case management statement, including the name, address, and telephone number of the dispute resolution facilitator, to all the potentially responsible subcontractors and design professionals at the same time.
- (3) Nonintrusive visual inspection of the project by the respondent, subcontractors, and design professionals.
- (4) Invasive testing conducted by the association, if the association deems appropriate. All parties may observe and photograph any testing conducted by the association pursuant to this paragraph, but may not take samples or direct testing unless, by mutual agreement, costs of testing are shared by the parties.
- (5) Provision by the association of a comprehensive demand which provides sufficient detail for the parties to engage in meaningful dispute resolution as contemplated under this section.
- (6) Invasive testing conducted by the respondent, subcontractors, and design professionals, if they deem appropriate.
- (7) Allowance for modification of the demand by the association if new issues arise during the testing conducted by the respondent, subcontractor, or design professionals.
- (8) Facilitated dispute resolution of the claim, with all parties, including peripheral parties, as appropriate, and insurers, if any, present and having settlement authority. The dispute resolution facilitators shall endeavor to set specific times for the attendance of specific parties at dispute resolution sessions. If the dispute resolution facilitator does not set specific times for the attendance of parties at dispute resolution sessions, the dispute resolution facilitator shall permit those parties to participate in dispute resolution sessions by telephone.

- (i) In addition to the foregoing elements of the case management statement described in subdivision (h), upon mutual agreement of the parties, the dispute resolution facilitator may include any or all of the following elements in a case management statement: the exchange of consultant or expert photographs; expert presentations; expert meetings; or any other mechanism deemed appropriate by the parties in the interest of resolving the dispute.
- (j) The dispute resolution facilitator, with the guidance of the parties, shall at the time the case management statement is established, set deadlines for the occurrence of each event set forth in the case management statement, taking into account such factors as the size and complexity of the case, and the requirement of this section that this dispute resolution process not exceed 180 days absent agreement of the parties to an extension of time.
- (k) (1) (A) At a time to be determined by the dispute resolution facilitator, the respondent may submit to the association all of the following:
  - (i) A request to meet with the board to discuss a written settlement offer.
  - (ii) A written settlement offer, and a concise explanation of the reasons for

the terms of the offer.

- (iii) A statement that the respondent has access to sufficient funds to satisfy the conditions of the settlement offer.
- (iv) A summary of the results of testing conducted for the purposes of determining the nature and extent of defects, if this testing has been conducted, unless the association provided the respondent with actual test results.
- (B) If the respondent does not timely submit the items required by this subdivision, the association shall be relieved of any further obligation to satisfy the requirements of this subdivision only.
- (C) No less than 10 days after the respondent submits the items required by this paragraph, the respondent and the board shall meet and confer about the respondent's settlement offer.
- (D) If the board rejects a settlement offer presented at the meeting held pursuant to this subdivision, the board shall hold a meeting open to each member of the association. The meeting shall be held no less than 15 days before the association commences an action for damages against the respondent.
- (E) No less than 15 days before this meeting is held, a written notice shall be sent to each member of the association specifying all of the following:
- (i) That a meeting will take place to discuss problems that may lead to the filing of a civil action, and the time and place of this meeting.
- (ii) The options that are available to address the problems, including the filing of a civil action and a statement of the various alternatives that are reasonably foreseeable by the association to pay for those options and whether these payments are expected to be made from the use of reserve account funds or the imposition of regular or special assessments, or emergency assessment increases.
- (iii) The complete text of any written settlement offer, and a concise explanation of the specific reasons for the terms of the offer submitted to the board at the meeting held pursuant to subdivision (d) that was received from the respondent.
- (F) The respondent shall pay all expenses attributable to sending the settlement offer to all members of the association. The respondent shall also pay the expense of holding the meeting, not to exceed three dollars (\$3) per association member.

- (G) The discussions at the meeting and the contents of the notice and the items required to be specified in the notice pursuant to paragraph (E) are privileged communications and are not admissible in evidence in any civil action, unless the association consents to their admission.
- (H) No more than one request to meet and discuss a written settlement offer may be made by the respondent pursuant to this subdivision.
- (l) All defect lists and demands, communications, negotiations, and settlement offers made in the course of the prelitigation dispute resolution process provided by this section shall be inadmissible pursuant to Sections 1119 to 1124, inclusive, of the Evidence Code and all applicable decisional law. This inadmissibility shall not be extended to any other documents or communications which would not otherwise be deemed inadmissible.
- (m) Any subcontractor or design professional may, at any time, petition the dispute resolution facilitator to release that party from the dispute resolution process upon a showing that the subcontractor or design professional is not potentially responsible for the defect claims at issue. The petition shall be served contemporaneously on all other parties, who shall have 15 days from the date of service to object. If a subcontractor or design professional is released, and it later appears to the dispute resolution facilitator that it may be a responsible party in light of the current defect list or demand, the respondent shall renotice the party as provided by paragraph (2) of subdivision (e), provide a copy of the current defect list or demand, and direct the party to attend a dispute resolution session at a stated time and location. A party who subsequently appears after having been released by the dispute resolution facilitator shall not be prejudiced by its absence from the dispute resolution process as the result of having been previously released by the dispute resolution facilitator.
- (n) Any party may, at any time, petition the superior court in the county where the project is located, upon a showing of good cause, and the court may issue an order, for any of the following, or for appointment of a referee to resolve a dispute regarding any of the following:
- (1) To take a deposition of any party to the process, or subpoena a third party for deposition or production of documents, which is necessary to further prelitigation resolution of the dispute.
- (2) To resolve any disputes concerning inspection, testing, production of documents, or exchange of information provided for under this section.
- (3) To resolve any disagreements relative to the timing or contents of the case management statement.
  - (4) To authorize internal extensions of timeframes set forth in the case management statement.
- (5) To seek a determination that a settlement is a good faith settlement pursuant to Section 877.6 of the Code of Civil Procedure and all related authorities. The page limitations and meet and confer requirements specified in this section shall not apply to these motions, which may be made on shortened notice. Instead, these motions shall be subject to other applicable state law, rules of court, and local rules. A determination made by the court pursuant to this motion shall have the same force and effect as the determination of a postfiling application or motion for good faith settlement.
- (6) To ensure compliance, on shortened notice, with the obligation to provide a Statement of Insurance pursuant to paragraph (2) of subdivision (e).
- (7) For any other relief appropriate to the enforcement of the provisions of this section, including the ordering of parties, and insurers, if any, to the dispute resolution process with settlement authority.
- (o) (1) A petition filed pursuant to subdivision (n) shall be filed in the superior court in the county in which the project is located. The court shall hear and decide the petition within 10 days after filing. The petitioning party shall serve the petition on all parties, including the date, time, and location of the hearing no later than five business days prior to the hearing. Any responsive papers shall be filed and served no later than three business days prior to the hearing. Any petition or response filed under this section shall be no more than three pages in length.

- (2) All parties shall meet with the dispute resolution facilitator, if one has been appointed and confer in person or by the telephone prior to the filing of that petition to attempt to resolve the matter without requiring court intervention.
  - (p) As used in this section:
    - (1) "Association" shall have the same meaning as defined in Section 4080.
    - (2) "Builder" means the declarant, as defined in Section 4130.
- (3) "Common interest development" shall have the same meaning as in Section 4100, except that it shall not include developments or projects with less than 20 units.
- (q) The alternative dispute resolution process and procedures described in this section shall have no application or legal effect other than as described in this section.
- (r) This section shall become operative on July 1, 2002, however it shall not apply to any pending suit or claim for which notice has previously been given.
- (s) This section shall become inoperative on July 1, 2017, and, as of January 1, 2018, is repealed, unless a later enacted statute, that becomes operative on or before January 1, 2018, deletes or extends the dates on which it becomes inoperative and is repealed.

### §6100. Notice of Resolution.

- (a) As soon as is reasonably practicable after the association and the builder have entered into a settlement agreement or the matter has otherwise been resolved regarding alleged defects in the common areas, alleged defects in the separate interests that the association is obligated to maintain or repair, or alleged defects in the separate interests that arise out of, or are integrally related to, defects in the common areas or separate interests that the association is obligated to maintain or repair, where the defects giving rise to the dispute have not been corrected, the association shall, in writing, inform only the members of the association whose names appear on the records of the association that the matter has been resolved, by settlement agreement or other means, and disclose all of the following:
- (1) A general description of the defects that the association reasonably believes, as of the date of the disclosure, will be corrected or replaced.
- (2) A good faith estimate, as of the date of the disclosure, of when the association believes that the defects identified in paragraph (1) will be corrected or replaced. The association may state that the estimate may be modified.
- (3) The status of the claims for defects in the design or construction of the common interest development that were not identified in paragraph (1) whether expressed in a preliminary list of defects sent to each member of the association or otherwise claimed and disclosed to the members of the association.
- (b) Nothing in this section shall preclude an association from amending the disclosures required pursuant to subdivision (a), and any amendments shall supersede any prior conflicting information disclosed to the members of the association and shall retain any privilege attached to the original disclosures.
- (c) Disclosure of the information required pursuant to subdivision (a) or authorized by subdivision (b) shall not waive any privilege attached to the information.
- (d) For the purposes of the disclosures required pursuant to this section, the term "defects" shall be defined to include any damage resulting from defects.

## §6150. Notice of Civil Action.

- (a) Not later than 30 days prior to the filing of any civil action by the association against the declarant or other developer of a common interest development for alleged damage to the common areas, alleged damage to the separate interests that the association is obligated to maintain or repair, or alleged damage to the separate interests that arises out of, or is integrally related to, damage to the common areas or separate interests that the association is obligated to maintain or repair, the board shall provide a written notice to each member of the association who appears on the records of the association when the notice is provided. This notice shall specify all of the following:
- (1) That a meeting will take place to discuss problems that may lead to the filing of a civil action.
  - (2) The options, including civil actions that are available to address the problems.
  - (3) The time and place of this meeting.
- (b) Notwithstanding subdivision (a), if the association has reason to believe that the applicable statute of limitations will expire before the association files the civil action, the association may give the notice, as described above, within 30 days after the filing of the action.

### II. RELATED CIVIL CODE PROVISIONS

### SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEMS

- §714. Unenforceability of Restrictions on Use of Solar Energy System; Standards for Solar Energy Systems; Approval Process; Penalty for Willful Violation; Attorneys' Fees; Compliance by Public Entity Seeking Grant or Loan Funds.
- (a) Any covenant, restriction, or condition contained in any deed, contract, security instrument, or other instrument affecting the transfer or sale of, or any interest in, real property, and any provision of a governing document, as defined in Section 4150 or 6552, that effectively prohibits or restricts the installation or use of a solar energy system is void and unenforceable.
- (b) This section does not apply to provisions that impose reasonable restrictions on solar energy systems. However, it is the policy of the state to promote and encourage the use of solar energy systems and to remove obstacles thereto. Accordingly, reasonable restrictions on a solar energy system are those restrictions that do not significantly increase the cost of the system or significantly decrease its efficiency or specified performance, or that allow for an alternative system of comparable cost, efficiency, and energy conservation benefits.
- (c) A solar energy system shall meet applicable health and safety standards and requirements imposed by state and local permitting authorities, consistent with Section 65850.5 of the Government Code.
- (2) Solar energy systems used for heating water in single family residences and solar collectors used for heating water in commercial or swimming pool applications shall be certified by an accredited listing agency as defined in the Plumbing and Mechanical codes.
- (3) A solar system for producing electricity shall also meet all applicable safety and performance standards established by the California Electrical Code, the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, and accredited testing laboratories such as Underwriters Laboratories and, where applicable, rules of Public Utilities Commission regarding safety and reliability.
  - (d) For the purposes of this section:
- (1) (A) For solar domestic water heating systems or solar swimming pool heating systems that comply with state and federal law, "significantly" means an amount exceeding 10 percent of the cost of the system, but in no case more than one thousand dollars (\$1,000), or decreasing the efficiency of the solar energy system by an amount exceeding 10 percent, as originally specified and proposed.
- (B) For photovoltaic systems that comply with state and federal law, "significantly" means an amount not to exceed one thousand dollars (\$1,000) over the system cost as originally specified and proposed, or a decrease in system efficiency of an amount exceeding 10 percent as originally specified and proposed.
- (2) "Solar energy system" has the same meaning as defined in paragraphs (1) and (2) of subdivision (a) of Section 801.5.
- (e) (1) Whenever approval is required for the installation or use of a solar energy system, the application for approval shall be processed and approved by the appropriate approving entity in the same manner as an application for approval of an architectural modification to the property, and shall not be willfully avoided or delayed.
- (2) For an approving entity that is an association, as defined in Section 4080 or 6528, and that is not a public entity, both of the following shall apply:
  - (A) The approval or denial of an application shall be in writing.

- (B) If an application is not denied in writing within 45 days from the date of receipt of the application, the application shall be deemed approved, unless that delay is the result of a reasonable request for additional information.
- (f) Any entity, other than a public entity, that willfully violates this section shall be liable to the applicant or other party for actual damages occasioned thereby, and shall pay a civil penalty to the applicant or other party in an amount not to exceed one thousand dollars (\$1,000).
- (g) In any action to enforce compliance with this section, the prevailing party shall be awarded reasonable attorney's fees.
- (h) (1) A public entity that fails to comply with this section may not receive funds from a state-sponsored grant or loan program for solar energy. A public entity shall certify its compliance with the requirements of this section when applying for funds from a state-sponsored grant or loan program.
- (2) A local public entity may not exempt residents in its jurisdiction from the requirements of this section.

# §714.1. Permitted Restrictions by Common Interest Development Associations.

Notwithstanding Section 714, any association, as defined in Section 4080 or 6528, may impose reasonable provisions which:

- (a) Restrict the installation of solar energy systems installed in common areas, as defined in Section 4095 or 6532, to those systems approved by the association.
- (b) Require the owner of a separate interest, as defined in Section 4185 or 6564, to obtain the approval of the association for the installation of a solar energy system in a separate interest owned by another.
  - (c) Provide for the maintenance, repair, or replacement of roofs or other building components.
- (d) Require installers of solar energy systems to indemnify or reimburse the association or its members for loss or damage caused by the installation, maintenance, or use of the solar energy system.

## REQUIREMENTS FOR CONSTRUCTION DEFECT ACTIONS

### §895. Definitions.

- (a) "Structure" means any residential dwelling, other building, or improvement located upon a lot or within a common area.
- (b) "Designed moisture barrier" means an installed moisture barrier specified in the plans and specifications, contract documents, or manufacturer's recommendations.
- (c) "Actual moisture barrier" means any component or material, actually installed, that serves to any degree as a barrier against moisture, whether or not intended as a barrier against moisture.
- (d) "Unintended water" means water that passes beyond, around, or through a component or the material that is designed to prevent that passage.
- (e) "Close of escrow" means the date of the close of escrow between the builder and the original homeowner. With respect to claims by an association, as defined in Section 4080, "close of escrow" means the date of substantial completion, as defined in Section 337.15 of the Code of Civil Procedure, or the date the builder relinquishes control over the association's ability to decide whether to initiate a claim under this title, whichever is later.

(f) "Claimant" or "homeowner" includes the individual owners of single-family homes, individual unit owners of attached dwellings and, in the case of a common interest development, any association as defined in Section 4080.

## §896. Standards for Residential Construction.

In any action seeking recovery of damages arising out of, or related to deficiencies in, the residential construction, design, specifications, surveying, planning, supervision, testing, or observation of construction, a builder, and to the extent set forth in Chapter 4 (commencing with Section 910), a general contractor, subcontractor, material supplier, individual product manufacturer, or design professional, shall, except as specifically set forth in this title, be liable for, and the claimant's claims or causes of action shall be limited to violation of, the following standards, except as specifically set forth in this title. This title applies to original construction intended to be sold as an individual dwelling unit. As to condominium conversions, this title does not apply to or does not supersede any other statutory or common law.

### (a) With respect to water issues:

- (1) A door shall not allow unintended water to pass beyond, around, or through the door or its designed or actual moisture barriers, if any.
- (2) Windows, patio doors, deck doors, and their systems shall not allow water to pass beyond, around, or through the window, patio door, or deck door or its designed or actual moisture barriers, including, without limitation, internal barriers within the systems themselves. For purposes of this paragraph, "systems" include, without limitation, windows, window assemblies, framing, substrate, flashings, and trim, if any.
- (3) Windows, patio doors, deck doors, and their systems shall not allow excessive condensation to enter the structure and cause damage to another component. For purposes of this paragraph, "systems" include, without limitation, windows, window assemblies, framing, substrate, flashings, and trim, if any.
- (4) Roofs, roofing systems, chimney caps, and ventilation components shall not allow water to enter the structure or to pass beyond, around, or through the designed or actual moisture barriers, including, without limitation, internal barriers located within the systems themselves. For purposes of this paragraph, "systems" include, without limitation, framing, substrate, and sheathing, if any.
- (5) Decks, deck systems, balconies, balcony systems, exterior stairs, and stair systems shall not allow water to pass into the adjacent structure. For purposes of this paragraph, "systems" include, without limitation, framing, substrate, flashing, and sheathing, if any.
- (6) Decks, deck systems, balconies, balcony systems, exterior stairs, and stair systems shall not allow unintended water to pass within the systems themselves and cause damage to the systems. For purposes of this paragraph, "systems" include, without limitation, framing, substrate, flashing, and sheathing, if any.
- (7) Foundation systems and slabs shall not allow water or vapor to enter into the structure so as to cause damage to another building component.
- (8) Foundation systems and slabs shall not allow water or vapor to enter into the structure so as to limit the installation of the type of flooring materials typically used for the particular application.
- (9) Hardscape, including paths and patios, irrigation systems, landscaping systems, and drainage systems, that are installed as part of the original construction, shall not be installed in such a way as to cause water or soil erosion to enter into or come in contact with the structure so as to cause damage to another building component.
- (10) Stucco, exterior siding, exterior walls, including, without limitation, exterior framing, and other exterior wall finishes and fixtures and the systems of those components and fixtures, including, but not limited to, pot shelves, horizontal surfaces, columns, and plant-ons, shall be installed in such a way so as not to allow

unintended water to pass into the structure or to pass beyond, around, or through the designed or actual moisture barriers of the system, including any internal barriers located within the system itself. For purposes of this paragraph, "systems" include, without limitation, framing, substrate, flashings, trim, wall assemblies, and internal wall cavities, if any.

- (11) Stucco, exterior siding, and exterior walls shall not allow excessive condensation to enter the structure and cause damage to another component. For purposes of this paragraph, "systems" include, without limitation, framing, substrate, flashings, trim, wall assemblies, and internal wall cavities, if any.
- (12) Retaining and site walls and their associated drainage systems shall not allow unintended water to pass beyond, around, or through its designed or actual moisture barriers including, without limitation, any internal barriers, so as to cause damage. This standard does not apply to those portions of any wall or drainage system that are designed to have water flow beyond, around, or through them.
- (13) Retaining walls and site walls, and their associated drainage systems, shall only allow water to flow beyond, around, or through the areas designated by design.
- (14) The lines and components of the plumbing system, sewer system, and utility systems shall not leak.
- (15) Plumbing lines, sewer lines, and utility lines shall not corrode so as to impede the useful life of the systems.
- (16) Sewer systems shall be installed in such a way as to allow the designated amount of sewage to flow through the system.
- (17) Showers, baths, and related waterproofing systems shall not leak water into the interior of walls, flooring systems, or the interior of other components.
- (18) The waterproofing system behind or under ceramic tile and tile countertops shall not allow water into the interior of walls, flooring systems, or other components so as to cause damage. Ceramic tile systems shall be designed and installed so as to deflect intended water to the waterproofing system.
  - (b) With respect to structural issues:
- (1) Foundations, load bearing components, and slabs, shall not contain significant cracks or significant vertical displacement.
- (2) Foundations, load bearing components, and slabs shall not cause the structure, in whole or in part, to be structurally unsafe.
- (3) Foundations, load bearing components, and slabs, and underlying soils shall be constructed so as to materially comply with the design criteria set by applicable government building codes, regulations, and ordinances for chemical deterioration or corrosion resistance in effect at the time of original construction.
- (4) A structure shall be constructed so as to materially comply with the design criteria for earthquake and wind load resistance, as set forth in the applicable government building codes, regulations, and ordinances in effect at the time of original construction.
  - (c) With respect to soil issues:
- (1) Soils and engineered retaining walls shall not cause, in whole or in part, damage to the structure built upon the soil or engineered retaining wall.

- Soils and engineered retaining walls shall not cause, in whole or in part, the structure to be structurally unsafe.
- (3) Soils shall not cause, in whole or in part, the land upon which no structure is built to become unusable for the purpose represented at the time of original sale by the builder or for the purpose for which that land is commonly used.
  - (d) With respect to fire protection issues:
- (1) A structure shall be constructed so as to materially comply with the design criteria of the applicable government building codes, regulations, and ordinances for fire protection of the occupants in effect at the time of the original construction.
- (2) Fireplaces, chimneys, chimney structures, and chimney termination caps shall be constructed and installed in such a way so as not to cause an unreasonable risk of fire outside the fireplace enclosure or chimney.
- (3) Electrical and mechanical systems shall be constructed and installed in such a way so as not to cause an unreasonable risk of fire.
- (e) With respect to plumbing and sewer issues: Plumbing and sewer systems shall be installed to operate properly and shall not materially impair the use of the structure by its inhabitants. However, no action may be brought for a violation of this subdivision more than four years after close of escrow.
- (f) With respect to electrical system issues: Electrical systems shall operate properly and shall not materially impair the use of the structure by its inhabitants. However, no action shall be brought pursuant to this subdivision more than four years from close of escrow.
  - (g) With respect to issues regarding other areas of construction:
- (1) Exterior pathways, driveways, hardscape, sidewalls, sidewalks, and patios installed by the original builder shall not contain cracks that display significant vertical displacement or that are excessive. However, no action shall be brought upon a violation of this paragraph more than four years from close of escrow.
- (2) Stucco, exterior siding, and other exterior wall finishes and fixtures, including, but not limited to, pot shelves, horizontal surfaces, columns, and plant-ons, shall not contain significant cracks or separations.
- (3) (A) To the extent not otherwise covered by these standards, manufactured products, including, but not limited to, windows, doors, roofs, plumbing products and fixtures, fireplaces, electrical fixtures, HVAC units, countertops, cabinets, paint, and appliances shall be installed so as not to interfere with the products' useful life, if any.
- (B) For purposes of this paragraph, "useful life" means a representation of how long a product is warranted or represented, through its limited warranty or any written representations, to last by its manufacturer, including recommended or required maintenance. If there is no representation by a manufacturer, a builder shall install manufactured products so as not to interfere with the product's utility.
- (C) For purposes of this paragraph, "manufactured product" means a product that is completely manufactured offsite.
- (D) If no useful life representation is made, or if the representation is less than one year, the period shall be no less than one year. If a manufactured product is damaged as a result of a violation of these standards, damage to the product is a recoverable element of damages. This subparagraph does not limit recovery if there has been damage to another building component caused by a manufactured product during the manufactured product's useful life.

- (E) This title does not apply in any action seeking recovery solely for a defect in a manufactured product located within or adjacent to a structure.
- (4) Heating shall be installed so as to be capable of maintaining a room temperature of 70 degrees Fahrenheit at a point three feet above the floor in any living space if the heating was installed pursuant to a building permit application submitted prior to January 1, 2008, or capable of maintaining a room temperature of 68 degrees Fahrenheit at a point three feet above the floor and two feet from exterior walls in all habitable rooms at the design temperature if the heating was installed pursuant to a building permit application submitted on or before January 1, 2008.
- (5) Living space air-conditioning, if any, shall be provided in a manner consistent with the size and efficiency design criteria specified in Title 24 of the California Code of Regulations or its successor.
- (6) Attached structures shall be constructed to comply with interunit noise transmission standards set by the applicable government building codes, ordinances, or regulations in effect at the time of the original construction. If there is no applicable code, ordinance, or regulation, this paragraph does not apply. However, no action shall be brought pursuant to this paragraph more than one year from the original occupancy of the adjacent unit.
- (7) Irrigation systems and drainage shall operate properly so as not to damage landscaping or other external improvements. However, no action shall be brought pursuant to this paragraph more than one year from close of escrow.
- (8) Untreated wood posts shall not be installed in contact with soil so as to cause unreasonable decay to the wood based upon the finish grade at the time of original construction. However, no action shall be brought pursuant to this paragraph more than two years from close of escrow.
- (9) Untreated steel fences and adjacent components shall be installed so as to prevent unreasonable corrosion. However, no action shall be brought pursuant to this paragraph more than four years from close of escrow.
- (10) Paint and stains shall be applied in such a manner so as not to cause deterioration of the building surfaces for the length of time specified by the paint or stain manufacturers' representations, if any. However, no action shall be brought pursuant to this paragraph more than five years from close of escrow.
  - (11) Roofing materials shall be installed so as to avoid materials falling from the roof.
- (12) The landscaping systems shall be installed in such a manner so as to survive for not less than one year. However, no action shall be brought pursuant to this paragraph more than two years from close of escrow.
  - (13) Ceramic tile and tile backing shall be installed in such a manner that the tile does not detach.
- (14) Dryer ducts shall be installed and terminated pursuant to manufacturer installation requirements. However, no action shall be brought pursuant to this paragraph more than two years from close of escrow.
- (15) Structures shall be constructed in such a manner so as not to impair the occupants' safety because they contain public health hazards as determined by a duly authorized public health official, health agency, or governmental entity having jurisdiction. This paragraph does not limit recovery for any damages caused by a violation of any other paragraph of this section on the grounds that the damages do not constitute a health hazard.

## §897. Intent of Standards.

The standards set forth in this chapter are intended to address every function or component of a structure. To the extent that a function or component of a structure is not addressed by these standards, it shall be actionable if it causes damage.

## §900. Warranty Covering Fit and Finish Items.

As to fit and finish items, a builder shall provide a homebuyer with a minimum one-year express written limited warranty covering the fit and finish of the following building components. Except as otherwise provided by the standards specified in Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 896), this warranty shall cover the fit and finish of cabinets, mirrors, flooring, interior and exterior walls, countertops, paint finishes, and trim, but shall not apply to damage to those components caused by defects in other components governed by the other provisions of this title. Any fit and finish matters covered by this warranty are not subject to the provisions of this title. If a builder fails to provide the express warranty required by this section, the warranty for these items shall be for a period of one year.

### §901. Enhanced Protection Agreement.

A builder may, but is not required to, offer greater protection or protection for longer time periods in its express contract with the homeowner than that set forth in Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 896). A builder may not limit the application of Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 896) or lower its protection through the express contract with the homeowner. This type of express contract constitutes an "enhanced protection agreement."

### §902. Effect of Enhanced Protection Agreement.

If a builder offers an enhanced protection agreement, the builder may choose to be subject to its own express contractual provisions in place of the provisions set forth in Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 896). If an enhanced protection agreement is in place, Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 896) no longer applies other than to set forth minimum provisions by which to judge the enforceability of the particular provisions of the enhanced protection agreement.

## §903. Written Copy of Enhanced Protection Agreement.

If a builder offers an enhanced protection agreement in place of the provisions set forth in Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 896), the election to do so shall be made in writing with the homeowner no later than the close of escrow. The builder shall provide the homeowner with a complete copy of Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 896) and advise the homeowner that the builder has elected not to be subject to its provisions. If any provision of an enhanced protection agreement is later found to be unenforceable as not meeting the minimum standards of Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 896), a builder may use this chapter in lieu of those provisions found to be unenforceable.

# §904. Enforcement of Construction Standards in Lieu of Particular Enhanced Protection Agreement Provision.

If a builder has elected to use an enhanced protection agreement, and a homeowner disputes that the particular provision or time periods of the enhanced protection agreement are not greater than, or equal to, the provisions of Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 896) as they apply to the particular deficiency alleged by the homeowner, the homeowner may seek to enforce the application of the standards set forth in this chapter as to those claimed deficiencies. If a homeowner seeks to enforce a particular standard in lieu of a provision of the enhanced protection agreement, the homeowner shall give the builder written notice of that intent at the time the homeowner files a notice of claim pursuant to Chapter 4 (commencing with Section 910).

# §905. Responsive Pleading in Action to Enforce Construction Standards of this Chapter in Lieu of Enhanced Protection Agreement.

If a homeowner seeks to enforce Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 896), in lieu of the enhanced protection agreement in a subsequent litigation or other legal action, the builder shall have the right to have the matter bifurcated, and to have an immediately binding determination of his or her responsive pleading within 60 days after the filing of that pleading, but in no event after the commencement of discovery, as to the application of either Chapter 2

(commencing with Section 896) or the enhanced protection agreement as to the deficiencies claimed by the homeowner. If the builder fails to seek that determination in the timeframe specified, the builder waives the right to do so and the standards set forth in this title shall apply. As to any nonoriginal homeowner, that homeowner shall be deemed in privity for purposes of an enhanced protection agreement only to the extent that the builder has recorded the enhanced protection agreement on title or provided actual notice to the nonoriginal homeowner of the enhanced protection agreement. If the enhanced protection agreement is not recorded on title or no actual notice has been provided, the standards set forth in this title apply to any nonoriginal homeowners' claims.

# §906. Effect of Election of Enhanced Protection Agreement on Provisions of Prelitigation Procedures.

A builder's election to use an enhanced protection agreement addresses only the issues set forth in Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 896) and does not constitute an election to use or not use the provisions of Chapter 4 (commencing with Section 910). The decision to use or not use Chapter 4 (commencing with Section 910) is governed by the provisions of that chapter.

### §907. Obligation of Homeowner to Follow Reasonable Maintenance Obligations.

A homeowner is obligated to follow all reasonable maintenance obligations and schedules communicated in writing to the homeowner by the builder and product manufacturers, as well as commonly accepted maintenance practices. A failure by a homeowner to follow these obligations, schedules, and practices may subject the homeowner to the affirmative defenses contained in Section 944.

## §910. Procedures Required Prior to Filing Action for Violation of Construction Standards.

Prior to filing an action against any party alleged to have contributed to a violation of the standards set forth in Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 896), the claimant shall initiate the following prelitigation procedures:

- (a) The claimant or his or her legal representative shall provide written notice via certified mail, overnight mail, or personal delivery to the builder, in the manner prescribed in this section, of the claimant's claim that the construction of his or her residence violates any of the standards set forth in Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 896). That notice shall provide the claimant's name, address, and preferred method of contact, and shall state that the claimant alleges a violation pursuant to this part against the builder, and shall describe the claim in reasonable detail sufficient to determine the nature and location, to the extent known, of the claimed violation. In the case of a group of homeowners or an association, the notice may identify the claimants solely by address or other description sufficient to apprise the builder of the locations of the subject residences. That document shall have the same force and effect as a notice of commencement of a legal proceeding.
- (b) The notice requirements of this section do not preclude a homeowner from seeking redress through any applicable normal customer service procedure as set forth in any contractual, warranty, or other builder-generated document; and, if a homeowner seeks to do so, that request shall not satisfy the notice requirements of this section.

## §911. "Builder" Defined.

- (a) For purposes of this title, except as provided in subdivision (b), "builder" means any entity or individual, including, but not limited to a builder, developer, general contractor, contractor, or original seller, who, at the time of sale, was also in the business of selling residential units to the public for the property that is the subject of the homeowner's claim or was in the business of building, developing, or constructing residential units for public purchase for the property that is the subject of the homeowner's claim.
- (b) For the purposes of this title, "builder" does not include any entity or individual whose involvement with a residential unit that is the subject of the homeowner's claim is limited to his or her capacity as general contractor or contractor and who is not a partner, member of, subsidiary of, or otherwise similarly affiliated with the builder. For purposes of this title, these nonaffiliated general contractors and nonaffiliated contractors shall be treated the same as subcontractors, material suppliers, individual product manufacturers, and design professionals.

## §912. Builder's Duties.

A builder shall do all of the following:

- (a) Within 30 days of a written request by a homeowner or his or her legal representative, the builder shall provide copies of all relevant plans, specifications, mass or rough grading plans, final soils reports, Bureau of Real Estate public reports, and available engineering calculations, that pertain to a homeowner's residence specifically or as part of a larger development tract. The request shall be honored if it states that it is made relative to structural, fire safety, or soils provisions of this title. However, a builder is not obligated to provide a copying service, and reasonable copying costs shall be borne by the requesting party. A builder may require that the documents be copied onsite by the requesting party, except that the homeowner may, at his or her option, use his or her own copying service, which may include an offsite copy facility that is bonded and insured. If a builder can show that the builder maintained the documents, but that they later became unavailable due to loss or destruction that was not the fault of the builder, the builder may be excused from the requirements of this subdivision, in which case the builder shall act with reasonable diligence to assist the homeowner in obtaining those documents from any applicable government authority or from the source that generated the document. However, in that case, the time limits specified by this section do not apply.
- (b) At the expense of the homeowner, who may opt to use an offsite copy facility that is bonded and insured, the builder shall provide to the homeowner or his or her legal representative copies of all maintenance and preventative maintenance recommendations that pertain to his or her residence within 30 days of service of a written request for those documents. Those documents shall also be provided to the homeowner in conjunction with the initial sale of the residence.
- (c) At the expense of the homeowner, who may opt to use an offsite copy facility that is bonded and insured, a builder shall provide to the homeowner or his or her legal representative copies of all manufactured products maintenance, preventive maintenance, and limited warranty information within 30 days of a written request for those documents. These documents shall also be provided to the homeowner in conjunction with the initial sale of the residence.
- (d) At the expense of the homeowner, who may opt to use an offsite copy facility that is bonded and insured, a builder shall provide to the homeowner or his or her legal representative copies of all of the builder's limited contractual warranties in accordance with this part in effect at the time of the original sale of the residence within 30 days of a written request for those documents. Those documents shall also be provided to the homeowner in conjunction with the initial sale of the residence.
- (e) A builder shall maintain the name and address of an agent for notice pursuant to this chapter with the Secretary of State or, alternatively, elect to use a third party for that notice if the builder has notified the homeowner in writing of the third party's name and address, to whom claims and requests for information under this section may be mailed. The name and address of the agent for notice or third party shall be included with the original sales documentation and shall be initialed and acknowledged by the purchaser and the builder's sales representative.

This subdivision applies to instances in which a builder contracts with a third party to accept claims and act on the builder's behalf. A builder shall give actual notice to the homeowner that the builder has made such an election, and shall include the name and address of the third party.

- (f) A builder shall record on title a notice of the existence of these procedures and a notice that these procedures impact the legal rights of the homeowner. This information shall also be included with the original sales documentation and shall be initialed and acknowledged by the purchaser and the builder's sales representative.
- (g) A builder shall provide, with the original sales documentation, a written copy of this title, which shall be initialed and acknowledged by the purchaser and the builder's sales representative.
- (h) As to any documents provided in conjunction with the original sale, the builder shall instruct the original purchaser to provide those documents to any subsequent purchaser.

(i) Any builder who fails to comply with any of these requirements within the time specified is not entitled to the protection of this chapter, and the homeowner is released from the requirements of this chapter and may proceed with the filing of an action, in which case the remaining chapters of this part shall continue to apply to the action.

## §913. Acknowledgement of Receipt of Notice.

A builder or his or her representative shall acknowledge, in writing, receipt of the notice of the claim within 14 days after receipt of the notice of the claim. If the notice of the claim is served by the claimant's legal representative, or if the builder receives a written representation letter from a homeowner's attorney, the builder shall include the attorney in all subsequent substantive communications, including, without limitation, all written communications occurring pursuant to this chapter, and all substantive and procedural communications, including all written communications, following the commencement of any subsequent complaint or other legal action, except that if the builder has retained or involved legal counsel to assist the builder in this process, all communications by the builder's counsel shall only be with the claimant's legal representative, if any.

### §914. Nonadversarial Procedure Established.

- (a) This chapter establishes a nonadversarial procedure, including the remedies available under this chapter which, if the procedure does not resolve the dispute between the parties, may result in a subsequent action to enforce the other chapters of this title. A builder may attempt to commence nonadversarial contractual provisions other than the nonadversarial procedures and remedies set forth in this chapter, but may not, in addition to its own nonadversarial contractual provisions, require adherence to the nonadversarial procedures and remedies set forth in this chapter, regardless of whether the builder's own alternative nonadversarial contractual provisions are successful in resolving the dispute or ultimately deemed enforceable. At the time the sales agreement is executed, the builder shall notify the homeowner whether the builder intends to engage in the nonadversarial procedure of this section or attempt to enforce alternative nonadversarial contractual provisions in lieu of this chapter, the election is binding, regardless of whether the builder's alternative nonadversarial contractual provisions are successful in resolving the ultimate dispute or are ultimately deemed enforceable.
- (b) Nothing in this title is intended to affect existing statutory or decisional law pertaining to the applicability, viability, or enforceability of alternative dispute resolution methods, alternative remedies, or contractual arbitration, judicial reference, or similar procedures requiring a binding resolution to enforce the other chapters of this title or any other disputes between homeowners and builders. Nothing in this title is intended to affect the applicability, viability, or enforceability, if any, of contractual arbitration or judicial reference after a nonadversarial procedure or provision has been completed.

### §915. Actions Resulting in Nonapplication of Chapter.

If a builder fails to acknowledge receipt of the notice of a claim within the time specified, elects not to go through the process set forth in this chapter, or fails to request an inspection within the time specified, or at the conclusion or cessation of an alternative nonadversarial proceeding, this chapter does not apply and the homeowner is released from the requirements of this chapter and may proceed with the filing of an action. However, the standards set forth in the other chapters of this title shall continue to apply to the action.

### §916. Inspection of Claimed Unmet Standards by Builder.

(a) If a builder elects to inspect the claimed unmet standards, the builder shall complete the initial inspection and testing within 14 days after acknowledgment of receipt of the notice of the claim, at a mutually convenient date and time. If the homeowner has retained legal representation, the inspection shall be scheduled with the legal representative's office at a mutually convenient date and time, unless the legal representative is unavailable during the relevant time periods. All costs of builder inspection and testing, including any damage caused by the builder inspection, shall be borne by the builder. The builder shall also provide written proof that the builder has liability insurance to cover any damages or injuries occurring during inspection and testing. The builder shall restore the property to its pretesting condition within 48 hours of the testing. The builder shall, upon request, allow the

inspections to be observed and electronically recorded, video recorded, or photographed by the claimant or his or her legal representative.

- (b) Nothing that occurs during a builder's or claimant's inspection or testing may be used or introduced as evidence to support a spoliation defense by any potential party in any subsequent litigation.
- (c) If a builder deems a second inspection or testing reasonably necessary, and specifies the reasons therefore in writing within three days following the initial inspection, the builder may conduct a second inspection or testing. A second inspection or testing shall be completed within 40 days of the initial inspection or testing. All requirements concerning the initial inspection or testing shall also apply to the second inspection or testing.
- (d) If the builder fails to inspect or test the property within the time specified, the claimant is released from the requirements of this section and may proceed with the filing of an action. However, the standards set forth in the other chapters of this title shall continue to apply to the action.
- (e) If a builder intends to hold a subcontractor, design professional, individual product manufacturer, or material supplier, including an insurance carrier, warranty company, or service company, responsible for its contribution to the unmet standard, the builder shall provide notice to that person or entity sufficiently in advance to allow them to attend the initial, or if requested, second inspection of any alleged unmet standard and to participate in the repair process. The claimant and his or her legal representative, if any, shall be advised in a reasonable time prior to the inspection as to the identity of all persons or entities invited to attend. This subdivision does not apply to the builder's insurance company. Except with respect to any claims involving a repair actually conducted under this chapter, nothing in this subdivision shall be construed to relieve a subcontractor, design professional, individual product manufacturer, or material supplier of any liability under an action brought by a claimant.

# §917. Offer to Repair.

Within 30 days of the initial or, if requested, second inspection or testing, the builder may offer in writing to repair the violation. The offer to repair shall also compensate the homeowner for all applicable damages recoverable under Section 944, within the timeframe for the repair set forth in this chapter. Any such offer shall be accompanied by a detailed, specific, step-by-step statement identifying the particular violation that is being repaired, explaining the nature, scope, and location of the repair, and setting a reasonable completion date for the repair. The offer shall also include the names, addresses, telephone numbers, and license numbers of the contractors whom the builder intends to have perform the repair. Those contractors shall be fully insured for, and shall be responsible for, all damages or injuries that they may cause to occur during the repair, and evidence of that insurance shall be provided to the homeowner upon request. Upon written request by the homeowner or his or her legal representative, and within the timeframes set forth in this chapter, the builder shall also provide any available technical documentation, including, without limitation, plans and specifications, pertaining to the claimed violation within the particular home or development tract. The offer shall also advise the homeowner in writing of his or her right to request up to three additional contractors from which to select to do the repair pursuant to this chapter.

## §918. Authorization to Proceed with Repair.

Upon receipt of the offer to repair, the homeowner shall have 30 days to authorize the builder to proceed with the repair. The homeowner may alternatively request, at the homeowner's sole option and discretion, that the builder provide the names, addresses, telephone numbers, and license numbers for up to three alternative contractors who are not owned or financially controlled by the builder and who regularly conduct business in the county where the structure is located. If the homeowner so elects, the builder is entitled to an additional noninvasive inspection, to occur at a mutually convenient date and time within 20 days of the election, so as to permit the other proposed contractors to review the proposed site of the repair. Within 35 days after the request of the homeowner for alternative contractors, the builder shall present the homeowner with a choice of contractors. Within 20 days after that presentation, the homeowner shall authorize the builder or one of the alternative contractors to perform the repair.

### §919. Offer to Mediate Dispute.

The offer to repair shall also be accompanied by an offer to mediate the dispute if the homeowner so chooses. The mediation shall be limited to a four-hour mediation, except as otherwise mutually agreed before a nonaffiliated mediator selected and paid for by the builder. At the homeowner's sole option, the homeowner may agree to split the cost of the mediator, and if he or she does so, the mediator shall be selected jointly. The mediator shall have sufficient availability such that the mediation occurs within 15 days after the request to mediate is received and occurs at a mutually convenient location within the county where the action is pending. If a builder has made an offer to repair a violation, and the mediation has failed to resolve the dispute, the homeowner shall allow the repair to be performed either by the builder, its contractor, or the selected contractor.

### §920. Actions Resulting in Filing of an Action by Homeowner; Applicable Standards.

If the builder fails to make an offer to repair or otherwise strictly comply with this chapter within the times specified, the claimant is released from the requirements of this chapter and may proceed with the filing of an action. If the contractor performing the repair does not complete the repair in the time or manner specified, the claimant may file an action. If this occurs, the standards set forth in the other chapters of this part shall continue to apply to the action.

# §921. Procedure when Resolution Involves Repair by Builder.

- (a) In the event that a resolution under this chapter involves a repair by the builder, the builder shall make an appointment with the claimant, make all appropriate arrangements to effectuate a repair of the claimed unmet standards, and compensate the homeowner for all damages resulting there from free of charge to the claimant. The repair shall be scheduled through the claimant's legal representative, if any, unless he or she is unavailable during the relevant time periods. The repair shall be commenced on a mutually convenient date within 14 days of acceptance or, if an alternative contractor is selected by the homeowner, within 14 days of the selection, or, if mediation occurs, within seven days of the mediation, or within five days after a permit is obtained if one is required. The builder shall act with reasonable diligence in obtaining any such permit.
- (b) The builder shall ensure that work done on the repairs is done with the utmost diligence, and that the repairs are completed as soon as reasonably possible, subject to the nature of the repair or some unforeseen event not caused by the builder or the contractor performing the repair. Every effort shall be made to complete the repair within 120 days.

# §922. Observation and Electronic Recording, Video Recording, or Photographing of Repair Allowed.

The builder shall, upon request, allow the repair to be observed and electronically recorded, video recorded, or photographed by the claimant or his or her legal representative. Nothing that occurs during the repair process may be used or introduced as evidence to support a spoliation defense by any potential party in any subsequent litigation.

# §923. Availability to Homeowner of Correspondence, Photographs and Other Material Pertaining to Repairs.

The builder shall provide the homeowner or his or her legal representative, upon request, with copies of all correspondence, photographs, and other materials pertaining or relating in any manner to the repairs.

## §924. Offer to Repair Some, but not all, of Claimed Unmet Standards.

If the builder elects to repair some, but not all of, the claimed unmet standards, the builder shall, at the same time it makes its offer, set forth with particularity in writing the reasons, and the support for those reasons, for not repairing all claimed unmet standards.

## §925. Failure to Timely Complete Repairs.

If the builder fails to complete the repair within the time specified in the repair plan, the claimant is released from the requirements of this chapter and may proceed with the filing of an action. If this occurs, the standards set forth in the other chapters of this title shall continue to apply to the action.

## §926. Release or Waiver in Exchange for Repair Work Prohibited.

The builder may not obtain a release or waiver of any kind in exchange for the repair work mandated by this chapter. At the conclusion of the repair, the claimant may proceed with filing an action for violation of the applicable standard or for a claim of inadequate repair, or both, including all applicable damages available under Section 944.

### §927. Statute of Limitations.

If the applicable statute of limitations has otherwise run during this process, the time period for filing a complaint or other legal remedies for violation of any provision of this title, or for a claim of inadequate repair, is extended from the time of the original claim by the claimant to 100 days after the repair is completed, whether or not the particular violation is the one being repaired. If the builder fails to acknowledge the claim within the time specified, elects not to go through this statutory process, or fails to request an inspection within the time specified, the time period for filing a complaint or other legal remedies for violation of any provision of this title is extended from the time of the original claim by the claimant to 45 days after the time for responding to the notice of claim has expired. If the builder elects to attempt to enforce its own nonadversarial procedure in lieu of the procedure set forth in this chapter, the time period for filing a complaint or other legal remedies for violation of any provision of this part is extended from the time of the original claim by the claimant to 100 days after either the completion of the builder's alternative nonadversarial procedure is deemed unenforceable, whichever is later.

### §928. Mediation Procedure.

If the builder has invoked this chapter and completed a repair, prior to filing an action, if there has been no previous mediation between the parties, the homeowner or his or her legal representative shall request mediation in writing. The mediation shall be limited to four hours, except as otherwise mutually agreed before a nonaffiliated mediator selected and paid for by the builder. At the homeowner's sole option, the homeowner may agree to split the cost of the mediator and if he or she does so, the mediator shall be selected jointly. The mediator shall have sufficient availability such that the mediation will occur within 15 days after the request for mediation is received and shall occur at a mutually convenient location within the county where the action is pending. In the event that a mediation is used at this point, any applicable statutes of limitations shall be tolled from the date of the request to mediate until the next court day after the mediation is completed, or the 100-day period, whichever is later.

### §929. Cash Offer in Lieu of Repair.

- (a) Nothing in this chapter prohibits the builder from making only a cash offer and no repair. In this situation, the homeowner is free to accept the offer, or he or she may reject the offer and proceed with the filing of an action. If the latter occurs, the standards of the other chapters of this title shall continue to apply to the action.
- (b) The builder may obtain a reasonable release in exchange for the cash payment. The builder may negotiate the terms and conditions of any reasonable release in terms of scope and consideration in conjunction with a cash payment under this chapter.

### §930. Strict Construction of Requirements; Failure of Claimant to Conform.

(a) The time periods and all other requirements in this chapter are to be strictly construed, and, unless extended by the mutual agreement of the parties in accordance with this chapter, shall govern the rights and obligations under this title. If a builder fails to act in accordance with this section within the timeframes mandated, unless extended by the mutual agreement of the parties as evidenced by a postclaim written confirmation by the affected homeowner demonstrating that he or she has knowingly and voluntarily extended the statutory timeframe, the claimant may

proceed with filing an action. If this occurs, the standards of the other chapters of this title shall continue to apply to the action.

(b) If the claimant does not conform with the requirements of this chapter, the builder may bring a motion to stay any subsequent court action or other proceeding until the requirements of this chapter have been satisfied. The court, in its discretion, may award the prevailing party on such a motion, his or her attorney's fees and costs in bringing or opposing the motion.

### §931. Claim Combined with Other Causes of Action.

If a claim combines causes of action or damages not covered by this part, including, without limitation, personal injuries, class actions, other statutory remedies, or fraud-based claims, the claimed unmet standards shall be administered according to this part, although evidence of the property in its unrepaired condition may be introduced to support the respective elements of any such cause of action. As to any fraud-based claim, if the fact that the property has been repaired under this chapter is deemed admissible, the trier of fact shall be informed that the repair was not voluntarily accepted by the homeowner. As to any class action claims that address solely the incorporation of a defective component into a residence, the named and unnamed class members need not comply with this chapter.

## §932. Subsequently Discovered Claims of Unmet Standards.

Subsequently discovered claims of unmet standards shall be administered separately under this chapter, unless otherwise agreed to by the parties. However, in the case of a detached single family residence, in the same home, if the subsequently discovered claim is for a violation of the same standard as that which has already been initiated by the same claimant and the subject of a currently pending action, the claimant need not reinitiate the process as to the same standard. In the case of an attached project, if the subsequently discovered claim is for a violation of the same standard for a connected component system in the same building as has already been initiated by the same claimant, and the subject of a currently pending action, the claimant need not reinitiate this process as to that standard.

## §933. Evidence of Repair Work.

If any enforcement of these standards is commenced, the fact that a repair effort was made may be introduced to the trier of fact. However, the claimant may use the condition of the property prior to the repair as the basis for contending that the repair work was inappropriate, inadequate, or incomplete, or that the violation still exists. The claimant need not show that the repair work resulted in further damage nor that damage has continued to occur as a result of the violation.

### §934. Evidence of Parties' Conduct.

Evidence of both parties' conduct during this process may be introduced during a subsequent enforcement action, if any, with the exception of any mediation. Any repair efforts undertaken by the builder, shall not be considered settlement communications or offers of settlement and are not inadmissible in evidence on such a basis.

# §935. Similar Requirements of Civil Code Section 6000.

To the extent that provisions of this chapter are enforced and those provisions are substantially similar to provisions in Section 6000, but an action is subsequently commenced under Section 6000, the parties are excused from performing the substantially similar requirements under Section 6000.

### §936. Applicability of Title to Other Entities Involved in Construction Process.

Each and every provision of the other chapters of this title apply to general contractors, subcontractors, material suppliers, individual product manufacturers, and design professionals to the extent that the general contractors, subcontractors, material suppliers, individual product manufacturers, and design professionals caused, in whole or in part, a violation of a particular standard as the result of a negligent act or omission or a breach of contract. In addition to the affirmative defenses set forth in Section 945.5, a general contractor, subcontractor, material supplier, design professional, individual product manufacturer, or other entity may also offer common law and contractual defenses as applicable to any claimed violation of a standard. All actions by a claimant or builder to enforce an express contract, or any provision thereof, against a general contractor, subcontractor, material supplier, individual product

manufacturer, or design professional is preserved. Nothing in this title modifies the law pertaining to joint and several liability for builders, general contractors, subcontractors, material suppliers, individual product manufacturer, and design professionals that contribute to any specific violation of this title. However, the negligence standard in this section does not apply to any general subcontractor, subcontractor, material supplier, individual product manufacturer, or design professional with respect to claims for which strict liability would apply.

### §937. Claims and Damages not Covered by this Title.

Nothing in this title shall be interpreted to eliminate or abrogate the requirement to comply with Section 411.35 of the Code of Civil Procedure or to affect the liability of design professionals, including architects and architectural firms, for claims and damages not covered by this title.

### §938. Date of Sale for Applicability of Title.

This title applies to new residential units where the purchase agreement with the buyer was signed by the seller on or after January 1, 2003.

## §941. Time Limit for Bringing Action.

- (a) Except as specifically set forth in this title, no action may be brought to recover under this title more than 10 years after substantial completion of the improvement but not later than the date of recordation of a valid notice of completion.
- (b) As used in this section, "action" includes an action for indemnity brought against a person arising out of that person's performance or furnishing of services or materials referred to in this title, except that a cross-complaint for indemnity may be filed pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 428.10 of the Code of Civil Procedure in an action which has been brought within the time period set forth in subdivision (a).
- (c) The limitation prescribed by this section may not be asserted by way of defense by any person in actual possession or the control, as owner, tenant or otherwise, of such an improvement, at the time any deficiency in the improvement constitutes the proximate cause for which it is proposed to make a claim or bring an action.
  - (d) Sections 337.15 and 337.1 of the Code of Civil Procedure do not apply to actions under this title.
- (e) Existing statutory and decisional law regarding tolling of the statute of limitations shall apply to the time periods for filing an action or making a claim under this title, except that repairs made pursuant to Chapter 4 (commencing with Section 910), with the exception of the tolling provision contained in Section 927, do not extend the period for filing an action, or restart the time limitations contained in subdivision (a) or (b) of Section 7091 of the Business and Professions Code. If a builder arranges for a contractor to perform a repair pursuant to Chapter 4 (commencing with Section 910), as to the builder the time period for calculating the statute of limitation in subdivision (a) or (b) of Section 7091 of the Business and Professions Code shall pertain to the substantial completion of the original construction and not to the date of repairs under this title. The time limitations established by this title do not apply to any action by a claimant for a contract or express contractual provision. Causes of action and damages to which this chapter does not apply are not limited by this section.

### §942. Showing Required for Claim.

In order to make a claim for violation of the standards set forth in Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 896), a homeowner need only demonstrate, in accordance with the applicable evidentiary standard, that the home does not meet the applicable standard, subject to the affirmative defenses set forth in Section 945.5. No further showing of causation or damages is required to meet the burden of proof regarding a violation of a standard set forth in Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 896), provided that the violation arises out of, pertains to, or is related to, the original construction.

## §943. Other Causes of Action; Claims Involving Detached Single-Family Home.

(a) Except as provided in this title, no other cause of action for a claim covered by this title or for damages recoverable under Section 944 is allowed. In addition to the rights under this title, this title does not apply to

any action by a claimant to enforce a contract or express contractual provision, or any action for fraud, personal injury, or violation of a statute. Damages awarded for the items set forth in Section 944 in such other cause of action shall be reduced by the amounts recovered pursuant to Section 944 for violation of the standards set forth in this title.

(b) As to any claims involving a detached single-family home, the homeowner's right to the reasonable value of repairing any nonconformity is limited to the repair costs, or the diminution in current value of the home caused by the nonconformity, whichever is less, subject to the personal use exception as developed under common law.

### §944. Damages.

If a claim for damages is made under this title, the homeowner is only entitled to damages for the reasonable value of repairing any violation of the standards set forth in this title, the reasonable cost of repairing any damages caused by the repair efforts, the reasonable cost of repairing and rectifying any damages resulting from the failure of the home to meet the standards, the reasonable cost of removing and replacing any improper repair by the builder, reasonable relocation and storage expenses, lost business income if the home was used as a principal place of a business licensed to be operated from the home, reasonable investigative costs for each established violation, and all other costs or fees recoverable by contract or statute.

# §945. Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest.

The provisions, standards, rights, and obligations set forth in this title are binding upon all original purchasers and their successors-in-interest. For purposes of this title, associations and others having the rights set forth in Sections 4810 and 4815 shall be considered to be original purchasers and shall have standing to enforce the provisions, standards, rights, and obligations set forth in this title.

### §945.5. Affirmative Defenses.

A builder, general contractor, subcontractor, material supplier, individual product manufacturer, or design professional, under the principles of comparative fault pertaining to affirmative defenses, may be excused, in whole or in part, from any obligation, damage, loss, or liability if the builder, general contractor, subcontractor, material supplier, individual product manufacturer, or design professional, can demonstrate any of the following affirmative defenses in response to a claimed violation:

- (a) To the extent it is caused by an unforeseen act of nature which caused the structure not to meet the standard. For purposes of this section an "unforeseen act of nature" means a weather condition, earthquake, or manmade event such as war, terrorism, or vandalism, in excess of the design criteria expressed by the applicable building codes, regulations, and ordinances in effect at the time of original construction.
- (b) To the extent it is caused by a homeowner's unreasonable failure to minimize or prevent those damages in a timely manner, including the failure of the homeowner to allow reasonable and timely access for inspections and repairs under this title. This includes the failure to give timely notice to the builder after discovery of a violation, but does not include damages due to the untimely or inadequate response of a builder to the homeowner's claim.
- (c) To the extent it is caused by the homeowner or his or her agent, employee, general contractor, subcontractor, independent contractor, or consultant by virtue of their failure to follow the builder's or manufacturer's recommendations, or commonly accepted homeowner maintenance obligations. In order to rely upon this defense as it relates to a builder's recommended maintenance schedule, the builder shall show that the homeowner had written notice of these schedules and recommendations and that the recommendations and schedules were reasonable at the time they were issued.
- (d) To the extent it is caused by the homeowner or his or her agent's or an independent third party's alterations, ordinary wear and tear, misuse, abuse, or neglect, or by the structure's use for something other than its intended purpose.
  - (e) To the extent that the time period for filing actions bars the claimed violation.

- (f) As to a particular violation for which the builder has obtained a valid release.
- (g) To the extent that the builder's repair was successful in correcting the particular violation of the applicable standard.
- (h) As to any causes of action to which this statute does not apply, all applicable affirmative defenses are preserved.

### **FORECLOSURE**

- §2924. Transfer as security deemed mortgage or pledge; Exercise of power of sale; No liability for good faith error; Recital of acts as prima facie evidence; Privileged communications; Rebuttable presumption.
- (a) Every transfer of an interest in property, other than in trust, made only as a security for the performance of another act, is to be deemed a mortgage, except when in the case of personal property it is accompanied by actual change of possession, in which case it is to be deemed a pledge. Where, by a mortgage created after July 27, 1917, of any estate in real property, other than an estate at will or for years, less than two, or in any transfer in trust made after July 27, 1917, of a like estate to secure the performance of an obligation, a power of sale is conferred upon the mortgagee, trustee, or any other person, to be exercised after a breach of the obligation for which that mortgage or transfer is a security, the power shall not be exercised except where the mortgage or transfer is made pursuant to an order, judgment, or decree of a court of record, or to secure the payment of bonds or other evidences of indebtedness authorized or permitted to be issued by the Commissioner of Corporations, or is made by a public utility subject to the provisions of the Public Utilities Act, until all of the following apply:
- (1) The trustee, mortgagee, or beneficiary, or any of their authorized agents shall first file for record, in the office of the recorder of each county wherein the mortgaged or trust property or some part or parcel thereof is situated, a notice of default. That notice of default shall include all of the following:
- (A) A statement identifying the mortgage or deed of trust by stating the name or names of the trustor or trustors and giving the book and page, or instrument number, if applicable, where the mortgage or deed of trust is recorded or a description of the mortgaged or trust property.
- (B) A statement that a breach of the obligation for which the mortgage or transfer in trust is security has occurred.
- (C) A statement setting forth the nature of each breach actually known to the beneficiary and of his or her election to sell or cause to be sold the property to satisfy that obligation and any other obligation secured by the deed of trust or mortgage that is in default.
- (D) If the default is curable pursuant to Section 2924c, the statement specified in paragraph (1) of subdivision (b) of Section 2924c.
  - (2) Not less than three months shall elapse from the filing of the notice of default.
- (3) Except as provided in paragraph (4), after the lapse of the three months described in paragraph (2), the mortgagee, trustee, or other person authorized to take the sale shall give notice of sale, stating the time and place thereof, in the manner and for a time not less than that set forth in Section 2924f.
- (4) Notwithstanding paragraph (3), the mortgagee, trustee, or other person authorized to take sale may record a notice of sale pursuant to Section 2924f up to five days before the lapse of the three-month period described in paragraph (2), provided that the date of sale is no earlier than three months and 20 days after the recording of the notice of default.
- (5) Until January 1, 2018, whenever a sale is postponed for a period of at least 10 business days pursuant to Section 2924g, a mortgagee, beneficiary, or authorized agent shall provide written notice to

a borrower regarding the new sale date and time, within five business days following the postponement. Information provided pursuant to this paragraph shall not constitute the public declaration required by subdivision (d) of Section 2924g. Failure to comply with this paragraph shall not invalidate any sale that would otherwise be valid under Section 2924f. This paragraph shall be inoperative on January 1, 2018.

- (6) No entity shall record or cause a notice of default to be recorded or otherwise initiate the foreclosure process unless it is the holder of the beneficial interest under the mortgage or deed of trust, the original trustee or the substituted trustee under the deed of trust, or the designated agent of the holder of the beneficial interest. No agent of the holder of the beneficial interest under the mortgage or deed of trust, original trustee or substituted trustee under the deed of trust may record a notice of default or otherwise commence the foreclosure process except when acting within the scope of authority designated by the holder of the beneficial interest.
- (b) In performing acts required by this article, the trustee shall incur no liability for any good faith error resulting from reliance on information provided in good faith by the beneficiary regarding the nature and the amount of the default under the secured obligation, deed of trust, or mortgage. In performing the acts required by this article, a trustee shall not be subject to Title 1.6c (commencing with Section 1788) of Part 4.
- (c) A recital in the deed executed pursuant to the power of sale of compliance with all requirements of law regarding the mailing of copies of notices or the publication of a copy of the notice of default or the personal delivery of the copy of the notice of default or the posting of copies of the notice of sale or the publication of a copy thereof shall constitute prima facie evidence of compliance with these requirements and conclusive evidence thereof in favor of bona fide purchasers and encumbrancers for value and without notice.
  - (d) All of the following shall constitute privileged communications pursuant to Section 47:
    - (1) The mailing, publication, and delivery of notices as required by this section.
    - (2) Performance of the procedures set forth in this article.
- (3) Performance of the functions and procedures set forth in this article if those functions and procedures are necessary to carry out the duties described in Sections 729.040, 729.050, and 729.080 of the Code of Civil Procedure.
- (e) There is a rebuttable presumption that the beneficiary actually knew of all unpaid loan payments on the obligation owed to the beneficiary and secured by the deed of trust or mortgage subject to the notice of default. However, the failure to include an actually known default shall not invalidate the notice of sale and the beneficiary shall not be precluded from asserting a claim to this omitted default or defaults in a separate notice of default.
- (f) With respect to residential real property containing no more than four dwelling units, a separate document containing a summary of the notice of default information in English and the languages described in Section 1632 shall be attached to the notice of default provided to the mortgagor or trustor pursuant to Section 2923.3.

### § 2924.1. Recordation of transfer of property in common interest development.

- (a) Notwithstanding any other law, the transfer, following the sale, of property in a common interest development, as defined by Section 1351, executed under the power of sale contained in any deed of trust or mortgage, shall be recorded within 30 days after the date of sale in the office of the county recorder where the property or a portion of the property is located.
- (b) Any failure to comply with the provisions of this section shall not affect the validity of a trustee's sale or a sale in favor of a bona fide purchaser.

## III. RELATED CORPORATIONS CODE PROVISIONS

### §5233. Self-Dealing Transactions by Interested Director; Remedies.

- (a) Except as provided in subdivision (b), for the purpose of this section, a self-dealing transaction means a transaction to which the corporation is a party and in which one or more of its directors has a material financial interest and which does not meet the requirements of paragraph (1), (2), or (3) of subdivision (d). Such a director is an "interested director" for the purpose of this section.
  - (b) The provisions of this section do not apply to any of the following:
- (1) An action of the board fixing the compensation of a director as a director or officer of the corporation.
- (2) A transaction which is part of a public or charitable program of the corporation if it: (i) is approved or authorized by the corporation in good faith and without unjustified favoritism; and (ii) results in a benefit to one or more directors or their families because they are in the class of persons intended to be benefited by the public or charitable program.
- (3) A transaction, of which the interested director or directors have no actual knowledge, and which does not exceed the lesser of 1 percent of the gross receipts of the corporation for the preceding fiscal year or one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000).
- (c) The Attorney General or, if the Attorney General is joined as an indispensable party, any of the following may bring an action in the superior court of the proper county for the remedies specified in subdivision (h):
- (1) The corporation, or a member asserting the right in the name of the corporation pursuant to Section 5710.
  - (2) A director of the corporation.
  - (3) An officer of the corporation.
  - (4) Any person granted relator status by the Attorney General.
- (d) In any action brought under subdivision (c) the remedies specified in subdivision (h) shall not be granted if:
- (1) The Attorney General, or the court in an action in which the Attorney General is an indispensable party, has approved the transaction before or after it was consummated; or
  - (2) The following facts are established:
    - (A) The corporation entered into the transaction for its own benefit:
- (B) The transaction was fair and reasonable as to the corporation at the time the corporation entered into the transaction;
- (C) Prior to consummating the transaction or any part thereof the board authorized or approved the transaction in good faith by a vote of a majority of the directors then in office without counting the vote of the interested director or directors, and with knowledge of the material facts concerning the transaction and the director's interest in the transaction. Except as provided in paragraph (3) of this subdivision, action by a committee of the board shall not satisfy this paragraph; and

- (D) (i) Prior to authorizing or approving the transaction the board considered and in good faith determined after reasonable investigation under the circumstances that the corporation could not have obtained a more advantageous arrangement with reasonable effort under the circumstances or
  - (ii) The corporation in fact could not have obtained a more advantageous arrangement with reasonable effort under the circumstances; or
    - (3) The following facts are established:
- (A) A committee or person authorized by the board approved the transaction in a manner consistent with the standards set forth in paragraph (2) of this subdivision;
- (B) It was not reasonably practicable to obtain approval of the board prior to entering into the transaction; and
- (C) The board, after determining in good faith that the conditions of subparagraphs (A) and (B) of this paragraph were satisfied, ratified the transaction at its next meeting by a vote of the majority of the directors then in office without counting the vote of the interested director or directors.
- (e) Except as provided in subdivision (f), an action under subdivision (c) must be filed within two years after written notice setting forth the material facts of the transaction and the director's interest in the transaction is filed with the Attorney General in accordance with such regulations, if any, as the Attorney General may adopt or, if no such notice is filed, within three years after the transaction occurred, except for the Attorney General, who shall have 10 years after the transaction occurred within which to file an action.
- (f) In any action for breach of an obligation of the corporation owed to an interested director, where the obligation arises from a self-dealing transaction which has not been approved as provided in subdivision (d), the court may, by way of offset only, make any order authorized by subdivision (h), notwithstanding the expiration of the applicable period specified in subdivision (e).
- (g) Interested directors may be counted in determining the presence of a quorum at a meeting of the board which authorizes, approves or ratifies a contract or transaction.
- (h) If a self-dealing transaction has taken place, the interested director or directors shall do such things and pay such damages as in the discretion of the court will provide an equitable and fair remedy to the corporation, taking into account any benefit received by the corporation and whether the interested director or directors acted in good faith and with intent to further the best interest of the corporation. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the court may order the director to do any or all of the following:
  - (1) Account for any profits made from such transaction, and pay them to the corporation;
  - (2) Pay the corporation the value of the use of any of its property used in such transaction; and
- (3) Return or replace any property lost to the corporation as a result of such transaction, together with any income or appreciation lost to the corporation by reason of such transaction, or account for any proceeds of sale of such property, and pay the proceeds to the corporation together with interest at the legal rate. The court may award prejudgment interest to the extent allowed in Section 3287 or 3288 of the Civil Code. In addition, the court may, in its discretion, grant exemplary damages for a fraudulent or malicious violation of this section.

## §7140. Powers of Corporation.

Subject to any limitations contained in the articles or bylaws and to compliance with other provisions of this division and any other applicable laws, a corporation, in carrying out its activities, shall have all of the powers of a natural person, including, without limitation, the power to:

- (a) Adopt, use, and at will alter a corporate seal, but failure to affix a seal does not affect the validity of any instrument.
  - (b) Adopt, amend, and repeal bylaws.
  - (c) Qualify to conduct its activities in any other state, territory, dependency or foreign country.
- (d) Issue, purchase, redeem, receive, take or otherwise acquire, own, sell, lend, exchange, transfer or otherwise dispose of, pledge, use, and otherwise deal in and with its own memberships, bonds, debentures, notes, and debt securities.
- (e) Pay pensions, and establish and carry out pension, deferred compensation, saving, thrift and other retirement, incentive, and benefit plans, trusts, and provisions for any or all of its directors, officers, employees, and persons providing services to it or any of its subsidiary or related or associated corporations, and to indemnify and purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any fiduciary of such plans, trusts, or provisions.
- (f) Issue certificates evidencing membership in accordance with the provisions of Section 7313 and issue identity cards.
  - (g) Levy dues, assessments, and admission and transfer fees.
- (h) Make donations for the public welfare or for community funds, hospital, charitable, educational, scientific, civic, religious, or similar purposes.
- (i) Assume obligations, enter into contracts, including contracts of guarantee or suretyship, incur liabilities, borrow or lend money or otherwise use its credit, and secure any of its obligations, contracts or liabilities by mortgage, pledge or other encumbrance of all or any part of its property and income.
- (j) Participate with others in any partnership, joint venture, or other association, transaction, or arrangement of any kind whether or not such participation involves sharing or delegation of control with or to others.
- (k) Act as trustee under any trust incidental to the principal objects of the corporation, and receive, hold, administer, exchange, and expend funds and property subject to such trust.
- (l) Carry on a business at a profit and apply any profit that results from the business activity to any activity in which it may lawfully engage.
- (m) (1) In anticipation of or during an emergency, take either or both of the following actions necessary to conduct the corporation's ordinary business operations and affairs, unless emergency bylaws provide otherwise pursuant to subdivision (g) of Section 7151:
- (A) Modify lines of succession to accommodate the incapacity of any director, officer, employee, or agent resulting from the emergency.
- (B) Relocate the principal office, designate alternative principal offices or regional offices, or authorize the officers to do so.
- (2) During an emergency, take either or both of the following actions necessary to conduct the corporation's ordinary business operations and affairs, unless emergency bylaws provide otherwise pursuant to subdivision (g) of Section 7151:
- (A) Give notice to a director or directors in any practicable manner under the circumstances, including, but not limited to, by publication and radio, when notice of a meeting of the board cannot be given to that director or directors in the manner prescribed by the bylaws or Section 7211.

- (B) Deem that one or more officers of the corporation present at a board meeting is a director, in order of rank and within the same rank in order of seniority, as necessary to achieve a quorum for that meeting.
- (3) In anticipation of or during an emergency, the board may not take any action that requires the vote of the members or is not in the corporation's ordinary course of business, unless the required vote of the members was obtained prior to the emergency.
- (4) Any actions taken in good faith in anticipation of or during an emergency under this subdivision bind the corporation and may not be used to impose liability on a corporate director, officer, employee, or agent.
- (5) For purposes of this subdivision, "emergency" means any of the following events or circumstances as a result of which, and only so long as, a quorum of the corporation's board of directors cannot be readily convened for action:
- (A) A natural catastrophe, including, but not limited to, a hurricane, tornado, storm, high water, wind-driven water, tidal wave, tsunami, earthquake, volcanic eruption, landslide, mudslide, snowstorm, or drought, or, regardless of cause, any fire, flood, or explosion.
- (B) An attack on this state or nation by an enemy of the United States of America, or upon receipt by this state of a warning from the federal government indicating that an enemy attack is probable or imminent.
- (C) An act of terrorism or other manmade disaster that results in extraordinary levels of casualties or damage or disruption severely affecting the infrastructure, environment, economy, government functions, or population, including, but not limited to, mass evacuations.
  - (D) A state of emergency proclaimed by a governor or by the President.

# §7141. Assertion of Limitations on Corporate Activities or Powers as between Corporation and Third Person; Binding Effect of Contracts.

Subject to Section 7142:

- (a) No limitation upon the activities, purposes, or powers of the corporation or upon the powers of the members, officers, or directors, or the manner of exercise of such powers, contained in or implied by the articles or by Chapters 15 (commencing with Section 8510), 16 (commencing with Section 8610), and 17 (commencing with Section 8710) shall be asserted as between the corporation or member, officer or director and any third person, except in a proceeding: (1) by a member or the state to enjoin the doing or continuation of unauthorized activities by the corporation or its officers, or both, in cases where third parties have not acquired rights thereby, (2) to dissolve the corporation, or (3) by the corporation or by a member suing in a representative suit against the officers or directors of the corporation for violation of their authority.
- (b) Any contract or conveyance made in the name of a corporation which is authorized or ratified by the board, or is done within the scope of authority, actual or apparent, conferred by the board or within the agency power of the officer executing it, except as the board's authority is limited by law other than this part, binds the corporation, and the corporation acquires rights thereunder whether the contract is executed or wholly or in part executory.

#### §7151. Contents; Directors; Meetings; Committees; Members; Emergency Operating Procedures.

(a) The bylaws shall set forth (unless such provision is contained in the articles, in which case it may only be changed by an amendment of the articles) the number of directors of the corporation, or the method of determining the number of directors of the corporation, or that the number of directors shall be not less than a stated minimum nor more than a stated maximum with the exact number of directors to be fixed, within the limits specified,

by approval of the board or the members (Section 5034), in the manner provided in the bylaws, subject to subdivision (e). The number or minimum number of directors may be one or more.

- (b) Once members have been admitted, a bylaw specifying or changing a fixed number of directors or the maximum or minimum number or changing from a fixed to a variable board or vice versa may only be adopted by approval of the members (Section 5034).
- (c) The bylaws may contain any provision, not in conflict with law or the articles, for the management of the activities and for the conduct of the affairs of the corporation, including but not limited to:
  - (1) Any provision referred to in subdivision (c) of Section 7132.
- (2) The time, place, and manner of calling, conducting, and giving notice of members', directors', and committee meetings, or of conducting mail ballots.
- (3) The qualifications, duties, and compensation of directors; the time of their election; and the requirements of a quorum for directors' and committee meetings.
- (4) The appointment of committees composed of directors or nondirectors, or both, by the board or any officer and the authority of any such committees.
  - (5) The appointment, duties, compensation, and tenure of officers.
  - (6) The mode of determination of members of record.
  - (7) The making of reports and financial statements to members.
  - (8) Setting, imposing, and collecting dues, assessments, and admission and transfer fees.
- (d) The bylaws may provide for the manner of admission, withdrawal, suspension, and expulsion of members, consistent with the requirements of Section 7341.
- (e) The bylaws may require, for any or all corporate actions (except as provided in paragraphs (1) and (2) of subdivision (a) of Section 7222, subdivision (c) of Section 7615, and Section 8610) the vote of a larger proportion of, or all of, the members or the members of any class, unit, or grouping of members or the vote of a larger proportion of, or all of, the directors, than is otherwise required by this part. Such a provision in the bylaws requiring such greater vote shall not be altered, amended, or repealed except by such greater vote, unless otherwise provided in the bylaws.
- (f) The bylaws may contain a provision limiting the number of members, in total or of any class, which the corporation is authorized to admit.
- (g) (1) The bylaws may contain any provision, not in conflict with the articles, to manage and conduct the ordinary business affairs of the corporation effective only in an emergency as defined in Section 7140, including, but not limited to, procedures for calling a board meeting, quorum requirements for a board meeting, and designation of additional or substitute directors.
- During an emergency, the board may not take any action that requires the vote of the members or otherwise is not in the corporation's ordinary course of business, unless the required vote of the members was obtained prior to the emergency.
- (3) All provisions of the regular bylaws consistent with the emergency bylaws shall remain effective during the emergency, and the emergency bylaws shall not be effective after the emergency ends.
- (4) Corporate action taken in good faith in accordance with the emergency bylaws binds the corporation, and may not be used to impose liability on a corporate director, officer, employee, or agent.

#### §7160. Availability; Place and Time.

Every corporation shall keep at its principal office in this state the original or a copy of its articles and bylaws as amended to date, which shall be open to inspection by the members at all reasonable times during office hours. If the corporation has no office in this state, it shall upon the written request of any member furnish to such member a copy of the articles or bylaws as amended to date.

#### §7210. Corporate Activities shall be under Direction of Board; Delegation of Management Activities.

Each corporation shall have a board of directors. Subject to the provisions of this part and any limitations in the articles or bylaws relating to action required to be approved by the members (Section 5034), or by a majority of all members (Section 5033), the activities and affairs of a corporation shall be conducted and all corporate powers shall be exercised by or under the direction of the board. The board may delegate the management of the activities of the corporation to any person or persons, management company, or committee however composed, provided that the activities and affairs of the corporation shall be managed and all corporate powers shall be exercised under the ultimate direction of the board.

- §7211. Meetings of the Board; Notice; Adjournment; Participation via Electronic Means; Quorum; Acts or Decisions of the Board; Action Taken by Board without a Meeting; Applicability of Section.
  - (a) Unless otherwise provided in the articles or in the bylaws, all of the following apply:
- (1) Meetings of the board may be called by the chair of the board or the president or any vice president or the secretary or any two directors.
- Regular meetings of the board may be held without notice if the time and place of the meetings are fixed by the bylaws or the board. Special meetings of the board shall be held upon four days' notice by first-class mail or 48 hours' notice delivered personally or by telephone, including a voice messaging system or by electronic transmission by the corporation (Section 20). The articles or bylaws may not dispense with notice of a special meeting. A notice, or waiver of notice, need not specify the purpose of any regular or special meeting of the board.
- (3) Notice of a meeting need not be given to any director who provided a waiver of notice or consent to holding the meeting or an approval of the minutes thereof in writing, whether before or after the meeting, or who attends the meeting without protesting, prior thereto or at its commencement, the lack of notice to that director. These waivers, consents and approvals shall be filed with the corporate records or made a part of the minutes of the meetings.
- (4) A majority of the directors present, whether or not a quorum is present, may adjourn any meeting to another time and place. If the meeting is adjourned for more than 24 hours, notice of any adjournment to another time or place shall be given prior to the time of the adjourned meeting to the directors who were not present at the time of the adjournment.
- (5) Meetings of the board may be held at a place within or without the state that has been designated in the notice of the meeting or, if not stated in the notice or if there is no notice, designated in the bylaws or by resolution of the board.
- (6) Directors may participate in a meeting through use of conference telephone, electronic video screen communication, or electronic transmission by and to the corporation (Sections 20 and 21). Participation in a meeting through use of conference telephone or electronic video screen communication pursuant to this subdivision constitutes presence in person at that meeting as long as all directors participating in the meeting are able to hear one another. Participation in a meeting through use of electronic transmission by and to the corporation, other than conference telephone and electronic video screen communication, pursuant to this subdivision constitutes presence in person at that meeting if both of the following apply:

- (A) Each director participating in the meeting can communicate with all of the other directors concurrently.
- (B) Each director is provided the means of participating in all matters before the board, including, without limitation, the capacity to propose, or to interpose an objection to, a specific action to be taken by the corporation.
- (7) A majority of the number of directors authorized in or pursuant to the articles or bylaws constitutes a quorum of the board for the transaction of business. The articles or bylaws may require the presence of one or more specified directors in order to constitute a quorum of the board to transact business, as long as the death or nonexistence of a specified director or the death or nonexistence of the person or persons otherwise authorized to appoint or designate that director does not prevent the corporation from transacting business in the normal course of events. The articles or bylaws may not provide that a quorum shall be less than one-fifth the number of directors authorized in or pursuant to the articles or bylaws, or less than two, whichever is larger, unless the number of directors authorized in or pursuant to the articles or bylaws is one, in which case one director constitutes a quorum.
- (8) Subject to the provisions of Sections 7212, 7233, 7234, and subdivision (e) of Section 7237 and Section 5233, insofar as it is made applicable pursuant to Section 7238, an act or decision done or made by a majority of the directors present at a meeting duly held at which a quorum is present is the act of the board. The articles or bylaws may not provide that a lesser vote than a majority of the directors present at a meeting is the act of the board. A meeting at which a quorum is initially present may continue to transact business notwithstanding the withdrawal of directors, if any action taken is approved by at least a majority of the required quorum for that meeting, or a greater number required by this division, the articles or the bylaws.
- (b) An action required or permitted to be taken by the board may be taken without a meeting if all directors shall individually or collectively consent in writing to that action and if, subject to subdivision (a) of Section 7224, the number of directors than in office constitutes a quorum. The written consent or consents shall be filed with the minutes of the proceedings of the board. The action by written consent shall have the same force and effect as a unanimous vote of the directors. For purposes of this subdivision only, "all directors" does not include an "interested director" as defined in subdivision (a) of Section 5233, insofar as it is made applicable pursuant to Section 7238 or described in subdivision (a) of Section 7233, or a "common director" as described in subdivision (b) of Section 7233 who abstains in writing from providing consent, where (1) the facts described in paragraph (2) or (3) of subdivision (d) of Section 5233 are established or the provisions of paragraph (1) or (2) of subdivision (a) of Section 7233 or in paragraph (1) or (2) of subdivision (b) of Section 7233 are satisfied, as appropriate, at or prior to execution of the written consent or consents; (2) the establishment of those facts or satisfaction of those provisions, as applicable, is included in the written consent or consents executed by the noninterested directors or noncommon directors or in other records of the corporation; and (3) the noninterested directors or noncommon directors, as applicable, approve the action by a vote that is sufficient without counting the votes of the interested directors or common directors.
- (c) Each director shall have one vote on each matter presented to the board of directors for action. No director may vote by proxy.
- (d) This section applies also to incorporators, to committees of the board, and to action by those incorporators or committees mutatis mutandis.

#### §7212. Creation of Committees; Appointment of Members; Authority.

(a) The board may, by resolution adopted by a majority of the number of directors then in office, provided that a quorum is present, create one or more committees, each consisting of two or more directors, to serve at the pleasure of the board. Appointments to such committees shall be by a majority vote of the directors then in office, unless the articles or bylaws require a majority vote of the number of directors authorized in or pursuant to the articles or bylaws. The bylaws may authorize one or more such committees, each consisting of two or more directors, and may provide that a specified officer or officers who are also directors of the corporation shall be a member or members of such committee or committees. The board may appoint one or more directors as alternate members of such committee, who may replace any absent member at any meeting of the committee. Such committee, to the extent

provided in the resolution of the board or in the bylaws, shall have all the authority of the board, except with respect to:

- (1) The approval of any action for which this part also requires approval of the members (Section 5034) or approval of a majority of all members (Section 5033), regardless of whether the corporation has members.
- (2) The filling of vacancies on the board or in any committee which has the authority of the board.
  - (3) The fixing of compensation of the directors for serving on the board or on any committee.
  - (4) The amendment or repeal of bylaws or the adoption of new bylaws.
- (5) The amendment or repeal of any resolution of the board which by its express terms is not so amendable or repealable.
  - (6) The appointment of committees of the board or the members thereof.
- (7) The expenditure of corporate funds to support a nominee for director after there are more people nominated for director than can be elected.
- (8) With respect to any assets held in charitable trust, the approval of any self-dealing transaction except as provided in paragraph (3) of subdivision (d) of Section 5233.
- (b) A committee exercising the authority of the board shall not include as members persons who are not directors. However, the board may create other committees that do not exercise the authority of the board and these other committees may include persons regardless of whether they are directors.
- (c) Unless the bylaws otherwise provide, the board may delegate to any committee, appointed pursuant to paragraph (4) of subdivision (c) of Section 7151 or otherwise, powers as authorized by Section 7210, but may not delegate the powers set forth in paragraphs (1) to (8), inclusive, of subdivision (a).

# §7213. Corporate Officers; Chair of the Board; President; Secretary; Treasurer or Chief Financial Officer; Applicability of Government Code Section 12586; Selection of Officers.

- (a) A corporation shall have (1) a chair of the board, who may be given the title **chair, chairperson, chairman, chairwoman,** chair of the board, chairperson of the board, chairman of the board, or chairwoman of the board, or a president or both, (2) a secretary, (3) a treasurer or a chief financial officer or both, and (4) any other officers with any titles and duties as shall be stated in the bylaws or determined by the board and as may be necessary to enable it to sign instruments. The president, or if there is no president the chair of the board, is the general manager and chief executive officer of the corporation, unless otherwise provided in the articles or bylaws. Unless otherwise specified in the articles or the bylaws, if there is no chief financial officer, the treasurer is the chief financial officer of the corporation. Any number of offices may be held by the same person unless the articles or bylaws provide otherwise. Where a corporation holds assets in charitable trust, any compensation of the president or chief executive officer and the chief financial officer or treasurer shall be determined in accordance with subdivision (g) of Section 12586 of the Government Code, if applicable.
- (b) Except as otherwise provided by the articles or bylaws, officers shall be chosen by the board and serve at the pleasure of the board, subject to the rights, if any, of an officer under any contract of employment. Any officer may resign at any time upon written notice to the corporation without prejudice to the rights, if any, of the corporation under any contract to which the officer is a party.

### §7215. Bylaws, Minutes, and Resolutions as Prima Facie Evidence; Original or Copy; Forms Allowed.

The original or a copy in writing or in any other form capable of being converted into clearly legible tangible form of the bylaws or of the minutes of any incorporators', members', directors', committee or other meeting or of any resolution adopted by the board or a committee thereof, or members, certified to be a true copy by a person purporting to be the secretary or an assistant secretary of the corporation, is prima facie evidence of the adoption of such bylaws or resolution or of the due holding of such meeting and of the matters stated therein.

### §7220. Election and Selection of Directors; Term of Office; "Designator"; Entitlement to Designate Directors.

- (a) Except as provided in subdivision (d), directors shall be elected for such terms, not longer than four years, as are fixed in the articles or bylaws. However, the terms of directors of a corporation without members may be up to six years. In the absence of any provision in the articles or bylaws, the term shall be one year. The articles or bylaws may provide for staggering the terms of directors by dividing the total number of directors into groups of one or more directors. The terms of office of the several groups and the number of directors in each group need not be uniform. No amendment of the articles or bylaws may extend the term of a director beyond that for which the director was elected, nor may any bylaw provision increasing the terms of directors be adopted without approval of the members (Section 5034).
- (b) Unless the articles or bylaws otherwise provide, each director, including a director elected to fill a vacancy, shall hold office until the expiration of the term for which elected and until a successor has been elected and qualified, unless the director has been removed from office.
- (c) The articles or bylaws may provide for the election of one or more directors by the members of any class voting as a class.
- (d) For the purposes of this subdivision, "designator" means one or more designators. Subdivisions (a) through (c) notwithstanding, all or any portion of the directors authorized in the articles or bylaws of a corporation may hold office by virtue of designation or selection by a specified designator as provided by the articles or bylaws rather than by election. Such directors shall continue in office for the term prescribed by the governing article or bylaw provision, or, if there is no term prescribed, until the governing article or bylaw provision is duly amended or repealed, except as provided in subdivision (e) of Section 7222. A bylaw provision authorized by this subdivision may be adopted, amended, or repealed only by approval of the members (Section 5034), except as provided in subdivision (d) of Section 7150. Unless otherwise provided in the articles or bylaws, the entitlement to designate or select a director or directors shall cease if any of the following circumstances exist:
  - (1) The specified designator of that director or directors has died or ceased to exist.
- (2) If the entitlement of the specified designator of that director or directors to designate is in the capacity of an officer, trustee, or other status and the office, trust, or status has ceased to exist.
- (e) If a corporation has not issued memberships and (1) all the directors resign, die, or become incompetent, or (2) a corporation's initial directors have not been named in the articles and all incorporators resign, die, or become incompetent before the election of the initial directors, the superior court of any county may appoint directors of the corporation upon application by any party in interest.

#### §7221. Grounds for Vacating Office of Director.

(a) The board may declare vacant the office of a director who has been declared of unsound mind by a final order of court, or convicted of a felony, or, in the case of a corporation holding assets in charitable trust, has been found by a final order or judgment of any court to have breached any duty arising as a result of Section 7238, or, if at the time a director is elected, the bylaws provide that a director may be removed for missing a specified number of board meetings, fails to attend the specified number of meetings.

(b) As provided in paragraph (3) of subdivision (c) of Section 7151, the articles or bylaws may prescribe the qualifications of the directors. The board, by a majority vote of the directors who meet all of the required qualifications to be a director, may declare vacant the office of any director who fails or ceases to meet any required qualification that was in effect at the beginning of that director's current term of office.

#### §7222. Removal of Directors Without Cause.

- (a) Subject to subdivisions (b) and (f) of this section, any or all directors may be removed without cause if:
- (1) In a corporation with fewer than 50 members, the removal is approved by a majority of all members (Section 5033).
- (2) In a corporation with 50 or more members, the removal is approved by the members (Section 5034).
- (3) In a corporation with no members, the removal is approved by a majority of the directors then in office.
  - (b) Except for a corporation having no members, pursuant to Section 7310:
- (1) In a corporation in which the articles or bylaws authorize members to cumulate their votes pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 7615, no director may be removed (unless the entire board is removed) when the votes cast against removal, or not consenting in writing to the removal, would be sufficient to elect the director if voted cumulatively at an election at which the same total number of votes were cast (or, if the action is taken by written ballot, all memberships entitled to vote were voted) and the entire number of directors authorized at the time of the director's most recent election were then being elected.
- (2) When by the provisions of the articles or bylaws the members of any class, voting as a class, are entitled to elect one or more directors, any director so elected may be removed only by the applicable vote of the members of that class.
- (3) When by the provisions of the articles or bylaws the members within a chapter or other organizational unit, or region or other geographic grouping, voting as such, are entitled to elect one or more directors, any director so elected may be removed only by the applicable vote of the members within the organizational unit or geographic grouping.
- (c) Any reduction of the authorized number of directors or any amendment reducing the number of classes of directors does not remove any director prior to the expiration of the director's term of office unless the reduction or amendment also provides for the removal of one or more specified directors.
- (d) Except as provided in this section and Sections 7221 and 7223, a director may not be removed prior to the expiration of the director's term of office.
- (e) Where a director removed under this section or Section 7221 or 7223 was chosen by designation pursuant to subdivision (d) of Section 7220, then:
- (1) Where a different person may be designated pursuant to the governing article or bylaw provision, the new designation shall be made.
- (2) Where the governing article or bylaw provision contains no provision under which a different person may be designated, the governing article or bylaw provision shall be deemed repealed.
- (f) For the purposes of this subdivision, "designator" means one or more designators. If by the provisions of the articles or bylaws a designator is entitled to designate one or more directors, then:

- (1) Unless otherwise provided in the articles or bylaws at the time of designation, any director so designated may be removed without cause by the designator of that director.
- (2) Any director so designated may only be removed under subdivision (a) with the written consent of the designator of that director.
- (3) Unless otherwise provided in the articles or bylaws, the right to remove shall not apply if any of the following circumstances exist:
  - (A) The designator entitled to that right has died or ceased to exist.
- (B) If that right is in the capacity of an officer, trustee, or other status, and the office, trust, or status has ceased to exist.

#### §7223. Removal of Director by Court Order; Grounds.

- (a) The superior court of the proper county may, at the suit of one of the parties specified in subdivision (b), remove from office any director in case of fraudulent or dishonest acts or gross abuse of authority or discretion with reference to the corporation or breach of any duty arising as a result of Section 7238 and may bar from reelection any director so removed for a period prescribed by the court. The corporation shall be made a party to such action.
  - (b) An action under subdivision (a) may be instituted by any of the following:
    - (1) A director.
- (2) In the case of a corporation where the total number of votes entitled to be cast for a director is less than 5,000, twice the authorized number (Section 5036) of members, or 20 members, whichever is less.
- (3) In the case of a corporation where the total number of votes entitled to be cast for a director is 5,000 or more, twice the authorized number (Section 5036) of members, or 100 members, whichever is less.
- (c) In the case of a corporation holding assets in charitable trust, the Attorney General may bring an action under subdivision (a), may intervene in such an action brought by any other party and shall be given notice of any such action brought by any other party.

# §7224. Means of Filling Vacancies on Board of Directors; Resignation of Director; Notice Requirements.

- (a) Unless otherwise provided in the articles or bylaws and except for a vacancy created by the removal of a director, vacancies on the board may be filled by approval of the board (Section 5032) or, if the number of directors then in office is less than a quorum, by (1) the unanimous written consent of the directors then in office, (2) the affirmative vote of a majority of the directors then in office at a meeting held pursuant to notice or waivers of notice complying with Section 7211, or (3) a sole remaining director. Unless the articles or a bylaw approved by the members (Section 5034) provide that the board may fill vacancies occurring in the board by reason of the removal of directors, or unless the corporation has no members pursuant to Section 7310, such vacancies may be filled only by approval of the members (Section 5034).
  - (b) The members may elect a director at any time to fill any vacancy not filled by the directors.
- (c) Any director may resign effective upon giving written notice to the chairman of the board, the president, the secretary or the board of directors of the corporation, unless the notice specifies a later time for the effectiveness of such resignation. If the resignation is effective at a future time, a successor may be elected to take office when the resignation becomes effective.

# §7225. Appointment of Provisional Director when Directors cannot Agree as to Management; Deadlock; Equitable Relief; Rights and Powers of Provisional Director.

- (a) If a corporation has an even number of directors who are equally divided and cannot agree as to the management of its affairs, so that its activities can no longer be conducted to advantage or so that there is danger that its property, activities, or business will be impaired or lost, the superior court of the proper county may, notwithstanding any provisions of the articles or bylaws and whether or not an action is pending for an involuntary winding up or dissolution of the corporation, appoint a provisional director pursuant to this section. Action for such appointment may be brought by any director or by members holding not less than 33 1/3 percent of the voting power.
- (b) If the members of a corporation are deadlocked so that they cannot elect the directors to be elected at the time prescribed therefore, the superior court of the proper county may, notwithstanding any provisions of the articles or bylaws, upon petition of members holding 50 percent of the voting power, appoint a provisional director or directors pursuant to this section or order such other equitable relief as the court deems appropriate.
  - (c) In the case of a corporation holding assets in charitable trust:
- (1) Any person bringing an action under subdivision (a) or (b) shall give notice to the Attorney General, who may intervene; and
  - (2) The Attorney General may bring an action under subdivision (a) or (b).
- (d) A provisional director shall be an impartial person, who is neither a member nor a creditor of the corporation, nor related by consanguinity or affinity within the third degree according to the common law to any of the other directors of the corporation or to any judge of the court by which such provisional director is appointed. A provisional director shall have all the rights and powers of a director until the deadlock in the board or among members is broken or until such provisional director is removed by order of the court or by approval of a majority of all members (Section 5033). Such person shall be entitled to such compensation as shall be fixed by the court unless otherwise agreed with the corporation.

# §7231. Director to Perform Duties in Good Faith; Good Faith Reliance on Official Corporate Information, Opinions, and Records; Liability of Directors.

- (a) A director shall perform the duties of a director, including duties as a member of any committee of the board upon which the director may serve, in good faith, in a manner such director believes to be in the best interests of the corporation and with such care, including reasonable inquiry, as an ordinarily prudent person in a like position would use under similar circumstances
- (b) In performing the duties of a director, a director shall be entitled to rely on information, opinions, reports or statements, including financial statements and other financial data, in each case prepared or presented by:
- (1) One or more officers or employees of the corporation whom the director believes to be reliable and competent in the matters presented;
- (2) Counsel, independent accountants or other persons as to matters which the director believes to be within such person's professional or expert competence; or
- (3) A committee upon which the director does not serve that is composed exclusively of any or any combination of directors, persons described in paragraph (1), or persons described in paragraph (2), as to matters within the committee's designated authority, which committee the director believes to merit confidence, so long as, in any case, the director acts in good faith, after reasonable inquiry when the need therefore is indicated by the circumstances and without knowledge that would cause such reliance to be unwarranted.
- (c) A person who performs the duties of a director in accordance with subdivisions (a) and (b) shall have no liability based upon any alleged failure to discharge the person's obligations as a director, including, without

limiting the generality of the foregoing, any actions or omissions which exceed or defeat a public or charitable purpose to which assets held by a corporation are dedicated.

# §7233. Conflicts of Interest; Contracts not Void or Voidable if Approved at Meeting in Presence of Interested Director; Conditions; Applicability.

- (a) No contract or other transaction between a corporation and one or more of its directors, or between a corporation and any domestic or foreign corporation, firm or association in which one or more of its directors has a material financial interest, is either void or voidable because such director or directors or such other corporation business corporation, firm or association are parties or because such director or directors are present at the meeting of the board or a committee thereof which authorizes, approves or ratifies the contract or transaction, if:
- (1) The material facts as to the transaction and as to such director's interest are fully disclosed or known to the members and such contract or transaction is approved by the members (Section 5034) in good faith, with any membership owned by any interested director not being entitled to vote thereon;
- (2) The material facts as to the transaction and as to such director's interest are fully disclosed or known to the board or committee, and the board or committee authorizes, approves or ratifies the contract or transaction in good faith by a vote sufficient without counting the vote of the interested director or directors and the contract or transaction is just and reasonable as to the corporation at the time it is authorized, approved or ratified; or
- (3) As to contracts or transactions not approved as provided in paragraph (1) or (2) of this subdivision, the person asserting the validity of the contract or transaction sustains the burden of proving that the contract or transaction was just and reasonable as to the corporation at the time it was authorized, approved or ratified.

A mere common directorship does not constitute a material financial interest within the meaning of this subdivision. A director is not interested within the meaning of this subdivision in a resolution fixing the compensation of another director as a director, officer or employee of the corporation, notwithstanding the fact that the first director is also receiving compensation from the corporation.

- (b) No contract or other transaction between a corporation and any corporation, business corporation or association of which one or more of its directors are directors is either void or voidable because such director or directors are present at the meeting of the board or a committee thereof which authorizes, approves or ratifies the contract or transaction, if:
- (1) The material facts as to the transaction and as to such director's other directorship are fully disclosed or known to the board or committee, and the board or committee authorizes, approves or ratifies the contract or transaction in good faith by a vote sufficient without counting the vote of the common director or directors or the contract or transaction is approved by the members (Section 5034) in good faith; or
- (2) As to contracts or transactions not approved as provided in paragraph (1) of this subdivision, the contract or transaction is just and reasonable as to the corporation at the time it is authorized, approved or ratified.

This subdivision does not apply to contracts or transactions covered by subdivision (a).

### §7234. Counting of Interested or Common Directors in Determining Quorum.

Interested or common directors may be counted in determining the presence of a quorum at a meeting of the board or a committee thereof which authorizes, approves or ratifies a contract or transaction as provided in Section 7233.

- §7237. "Agent;" "Proceeding;" "Expenses;" Power of Corporation to Indemnify Person Threatened to be Made Party to Proceeding; Indemnification of Agent for Expenses Incurred; Authorization to Purchase Liability Insurance on Behalf of Corporate Agent; Applicability of Section.
- (a) For purposes of this section, "agent" means a person who is or was a director, officer, employee, or other agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee, or agent of another foreign or domestic corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, or was a director, officer, employee, or agent of a foreign or domestic corporation that was a predecessor corporation of the corporation or of another enterprise at the request of the predecessor corporation; "proceeding" means any threatened, pending, or completed action or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative; and "expenses" includes, without limitation, attorneys' fees and any expenses of establishing a right to indemnification under subdivision (d) or paragraph (3) of subdivision (e).
- (b) A corporation shall have power to indemnify a person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any proceeding (other than an action by or in the right of the corporation to procure a judgment in its favor, an action brought under Section 5233 of Part 2 (commencing with Section 5110) made applicable pursuant to Section 7238, or an action brought by the Attorney General or a person granted relator status by the Attorney General for any breach of duty relating to assets held in charitable trust) by reason of the fact that the person is or was an agent of the corporation, against expenses, judgments, fines, settlements, and other amounts actually and reasonably incurred in connection with the proceeding if the person acted in good faith and in a manner the person reasonably believed to be in the best interests of the corporation and, in the case of a criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe the conduct of the person was unlawful. The termination of any proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the person did not act in good faith and in a manner which the person reasonably believed to be in the best interests of the corporation or that the person had reasonable cause to believe that the person's conduct was unlawful.
- (c) A corporation shall have power to indemnify a person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending, or completed action by or in the right of the corporation, or brought under Section 5233 of Part 2 (commencing with Section 5110) made applicable pursuant to Section 7238, or brought by the Attorney General or a person granted relator status by the Attorney General for breach of duty relating to assets held in charitable trust, to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that the person is or was an agent of the corporation, against expenses actually and reasonably incurred by the person in connection with the defense or settlement of the action if the person acted in good faith, in a manner the person believed to be in the best interests of the corporation and with such care, including reasonable inquiry, as an ordinarily prudent person in a like position would use under similar circumstances. No indemnification shall be made under this subdivision:
- (1) With respect to any claim, issue, or matter as to which the person shall have been adjudged to be liable to the corporation in the performance of the person's duty to the corporation, unless and only to the extent that the court in which the proceeding is or was pending shall determine upon application that, in view of all the circumstances of the case, the person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for the expenses which the court shall determine;
- (2) Of amounts paid in settling or otherwise disposing of a threatened or pending action, with or without court approval; or
- (3) Of expenses incurred in defending a threatened or pending action that is settled or otherwise disposed of without court approval unless such action concerns assets held in charitable trust and is settled with the approval of the Attorney General.
- (d) To the extent that an agent of a corporation has been successful on the merits in defense of any proceeding referred to in subdivision (b) or (c) or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, the agent shall be indemnified against expenses actually and reasonably incurred by the agent in connection therewith.

- (e) Except as provided in subdivision (d), any indemnification under this section shall be made by the corporation only if authorized in the specific case, upon a determination that indemnification of the agent is proper in the circumstances because the agent has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in subdivision (b) or (c), by:
  - (1) A majority vote of a quorum consisting of directors who are not parties to the proceeding;
- (2) Approval of the members (Section 5034), with the persons to be indemnified not being entitled to vote thereon; or
- (3) The court in which the proceeding is or was pending upon application made by the corporation or the agent or the attorney, or other person rendering services in connection with the defense, whether or not the application by the agent, attorney or other person is opposed by the corporation.
- (f) Expenses incurred in defending any proceeding may be advanced by the corporation before the final disposition of the proceeding upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the agent to repay the amount unless it shall be determined ultimately that the agent is entitled to be indemnified as authorized in this section. The provisions of subdivision (a) of Section 7235 do not apply to advances made pursuant to this subdivision.
- (g) A provision made by a corporation to indemnify its or its subsidiary's directors or officers for the defense of any proceeding, whether contained in the articles, bylaws, a resolution of members or directors, an agreement, or otherwise, shall not be valid unless consistent with this section. Nothing contained in this section shall affect any right to indemnification to which persons other than the directors and officers may be entitled by contract or otherwise.
- (h) No indemnification or advance shall be made under this section, except as provided in subdivision (d) or paragraph (3) of subdivision (e), in any circumstance where it appears:
- (1) That it would be inconsistent with a provision of the articles, bylaws, a resolution of the members, or an agreement in effect at the time of the accrual of the alleged cause of action asserted in the proceeding in which the expenses were incurred or other amounts were paid, which prohibits or otherwise limits indemnification; or
- (2) That it would be inconsistent with any condition expressly imposed by a court in approving a settlement.
- (i) A corporation shall have power to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of an agent of the corporation against any liability asserted against or incurred by the agent in such capacity or arising out of the agent's status as such whether or not the corporation would have the power to indemnify the agent against such liability under the provisions of this section.
- (j) This section does not apply to a proceeding against a trustee, investment manager, or other fiduciary of a pension, deferred compensation, saving, thrift, or other retirement, incentive, or benefit plan, trust, or provision for any or all of the corporation's directors, officers, employees, and persons providing services to the corporation or any of its subsidiary or related or affiliated corporations in that person's capacity as such, even though the person may also be an agent as defined in subdivision (a) of the employer corporation. A corporation shall have power to indemnify the trustee, investment manager, or other fiduciary to the extent permitted by subdivision (e) of Section 7140.
- §7510. Meetings of Members; Orders of Superior Court after Failure to Hold Regular Meeting or Written Ballot; Who may Call Special Meetings; Conducting Meetings by Electronic Transmission Allowed; Requirements.
- (a) Meetings of members may be held at a place within or without this state as may be stated in or fixed in accordance with the bylaws. If no other place is stated or so fixed, meetings of members shall be held at the principal executive office of the corporation. Unless prohibited by the bylaws of the corporation, if authorized by the board of directors in its sole discretion, and subject to the requirement of consent in clause (b) of Section 20 and those guidelines and procedures as the board of directors may adopt, members not physically present in person (or, if proxies are

allowed, by proxy) at a meeting of members may, by electronic transmission by and to the corporation (Sections 20 and 21) or by electronic video screen communication, participate in a meeting of members, be deemed present in person (or, if proxies are allowed, by proxy), and vote at a meeting of members whether that meeting is to be held at a designated place or in whole or in part by means of electronic transmission by and to the corporation or by electronic video screen communication, in accordance with subdivision (f).

- (b) A regular meeting of members shall be held on a date and time, and with the frequency stated in or fixed in accordance with the bylaws, but in any event in each year in which directors are to be elected at that meeting for the purpose of conducting such election, and to transact any other proper business which may be brought before the meeting.
- (c) If a corporation with members is required by subdivision (b) to hold a regular meeting and fails to hold the regular meeting for a period of 60 days after the date designated therefore or, if no date has been designated, for a period of 15 months after the formation of the corporation or after its last regular meeting, or if the corporation fails to hold a written ballot for a period of 60 days after the date designated therefore, then the superior court of the proper county may summarily order the meeting to be held or the ballot to be conducted upon the application of a member or the Attorney General, after notice to the corporation giving it an opportunity to be heard.
- (d) The votes represented, either in person (or, if proxies are allowed, by proxy), at a meeting called or by written ballot ordered pursuant to subdivision (c), and entitled to be cast on the business to be transacted shall constitute a quorum, notwithstanding any provision of the articles or bylaws or in this part to the contrary. The court may issue such orders as may be appropriate including, without limitation, orders designating the time and place of the meeting, the record date for determination of members entitled to vote, and the form of notice of the meeting.
- (e) Special meetings of members for any lawful purpose may be called by the board, the chairman of the board, the president, or such other persons, if any, as are specified in the bylaws. In addition, special meetings of members for any lawful purpose may be called by 5 percent or more of the members.
- (f) A meeting of the members may be conducted, in whole or in part, by electronic transmission by and to the corporation or by electronic video screen communication (1) if the corporation implements reasonable measures to provide members in person (or, if proxies are allowed, by proxy) a reasonable opportunity to participate in the meeting and to vote on matters submitted to the members, including an opportunity to read or hear the proceedings of the meeting substantially concurrently with those proceedings, and (2) if any member votes or takes other action at the meeting by means of electronic transmission to the corporation or electronic video screen communication, a record of that vote or action is maintained by the corporation. Any request by a corporation to a member pursuant to clause (b) of Section 20 for consent to conduct a meeting of members by electronic transmission by and to the corporation, shall include a notice that absent consent of the member pursuant to clause (b) of Section 20, the meeting shall be held at a physical location in accordance with subdivision (a).

# §7511. Notice of Meeting Where Shareholders are Required or Permitted to Take Action; Requirements for Validity of Notice by Electronic Transmission; Special Meetings; Notice of Adjourned Meeting; Validity.

(a) Whenever members are required or permitted to take any action at a meeting, a written notice of the meeting shall be given not less than 10 nor more than 90 days before the date of the meeting to each member who, on the record date for notice of the meeting, is entitled to vote thereat; provided, however, that if notice is given by mail, and the notice is not mailed by first-class, registered, or certified mail, that notice shall be given not less than 20 days before the meeting. Subject to subdivision (f), and subdivision (b) of Section 7512, the notice shall state the place, date and time of the meeting, the means of electronic transmission by and to the corporation (Sections 20 and 21) or electronic video screen communication, if any, by which members may participate in that meeting, and (1) in the case of a special meeting, the general nature of the business to be transacted, and no other business may be transacted, or (2) in the case of the regular meeting, those matters which the board, at the time the notice is given, intends to present for action by the members, but, except as provided in subdivision (b) of Section 7512, any proper matter may be presented at the meeting for the action. The notice of any meeting at which directors are to be elected shall include the names of all those who are nominees at the time the notice is given to members.

(b) Notice of a members' meeting or any report shall be given personally, by electronic transmission by a corporation, or by mail or other means of written communication, addressed to a member at the address of the member appearing on the books of the corporation or given by the member to the corporation for purpose of notice; or if no such address appears or is given, at the place where the principal office of the corporation is located or by publication at least once in a newspaper of general circulation in the county in which the principal office is located. An affidavit of giving of any notice or report in accordance with the provisions of this part, executed by the secretary, assistant secretary or any transfer agent, shall be prima facie evidence of the giving of the notice or report.

If any notice or report addressed to the member at the address of the member appearing on the books of the corporation is returned to the corporation by the United States Postal Service marked to indicate that the United States Postal Service is unable to deliver the notice or report to the member at the address, all future notices or reports shall be deemed to have been duly given without further mailing if the same shall be available for the member upon written demand of the member at the principal office of the corporation for a period of one year from the date of the giving of the notice or report to all other members.

Notice given by electronic transmission by the corporation under this subdivision shall be valid only if it complies with Section 20. Notwithstanding the foregoing, notice shall not be given by electronic transmission by the corporation under this subdivision after either of the following:

- (1) The corporation is unable to deliver two consecutive notices to the member by that means.
- (2) The inability to so deliver the notices to the member becomes known to the secretary, any assistant secretary, the transfer agent, or other person responsible for the giving of the notice.
- (c) Upon request in writing to the corporation addressed to the attention of the chairman of the board, president, vice president, or secretary by any person (other than the board) entitled to call a special meeting of members, the officer forthwith shall cause notice to be given to the members entitled to vote that a meeting will be held at a time fixed by the board not less than 35 nor more than 90 days after the receipt of the request. If the notice is not given within 20 days after receipt of the request, the persons entitled to call the meeting may give the notice or the superior court of the proper county shall summarily order the giving of the notice, after notice to the corporation giving it an opportunity to be heard. The court may issue such orders as may be appropriate, including, without limitation, orders designating the time and place of the meeting, the record date for determination of members entitled to vote, and the form of notice.
- (d) When a members' meeting is adjourned to another time or place, unless the bylaws otherwise require and except as provided in this subdivision, notice need not be given of the adjourned meeting if the time and place thereof (or the means of electronic transmission by and to the corporation or electronic video screen communication, if any, by which members may participate) are announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken. No meeting may be adjourned for more than 45 days. At the adjourned meeting the corporation may transact any business which might have been transacted at the original meeting. If after the adjournment a new record date is fixed for notice or voting, a notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given to each member who, on the record date for notice of the meeting, is entitled to vote at the meeting.
- (e) The transactions of any meeting of members however called and noticed, and wherever held, are as valid as though had at a meeting duly held after regular call and notice, if a quorum is present either in person or by proxy, and if, either before or after the meeting, each of the persons entitled to vote, not present in person (or, if proxies are allowed, by proxy), provides a waiver of notice or consent to the holding of the meeting or an approval of the minutes thereof in writing. All such waivers, consents and approvals shall be filed with the corporate records or made a part of the minutes of the meeting. Attendance of a person at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of and presence at the meeting, except when the person objects, at the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened and except that attendance at a meeting is not a waiver of any right to object to the consideration of matters required by this part to be included in the notice but not so included, if the objection is expressly made at the meeting. Neither the business to be transacted at nor the purpose of any regular or special meeting of members need be specified in any written waiver of notice, consent to the holding of the meeting or approval of the minutes thereof, unless otherwise provided in the articles or bylaws, except as provided in subdivision (f).

- (f) Any approval of the members required under Section 7222, 7224, 7233, 7812, 8610, or 8719, other than unanimous approval by those entitled to vote, shall be valid only if the general nature of the proposal so approved was stated in the notice of meeting or in any written waiver of notice.
- (g) A court may find that notice not given in conformity with this section is still valid, if it was given in a fair and reasonable manner.

#### §7512. Determination of Quorum.

- (a) One-third of the voting power, represented in person or by proxy, shall constitute a quorum at a meeting of members, but, subject to subdivisions (b) and (c), a bylaw may set a different quorum. Any bylaw amendment to increase the quorum may be adopted only by approval of the members (Section 5034). If a quorum is present, the affirmative vote of the majority of the voting power represented at the meeting, entitled to vote, and voting on any matter shall be the act of the members unless the vote of a greater number or voting by classes is required by this part or the articles or bylaws.
- (b) Where a bylaw authorizes a corporation to conduct a meeting with a quorum of less than one-third of the voting power, then the only matters that may be voted upon at any regular meeting actually attended, in person or by proxy, by less than one-third of the voting power are matters notice of the general nature of which was given, pursuant to the first sentence of subdivision (a) of Section 7511.
- (c) Subject to subdivision (b), the members present at a duly called or held meeting at which a quorum is present may continue to transact business until adjournment notwithstanding the withdrawal of enough members to leave less than a quorum, if any action taken (other than adjournment) is approved by at least a majority of the members required to constitute a quorum or, if required by this division, or by the articles or the bylaws, the vote of the greater number or voting by classes.
- (d) In the absence of a quorum, any meeting of members may be adjourned from time to time by the vote of a majority of the votes represented either in person or by proxy, but no other business may be transacted, except as provided in subdivision (c).

# §7513. Actions which May be Taken without Meeting; Approval by Written Ballot; Solicitation and Revocation of Ballots; Election of Directors by Written Ballot.

- (a) Subject to subdivision (e), and unless prohibited in the articles or bylaws, any action which may be taken at any regular or special meeting of members may be taken without a meeting if the corporation distributes a written ballot to every member entitled to vote on the matter. Unless otherwise provided by the articles or bylaws and if approved by the board of directors, that ballot and any related material may be sent by electronic transmission by the corporation (Section 20) and responses may be returned to the corporation by electronic transmission to the corporation (Section 21). That ballot shall set forth the proposed action, provide an opportunity to specify approval or disapproval of any proposal, and provide a reasonable time within which to return the ballot to the corporation.
- (b) Approval by written ballot pursuant to this section shall be valid only when the number of votes cast by ballot within the time period specified equals or exceeds the quorum required to be present at a meeting authorizing the action, and the number of approvals equals or exceeds the number of votes that would be required to approve at a meeting at which the total number of votes cast was the same as the number of votes cast by ballot.
- (c) Ballots shall be solicited in a manner consistent with the requirements of subdivision (b) of Section 7511 and Section 7514. All such solicitations shall indicate the number of responses needed to meet the quorum requirement and, with respect to ballots other than for the election of directors, shall state the percentage of approvals necessary to pass the measure submitted. The solicitation must specify the time by which the ballot must be received in order to be counted.
  - (d) Unless otherwise provided in the articles or bylaws, a written ballot may not be revoked.

- (e) Directors may be elected by written ballot under this section, where authorized by the articles or bylaws, except that election by written ballot may not be authorized where the directors are elected by cumulative voting pursuant to Section 7615.
- (f) When directors are to be elected by written ballot and the articles or bylaws prescribe a nomination procedure, the procedure may provide for a date for the close of nominations prior to the printing and distributing of the written ballots.

# §7514. Form of Proxy or Written Ballot; Opportunity to Specify Choice between Approval and Disapproval Required; Ballots Marked "Withhold"; Effect of Failure to Comply with Section.

- (a) Any form of proxy or written ballot distributed to 10 or more members of a corporation with 100 or more members shall afford an opportunity on the proxy or form of written ballot to specify a choice between approval and disapproval of each matter or group of related matters intended, at the time the written ballot or proxy is distributed, to be acted upon at the meeting for which the proxy is solicited or by such written ballot, and shall provide, subject to reasonable specified conditions, that where the person solicited specifies a choice with respect to any such matter the vote shall be cast in accordance therewith.
- (b) In any election of directors, any form of proxy or written ballot in which the directors to be voted upon are named therein as candidates and which is marked by a member "withhold" or otherwise marked in a manner indicating that the authority to vote for the election of directors is withheld shall not be voted either for or against the election of a director.
- (c) Failure to comply with this section shall not invalidate any corporate action taken, but may be the basis for challenging any proxy at a meeting or written ballot and the superior court may compel compliance therewith at the suit of any member.

#### §7515. Direction by Court Order that Meeting be Called; Powers of Court; Validity of Meeting.

- (a) If for any reason it is impractical or unduly difficult for any corporation to call or conduct a meeting of its members, delegates or directors, or otherwise obtain their consent, in the manner prescribed by its articles or bylaws, or this part, then the superior court of the proper county, upon petition of a director, officer, delegate or member, may order that such a meeting be called or that a written ballot or other form of obtaining the vote of members, delegates or directors be authorized, in such a manner as the court finds fair and equitable under the circumstances.
- (b) The court shall, in an order issued pursuant to this section, provide for a method of notice reasonably designed to give actual notice to all parties who would be entitled to notice of a meeting held pursuant to the articles, bylaws and this part, whether or not the method results in actual notice to every such person, or conforms to the notice requirements that would otherwise apply. In a proceeding under this section the court may determine who the members or directors are.
- (c) The order issued pursuant to this section may dispense with any requirement relating to the holding of and voting at meetings or obtaining of votes, including any requirement as to quorums or as to the number or percentage of votes needed for approval, that would otherwise be imposed by the articles, bylaws, or this part.
- (d) Wherever practical any order issued pursuant to this section shall limit the subject matter of the meetings or other forms of consent authorized to items, including amendments to the articles or bylaws, the resolution of which will or may enable the corporation to continue managing its affairs without further resort to this section; provided, however, that an order under this section may also authorize the obtaining of whatever votes and approvals are necessary for the dissolution, merger, sale of assets or reorganization of the corporation.
- (e) Any meeting or other method of obtaining the vote of members, delegates or directors conducted pursuant to an order issued under this section, and which complies with all the provisions of such order, is for all purposes a valid meeting or vote, as the case may be, and shall have the same force and effect as if it complied with every requirement imposed by the articles, bylaws, and this part.

### §7516. Action without Meeting by Written Consent.

Any action required or permitted to be taken by the members may be taken without a meeting, if all members shall individually or collectively consent in writing to the action. The written consent or consents shall be filed with the minutes of the proceedings of the members. The action by written consent shall have the same force and effect as the unanimous vote of the members.

#### §7517. Name Signed.

- (a) If the name signed on a ballot, consent, waiver, or proxy appointment corresponds to the name of a member, the corporation if acting in good faith is entitled to accept the ballot, consent, waiver or proxy appointment and give it effect as the act of the member.
- (b) If the name signed on a ballot, consent, waiver, or proxy appointment does not correspond to the record name of a member, the corporation if acting in good faith is nevertheless entitled to accept the ballot, consent, waiver, or proxy appointment and give it effect as the act of the member if any of the following occur:
- (1) The member is an entity and the name signed purports to be that of an officer or agent of the entity.
- (2) The name signed purports to be that of an attorney-in-fact of the member and if the corporation requests, evidence acceptable to the corporation of the signatory's authority to sign for the member has been presented with respect to the ballot, consent, waiver, or proxy appointment.
- (3) Two or more persons hold the membership as co-tenants or fiduciaries and the name signed purports to be the name of at least one of the co-holders and the person signing appears to be acting on behalf of all the co-holders.
- (4) The name signed purports to be that of an administrator, executor, guardian, or conservator representing the member and, if the corporation requests, evidence of fiduciary status acceptable to the corporation has been presented with respect to the ballot, consent, waiver, or proxy appointment.
- (5) The name signed purports to be that of a receiver or trustee in bankruptcy of the member, and, if the corporation requests, evidence of this status acceptable to the corporation has been presented with respect to the ballot, consent, waiver, or proxy appointment.
- (c) The corporation is entitled to reject a ballot, consent, waiver, or proxy appointment if the secretary or other officer or agent authorized to tabulate votes, acting in good faith, has a reasonable basis for doubt concerning the validity of the signature or the signatory's authority to sign for the member.
- (d) The corporation and any officer or agent thereof who accepts or rejects a ballot, consent, waiver, or proxy appointment in good faith and in accordance with the standards of this section shall not be liable in damages to the member for the consequences of the acceptance or rejection.
- (e) Corporate action based on the acceptance or rejection of a ballot, consent, waiver, or proxy appointment under this section is valid unless a court of competent jurisdiction determines otherwise.

#### **§7520.** Nomination and Election Procedures.

- (a) As to directors elected by members, there shall be available to the members reasonable nomination and election procedures given the nature, size and operations of the corporation.
- (b) If a corporation complies with all of the provisions of Sections 7521, 7522, 7523, and 7524 applicable to a corporation with the same number of members, the nomination and election procedures of that corporation, shall be deemed reasonable. However, those sections do not prescribe the exclusive means of making available to the members reasonable procedures for nomination and election of directors. A corporation may make

available to the members other reasonable nomination and election procedures given the nature, size, and operations of the corporation.

(c) Subject to the provisions of subdivisions (a), (b), and (d) of Section 7616, the superior court of the proper county shall enforce the provisions of this section.

#### §7521. Nomination Procedures; Corporations with 500 or More Members.

A corporation with 500 or more members may provide that, except for directors who are elected as authorized by Section 7152 or 7153, and except as provided in Section 7522, any person who is qualified to be elected to the board of directors of a corporation may be nominated:

- (a) By any method authorized by the bylaws, or if no method is set forth in the bylaws by any method authorized by the board;
- (b) By petition delivered to an officer of the corporation, signed within 11 months preceding the next time directors will be elected, by members representing the following number of votes:

Number of Votes Eligible to be Cast for Director Disregarding any Provision for Cumulative Voting Number of Votes

```
Under 5,000....2 percent of voting power 5,000 or more...1/20th of 1 percent of voting power but not less than 100
```

This subdivision does not apply to a corporation described in subdivision (c).

- (c) In corporations with one million or more members engaged primarily in the business of retail merchandising of consumer goods, by petition delivered to an officer of the corporation, signed within 11 months preceding the next time directors will be elected, by such reasonable number of members as is set forth in the bylaws, or if no number is set forth in the bylaws, by such reasonable number of members as is determined by the directors.
- (d) If there is a meeting to elect directors, by any member present at the meeting in person or by proxy if proxies are permitted.

#### §7523. Equal Access to Corporate Publications; Vote Solicitations in Corporate Publications.

Where a corporation with 500 or more members publishes any material soliciting a vote for any nominee for director in any publication owned or controlled by the corporation, the corporation may provide that it shall make available to all other nominees, in the same issue of the publication, an equal amount of space, with equal prominence, to be used by the nominee for a purpose reasonably related to the election.

#### §7524. Election Material; Mailings; Requests by Nominees; Payment of Costs.

A corporation with 500 or more members may provide that upon written request by any nominee for election to the board and the payment of the reasonable costs of mailing (including postage), the corporation shall within 10 business days after such request (provided payment has been made) mail to all members, or such portion of them as the nominee may reasonably specify, any material, which the nominee may furnish and which is reasonably related to the election, unless the corporation within five business days after the request allows the nominee, at the corporation's option, the rights set forth in either paragraph (1) or (2) of subdivision (a) of Section 8330.

- §7525. Refusal by Corporation to Publish or Mail Material; Prohibitions; Liability of Corporation or Officers for Material Supplied by Nominee; Actions to Relieve Corporation from Publication and Mailing Obligations.
- (a) This section shall apply to corporations publishing or mailing materials on behalf of any nominee in connection with procedures for the nomination and election of directors.

- (b) Neither the corporation, nor its agents, officers, directors, or employees, may be held criminally liable, liable for any negligence (active or passive) or otherwise liable for damages to any person on account of any material which is supplied by a nominee for director and which it mails or publishes in procedures intended to comply with Section 7520 or pursuant to Section 7523 or 7524 but the nominee on whose behalf such material was published or mailed shall be liable and shall indemnify and hold the corporation, its agents, officers, directors, and employees and each of them harmless from all demands, costs, including reasonable legal fees and expenses, claims, damages and causes of action arising out of such material or any such mailing or publication.
- (c) Nothing in this section shall prevent a corporation or any of its agents, officers, directors, or employees from seeking a court providing that the corporation need not mail or publish material tendered by or on behalf of a nominee under this article on the ground the material will expose the moving party to liability.

#### §7526. Use of Corporate Funds to Support Nominees; Prohibitions.

Without authorization of the board, no corporation funds may be expended to support a nominee for director after there are more people nominated for director than can be elected.

#### §7527. Statute of Limitations; Action to Challenge Validity of Election.

An action challenging the validity of any election, appointment or removal of a director or directors must be commenced within nine months after the election, appointment or removal. If no such action is commenced, in the absence of fraud, any election, appointment or removal of a director is conclusively presumed valid nine months thereafter.

#### §7610. One Vote Entitlement.

Except as provided in a corporation's articles or bylaws or Section 7615, each member shall be entitled to one vote on each matter submitted to a vote of the members. Single memberships in which two or more persons have an indivisible interest shall be voted as provided in Section 7612.

### §7611. Determination of Record Date.

- (a) The bylaws may provide or, in the absence of such provision, the board may fix, in advance, a date as the record date for the purpose of determining the members entitled to notice of any meeting of members. Such record date shall not be more than 90 nor less than 10 days before the date of the meeting. If no record date is fixed, members at the close of business on the business day preceding the day on which notice is given or, if notice is waived, at the close of business on the business day preceding the day on which the meeting is held are entitled to notice of a meeting of members. A determination of members entitled to notice of a meeting of members shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting unless the board fixes a new record date for the adjourned meeting.
- (b) The bylaws may provide or, in the absence of such provision, the board may fix, in advance, a date as the record date for the purpose of determining the members entitled to vote at a meeting of members. Such record date shall not be more than 60 days before the date of the meeting. Such record date shall also apply in the case of an adjournment of the meeting unless the board fixes a new record date for the adjourned meeting. If no record date is fixed, members on the day of the meeting who are otherwise eligible to vote are entitled to vote at the meeting of members or, in the case of an adjourned meeting, members on the day of the adjourned meeting who are otherwise eligible to vote are entitled to vote at the adjourned meeting of members.
- (c) The bylaws may provide or, in the absence of such provision, the board may fix, in advance, a date as the record date for the purpose of determining the members entitled to cast written ballots (Section 7513). Such record date shall not be more than 60 days before the day on which the first written ballot is mailed or solicited. If no record date is fixed, members on the day the first written ballot is mailed or solicited who are otherwise eligible to vote are entitled to cast written ballots.
- (d) The bylaws may provide or, in the absence of such provision, the board may fix, in advance, a date as the record date for the purpose of determining the members entitled to exercise any rights in respect of any other lawful action. Such record date shall not be more than 60 days prior to such other action. If no record date is fixed,

members at the close of business on the day on which the board adopts the resolution relating thereto, or the 60th day prior to the date of such other action, whichever is later, are entitled to exercise such rights.

#### §7612. Voting; Where Membership Stands on Record in Names of Two or More Persons.

If a membership stands of record in the names of two or more persons, whether fiduciaries, members of a partnership, joint tenants, tenants in common, husband and wife as community property, tenants by the entirety, persons entitled to vote under a voting agreement or otherwise, or if two or more persons (including proxyholders) have the same fiduciary relationship respecting the same membership, unless the secretary of the corporation is given written notice to the contrary and is furnished with a copy of the instrument or order appointing them or creating the relationship wherein it is so provided, their acts with respect to voting shall have the following effect:

- (a) If only one votes, such act binds all; or
- (b) If more than one vote, the act of the majority so voting binds all.

#### §7613. Proxies Authorized.

- (a) Any member may authorize another person or persons to act by proxy with respect to such membership except that this right may be limited or withdrawn by the articles or bylaws, subject to subdivision (f). Any proxy purported to be executed in accordance with the provisions of this part shall be presumptively valid.
- (b) No proxy shall be valid after the expiration of 11 months from the date thereof unless otherwise provided in the proxy, except that the maximum term of any proxy shall be three years from the date of execution. Every proxy continues in full force and effect until revoked by the person executing it prior to the vote pursuant thereto, except as otherwise provided in this section. Such revocation may be effected by a writing delivered to the corporation stating that the proxy is revoked or by a subsequent proxy executed by the person executing the prior proxy and presented to the meeting, or as to any meeting by attendance at such meeting and voting in person by the person executing the proxy. The dates contained on the forms of proxy presumptively determine the order of execution, regardless of the postmark dates on the envelopes in which they are mailed.
- (c) A proxy is not revoked by the death or incapacity of the maker or the termination of a membership as a result thereof unless, before the vote is counted, written notice of such death or incapacity is received by the corporation.
- (d) Unless otherwise provided in the articles or bylaws, the proxy of a member which states that it is irrevocable is irrevocable for the period specified therein (notwithstanding subdivisions (b) and (c)) when it is held by any of the following or a nominee of any of the following:
  - (1) A person who has purchased or who has agreed to purchase the membership;
- (2) A creditor or creditors of the corporation or the member who extended or continued credit to the corporation or the member in consideration of the proxy if the proxy states that it was given in consideration of such extension or continuation of credit and the name of the person extending or continuing the credit; or
- (3) A person who has contracted to perform services as an employee of the corporation, if the proxy is required by the contract of employment and if the proxy states that it was given in consideration of such contract of employment, the name of the employee and the period of employment contracted for.

Notwithstanding the period of irrevocability specified, the proxy becomes revocable when the agreement to purchase is terminated; the debt of the corporation or the member is paid; or the period of employment provided for in the contract of employment has terminated. In addition to the foregoing paragraphs (1) through (3), a proxy of a member may be made irrevocable (notwithstanding subdivision (c)) if it is given to secure the performance of a duty or to protect a title, either legal or equitable, until the happening of events which, by its terms, discharge the obligations secured by it.

- (e) A proxy may be revoked, notwithstanding a provision making it irrevocable, by a transferee of a membership without knowledge of the existence of the provision unless the existence of the proxy and its irrevocability appears on the certificate representing the membership.
  - (f) Subdivision (a) notwithstanding:
- (1) No amendment of the articles or bylaws repealing, restricting, creating or expanding proxy rights may be adopted without approval by the members (Section 5034); and
- (2) No amendment of the articles or bylaws restricting or limiting the use of proxies may affect the validity of a previously issued irrevocable proxy during the term of its irrevocability, so long as it complied with applicable provisions, if any, of the articles or bylaws at the time of its issuance, and is otherwise valid under this section.
- (g) Anything to the contrary notwithstanding, any revocable proxy covering matters requiring a vote of the members pursuant to Section 7222; Section 7224; Section 7233; paragraph (1) of subdivision (f) of this section; Section 7812; paragraph (2) of subdivision (a) of Section 7911; Section; 8012; subdivision (a) of Section 8015; Section 8610; or subdivision (a) of Section 8719 is not valid as to such matters unless it sets forth the general nature of the matter to be voted on.

### §7615. Cumulative Voting; Notice of Intention to Cumulate Votes; Ballots not Required.

- (a) If the articles or bylaws authorize cumulative voting, but not otherwise, every member entitled to vote at any election of directors may cumulate the member's votes and give one candidate a number of votes equal to the number of directors to be elected multiplied by the number of votes to which the member is entitled, or distribute the member's votes on the same principle among as many candidates as the member thinks fit. An article or bylaw provision authorizing cumulative voting may be repealed or amended only by approval of the members (Section 5034), except that the governing article or bylaw provision may require the vote of a greater proportion of the members, or of the members of any class, for its repeal.
- (b) No member shall be entitled to cumulate votes for a candidate or candidates unless the candidate's name or candidates' names have been placed in nomination prior to the voting and the member has given notice at the meeting prior to the voting of the member's intention to cumulate votes. If any one member has given this notice, all members may cumulate their votes for candidates in nomination.
- (c) In any election of directors by cumulative voting, the candidates receiving the highest number of votes are elected, subject to any lawful provision specifying election by classes.
- (d) In any election of directors not governed by subdivision (c), unless otherwise provided in the articles or bylaws, the candidates receiving the highest number of votes are elected.
- (e) Elections for directors need not be by ballot unless a member demands election by ballot at the meeting and before the voting begins or unless the bylaws so require.

## §7616. Actions to Determine Validity of Election or Appointment; Notice to Attorney General; Intervention; Hearing; Findings.

- (a) Upon the filing of an action therefore by any director or member or by any person who had the right to vote in the election at issue, the superior court of the proper county shall determine the validity of any election or appointment of any director of any corporation.
- (b) In the case of a corporation holding assets in charitable trust, any person bringing an action under this section shall give notice of the action to the Attorney General, who may intervene.
- (c) Upon the filing of the complaint, and before any further proceedings are had, the court shall enter an order fixing a date for the hearing, which shall be within five days unless for good cause shown a later date is fixed, and requiring notice of the date for the hearing and a copy of the complaint to be served upon the corporation and

upon the person whose purported election or appointment is questioned and upon any person (other than the plaintiff) whom the plaintiff alleges to have been elected or appointed, in the manner in which a summons is required to be served, or, if the court so directs, by registered mail; and the court may make such further requirements as to notice as appear to be proper under the circumstances.

(d) The court, consistent with the provisions of this part and in conformity with the articles and bylaws to the extent feasible, may determine the person entitled to the office of director or may order a new election to be held or appointment to be made, may determine the validity, effectiveness and construction of voting agreements and voting trusts, the validity of the issuance of memberships and the right of persons to vote and may direct such other relief as may be just and proper.

### IV. RELATED VEHICLE CODE PROVISIONS

#### §21107. Private Roads.

The provisions of this code shall not prevent any city from adopting rules and regulations by ordinance or resolution, regulating vehicular traffic on privately owned and maintained roads located within the boundary of such city, except that no such ordinance or resolution shall be effective until signs giving notice thereof are posted on the roads affected. The provisions of this section shall not apply to any city in which there are publicly maintained city streets.

### §21107.5. Private Roads Open for Public Use.

- (a) Any city or county may, by ordinance or resolution, find and declare that there are privately owned and maintained roads as described in the ordinance or resolution within the city or county that are generally held open for use by the public for vehicular travel and which so connect with highways that the public cannot determine that the roads are not highways. Upon enactment by a city or county of the ordinance or resolution, this code shall apply to the privately owned and maintained road, except as provided in subdivision (b).
- (b) No ordinance or resolution enacted under subdivision (a) shall apply to any road on which the owner has erected a notice of a size, shape, and color as to be readily legible during daylight hours from a distance of 100 feet to the effect that the road is privately owned and maintained and that it is not subject to public traffic regulations or control.
- (c) No ordinance or resolution shall be enacted under subdivision (a) without a public hearing after 10 days' written notice to the owner of the privately owned and maintained road involved.
- (d) The department is not required to provide patrol or enforce any provision of this code on any privately owned and maintained road, except those provisions applicable to private property, other than pursuant to this section.

### §21107.7. Private Roads Not Open to Public Use.

- (a) Any city or county may, by ordinance or resolution, find and declare that there are privately owned and maintained roads as described in the ordinance or resolution within the city or county that are not generally held open for use of the public for purposes of vehicular travel but, by reason of their proximity to or connection with highways, the interests of any residents residing along the roads and the motoring public will best be served by application of the provisions of this code to those roads. No ordinance or resolution shall be enacted unless there is first filed with the city or county a petition requesting it by a majority of the owners of any privately owned and maintained road, or by at least a majority of the board of directors of a common interest development, as defined by Section 4100 or 6534 of the Civil Code, that is responsible for maintaining the road, and without a public hearing thereon and 10 days' prior written notice to all owners of the road or all of the owners in the development. Upon enactment of the ordinance or resolution, the provisions of this code shall apply to the privately owned and maintained road if appropriate signs are erected at the entrance to the road of the size, shape, and color as to be readily legible during daylight hours from a distance of 100 feet, to the effect that the road is subject to the provisions of this code. The city or county may impose reasonable conditions and may authorize the owners, or board of directors of the common interest development, to erect traffic signs, signals, markings, and devices which conform to the uniform standards and specifications adopted by the Department of Transportation.
- (b) The department shall not be required to provide patrol or enforce any provisions of this code on any privately owned and maintained road subjected to the provisions of this code under this section, except those provisions applicable to private property other than by action under this section.
- (c) As used in this section, "privately owned and maintained roads" includes roads owned and maintained by a city, county or district that are not dedicated to use by the public or are not generally held open for use of the public for purposes of vehicular travel.

- §22658. Removal of Vehicle from Private Property by Property Owner; Requirements; Notice; Recovery for Damages; Liability; Towing Charge; Excessive Charges; Liability; Payment by Cash or Credit Allowed; Written Authorization from Property Owner or Lessee as Prerequisite to Removal; Storage Facility Requirements; Legislative Intent.
- (a) The owner or person in lawful possession of private property, including an association of a common interest development as defined in Sections 4080 and 4100 or Sections 6528 and 6534 of the Civil Code, may cause the removal of a vehicle parked on the property to a storage facility that meets the requirements of subdivision (n) under any of the following circumstances:
- (1) There is displayed, in plain view at all entrances to the property, a sign not less than 17 inches by 22 inches in size, with lettering not less than one inch in height, prohibiting public parking and indicating that vehicles will be removed at the owner's expense, and containing the telephone number of the local traffic law enforcement agency and the name and telephone number of each towing company that is a party to a written general towing authorization agreement with the owner or person in lawful possession of the property. The sign may also indicate that a citation may also be issued for the violation.
- (2) The vehicle has been issued a notice of parking violation, and 96 hours have elapsed since the issuance of that notice.
- (3) The vehicle is on private property and lacks an engine, transmission, wheels, tires, doors, windshield, or any other major part or equipment necessary to operate safely on the highways, the owner or person in lawful possession of the private property has notified the local traffic law enforcement agency, and 24 hours have elapsed since that notification.
- (4) The lot or parcel upon which the vehicle is parked is improved with a single-family dwelling.
- (b) The tow truck operator removing the vehicle, if the operator knows or is able to ascertain from the property owner, person in lawful possession of the property, or the registration records of the Department of Motor Vehicles the name and address of the registered and legal owner of the vehicle, shall immediately give, or cause to be given, notice in writing to the registered and legal owner of the fact of the removal, the grounds for the removal, and indicate the place to which the vehicle has been removed. If the vehicle is stored in a storage facility, a copy of the notice shall be given to the proprietor of the storage facility. The notice provided for in this section shall include the amount of mileage on the vehicle at the time of removal and the time of the removal from the property. If the tow truck operator does not know and is not able to ascertain the name of the owner or for any other reason is unable to give the notice to the owner as provided in this section, the tow truck operator shall comply with the requirements of subdivision (c) of Section 22853 relating to notice in the same manner as applicable to an officer removing a vehicle from private property.
- (c) This section does not limit or affect any right or remedy that the owner or person in lawful possession of private property may have by virtue of other provisions of law authorizing the removal of a vehicle parked upon private property.
- (d) The owner of a vehicle removed from private property pursuant to subdivision (a) may recover for any damage to the vehicle resulting from any intentional or negligent act of a person causing the removal of, or removing, the vehicle.
- (e) (1) An owner or person in lawful possession of private property, or an association of a common interest development, causing the removal of a vehicle parked on that property is liable for double the storage or towing charges whenever there has been a failure to comply with paragraph (1), (2), or (3) of subdivision (a) or to state the grounds for the removal of the vehicle if requested by the legal or registered owner of the vehicle as required by subdivision (f).

- (2) A property owner or owner's agent or lessee who causes the removal of a vehicle parked on that property pursuant to the exemption set forth in subparagraph (A) of paragraph (1) of subdivision (l) and fails to comply with that subdivision is guilty of an infraction, punishable by a fine of one thousand dollars (\$1,000).
- (f) An owner or person in lawful possession of private property, or an association of a common interest development, causing the removal of a vehicle parked on that property shall notify by telephone or, if impractical, by the most expeditious means available, the local traffic law enforcement agency within one hour after authorizing the tow. An owner or person in lawful possession of private property, an association of a common interest development, causing the removal of a vehicle parked on that property, or the tow truck operator who removes the vehicle, shall state the grounds for the removal of the vehicle if requested by the legal or registered owner of that vehicle. A towing company that removes a vehicle from private property in compliance with subdivision (l) is not responsible in a situation relating to the validity of the removal. A towing company that removes the vehicle under this section shall be responsible for the following:
  - (1) Damage to the vehicle in the transit and subsequent storage of the vehicle.
- (2) The removal of a vehicle other than the vehicle specified by the owner or other person in lawful possession of the private property.
- (g) (1) (A) Possession of a vehicle under this section shall be deemed to arise when a vehicle is removed from private property and is in transit.
- (B) Upon the request of the owner of the vehicle or that owner's agent, the towing company or its driver shall immediately and unconditionally release a vehicle that is not yet removed from the private property and in transit.
  - (C) A person failing to comply with subparagraph (B) is guilty of a misdemeanor.
- (2) If a vehicle is released to a person in compliance with subparagraph (B) of paragraph (1), the vehicle owner or authorized agent shall immediately move that vehicle to a lawful location.
- (h) A towing company may impose a charge of not more than one-half of the regular towing charge for the towing of a vehicle at the request of the owner, the owner's agent, or the person in lawful possession of the private property pursuant to this section if the owner of the vehicle or the vehicle owner's agent returns to the vehicle after the vehicle is coupled to the tow truck by means of a regular hitch, coupling device, drawbar, portable dolly, or is lifted off the ground by means of a conventional trailer, and before it is removed from the private property. The regular towing charge may only be imposed after the vehicle has been removed from the property and is in transit.
- (i) (1) (A) A charge for towing or storage, or both, of a vehicle under this section is excessive if the charge exceeds the greater of the following:
- (i) That which would have been charged for that towing or storage, or both, made at the request of a law enforcement agency under an agreement between a towing company and the law enforcement agency that exercises primary jurisdiction in the city in which is located the private property from which the vehicle was, or was attempted to be, removed, or if the private property is not located within a city, then the law enforcement agency that exercises primary jurisdiction in the county in which the private property is located.
- (ii) That which would have been charged for that towing or storage, or both, under the rate approved for that towing operator by the Department of the California Highway Patrol for the jurisdiction in which the private property is located and from which the vehicle was, or was attempted to be, removed.
- (B) A towing operator shall make available for inspection and copying his or her rate approved by the Department of the California Highway Patrol, if any, within 24 hours of a request without a warrant to law enforcement, the Attorney General, district attorney, or city attorney.

- (2) If a vehicle is released within 24 hours from the time the vehicle is brought into the storage facility, regardless of the calendar date, the storage charge shall be for only one day. Not more than one day's storage charge may be required for a vehicle released the same day that it is stored.
- (3) If a request to release a vehicle is made and the appropriate fees are tendered and documentation establishing that the person requesting release is entitled to possession of the vehicle, or is the owner's insurance representative, is presented within the initial 24 hours of storage, and the storage facility fails to comply with the request to release the vehicle or is not open for business during normal business hours, then only one day's storage charge may be required to be paid until after the first business day. A business day is any day in which the lienholder is open for business to the public for at least eight hours. If a request is made more than 24 hours after the vehicle is placed in storage, charges may be imposed on a full calendar day basis for each day, or part thereof, that the vehicle is in storage.
- (j) A person who charges a vehicle owner a towing, service, or storage charge at an excessive rate, as described in subdivision (h) or (i), is civilly liable to the vehicle owner for four times the amount charged.
- (2) A person who knowingly charges a vehicle owner a towing, service, or storage charge at an excessive rate, as described in subdivision (h) or (i), or who fails to make available his or her rate as required in subparagraph (B) of paragraph (1) of subdivision (i), is guilty of a misdemeanor, punishable by a fine of not more than two thousand five hundred dollars (\$2,500), or by imprisonment in a county jail for not more than three months, or by both that fine and imprisonment.
- (k) (1) A person operating or in charge of a storage facility where vehicles are stored pursuant to this section shall accept a valid bank credit card or cash for payment of towing and storage by a registered owner, the legal owner, or the owner's agent claiming the vehicle. A credit card shall be in the name of the person presenting the card. "Credit card" means "credit card" as defined in subdivision (a) of Section 1747.02 of the Civil Code, except, for the purposes of this section, credit card does not include a credit card issued by a retail seller.
- (2) A person described in paragraph (1) shall conspicuously display, in that portion of the storage facility office where business is conducted with the public, a notice advising that all valid credit cards and cash are acceptable means of payment.
- (3) A person operating or in charge of a storage facility who refuses to accept a valid credit card or who fails to post the required notice under paragraph (2) is guilty of a misdemeanor, punishable by a fine of not more than two thousand five hundred dollars (\$2,500), or by imprisonment in a county jail for not more than three months, or by both that fine and imprisonment.
- (4) A person described in paragraph (1) who violates paragraph (1) or (2) is civilly liable to the registered owner of the vehicle or the person who tendered the fees for four times the amount of the towing and storage charges.
- (5) A person operating or in charge of the storage facility shall have sufficient moneys on the premises of the primary storage facility during normal business hours to accommodate, and make change in, a reasonable monetary transaction.
- (6) Credit charges for towing and storage services shall comply with Section 1748.1 of the Civil Code. Law enforcement agencies may include the costs of providing for payment by credit when making agreements with towing companies as described in subdivision (i).
- (l) (1) (A) A towing company shall not remove or commence the removal of a vehicle from private property without first obtaining the written authorization from the property owner or lessee, including an association of a common interest development, or an employee or agent thereof, who shall be present at the time of removal and verify the alleged violation, except that presence and verification is not required if the person authorizing the tow is the property owner, or the owner's agent who is not a tow operator, of a residential rental property of 15 or fewer units that does not have an onsite owner, owner's agent or employee, and the tenant has verified the violation, requested the tow from that tenant's assigned parking space, and provided a signed request or electronic mail, or has

called and provides a signed request or electronic mail within 24 hours, to the property owner or owner's agent, which the owner or agent shall provide to the towing company within 48 hours of authorizing the tow. The signed request or electronic mail shall contain the name and address of the tenant, and the date and time the tenant requested the tow. A towing company shall obtain, within 48 hours of receiving the written authorization to tow, a copy of a tenant request required pursuant to this subparagraph. For the purpose of this subparagraph, a person providing the written authorization who is required to be present on the private property at the time of the tow does not have to be physically present at the specified location of where the vehicle to be removed is located on the private property.

- (B) The written authorization under subparagraph (A) shall include all of the following:
- (i) The make, model, vehicle identification number, and license plate number of the removed vehicle.
- (ii) The name, signature, job title, residential or business address, and working telephone number of the person, described in subparagraph (A), authorizing the removal of the vehicle.
  - (iii) The grounds for the removal of the vehicle.
  - (iv) The time when the vehicle was first observed parked at the private
    - (v) The time that authorization to tow the vehicle was given.
- (C) (i) When the vehicle owner or his or her agent claims the vehicle, the towing company prior to payment of a towing or storage charge shall provide a photocopy of the written authorization to the vehicle owner or the agent.
- (ii) If the vehicle was towed from a residential property, the towing company shall redact the information specified in clause (ii) of subparagraph (B) in the photocopy of the written authorization provided to the vehicle owner or the agent pursuant to clause (i).
- (iii) The towing company shall also provide to the vehicle owner or the agent a separate notice that provides the telephone number of the appropriate local law enforcement or prosecuting agency by stating "If you believe that you have been wrongfully towed, please contact the local law enforcement or prosecuting agency at (insert appropriate telephone number)." The notice shall be in English and in the most populous language, other than English, that is spoken in the jurisdiction.
- (D) A towing company shall not remove or commence the removal of a vehicle from private property described in subdivision (a) of Section 22953 unless the towing company has made a good faith inquiry to determine that the owner or the property owner's agent complied with Section 22953.
- (E) (i) General authorization to remove or commence removal of a vehicle at the towing company's discretion shall not be delegated to a towing company or its affiliates except in the case of a vehicle unlawfully parked within 15 feet of a fire hydrant or in a fire lane, or in a manner which interferes with an entrance to, or exit from, the private property.
- (ii) In those cases in which general authorization is granted to a towing company or its affiliate to undertake the removal or commence the removal of a vehicle that is unlawfully parked within 15 feet of a fire hydrant or in a fire lane, or that interferes with an entrance to, or exit from, private property, the towing company and the property owner, or owner's agent, or person in lawful possession of the private property shall have a written agreement granting that general authorization.
- (2) If a towing company removes a vehicle under a general authorization described in subparagraph (E) of paragraph (1) and that vehicle is unlawfully parked within 15 feet of a fire hydrant or in a fire lane, or in a manner that interferes with an entrance to, or exit from, the private property, the towing company shall

property.

take, prior to the removal of that vehicle, a photograph of the vehicle that clearly indicates that parking violation. Prior to accepting payment, the towing company shall keep one copy of the photograph taken pursuant to this paragraph, and shall present that photograph and provide, without charge, a photocopy to the owner or an agent of the owner, when that person claims the vehicle.

- (3) A towing company shall maintain the original written authorization, or the general authorization described in subparagraph (E) of paragraph (1) and the photograph of the violation, required pursuant to this section, and any written requests from a tenant to the property owner or owner's agent required by subparagraph (A) of paragraph (1), for a period of three years and shall make them available for inspection and copying within 24 hours of a request without a warrant to law enforcement, the Attorney General, district attorney, or city attorney.
- (4) A person who violates this subdivision is guilty of a misdemeanor, punishable by a fine of not more than two thousand five hundred dollars (\$2,500), or by imprisonment in a county jail for not more than three months, or by both that fine and imprisonment.
- (5) A person who violates this subdivision is civilly liable to the owner of the vehicle or his or her agent for four times the amount of the towing and storage charges.
- (m) (1) A towing company that removes a vehicle from private property under this section shall notify the local law enforcement agency of that tow after the vehicle is removed from the private property and is in transit.
- (2) A towing company is guilty of a misdemeanor if the towing company fails to provide the notification required under paragraph (1) within 60 minutes after the vehicle is removed from the private property and is in transit or 15 minutes after arriving at the storage facility, whichever time is less.
- (3) A towing company that does not provide the notification under paragraph (1) within 30 minutes after the vehicle is removed from the private property and is in transit is civilly liable to the registered owner of the vehicle, or the person who tenders the fees, for three times the amount of the towing and storage charges.
- (4) If notification is impracticable, the times for notification, as required pursuant to paragraphs (2) and (3), shall be tolled for the time period that notification is impracticable. This paragraph is an affirmative defense.
- (n) A vehicle removed from private property pursuant to this section shall be stored in a facility that meets all of the following requirements:
- (1) (A) Is located within a 10-mile radius of the property from where the vehicle was removed.
- (B) The 10-mile radius requirement of subparagraph (A) does not apply if a towing company has prior general written approval from the law enforcement agency that exercises primary jurisdiction in the city in which is located the private property from which the vehicle was removed, or if the private property is not located within a city, then the law enforcement agency that exercises primary jurisdiction in the county in which is located the private property.
- (2) (A) Remains open during normal business hours and releases vehicles after normal business hours
- (B) A gate fee may be charged for releasing a vehicle after normal business hours, weekends, and state holidays. However, the maximum hourly charge for releasing a vehicle after normal business hours shall be one-half of the hourly tow rate charged for initially towing the vehicle, or less.
- (C) Notwithstanding any other provision of law and for purposes of this paragraph, "normal business hours" are Monday to Friday, inclusive, from 8 a.m. to 5 p.m., inclusive, except state holidays.

- (3) Has a public pay telephone in the office area that is open and accessible to the public.
- (o) (1) It is the intent of the Legislature in the adoption of subdivision (k) to assist vehicle owners or their agents by, among other things, allowing payment by credit cards for towing and storage services, thereby expediting the recovery of towed vehicles and concurrently promoting the safety and welfare of the public.
- (2) It is the intent of the Legislature in the adoption of subdivision (l) to further the safety of the general public by ensuring that a private property owner or lessee has provided his or her authorization for the removal of a vehicle from his or her property, thereby promoting the safety of those persons involved in ordering the removal of the vehicle as well as those persons removing, towing, and storing the vehicle.
- (3) It is the intent of the Legislature in the adoption of subdivision (g) to promote the safety of the general public by requiring towing companies to unconditionally release a vehicle that is not lawfully in their possession, thereby avoiding the likelihood of dangerous and violent confrontation and physical injury to vehicle owners and towing operators, the stranding of vehicle owners and their passengers at a dangerous time and location, and impeding expedited vehicle recovery, without wasting law enforcement's limited resources.
- (p) The remedies, sanctions, restrictions, and procedures provided in this section are not exclusive and are in addition to other remedies, sanctions, restrictions, or procedures that may be provided in other provisions of law, including, but not limited to, those that are provided in Sections 12110 and 34660.
- (q) A vehicle removed and stored pursuant to this section shall be released by the law enforcement agency, impounding agency, or person in possession of the vehicle, or any person acting on behalf of them, to the legal owner or the legal owner's agent upon presentation of the assignment, as defined in subdivision (b) of Section 7500.1 of the Business and Professions Code; a release from the one responsible governmental agency, only if required by the agency; a government-issued photographic identification card; and any one of the following as determined by the legal owner or the legal owner's agent: a certificate of repossession for the vehicle, a security agreement for the vehicle, or title, whether paper or electronic, showing proof of legal ownership for the vehicle. Any documents presented may be originals, photocopies, or facsimile copies, or may be transmitted electronically. The storage facility shall not require any documents to be notarized. The storage facility may require the agent of the legal owner to produce a photocopy or facsimile copy of its repossession agency license or registration issued pursuant to Chapter 11 (commencing with Section 7500) of Division 3 of the Business and Professions Code, or to demonstrate, to the satisfaction of the storage facility, that the agent is exempt from licensure pursuant to Section 7500.2 or 7500.3 of the Business and Professions Code.

#### §22853. Procedure when Owner Cannot be Ascertained.

- (a) Whenever an officer or an employee removing a California registered vehicle from a highway or from public property for storage under this chapter does not know and is not able to ascertain the name of the owner or for any other reason is unable to give notice to the owner as required by Section 22852, the officer or employee shall immediately notify, or cause to be notified, the Department of Justice, Stolen Vehicle System, of its removal. The officer or employee shall file a notice with the proprietor of any public garage in which the vehicle may be stored. The notice shall include a complete description of the vehicle, the date, time, and place from which removed, the amount of mileage on the vehicle at the time of removal, and the name of the garage or place where the vehicle is stored.
- (b) Whenever an officer or an employee removing a vehicle not registered in California from a highway or from public property for storage under this chapter does not know and is not able to ascertain the owner or for any other reason is unable to give the notice to the owner as required by Section 22852, the officer or employee shall immediately notify, or cause to be notified, the Department of Justice, Stolen Vehicle System. If the vehicle is not returned to the owner within 120 hours, the officer or employee shall immediately send, or cause to be sent, a written report of the removal by mail to the Department of Justice at Sacramento and shall file a copy of the notice with the proprietor of any public garage in which the vehicle may be stored. The report shall be made on a form furnished by that department and shall include a complete description of the vehicle, the date, time, and place from which the

vehicle was removed, the amount of mileage on the vehicle at the time of removal, the grounds for removal, and the name of the garage or place where the vehicle is stored.

(c) Whenever an officer or employee or private party removing a vehicle from private property for storage under this chapter does not know and is not able to ascertain the name of the owner or for any other reason is unable to give the notice to the owner as required by Section 22852 and if the vehicle is not returned to the owner within a period of 120 hours, the officer or employee or private party shall immediately send, or cause to be sent, a written report of the removal by mail to the Department of Justice at Sacramento and shall file a copy of the notice with the proprietor of any public garage in which the vehicle may be stored. The report shall be made on a form furnished by that department and shall include a complete description of the vehicle, the date, time, and place from which the vehicle was removed, the amount of mileage on the vehicle at the time of removal, the grounds for removal, and the name of the garage or place where the vehicle is stored.

#### **INDEX**

#### **Annual Disclosures** Exemption, 54 "Annual Budget Report", defined, 3 Foreclosure, 58 "Annual Policy Statement", defined, 3 Levy of Assessment, 53 Alternative Dispute Resolution, 45, 56, 67 Lien Priority, 57 Annual Budget Report, 43 Lien Release, 57 Annual Policy Statement, 45 Lien, Decision to Record, 56 Lien, Notice of, 56 Architectural Review Procedures, 30, 45 Communications to Association, 1, 45 Lien, Procedural Noncompliance, 57 Discipline Policy, 45, 63 Liens for Monetary Penalties and Damage to FHA/VA Status of Condominium Projects, 44 Common Area, 59 Internal Dispute Resolution, 45, 65 Limitation on Foreclosure, 59 Location for Posting General Notice, 2, 45 Notice of Assessment Increase, 54 Member Right to Meeting Minutes, 34, 45 Payment Plan, 56 Member Right to Receive General Notice by Payment Under Protest, 55 Individual Delivery, 2, 45 Payments, 55 Notice of Availability of Full Reports, 46 Pre-Lien Notice, 55 Overnight Payment Address, 45, 55 Property Tax Value as Basis for, 54 Policies and Practices for Lien Enforcement, 45 Record Notice of Agent to Receive Payments, 7 Reimbursement Assessment, 59 Review of Financial Statement, 45 Right to Notice at Secondary Address, 2, 45 Right of Redemption, 58 Schedule of Monetary Penalties, 45, 63 Statement of Collection Procedure, 60 Statement of Collection Procedure, 45, 60 Association "Association", defined, 3 Summary of Association Reserves, 52 Summary of Reserve Funding Plan, 52 Association Powers, 31 Architectural Standards & Review Corporate Activities under Direction of Board, Annual Disclosure Requirement, 45 Delegation of Management Activities, 100 Architectural Committee Meeting Minutes, 40 Architectural Review and Decision Making, 29 Described, 31 Architectural Review Procedure, 29 Joint Neighborhood Association, 31 Artificial Turf, 25 Limitations on Corporate Activities, 98 Clotheslines, 28 Power of Indemnification, 108 Disapprovals, 29 Powers of Corporation, 96 Electric Vehicle Charging Stations, 27 Standing, 68 Improvements to Separate Interest, 29 State Registry, 48 Landscaping Rules, 25 **Board Meeting** Low Water-Using Plants, 25 "Board Meeting", defined, 3 Personal Agriculture, 28 Action Outside of Meeting, 31 Reconsideration by the Board, 30 Adjournment, 100 Agenda, 32 Roofing Materials, 23 Rulemaking, 14 Civil Action to Enforce Member Rights, 34 Solar Energy Systems, 77 Emergency Meeting, 32 Television Antenna or Satellite Dish, 24 Executive Session, 33 **Articles of Incorporation** Item of Business, 5 Content of Articles, 12 Limitation on Meeting Content, 32 Minutes, 33 Assessments Assessment Approval Requirements, 53 Notice of, 32 Assignment or Pledge, 61 Open Meeting Act, 31 Collection Generally, 57 Open to Members, 32 Decision to Foreclose, 57 Who May Call Meetings, 100 Delinquency, 54 **Board of Directors** Dispute Resolution, 56 "Board", defined, 3 Emergency Assessments, 53 "Director", defined, 5

Appointment of Provisional Director, 106 Actions for Damages, 69 Authority to Impose Monetary Penalties, 64 Affirmative Defenses, 92 Creation of Committees, 101 Authorization to Proceed with Repair, 87 Fiduciary Duty, 106 Availability to Homeowner of Repair Info, 88 Filling Vacancies, 105 Builder's Duties, 85 Interested Director, 46 Cash Offer in Lieu of Repair, 89 Limitation of Liability, 61 Combined with Other Causes of Action, 90 Officers, 102 Copy of Enhanced Protection Agreement, 83 Removal of Director by Court Order, 105 Damages, 92 Removal of Directors Without Cause, 104 Definitions, 78 Effect of Election of Enhanced Protection Resignation of Director, 105 Review of Finances, 50 Agreement, 84 Self-Dealing Transactions, 95 Effect of Enhanced Protection Agreement, 83 Term of Office, 103 Enforcement of Construction Standards, 83 Training Course, 48 Enhanced Protection Agreement, 83 Vacating Office of Director, 103 Evidence of Parties' Conduct, 90 **Bylaws** Evidence of Repair Work, 90 Contents of, 98 Extension of Statute of Limitations, 89 Evidence of Adoption, 103 Failure to Timely Complete Repairs, 89 Availability, 100 Filing of an Action by Homeowner, 88 **Commercial and Industrial Developments** Inspection of Claimed Unmet Standards, 86 Commercial and Industrial Developments, 7 Intent of Standards, 83 **Common Area** Mediation Procedure, 89 "Common Area", defined, 3 Nonadversarial procedure, 86 **Exemption of Development without Common** Nonapplication of nonadversarial proceedings, 86 Area, 7 Notice of Civil Action, 76 Notice of Resolution, 75 Maintenance, 30 Ownership, 16 Observation and Recording of Repair, 88 Rights and Easements, 16 Offer to Mediate, 88 **Common Interest Development** Offer to Repair, 87 "Common Interest Development", defined, 3 Offer to Repair Some, but not all, of Claimed Unmet Standards, 88 Created, 7 Exemption of Development without Common Original Purchasers and Successors-in-Interest, 92 Area, 7 Other Causes of Action, 91 **Community Apartment Project** Procedure when Resolution Involves Repair, 88 "Community Apartment Project", defined, 4 Procedures Required Prior to Filing Action, 84 Transfer of Separate Interest, 21 Reasonable Maintenance Obligations, 84 **Condominium Plan** Receipt of Notice, 86 "Condominium Plan", defined, 4 Release or Waiver in Exchange for Repair Work Amendment or Revocation, 13 Prohibited, 89 Boundaries of Units, 8 Showing Required for Claim, 91 Similar Requirements of Civil Code Section 6000, Contents, 13 Recordation, 13 **Condominium Project** Standards for Residential Construction, 79 "Condominium Project", defined, 4 Strict Time Requirements, 89 Lien for Work Performed, 21 Subsequently Discovered Claims, 90 Partition of, 20 Time Limit for Bringing Action, 91 Transfer of Separate Interest, 21 Warranty Covering Fit and Finish Items, 83 **Conflict of Interest Declarant** Contracts or other Transactions, 107 "Declarant", defined, 4 Counting of Interested Director in Determining Deletion of Declarant Provisions, 9 Quorum, 107 Declaration

Interested Director, 46 Self-Dealing Transactions, 95

"Builder", defined, 84

**Construction Defects** 

"Declaration", defined, 5

Amendment Authorized, 10

Amendment Procedure, 10

Amendment to Extend Term of Declaration	Disclosure in Annual Policy Statement, 67
Authorized, 10	IDR Notice in Policy Statement, 65
Contents of Declaration, 9	Minimum Requirements, 64
Correction of Statutory Cross-Reference, 9	Procedure Required, 64
Deletion of Declarant Provisions, 9	Request for Resolution, 66
Deletion of Unlawful Restrictive Covenants, 8	Stay of Litigation, 67
Judicial Authorization of Amendment, 11	Tolling of Statute of Limitations, 67
Severability of Interests, 22	<b>Document Delivery</b>
Special Disclosures, 9	Electronic, 2
Definitions	General, 2, 5
"Annual Budget Report", 3	Proof of Delivery, 2
"Director", 5	To association, 1
"Stock Cooperative", 7	To individual, 1, 5
"Alternative Dispute Resolution", 66	Elections
"Annual Policy Statement", 3	Ballot Retention, 37
"Association", 3	Campaign-Related Information, 37
"Board Meeting", 3	Counting Ballots, 36
"Board", 3	Cumulative Voting, 36
"Builder", 84	Determine Validity of Election, 118
"Common Area", 3	Election Rules, 34
"Common Interest Development", 3	Generally, 34
"Community Apartment Project", 4	Inspector of Elections, 35
"Community Service Organization or Similar	Judicial Enforcement, 38
Entity", 4	Nomination and Election Procedures, 114
"Condominium Plan", 4	Proxies, 37
"Condominium Project", 4	Quorum, 36
"Declarant", 4	Requiring Secret Ballot, 34
"Declaration", 5	Secret Ballot, 36
"Enforcement Action", 66	Statute of Limitations, 116
"Enhanced Association Record", 39	Use of Corporate Funds to Support Nominees, 116
"Exclusive Use Common Area", 5	Voting Procedure, 36
"General Notice", 5	Exclusive Use Common Area
"Governing Documents", 5	"Exclusive Use Common Area", defined, 5
"Individual Notice", 5	Civil Action Regarding Grant of Exclusive Use
"Item of Business", 5	Common Area, 20
"Managing Agent", 5	Communication Wiring, 31
"Member", 5	Grant of, 19
	Maintenance, 30
"Operating Rule", 13	Transfer of, 22
"Person", 6 "Planned Davidenment", 6	
"Planned Development", 6	Governing Documents
"Reserve Account Requirements", 6	"Governing Documents", defined, 5
"Reserve Accounts", 6	Correction of Statutory Cross-Reference, 9
"Rule Change", 13	Deletion of Unlawful Restrictive Covenants, 8
"Separate Interest", 6	Document Authority, 7
"Solar Energy System", 77	Enforcement, 68
Discipline	Insurance
Hearing, 63	Authorization to Purchase Liability Insurance on
Schedule of Monetary Penalties, 63	Behalf of Corporate Agent, 108
Dispute Resolution	Limitation of Director and Officer Liability, 61
"Alternative Dispute Resolution", defined, 66	Limitation of Member Liability, 62
"Enforcement Action", defined, 66	Notice of Change, 63
ADR Prerequisite, 66	Summary, 43
ADR Process, 66	Maintenance
Attorney's Fees, 67	Exclusive Use Communication Wiring, 31
Certification of Dispute Resolution, 67	Use of Reserve Funds, 50
Default Meet and Confer Procedure, 65	Wood-Destroying Pests or Organisms, 30

Maintenance Responsibility
Common Area, 30
Exclusive Use Common Area, 30

Relocation Expenses, 30 Separate Interest, 30

**Managing Agent** 

"Managing Agent", defined, 5

Described, 48 Disclosure, 46

Trust Fund Account, 47

**Member Meeting** 

"Member", defined, 5

Action without Meeting by Written Consent, 114 Actions which May be Taken without Meeting.

112

Conducting Meetings by Electronic Transmission,

Court Order for Failure to Hold, 109

Determination of Quorum, 112

Member Right to Speak, 34

Parliamentary Procedure, 34

Powers of Court, 113

Who may Call Special Meetings, 109

**Member Voting** 

Approval by Written Ballot, 112

Cumulative Voting, 118

Determination of Quorum, 112

Determination of Record Date, 116

Form of Proxy or Written Ballot, 113

Majority of all members, 2

Majority of quorum, 3

Membership in Two or more Names, 117

Nomination and Election Procedures, 114

One Vote Entitlement, 116

Proxies Authorized, 117

Right to Accept Name Signed on Ballot, 114

Use of Corporate Funds to Support Nominees, 116

**Membership Lists** 

Change of Member's Information, 42

Membership List Opt Out, 41, 42

Membership List Request, 41

Secondary Address, 42

**Planned Development** 

"Planned Development", defined, 6

Transfer of Separate Interests, 21

Quorum

Approved by Majority of Quorum of Members, 3

Determination of, 112

Records

"Association records", defined, 38

"Enhanced Association Records", defined, 39

Application of Provisions, 42

Costs for Records, 39

Mailing-Related Requests, 42

Member Right to Enforce, 42

Membership List Opt Out, 41

Membership List Request, 41

Restriction on Use of Records, 41

Right to Inspect and Copy, 39

Time Periods, 40

Withholding and Redaction, 40

Reserves

"Reserve Account Requirements", defined, 6

"Reserve Accounts", defined, 6

"Estimated Remaining Useful life", defined, 52

"Major Component", defined, 52

Assessment and Reserve Funding Disclosure

Summary, 52

Required Signatures, 50

Reserve Funding Plan, 51, 52

Reserve Funds Used for Litigation, 51

Reserve Study, 51

Summary of Association Reserves, 52

Temporary Transfer of Reserve Funds, 50

Use of Reserve Funds, 50

Visual Inspection of Major Components, 51

Restrictions

Artificial Turf, 25

Clotheslines, 28

Display of United States Flag, 22

Electric Vehicle Charging Station, 26

Low Water-Using Plants, 25

Marketing Separate Interest, 24

Noncommercial Signs, 23

Personal Agriculture, 28

Pets, 23

Pressure Washing of Separate Interest, 25

Rentals, 25

Roofing Materials, 23

Solar Energy Systems, 77

Television Antenna or Satellite Dish Restrictions, 23

. 4

**Rules** 

"Operating Rule", defined, 13

"Rule Change", defined, 13

Approval of Rule Change by Board, 14

Election Rules, 34

Requirements for Validity and Enforceability, 14

Reversal of Rule Change by Members, 15

Rulemaking Procedures, 14

**Separate Interest** 

"Separate Interest", defined, 6

Access to Separate Interest Property, 16

Improvements to, 29

**Solar Energy System** 

"Solar Energy System", defined, 77

Limitations on Restrictions, 77

Permitted Restrictions, 78

**Stock Cooperative** 

"Stock Cooperative", defined, 7

Transfer of Separate Interests, 22

Towing

#### RELATED VEHICLE CODE PROVISIONS

"Private Roads", defined, 120
Notice, 121
Private Roads Not Open to Public Use, 120
Private Roads Open for Public Use, 120
Procedure when Owner Cannot be Ascertained, 126
Towing Charge, 121

### **Transfer of Title**

Disclosure to Prospective Purchaser, 16 Document Disclosure Summary Form, 17 Documents Provided by Association, 17 Enforcement, 18 Exemption from Transfer Fee, 19 Fee for Requested Documents, 17 Owner Requirements, 18 Transfer Fee, 19 Validity of Title Unaffected, 18

#### Voting

Approved by Majority of All Members, 2 Approved by Majority of Quorum of Members, 3

### **Wood-Destroying Pests or Organisms**

Responsibility for, 30

Temporary Removal of Occupant, 30